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Foreword

Dr. Zuckerman’s book is an act of daring. His major thesis relating
to “the establishment of a Principate or Patriarchate of the Jews by
the Carolingian rulers” and describing “the powers; possessions, and
functions of this royal institution during more than a century” runs
so sharply counter to the long-accepted notions among general and
Jewish historians that it is certain to provoke much dissent. Although
the phrase of a “roi juif de Narbonne” used in a medieval source has
been known for several decades, modern scholars have usually con-
sidered it a hyperbolic description of a more than usually autonomous
Jewish communal official, rather than that of an hereditary Jewish
vassal prince of the Carolingian Empire.

Yet the author has definitely made a case for his alluring theory.
After carefully reviewing all pertinent sources and the vast secondary
literature which has accumulated over more than three generations,
he has advanced his novel hypothesis with scholarly restraint and
judicious reasoning. To be sure, the more or less contemporary
chronicles referring to certain crucial episodes are available to us only
in later copies which underwent much alteration not only as a result
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viii Foreword

of the usual copyists’ errors, but also by conscious design. The chancons
de geste, on the other hand, combine a few historical facts with much
imaginative elaboration and include many ambiguous, even obscure
verses. Nor are the few Hebrew sources relating to the Western
developments of that period clear and unequivocal. Finally, to find a
way through this jungle-like overgrowth of conflicting modern inter-
pretations, often necessarily based on much guesswork, required a
gargantuan effort, creditably performed by the author.

Professor Zuckerman’s theory finds some indirect support from the
apparent survival of many ancient traditions among the Jews of
Narbonne and other parts of southern France. It has become increas-
ingly clear that, despite the efforts of Rashi and the Tosafists to impose
upon medieval French Jewry the undisputed dominance of the outlook
and observances as formulated in the Babylonian Talmud, many
divergent customs and homiletical interpretations, in part going back
to the days of the ancient Roman Empire, could not be totally uprooted
even in the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries. Nor is it a mere
accident that the medieval kabbalistic speculation found its first
European exponents in the southern French conventicles of devotees
of the secret lore. All of these singular manifestations of uncommon
behavioral patterns and lines of thought can best be understood against
the background of a uniquely independent Jewish community, pursuing
its chosen path apart from both the French and the dominant world
Jewish cultural life—a community, moreover, which, after surviving
the century-long sharp Visigothic persecution, emerged in a strategic
position on the frontier between the warring world empires of Islam
and Christendom.

In any case, whether or not, after a close examination of the evidence
and arguments here presented, the specialists in this area will finally
accept the author’s thesis, they will all learn a great deal from his and
their reexamination. It certainly is to be hoped that the publication
of this book will give rise to an extended scholarly debate which will
shed some much-needed new light on that dark period of Narbonnese
Jewry in its transition from Roman, through Visigothic and Muslim,
to French rule.

Columbia University Salo W. Baron



Preface

Students of medieval Jewry have long held the view that the Caro-
lingian sovereigns were favorably disposed to the Jews in their realm
to a remarkable degree. This scholarly impression was based primarily
on three or four mandates of Emperor-Louis le Débonnaire and the
tracts of Bishop Agobard of Lyons. Other materials which might have
given this view depth and vitality were disappointingly scarce. A few
Hebrew sources of the twelfth and thirteenth centuries and a con-
temporaneous Latin Romance provided suggestive details, but their
astonishing content excited so much incredulity that rejection of them
as fables soon erased an earlier tentative acceptance. Skepticism of the
later sources has prevailed, in spite of unimpeachable evidence that the
Carolingian kings granted to Septimanian Jewry a domain of consider-
able extent along the Mediterranean seacoast and on the borders of
Spain.

The following study reexamines all the known materials which
explicitly mention the Jews of the Carolingian Age and their leaders.
In addition, it endeavors to salvage fragments of documents, especially
royal and imperial diplomas, which can be shown to have once been
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x Preface

issued in behalf of the Jews and/or their prince. Long ago these were
deliberately altered and interpolated. Fraudulent documents were
forged therefrom and in this way diverted to other ends, often contrary
to their original purpose. In the process of research the author has
stumbled upon a hoard of widely known popular materials which, when
used with considerable caution, may be exploited to yield additional
information about Carolingian Jewry and its military and spiritual
chiefs.

Some of the results of this study were altogether unanticipated. They
have astonished the author no less than they may surprise the reader.
Prominent personalities of that day appear in an altogether new light.
Jews of the period emerge as active and involved in the decision making
of the Carolingian period. Scholars began to suspect this decades ago
while they still lacked the sources which this study uncovers and
analyzes. Startling as the conclusions may be, the author requests for
his study an open mind and the persistence to read a necessarily
extensive argument through to its end. The results supplement, cor-
roborate and add vivid details to, rather than contradict, present solid
knowledge about Jewry in early medieval Europe.

This essay, which is the product of several years’ labor, has benefited
from the encouragement and guidance at critical moments of Professor
Salo W. Baron, now Professor Emeritus of History at Columbia Uni-
versity. I am grateful for the opportunity of having studied under the
Magister of Jewish history in our time and for the Foreword he has
penned to this work. I wish to thank his immediate successor, Professor
Gerson D. Cohen, who has taken the pains to read this study in great
detail. He has indicated corrections and offered valuable suggestions,
for all of which I express sincere appreciation to him. I also wish to
thank Dr. Helene Wieruszowski, Professor Emeritus of History, The
City College for her critique and many comments. The responsibility
for what appears here is, of course, my own.

I wish to record my indebtedness to teachers of former years: to
Professor Yitzhak Baer of the Hebrew University in Jerusalem; and to
those who have now passed on—to Professor.Austin P. Evans of
Columbia and to Professor Hans Hirsch and Professor Otto Brunner
of the Osterreichisches Institut fiir Geschichtsforschung in Vienna.

I greatly appreciate the many courtesies extended to me by the
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Director and staff of the Columbia Libraries, of the Library of the
Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion, of the Jewish
Theological Seminary, and of the Union Theological Seminary, all in
New York City. During a period of several months’ archival research
I have benefited from the assistance proffered by director and staff of
the Bibliothéque Nationale and the Archives Nationales in Paris, as
well as of several archives départementales in France—namely, Haute
Garonne (Toulouse), Pyrénées Orientales (Perpignan), Aude (Carcas-
sonne), Hérault (Montpellier), Gard (Nimes), Bouches-du-Rhéne
(Marseilles), Vaucluse (Avignon), Rhone (Lyons), Aube (Troyes); and
of the municipal archives and/or libraries in Troyes, Dijon, Lyons,
Marseilles, Lunel, Narbonne, and Carcassonne. The fruits of this
archival research appear only in limited measure in this essay and must
await analysis and elaboration in a later effort.

This essay refers to the son of Charlemagne as Louis le Débonnaire,
Louis the Debonair and, less frequently, Louis the Pious. Frankia is
the preferred term to designate the Kingdom of the Franks, an area
approximating that of modern France. Only occasionally is Frankland
employed in this sense, but more often for the limited area of northern
France associated directly with the Franks.

I wish to express my grateful appreciation to the Alexander Kohut
Memorial Foundation and to my uncle Samson Hittner-for financial
aid in the publication of this study; to tl}_c,staﬂ' of the Columbia Uni-
versity Press for their continuing aid and advice during the extended
_period of the publication of this work; and to my secretaries Mrs.
Anne Solomon Kliger and Mrs. Marley Goldberg. My gratitude to
my wife Jan for her constant devotion, patience and assistance may
be recorded here but never adequately expressed.

June, 1970 Arthur J. Zuckerman
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The Jews of Septimania until the
Patriciate of King Pepin The Short, 754

The Jews of Carolingian France stood under the authority of a nasi,
a prince or patriarch. This Jewish Patriarchate of the West was an
institution comparable in its powers to the Exilarchate of Baghdad.
The Exilarchate in turn was an ancierit Babylonian Jewish institution
the origins of which a venerable tradition traced back to King Yehoia-
khin, the exiled monarch of Judea in the sixth century B.C.E. Accord-
ing to the Bible, the Babylonian King Evil-merodakh released this
scion of King David from prison, admitted him to his court and,
elevating him above the other kings in Babylon, presumably designated
him head of the Jews in his empire. Zerubbabel, a descendant of
Yehoiakhin’s, became satrap of Judea. There is supposed then to have
followed a succession of such Jewish leaders within the same family
throughout the subsequent Seleucid and Parthian rule of Babylonia.
The neo-Persian kings too conferred full authority on the exilarch
(Rosh-golah, Resh-galuta, “Head of the Exile) by raising him to
membership in their chief council of state. The semifeudal nature of
the Sassanid kingdom concentrated very broad powers in the exilarch
and his officials stationed in local Jewries. The troubled close of the

1



2 The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short

fifth century C.E. however, led to a temporary suspension of the official
character of the institution. At that time the Exilarch Mar Zutra II
stirred his fellow Jews to rebellion and succeeded in establishing an
independent Jewish kingdom and maintaining it for seven years. His
execution ended the adventure; thereafter the Exilarchate went into
eclipse.

The Arab conquest of Persia in 637 C.E. raised the Exilarchate to
the pinnacle of its power. The Prince of the Exile functioned as the
chief representative of the Jews in the Caliphate; together with the
Nestorian Christian Catholicos and the highest dignitaries of the realm,
he sat in the Caliph’s cabinet, the diwan. He had the prerogative,
probably exclusive still in the ninth century, to appoint judges who
were his agents in all local and provincial Jewries. He could select
and depose the heads of the academies; he exercised alone or through
functionaries supreme jurisdiction over all Jews in the Caliphate. In
short, he acted as the hereditary monarch of the Jewish nation centered
on Babylonia. Always claiming Davidic descent, the Resh-galuta was
elected for life at a public assembly of Babylonian Jewish representa-
tives, presided over by the Geonim, the heads of the Academies of
Sura and Pumbeditha. The election required confirmation by the
Caliph, for which the Exilarch paid a princely sum. During the period
of Arab expansion and consolidation, the Exilarchate attained un-
surpassed heights and maintained its dominance into the ninth century.
As late as the tenth century, according to Nathan the Babylonian, the
Geonim appear to have deferred to the Exilarch’s royal status by
having the sacred Scroll carried to his seat in the synagogue in order
for him to read a portion of the weekly Bible lesson. He had a town
or area of his own in Babylonia where his palace was located.? Thus the
preeminence of the Exilarchate coincided with the rise and rule of the
Carolingians Charles Martel (717-41), Pepin (741-68), Charlemagne
(768-814), and Louis le Débonnaire (814-40).

1. Cf.S. W. Baron, The Jewish Community, Its History and Structure to the Ameri-
can Revolution, 1, pp. 68-69, 145-55, 173-86; II1, pp. 30-32, 39-43; idem, A Social
and Religious History of the Jews, II (2nd ed.), pp. 195-98, 403. Albright identifies
Zerubbabel as a grandson of Yehoiakhin; William F. Albright, “King Joiachin in
Exile,” The Biblical Archaeologist, V (1942), 50, 53. On Nathan the Babylonian,
see MJC, I1, p. 84; 1mwpna mns wva Bow Bpn 5333 15 o ibid., p. 86.



The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short 3

A peer and rival of the Exilarch of Babylon was the Patriarch (Nasi)
in Palestine who also claimed descent from David via the sage Hillel
the Elder. Christian Rome as well as its pagan predecessor recognized
the Patriarch as the supreme authority over Jews throughout the
empire and designated him simultaneously a high official of the state.
To Origen (in the third century C.E.) the Jewish Patriarch of Palestine
appeared as not at all different from a king. It is noteworthy that his
monarchical power was of a special, in fact, very remarkable kind in
that it was not territorially limited but extended throughout the empire
to all points where there were Jewish communities. The Jewish patri-
archs were reges socii (associate kings). The patriarch was the supreme
officer at the head of the hierarchy of Jewish officials. He appointed
the religious functionaries of local communities and determined their
competence. He was the supreme arbitér in religious questions. But
his powers extended also to civil matters within the limits of the com-
mon law regulating Jews. It was his prerogative to collect the Jewish
poll tax, aurum coronarium (d’mei k’lila). According to Jerome’s report
the Emperor executed a Roman of high standing for having violated
the privacy of some papers belonging to the Patriarch Gamaliel (V ?).2

Political and financial motives doubtless were a factor in Rome’s
recognition of the Patriarchate. Such an institution could be expected
to mollify a recalcitrant people while fixing on.their ‘own leader the
responsibility for keeping the peace. At the same time the patriarchs
were the visible agents for the collection of Rome’s onerous and in-
sistent fiscal demands from all its Jews. In return the empire was
willing to support the patriarch in the collection of revenue for the
maintenance of his office and dignity, as well as for the upkeep of
academies of learning and needy students. Thus the aurum coronarium
was directed to the patriarch’s treasury until the suppression of the
Patriarchate about 425, whereupon it became an additional special
Jewish tax to the empire, 429.8 Even before the Patriarchate in Palestine

2. ). Juster, Les Juifs dans I'Empire Romain, 1, pp, 394-96, Israel Lévi finds that
the claim of Davidic descent arose almost two centuries after Hillel and is devoid of
an authentic basis, “L’origine davidique de Hille],” REJ, XXXI (1895),211; XXXIII
(1896), 14344,

3, S. W. Baron, History, 11 (1952), pp. 192-95; 200-01; 205; 403. Adolph Pos-
nanski lists 14 Archipherekites in Tiberias whom he considers to be successors of the
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became extinct, there appeared Jewish chief officials in other parts of
the empire designated by the same name patriarchae or else called
primates. These were perhaps the heads of provinces where Jews were
settled in the Dispersion, and probably were state officials as well as
Jewish communal leaders.*

In Europe Jewish communities can be traced back to the early Middle
Agesalthough information about thestatus andauthority of their leaders
is scarce. State-recognized leaders and officials also stood at the head
of locally organized Jewish communities. When Emperor Constantine
ordered that the Jews of Cologne were to fulfill curial duties he at once
specified certain exemptions, namely, hierei, archisynagogi, and patres
synagogae and other, unnamed, functionaries. In a second decree of
December 331 Constantine directed that these officials were to be
exempt from personal service.®

Evidence of a far less explicit archaeological nature points to possible
Jewish settlements in southwest Germany also in the early Middle Ages.
Indications of a dynasty of patriarchs in the Rhineland derive only
from a much later period.®

patriarchs (540-740), Schiloh ein Beitrag zur Geschichte der Messiaslehre. Erster Teil,
p. 35. It appears, however, that the archipherekites enjoyed no special honor or
status. In fact, after the extinction of the House of Hillel the Christian emperors did
not permit the patriarchal office to pass to another family; J. Juster, Les Juifs, pp.
399-400.

4. Codex Theodosianus, XV1, 8, 1 (315); XVI, 8, 8 (392); XVI, 8, 29 (= Codex
Justinianus, 1, 9, 17) (426), eds. Mommsen and Meyer, I, p. 887.

S. Ibid., XVI, 8, 3 (December 11, 321); XVI, 8, 4 (December 1, 331). Cf. Germania
Judaica, I: Von den &ltesten Zeiten bis 1238, eds. M. Brann, 1. Elbogen, A. Frei-
mann, H, Tykocinski (Breslau 1934), “Céln a. Rh.” pp. 69-70; 79-80, notes 22-27,

6. S. W. Baron, History, I1 (1952), p. 406. The *“Rhineland” Nesi’im claimed
descent from David while by-passing Bustanai and his Persian wife according to an
account composed or copied in Palestine in 1041; A. Marx, “The importance of the
Geniza for Jewish History,” PAAJR, XVI (1947), 194. The text is published by
G. Margoliouth, ‘‘Some British Museum Genizah Texts,” JOR, o.s. XIV (1901-02),
303-07; see a very similar text edited by E. J. Worman, “Exilarch Bustani,” JOR,
0.8. XX (1907-08), 21115, These Nesi'im were known as the B’nai Marawatha and
resided in a district called Nams which Margoliouth suggests might be Germany
(Saxony). Worman doubts this possibility and proposes the alternative of a Persian
province on the basis of a variant reading. However, included among the pares of
the Lyons Jewish community in whose behalf Emperor Louis addressed his mandate
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In southern France individual Jews, at least, presumably accom-
panied King Archelaus into exile to Vienne in 6 C.E.; as was so with
Herod’s son, the Tetrarch Antipas, when he was banished to Lyons
thirty-three years later. Claims for the early settlement of Jewish com-
munities in France date their arrival at the time of the destruction of
the Jewish state in 70 C.E. Lyons, Arles, and Bordeaux are said to have
received an influx of Jews taken captive at that time in the war against
Rome; borne across the seas in three rudderless ships they were cast
upon these shores. The Jewish population in the Frankish realm was
small. Jews seem to have come into France with the Roman legions,
either as members of the armed forces or as traders. An organized
Jewish community in remote Cologne has already been noted. Gauls
and Teutons viewed them as but another variety of “Romans,” part
of the conquered population. The Breviarium issued by Alaric II in
506 from Toulouse specifically maintained their Roman status while
reducing to ten the fifty-three provisions on Jews in the Theodosian
Code, and adding three others. The Lex Romana Burgundiorum also
continued their Roman status while, in addition, it pi'ohibited mixed
marriages and fixed severe penalties for assaults by Jews on Christians.
The growing reverence for custom reenforced the continued impact of
the Roman system. An insertion into the Edictum Theoderici (after 512)
safeguarded Jewish judicial autonomy and restored their self-govern-
ment.? -

The primary concern of the church councils meeting in France
during the sixth century seems to have been the protection of Christians
against Jewish influence rather than the restriction of Jewish rights as
such. These decisions reflect the close social relations existing between
Jews and Christians and a notably high status of the Jews in fact, if
not in law. Mixed marriages were a frequent object of attack, so was
conviviality generally between the two communities, which extended

ca. 825 was also a David “of the progeny of David,” David nunnum Davitis; Formulae
Merowingici et Karolini aevi, ed. K. Zeumer, MGH, Legum sectio V, Formulae
Imperiales, no. 31, p. 310.

7. S. W. Baron, History, 111 (1957), pp. 25, 47-50, 250, notes 58-62. Other versions
of this legend place the landings in different places, including Italy and Africa; see
G. D. Cohen, “The Story of the Four Captives,” PA4JR, XXIX (1960-61), 81-82
and the bibliography there.
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apparently also to the Christian clergy. Gregory of Tours accused a
bishop of Clermont (ca. 551-71) of being unduly influenced by Jewish
merchants. Several church councils report Jews even in judgeships and
administrative posts. The Fifth Council of Paris 614, the largest of all
gatherings of Merovingian bishops, demanded the baptism of any Jew
exercizing civil or military authority over Christians. Many church
canons fixed severe penalties for conversion or circumcision of Christian
slaves,® which speaks for the permanent nature of their service rather
than a transient relationship as, for example, in the slave trade.
Reference to continued Jewish control of Christian slaves points to
landed estates which Jews must have held if they required permanent
servile labor. The influence of Pope Gregory I's views on the Jews
extended far beyond his time because of the belief that he was divinely
inspired. He observed, of course, the imperial prohibition against Jews
owning Christian slaves. Following the more-rigid requirements of the
Eastern Empire and the Code of Justinian, he demanded immediate
freedom for the pagan slave of a Jew who wished to be baptized. He
made a distinction, however, between permanent ownership of a
Christian slave and the permissible, temporary holding of them by
slave dealers. Of great importance was another far-reaching distinction
first made by Pope Gregory. He declared that the ban on holding
Christian slaves did not fall on Jewish landlords who employed
Christian coloni on their estates. Another act of Gregory’s attests to the
ownership of land by Jews specifically in the Merovingian realm, when
he vigorously protested to the Frankish monarchs Theodoric, Theode-
bert, and Brunhild against the practice of allowing Jews to own
Christian slaves (599). Clearly, in this instance he must have meant
permanent ownership as opposed to temporary holding of Christian
slaves to which, we have seen, he did not object. His position on the
Jews may be summarized in his statement: “Since they are permitted to
live in accordance with Roman law, it is but just that they should manage
their own affairs as they think best, and let no man hinder them.”*®

Under the frontier conditions of sixth-century Frankish society there
were of course flagrant violations of the law. A Jewish court jeweler

8. S. W. Baron, History, Il (1957), pp. 35, 49-51, and notes.
9. Ibid., pp. 27-31 and notes.
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and perhaps also mintmaster in the employ of Chilperic I, Priscus by
name, was forced by the King into a religious disputation with Gregory
of Tours and the monarch as a third party, 581-82. When the debate
ended in a stalemate, the King angrily demanded the conversion of a
number of Jews. Priscus refused to surrender his ancestral faith and
was imprisoned. One of the recent converts killed him in jail. Other
forced conversions of Jews are reported in the sixth century, in Cler-
mont and in the dioceses of Arles and Marseilles. Pope Gregory
remonstrated against the zeal of the baptizing bishops in the two last-
named places. In this period the synagogue of Orléans was razed to
the ground. In accordance with Roman precedents, the Jews expected
to have this synagogue rebuilt at no cost to themselves, a hope which
seems to have been frustrated. Matters reached a climax in Frankia
when King Dagobert gave the Jews of his kingdom the choice of
baptism or exile in 633. International events were making their impact
here, in particular the panic-striking victories of the Persians and Arabs
over the Christians, which also impelled Emperor Heraclius to exert
pressure on the monarch in the West.!® ‘

On Jews in Septimania and Narbonne incontrovertible evidence goes
back to the fifth century when an individual called Gozolas (his name
betrays Germanic origin) natione Judaeus makes an appearance as a
member of the entourage of a prominent Gallo-Roman. A letter of
Gregory the Great protesting against-Jéwish ownership of Christian
slaves points to the likelihood of their possessing landed estates around
Narbonne. Acts of church councils of the sixth and seventh centuries
give evidence of a Jewish group settlement in Narbonne and probably
its environs.1 A tombstone of 688-89 attests the possibly simultaneous
passing of Justus, age 30, Matrona, age 20, and Dulciorella, age 9,
offspring of dominus Paragorus and grandchildren of the late dominus
Sapaudaus, all probably residents of Narbonne or Septimania. The Latin
inscription concludes with an invocation in Hebrew characters %y 1w
580[*] (“Peace upon Israel”) and bears a five-branched candelabrum
at the head.’?

10. Ibid., pp. 52-54 and notes.
11. J. Régné, Erude sur la condition des Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 3-8.
12. T. Reinach, “Inscription juive de Narbonne,” REJ, o.s. XIX (1889), 75-83.
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The year 587 marked the conversion of the royal house, previously
Arian, to Catholicism and became the turning point in the destiny of
Visigothic Jewry. Soon after taking this major step toward creating
“one nation” Reccared issued a constitution oriented against the Jews
(after 589). Therewith he inaugurated a series of laws which in a
century reached a crescendo of frenzy unmatched until modern times.
Since the Councils of Toledo which passed these regulations were at
one and the same time church synods as well as state legislatures, the
adopted canons were later held to be the considered opinion of leading
churchmen and thus became major sources of universal canon law.
The decisions alternated between banishment from-the realm and
attempts at peaceful coexistence. They imposed conversion on young
and old, restrictions in trade, and confiscation of property and slaves
and included a variety of other such decrees actually unenforceable
in toto.B®

The Jews of Septimania must have come to play an important role
in the Visigothic Empire. Although residing within the same realm and
subject to the same sovereigns, the Jews in Septimania appear not to
have been victimized to the same extent as their coreligionists south of
the Pyrenees. In fact, Spanish refugees sought asylum with their Jewish
brothers to the north. The Seventeenth Council of Toledo (694), which
ordered Jewish children from the age of seven removed from parental
control and declared real and movable Jewish property confiscated,
nevertheless exempted the Jewish settlements in Gaul and Septimania
from these provisions.}* The Jews of these lands then continued to be
owners of estates.

Perhaps the most surprising information on Septimanian Jewry in
the pre-Carolingian period comes from Archbishop Julian of Toledo,
offspring himself of converted Jewish parents, a supporter of the ruling
dynasty in Spain, and a bitter antagonist of Judaism and its people.
In his account of the rebellion of Duke Paul against King Wamba in

S. Katz, The Jews in the Visigothic and Frankish Kingdoms of Spain and Gaul,
pp. 148-51. -
13. S. W. Baron, History, 111 (1957), pp. 36-46.

14. J. Régné, Ftude sur la condition des Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 1-4, 7-8, 10-12;
cf. S. W. Baron, History, 111 (1957), p. 46.
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673, he accuses the rebel of being a “Judaizer”; he reports that a
number of Christians in Septimania converted to Judaism and declares
the Jews responsible for all of Wamba’s difficulties in that insurgent
land 15

The unrest in Septimania coincided with the start of the seventh
century since the destruction of the Temple in Jerusalem 68-70 C.E.
To Jews this apparently was a portent of the mystic “seventh millen-
nium,” the herald of the Messianic age. (Julian himself was impelled
to write a treatise on this subject in refutation of the claims of the
Jews in 686.1%) These years witnessed the seemingly irresistible advances
of Islam against Byzantine Christianity itself even in the Holy Land.
The spectacle of a new empire toppling “Rome,” the last kingdom of
Daniel’'s apocalyptic vision, stirred Messianic visions among Jews
who momentarily expected the end of Christian domination over
them.}” Nor were these events without influence upon Christians too.
Hilderic, Governor of Nimes, joined by local associates, revolted
against King Wamba of Spain (672-80). The Jews of Septimania took
their stand with him against the monarchy which had so humiliated
their people and their faith. According to a later version of the chronicle
which is our source, Hilderic had recalled the nonbaptized Jews to
Septimania in the teeth of statutes of the Gothic realm. King Wamba
sent Duke Paul to quell the rebellion. Paul, however, pursued his own

—

-

15. See my note 18, p. 10, “Iulianus episcopus ex traduce Iudeorum,” Isidore,
Bishop of Seville, Historia Gothorum Additamentum V, MGH, Auctores Anti-
quissimi, XI, Chronica Minora, II ed. Th. Mommsen, p. 349: 18, 19; B. Blumen-
kranz, Les Auteurs chrétiens, p. 142, no. 127b.

16. Julian’s De comprobatione aetatis sextae (published 686) intended to refute the
Jewish polemic that Jesus cannot be the true Messiah because the years of his
activity do not correspond to the Messianic Age of the seventh millennium fixed by
the pattern of six days of creation followed by the Sabbath Day, of the six years of
agricultural tilling followed by a Sabbath year for the soil, PL XCVI, cols. 545-56;
the relevant passages in German translation in A. Posnanski, Schilok, pp. 310-12.
B. Blumenkranz does not tie up Julian’s polemic with the start of the seventh
century since the destruction of the Temple in Jerusalem ushered in by the year 668,
Les Auteurs chrétiens, pp. 119-26.

17. Judah Even Shemuel, Midreshé Ge'ulah (Homilies of Redemption), 2nd ed.
(Jerusalem-Tel Aviv 5714), pp. 162-70 and the bibliography there. For Rome as the
Fourth Kingdom of Daniel, see idem, Introduction, p. a> note 15.
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aims and ambitions. He won over to himself, among others, the Duke
of Tarragona and, when he controlled Narbonne, publicly renounced
his loyalty to Wamba and had himself elected king. He exacted an
oath of loyalty to himself as king. Now all of Gaul and part of Tarra-
gona rose in revolt while Paul succeeded in attracting large numbers of
Franks and Gallo-Romans. For means to maintain his rebellion Paul
despoiled the churches of Septimania. In the end, he incited all of
Septimania to insurrection against Wamba. The rebellion appears to
have involved also a movement from Christianity to Judaism.

Alerted by the growing threat to his rule, the Visigothic King now
led his army northward. He pacified Gascony and Catalonia, occupied
the passes of the Pyrenees, and besieged and captured Narbonne. Paul
retired to Nimes to make his last-ditch stand against the consistently
advancing and victorious Wamba. Nimes fell. Wamba captured Paul,
ordered his eyes gouged out, and sentenced: the disgraced general and
his accomplices to life imprisonment. He returned the sacred vessels to
the churches. On the way back he spent some time in Narbonne,
presumably for the purpose of pacification and the restoration of order.
He then expelled from the Narbonnaise all the Jews.!®

Under the Visigoths then, the Pyrenees did not constitute the northern
boundary of the Kingdom of Spain which in actuality sprawled over
into Gaul. At the same time the regions hugging the foothills on both
sides of the mountain ridge demonstrated recurring surges to autonomy
and quasi-independence from the rule to the south of them, whether

18. Julian Archbishop of Toledo, Historia rebellionis Pauli adversus Wambam
Gothorum regem, PL, XCV], cols. 763-807; reedited by W. Levison, MGH, Scrip-
torum rerum Merov., V, pp. 501-26; Insultatio, pp. 526-29; ludicium, pp. 529-35;
summary in HGL, 1 (1872), pp. 713-28. After seizing the throne Paul referred to
himself as unctus rex orientalis and to Wamba as regi austro, W. Levison op. cit.,
Epistola, p. 500. Cf. F. X. Murphy, “Julian of Toledo and the Fall of the Visigothic
Kingdom in Spain,” Speculum, XXVII (1952), 1-27, for a summary of Paul’s
rebellion and the last years of the Visigothic Kingdom; S. Katz, The Jews in . . .
Spain and Gaul, pp. 16-17, on involvement of Jews.

Allusion to a movement from Christianity to Judaism appears in Julian’s im-
passioned address to Septimania; Insultatio, p. 526:16—lf$ 23-30. Cf. J. Parkes,
Conflict of Church and Synagogue, p. 342; S. W. Baron, History, I1I (1957), pp. 45-46.

The editor of HGL, II, p. 728, sees in the Jews “the source of all of [Wamba's)
troubles.”
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Goth or Muslim. Such restiveness and repeated reaching for self-rule
are in fact characteristic of the political history of these lands.
 Catalonia and Septimania both refused to recognize King Roderic,
the last ruler of Visigothic Spain. Already at Wamba’s coronation
Septimania’s representatives were conspicuous by their absence. In
place of Roderic these lands pledged fealty to Agqila, son of Witiza.
He opposed their integration into the triumphant Caliphate. But not
for long. The treaty of Damascus 714 forced the renunciation of the
crown by Witiza’s three sons. While guaranteeing their patrimony it
provided for the cession of their lands in Catalonia and the Nar-
bonnaise to the caliph; whereupon these regions rose in rebellion and
elevated Ardo to the throne. But this revolt was short-lived. The terri-
tories north of the Pyrenees attracted the attention of the Arab in-
vaders soon after their conquest of Spain. According to one report it
was Tarik ibn Ziyad himself who ordered the assault on Frankish Gaul
(Ifrandja). Al-Samh’s capture of Narbonne (720) put an end to Ardo’s
rule. When Al-Sambh lost his life in battle with Eudo of Aquitaine at
Toulouse in 721, the new wali, ‘Anbasa ibn Suhaim ‘al-Kalai, took
Nimes (725) and Carcassonne and, pursuing “peaceful conquest” by
means of treaties of submission, he captured Autun, August 22, 725,
and depopulated it. With the capture of Nimes all of Septimania, the
ancient province of Gothic Gaul, and now the final surviving remnant
of the Visigothic Kingdom fell under Saracen control.

Septimania remained in Saracen hands from 720 until 759. The
walis of Narbonne, however, in line with the tradition they inherited,
continued to adopt a rather independent stance toward the Emir of
Cordova. The Wali Munuz entered into a marriage alliance with Eudo
of Aquitaine taking his daughter to wife in 730 after having broken
with his Emir ‘Abd ar-Rahman al-Ghafiqi. Reprisals against Munuz
led to his suicide and the capture of his beautiful wife who supposedly
was dispatched to the caliph’s harem in Damascus. Charles Martel’s
victory at Poitiers in October 732 brought Burgundy and Provence
into the Carolingian realm, but not Aquitaine. The Duke of Aquitaine,
semi-autonomous at the least, was entrusted with the mission of pro-
tecting the country against future Saracen incursions. The tradition of
aytonomy thus persisted.

The successor of Munuz in Septimania was Yusuf ibn ‘Abd ar-



12 The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short

Rahman al-Fihri (734) who, like his predecessors, retained considerable
autonomy but avoided rebellion. Arles and Avignon fell to the Muslim
invaders, very likely with the aid of Count Maurontus. The Saracens
however possessed Lyons by force of their arms; eventually they were
stopped by Charles Martel. He retook Avignon and, with the aid of
the Lombards (738), threw the Muslims back on Narbonne. Charles
then laid siege to this fortress which, however, proved impregnable.
Nevertheless he kept the Saracens on the defensive while he completed
the conquest of Provence (739). The indigenous inhabitants of Septi-
mania and the partisans of Maurontus resisted Charles. In reprisal, he
inflicted severe punishment on Agde, Béziers, Maguelonne, and Nimes,
devastating these territories and decimating the population. In turn,
the Emir Ukba, master of Narbonne, raided its environs and gave his
prisoners the choice of Islam or death. Two thousand are reported to
have converted. Confusion inside the Emirate of Cordova and a conse-
quent weakening of the Saracen position in Septimaniae -..uraged ‘Abd
ar-Rahman ben Alcama el-Lahmi, wali at Narbonne, to rebellion in 747,
which failed.!® This was a portent of a coming rapprochement between
the enemies of the Emirate and Charles Martel’s son Pepin the Short.

During the 740s and 750s Aquitaine stood in a loose relationship
with the Frankish realm. As in Bavaria and Alamannia, a duke of its
own nation ruled Aquitaine. The land’s dependence on the Frank ruler
was expressed only in an oath of fidelity sworn by duke and people.
The substance of the loyalty consisted in regular tribute and gifts and
the avoidance of unfriendly alliances, harboring enemies of the realm,
and attacking the land. Aquitaine enjoyed such an extensive measure
of de facto independence that when Charles Martel divided his realm
among his sons he did not mention Aquitaine.?® When King Chilperic
asked Eudo of Aquitaine for aid against Charles Martel he recogni-
zed the Duke’s independence.®!

Narbonne now became the chief prize of the South and a coveted

19. Cf. HGL, 1, pp. 771-809, 817-21; R. d’Abadal y de Vinyals, “El paso de
Septimania del dominio godo al franco a través la invasién sarracena (720-768),”
CHE, XIX (1953), 7-42.

20. H. Hahn, Jahrbiicher des friinkischen Reichs 741-752, pp. 20-21,

21. “Chilpericus itaque et Ragamfredus legationem ad Eodonem ducem dirigunt,
eius auxilium postulantes rogant, regnum et munera tradunt”; Fredegarii Continua-
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symbol of Carolingian supremacy. In 752 Pepin acquired the towns of
Nimes, Maguelonne, Agde, and Béziers by alliance with Count Anse-
mond of Nimes and a Septimanian-Gothic group of aristocrats. Pepin
moved against Narbonne but his troops could take it only after a
seven-year siege in 759,23

Investigators of the status of the Jews in Frankland during the
Carolingian age differ sharply about the theoretical foundations of their
legal and social position, although they agree substantially on their
condition de facto. J. E. Scherer® has fixed the status of Jews in the
Frankish realm within the confines exclusively of the Teutonic law of
aliens which treats foreigners as rightless. The alien could claim no
legal standing in the territory of the people or tribe to which he did
not belong since status in law resulted not from fortuitous residence in
a land but rather from belonging to a certain tribe. Scherer sees Clovis’
conversion to Catholicism, ca. 496, as the turning point in the condition
of the Jews. T. wFranks, now Catholic, assimilated in time the previous
Roman population and thereby, he claims, put an end to the need for
Roman law. With its suspension Roman-Christian Jewry legislation
also became obsolete. Yet the Jews remained, distinct and apart from
the rest of the population. But there was no tribe whose law had
application to them, while their own legal system lacked recognition
as a folk or tribal law. Thereupon, the Jews; now a:lié'ns/, came to be
viewed as without rights of any kind,~and they entered upon the
condition of the unfree and the servile. However, there are extant at

tiones ed. Br. Krusch, MGH, Scriptores rerum Merovingicarum, II, § 107, p. 174;
cf. T. Breysig, Jahrbiicher des frénkischen Reiches 714-741, Die Zeit Karl Martells,
Pp- 30, note 2, 32-33, 61, 76-77, 101.

22. R. d’Abadal y de Vinyals, “El paso de Septimania,” CHE, XIX (1953), 5-54;
see the review by E. Ewig, Historisches Jahrbuch, LXXVI (1956), 330-32, and cf.
E. Lévi-Provencal, Histoire de I’ Espagne musulmane, 1, pp. 14-15, 252.

G. Amardel dates a silver penny, struck in accordance with Frank usage, between
ca. 715 to before 720. Since this coin bears no royal tit}e he concludes that the
Narbonnaise had no king in this period but a count as governor whom he identifies
with Count Gilbert, “Le comte de Narbonne Gilbert,” BCAN, VI (1900), 304-11.

23. Johannes E. Scherer, Die Rechtsverhiltnisse der Juden in den deutsch-oster-
reichischen Lindern (Leipsic 1901). Beitrige zur Geschichte des Judenrechtes im
Mittelalter. Vol. I, pp. 3-8, 62-69, 251-54.

See my note 24, p. 15, on Voltelini.
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least four imperial documents of the first half of the ninth century
which endow the Jews with extensive privileges; and it is agreed that
these are but a remnant of many more such diplomas. Scherer explains
the Jews’ de facto privileged position as a consequence of their economic
usefulness and the significant sums they paid to the royal treasury
which enabled them to lessen or avoid the consequences of the Fremden-
recht. Furthermore, he insists, all regulations in their behalf were
dependent on royal grace or favor; their legal status was altogether
precarious, their special law always subject to recall, and they them-
selves liable to expulsion. Jews remained aliens, with respect to both
religion and nationality, and were always treated as such.

Scherer finds evidence of the Jews’ alien status in the very privilegia
which the imperial chancellery accorded to them. He assumes that
these were directed exclusively to the individual Jews named therein.
Since the diplomas exempt these persons from trial by ordeal and
flogging—a proof and a penalty, respectively, of the unfree—Scherer
concludes that the nonprivileged Jews were denied these exemptions,
hence treated as unfree. The imperial documents guarantee the privi-
leged Jews protection of life and property and free disposition of their
goods. For Scherer this is evidence that Jews in general in the Frankish
realm lacked protection and legal standing. Since they were not in-
cluded in the special act of guardianship, the king could freely dispose
of them and their property as in the case of other aliens. These privi-
leged Jews, on the other hand, owed certain services in return for their
protection and proffered annual payments to the crown. The penalty
of ten pounds gold wergeld for killing one of them was not paid, as
among tribal members, to the relatives of the victim but to the guardian,
the king, as with all aliens. One of the imperial capitularies, that of
Aix-la-Chapelle dated 809, the authenticity of which Scherer does not
question, places Jewish litigants at a distinct disadvantage in suits at
law in that, depending on the amount involved, a Jew could prove his
case against a Christian only by producing four or nine or seven
(Christian) witnesses, while a Christian needed only three Christians and
three Jews to corroborate his claim.

Scherer’s formulation emphasizes therefore the contrast between the
rightlessness of all Jews, in theory, and the significant social and legal
status of certain privileged Jews, in fact. Their economic activity re-
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quired their presence in Frankia under conditions favorable to their
assigned tasks; their considerable payments to the crown made further
privileges worthwhile to the king.

Scherer’s strict formulation of the effect of the Teutonic law of
aliens on the Jews drew sharp criticism from Max Eschelbacher who
emphasized that precisely in the early Middle Ages, the period when
the Teutonic alien law had maximum efficacy, the Jews were not
treated as rightless aliens in fact. He attacked Scherer’s interpretation
that the imperial mandates of the ninth century were evidence for their
unfree condition. Scherer had pointed to the penalty of flogging—
restricted to the unfree—in support of his contention. Eschelbacher
showed that this penalty could be meted out to Jews (according to the
charter itself) only when their own court convicted them and their own
law required it; otherwise, it was forbidden—a strong argument, on
the contrary, for their freedom. He saw the period of Jewish rightless-
ness setting in not before the twelfth century when prejudice and
arbitrariness became rampant and replaced law.?* H. Graetz and
G. Caro emphasized the de facto privileged status of the Jews in the
Carolingian age and saw a progressive deterioration after the Crusades.
Caro challenged Scherer’s theory that the Jews were treated as aliens
in Frankland after the conversion of Clovis. On primarily economic
grounds W. Roscher has argued for essent_iallyv»the’éame process of
deterioration from an early dominant position.?s Nevertheless, histo-

24. Max Eschelbacher, MGWJ, XLVI (1902), 388-94, in his review of Scherer’s
work. On the practice of flogging in medieval Jewish courts after the disappearance
of the malkot of the Talmudic age, S. W. Baron, History, 1V, p. 261, note 63. Hans
v. Voltelini denies that Roman law lost its validity in Frankland. He also takes
Scherer to task for separating so sharply Teutonic law from ecclesiastical law for the
Jews; both, as well as Roman law, influenced the folk laws. See his review of Scherer
in MIOG, XXVI (1905), 145-48.

25. H. Graetz, Geschichte der Juden, ed. S. Eppenstein, V, pp. 230-47. Graetz
emphasizes the remarkable position of the Jews in the Carolingian realm; G. Caro,
Sozial- und Wirtschaftsgeschichte der Juden, 1, pp. 129-58, 459; Wilhelm Roscher,
“Die Stellung der Juden im Mittelalter, betrachtet vom Standpunkt der allgemeinen
Handelspolitik,” Zeitschrift fiir die Gesamte Staatswissenschaft, XXXI (1875), 503-
26; See T. Oelsner’s summary and critique, “Wilhelm Roscher’s Theory of the
Economic and Social Position of the Jews in the Middle Ages,” YIVO Annual of
Social Science, X1I (1958-59), 176-95.
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rians of medieval law have accepted Scherer’s rationale for the status
of medieval Jewry.

G. Kisch takes up the argument against Scherer on the basis of legal
theory and Jewry law.2 He goes beyond Eschelbacher and insists that
the modifications found in early medieval Jewry law were conditioned
solely by the difference in the religion of the Jews. Yet their religious
divergence did not keep them from settling in Christian lands while
Saracens and heathens were excluded from certain areas.

The legal status of medieval Jewry, according to Kisch, exhibits
traits sui generis in consequence of their incomplete integration into
the medieval state because of religious differentiation. According to
him the Jews did not exercise the faintest residue of political indepen-
dence and had ceased to be regarded as a separate nation since the
dissolution of the Jewish state. The predominant form of recorded law
in the Middle Ages was the privilegium. The special law for the Jews
followed the same pattern. Their religious divergence required rights
or prerogatives deviating from the common law. Privileges were con-
ferred first on individuals in the Carolingian age, then granted to
specific Jewish groups from the eleventh century on and finally to all
Jews in a given territory, such as the empire. The will and interest of
those in power controlled policy, as did also the time, place, and
special circumstances. These ever changing elements also determined
the curtailment or abrogation of the rights and privileges previously
granted.

The charters conferred by Emperor Louis the Pious established,
according to Kisch, a direct protective relationship to the sovereign.
The formula defining the Jews’ required service to the crown is identical
with the formula found in a similar document for non-Jewish merchants
and is no evidence for their alien character: *. . . liceat eis . . . partibus
palatii nostri fideliter deservire.”%’

Kisch’s three phases in the development of Jewry protection have
already been noted. The earliest consists in the special rights granted
to individual Jews. The extant Carolingian charters of protection take

26. G. Kisch, The Jews in Medieval Germany, pp. 4-9, 131-39, 306-09, and notes.
27. Formulae Imperiales ed. K. Zeumer, no. 31, p. 310; no. 52, p. 325; no. 37,
p. 315,
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them into the special guardianship of the emperor after they had
“commended” themselves to him. Such protection was extended also
to churches, clerics, free men capable of bearing arms, women, and
merchants. Nor do the grants vary in legal intent. The sole difference
is of a religious nature, claims Kisch. Furthermore, both Jewish and
non-Jewish beneficiaries are designated fideles, they pledge certain
services or payments such as freemen can render. The charters effect
no change in their personal status; lack of freedom need not be assumed
beforehand nor servitude afterward. In fact, the free status of the Jews
is evidenced by their possession of real property and slaves. Kisch
concludes that no typical law of Jewry protection operated in the
Frankish realm. The charters of protection for Jewish grantees con-
stituted special laws for individuals, a jus speciale for privileged
persons. They were not intended to reguTate the status of an entire
social group thereby creating a jus singulare. Even the now lost Capitu-
lary of Emperor Louis the Pious could not refer to the entire body of
Jews, since it contained only regulations of criminal procedure and was
not of a general regulatory nature. The earliest phase of Jewry privilege,
that limited to individuals, was the sole kind of privilegium issued to
Jews in the Carolingian period.

Kisch’s conclusion that religion alone differentiated Jews from others
in the legislation of Carolingian Frankia he supports with the provision
in the extant charters which allows theffl to live in accordance with
their own law, for the Jews a religious law; they also required their
own form of oath. The. rest of his documentation is post-Carolingian.
He does not make clear why the religion of the Jews should confer a
privileged status on them while Islam or paganism entailed disability
for their adherents. A special law was doubtless a requisite; but why
a law of privilege for one and disability for the other? Blumenkranz
tries to remedy this flaw by integrating Kisch’s view into his own sharp
emphasis on the continuation of the validity of Roman law which, in
fact, had accorded Jewish religion the special preferred status of a
religio licita.®®

In summary, both those scholars who view medieval Jewish status
from the standpoint of Teutonic alien law and those who deny the

28. B. Blumenkranz, Juifs et Chrétiens, pp. 297-304.



18 The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short

efficacy of Fremdenrecht for. the legal condition of Jews agree, tacitly
or expressly, that they possessed neither a territory of their own within
the realm nor a political center or “homeland” outside of the Frankish
Kingdom, to which they belonged. The *“alien law” legists see in this
condition the cause of their rightlessness de jure while acknowledging
the privileged status of at least a few Jews de facto in consequence of
their special economic tasks and monetary gifts. The other investigators
differ widely in their explanation of the uncontested fact of privileged
status for at least some, and perhaps all, Jews in the Carolingian
Empire. They derive such status from a quasi-monopoly of economic
life in the early period (Roscher), a religious differentiation as the
factor that made for special, but privileged, treatment (Kisch, Blumen-
kranz), or the application of the principle of personality and ethnicity
to Jews (Waitz). Such wide divergence of opinion suggests that a fresh
start may be in order. This requires a reexamination of documents.
It entails a test of the hypothesis that the Jews of the West also required
(as did those of the East, out of which many of them had but recently
migrated) a central figure who derived his authority to rule by way of
descent from the royal House of David. He would legitimize their
autonomous existence in Frankia under their own law by conferring
his divinely-ordained authority on local leaders.

Virtually all students of the subject, with the notable exception of
Blumenkranz,?® accept Scherer’s view that the Carolingian diplomas
were granted for the benefit only of the individual Jews named therein.
Their conclusion is all the more surprising in the light of the explicit
statement in one of Louis le Débonnaire’s mandates that it was issued
for the three named Lyons Jews “and their peers.”® Louis’ mandate
for Rabbi Domatus and his nephew Samuel was, like this document,
also an ad hoc decision in the conflict that arose in Lyons over the
action of Bishop Agobard.?! Nevertheless, it states explicitly that the

29, Ibid.

30. ... pares eorum”; Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 31, p. 310:8. The view of
Zeumer who edited this formulary has been ignored, ibid., p. 310, note 1.

31. For a discussion of the relation of these mandates to the quarrel over the
Bishop’s baptism of a Jewish slave, see A. J. Zuckerman “The Political Uses of
Theology: The Conflict of Bishop Agobard and the Jews of Lyons,” in John
R. Sommerfeldt (ed.), Studies in Medieval Culture, 111, 25-27, 32.
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Emperor’s command is intended for “other Jews” as well.3* The
diploma for Abraham of Saragossa confers the rights granted to him
also on “his men” dependent on him.* The sole extant imperial act in
behalf of Jews that was restricted in its application to the persons alone
who are named therein is that of Emperor Louis for Gaudiocus and
his two sons.® That is so because it was intended to replace an earlier
document of which they had been forcibly deprived. The original may
perhaps have been of the same tenor as the privilegium for Abraham of
Saragossa. Furthermore, the now lost Capitulary of Emperor Louis,
although doubtless issued to one or more individuals, was clearly in-
tended for all Jews of the empire, as the mandate for Lyons Jewry
clearly states.® There is no reason to assume that it was limited to
regulations of a criminal nature alone. In fact, the repetition of identical
passages and phrases in the three formulae nos. 30, 31, and 52 just
mentioned suggests that they may be drawn from a common source,
perhaps this lost Capitulary.3® The extant documents were selected
from a considerable number of other such writs for inclusion in the
imperial formulary because each represented a distinct type issued to
the Jews: a privilegium (for Abraham), a mandate in behalf of a central
Jewish official (for Rabbi Domatus) with at least one provision ap-
plicable to all Jews, a mandate in behalf of a local Jewish community
(for Lyons) which could have been issued for any-other Jewish com-
munity in a similar situation. The diplorfia for Gaudiocus and his two
sons is a confirmation paralleled by no typical formula in the particular
formulary that has come down to us. Special conditions led the chan-
cellery to direct these acts to specific persons or groups but they could
just as well have been issued in behalf of other Jews or Jewries. In

32. “. .. volumus ut neque vos ipsi praedictis Hebreis hoc ulterius facere prae-
sumatis neque iuniores vestros ullis facere permittatis”; ibid., no. 30, p. 309:25, 26.

33. *... adversus eum vel homines suos qui per eum legibus sperare videntur”;
ibid., no. 52, p. 325:27.

34, HGL, 11, preuves, no. 97, col. 211-12, dated February 22, 839.

35. Formulae Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 31, p. 310:37, “. .. capitula quae
a nobis eis (sc. Judaeis) observanda promulgata sunt”; Agobard, Epistolae,
p. 183:9; see Zuckerman, “The Political Uses of Theology . . .,” p. 26.

36. So also B. Blumenkranz, Juifs et Chrétiens, pp. 301-02.
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anticipation of this need they were included in the imperial formulary
still extant. Viewed as a totality these documents make clear that there
was no substantive differentiation in the legal status of all Jews in the
Carolingian Empire of this period. They were all equally “privileged.”
Some, like Abraham of Saragossa and the three named in the Lyons
mandate, were leaders or “patrons.” Others were their “peers,” as in
Lyons, or their dependents as in the case of Abraham’s *“men.” But
they were all “privileged Jews.”

There is no basis for the view that these imperial acts were intended
for the benefit of only a few highly privileged individuals in return for
their special services to the crown. The leaders or patrons entered into
commendation with the sovereign, as did Abraham of Saragossa, and
thereby became his vassals or fideles. But, as the privilegium for the
same Abraham makes clear, these royal vassals shared their legal status
with those dependent on them or who otherwise entered into a relation-
ship with them. All members of “the Jewish nation” enjoyed substan-
tially the same legal, though not necessarily the same social, status.
Some wielded power of a political, and perhaps economic, character
over others. Finally, all three of these documents speak of Jews as
slave owners and/or slave traders and employers of free Christians in
their service.?” The letters of Agobard amply demonstrate that in the
ninth century Jews owned cattle on the hoof and slaves, and employed
Christians in their service; of similar import are the writings of Pope
Stephen III in 768 (also vineyards) and Amolo Bishop of Lyons in 846
(pagan slaves).3®

Scherer recognized that in early medieval Europe the Jews enjoyed
the status of Romans, but with the obsolescence of Roman law he
assumed that the Jews became rightless and eventually slipped into the
condition of aliens deprived of law. But Roman law continued into

37. Formulae Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 30, p. 309:14, 16, 21-23; no. 31,
p. 310:20-23, 30; no. 52, p. 325:18, 19, 25, 26.

38. MGH, Epistolae Karolini aevi V, 3, ed. Ernest Diimmler, p. 165:29-32; 42-44;
cf. p. 182, top; p. 183:26-32; p. 184:26, 27; p. 181:6-10. On Stephen see this text,
pP. 50-51; on Bishop Amolo see this text, pp. 304-305. For other evidence regarding
Narbonne and environs see this text, pp. 146-74. On Jews’ ownership of land (in-
cluding vineyards) in the Sadne and Rhone valleys in the 9th-11th centuries see
immediately below pp. 25 ff.



The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short 21

the Frankish era. Waitz declared it was beyond doubt that Jews were
free men in Frankland. He noted that the Teutonic laws did not include
‘a wergeld for Jews and cautiously proposed that this might be so
because they were counted among the Romans.?® The Interpretatio of
the Theodosian Code, indeed (which continued to apply Roman law
in the barbarian successor states) assumes it is well known that all
Jews are Romans. Emperor Theodoric confirmed, in a letter addressed
by his minister Cassiodor to the Jews of Genoa (507-11), the privileges
which the ancient laws decreed in behalf of their institutions. Gregory
the Great adopted essentially the same position in 591, in a conflict
involving a synagogue, when he declared that Jews were permitted to
live by Roman law.4®* The Roman Visigothic law code which counted
Jews as Romans remained in force in southern France after it lost
validity in Spain and Visigothic Gaul, and extended even to Burgundy.
In north Frankia Clovis’ conquest altered less of the existing con-
ditions there than anywhere else, which hardly accounts for any sudden
change in the condition of Jews from Romans to aliens. In 585 they
still enjoyed the right in Roman law of having their synagogues pro-
tected by the state and, in the event of violent destruction, as had
happened at Orléans, of having it rebuilt at public expense; although
in this instance King Guntram might be unwilling to enforce the law.4
In certain special instances involving Jews Roman- 1aw continued in
use into the high middle ages. In the region of Nimes a contract of
sale for the Abbey St. Victor of Marseilles, dated January 27, 1040,
was concluded by two Jews in accordance with Roman law.#?

As already noted, both Christian and Imperial Rome recognized the
Jewish Patriarch of Palestine as the supreme authority of all Jews; and
the pagan empire, at least, designated him a rex socius and high official

39. G. Waitz, Deutsche Verfassungsgeschichte, 11, pt. 1, p. 271.
40, Codex Theodosianus, Interpretatio, “Iudaei omnes qui Romani esse nos-
cuntur”; II, 1, 10. Cassiodorus, Varige, MGH, Auctores antiquissimi, XII, p. 128,

no. XXXII, *... priuilegia uobis debere seruari, quae Iudaicis institutis legum
prouida decreuit antiquitas”; cf. ibid., no. XXXVII, p. 163-64 (in 523-26). Gregorius,
Registrum, MGH, Epistolae, I, no. 11, 6, p. 105, *“. . . sicut Romanis uiuere legibus
permittuntur.”

41. G. Caro, Sozial- und Wirtschaftsgeschichte, 1, pp. 89-90.
42. B. Blumenkranz, Juifs et Chrétiens, p. 299, note 15.
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of the state. Before the Patriarchate of Palestine became extinct ca. 425
Jewish officials in other parts of the empire appeared, with the same
title of patriarchae or primates, who doubtless served as visible evidence
of the Jewish nation, although scattered and no longer in possession of
the Palestinian homeland. The vitality of the Messianic hope for the
eventual restoration to their land, attested by the rise of recurrent
claimants to this title, kept alive among Jews their national conscious-
ness and, among their neighbors, the awareness of their ethnic dif-
ference. The institution of the Jewish Exilarchate in Babylon and
Persia, and the growth of its power under the caliphs, who conferred
recognition of its authority, strengthened such awareness. In fact,
G. Waitz sees in the imperial Jewry law of the ninth century, in partic-
ular the right to live by their own law, evidence of the principle of
personality (that is, of ethnic nationality) applied to Jews.*

S. W. Baron declines to follow Scherer in that he finds that the
memories of the Jews’ status as Gallo-Romans under the Theodosian
Code and its derivatives were not completely expunged. Nevertheless,
he sees in the new approach of the Carolingians striking resemblance
to the legal concept governing the relations of aliens who, completely
rightless under the primitive Teuton laws, were wont to seek the
protection of local rulers in return for more or less regular payments.
Despite their different origin and numerous variations in detail, the
status of Jews and that of aliens were sufficiently alike to reinforce the
conviction of the ““alien” character of Jews.4

None of the scholarly formulations, however, ventured the hypothesis
that the Jews in the Frankish empire might have had a territorial center
beyond its borders, in spite of the well-known role of the Exilarchate
of Baghdad which functioned as such a center for all Jewish persons
and communities within the Caliphate. Least of all has it been proposed
that Jews within the Carolingian realm might have been assigned a
territory, administered by their own chief, on the model of the Exilar-

43. G. Waitz, Deutsche Verfassungsgeschichte, 111, p. 347, note 2. Karl G. Hugel-
mann sees a certain resemblance between the status of Jews and that of North
Swabians in Saxon territory as late as the thirteenth century; “Studien zum. Recht
der Nationalititen im deutschen Mittelalter,” HJb XLVII (1927), 292; XLVIII
(1928), 570, 580.

44. S. W. Baron, History, I1I (1952), pp. 48-50; IV, pp. 48-53; 262, note 66.
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chate or as a survival of the Palestinian Patriarchate and its provincial
patriarchae. Yet such principalities of alien peoples, non-Teutonic
“tribes,” were common in the time of Charlemagne. Their king or
prince, rex or princeps, was a highly privileged personality, and the
members of his “nation,” although alien, were freemen; insofar as
they helped him to govern his own people and territory, they were his
“vassals” and perhaps also imperial officials, as he himself doubtless was.

The Carolingian rulers recognized as “kings” certain chieftains of
foreign peoples within their empire, provided these “commended”
themselves into the hands of the sovereigns. An act of commendation
was in fact the accepted form by which foreign or semi-independent
princes placed themselves under Carolingian suzerainty while, it may
be assumed, they retained royal rank and status vis 3 vis their own
people. Thus Witzin, prince of the Slavic Abodriti, retained the title
“king” until his death in 795, while a vassal of Charlemagne. The same
ruler granted peace to several Slavic kings in 789 after they had placed
their lands under his dominion and commended themselves to him.
So did Zatun, prefect of Barcelona, in 797, Harold King of the Danes,
in 814, and Respogius Duke of Brittany, who retained virtually a
separate realm after performing the act of commendation to his
sovereign. 4

Precisely this act of commendatio describes the relationship between
the Jew Abraham of Saragossa and Emperor Louis le Débonnaire in
his privilegium of ca. 825:

... the Hebrew Abraham by name [the Emperor declares] inhabiting
Saragossa has come into our presence and commended himself into our
hands and we have accepted and retained him under the title of our protec-
tion . ... Let him live quietly under our protection and defence and faith-
fully {literally, as a fidelis] serve our Palace .... However, if any cases
should arise or take place against him or his men who derive their legal
status through him, which cannot be decided within the land (infra patriam),
without serious and unjust loss, let them be suspended and kept for our own
presence until they can there receive definitive judgment according to law.%

45. C. E. Odegaard, Vassi and Fideles in the Carolingian Empire, pp. 4-5, 61;
38-40; 61-63. See this text, pp. 91-92,
46. Formulae Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 52, p. 325.
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Among the several significant items in this diploma is the reference
to other persons upon whom Abraham can confer a certain legal
status, presumably by their entering into some formal relationship
with him. Some special significance may also attach to the meaning of
Abraham’s “fatherland,” patria.

It is not necessary to assume that Abraham was the Jews’ chieftain
in the Carolingian Empire. In this instance the Emperor appears to be
encouraging his immigration into the realm in a position of some
authority over other persons. Hence, the commendation. Apparently,
local leaders also were expected to enter into this formal relationship
of homage before they were assigned to a specific area-(patria) as their
own.

The other extant documents of Louis in behalf of Jews are not
formal privilegia. Hence they do not describe the establishment of this
relationship of commendatio to the sovereign, although it may be
implied as already in existence by the use of such terms as, “We have
received and retained them under our defence.” The imperial mandate
for the community of Lyons also mentions their own “land,” patria,
repeating the exact phraseology of Abraham’s diploma.4” In their in-
stance it must refer to a region that included the city of Lyons.

There can be no question that Jews owned property in the Caro-
lingian Age. The aforementioned confirmation of Emperor Louis the
Pious for the Hebrews Gaudiocus and his two sons describes realty
holdings in Valerianis and Bagnilis (near Carcassonne) which they had
inherited, including dwellings and other structures, cultivated and un-
cultivated lands, vineyards, meadows, pasture lands, waters and
streams, mills and the approaches thereto. The named Hebrews have
full power in accordance with the law of possession to dispose of their
property as they see fit, sell it, give it away, or exchange it, and no
one may disturb them in their possession.?® Likewise, the imperial

47. For Rabbi Domatus and Samuel, “. .. sub nostra defensione suscepimus ac
retinemus”; Formulae Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 30, p. 309:5; repeated exactly
for Lyons, no. 31, p. 310:9; fully for Abraham, *. . . iste Hebreus nomine Abraham
. . . in manibus nostris s commendavit, et eum sub sermone tuitionis nostre recepi-
mus ac retinemus,” no. 52, p. 325:8-10; infra patriam, p. 310:30, cf. p. 325:28.

48. “, .. jubemus ut memorati Hebraei eorumque posteritas memoratas res cum
omnibus ad se pertinentibus vel aspicientibus, id est cum domibus, ceterisque
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mandate in behalf of Rabbi Domatus and his nephew Samuel refers
to protection of “their own property.” Moreover, they are permitted
to enter into exchange of their own property and to sell it to whomso-
ever they wish.4® Similarly, the act in behalf of Lyons Jewry offers
protection to their property legitimately acquired and wherever held
and permits them to exchange it with whomsoever they wish.®® The
privilegium for Abraham of Saragossa likewise extends protection to
his property (presumably still to be acquired) and merchandise,5 but
does not mention its sale or exchange explicitly.

Several traces of a “land” or “territory” of the Jews have come to
light in the extant local documents, specifically, in the Chalonnais,
Miconnais, and Viennois of the south of France, referring to the
period of concern of this study, and beyond it into the eleventh century.
The earliest record, dated August 17, 842, locates a terra Ebreorum in
the district of Vienne in the village of Brosses (Brocianus Subterior);
the next notice, of April 849, places a terra Hebraeorum within the
walls of Vienne; a century later, 950-51, in Vernioz (Vernius) ten
kilometers south of Vienne. In the tenth century there emerge in the

aedificiis, terris cultis et uncultis, vineis, pratis, pascuis, aquis aquarumue decursibus,
molendinis, exitibus, egressibus et regressibus, absque puiush'bét contrarietate aut
detentione . .. teneant, possideant. Et quidquid-de eis jure proprietario ordinare,
disponere aut facere vendendo, donando vel commutando voluerint, liberam in
omnibus habeant potestatem, neque quispiam eis de saepedictis rebus ullam calum-
niam aut inquietudinem generare audeat, sed liceat secure atque quiete . . .”; HGL,
1I, preuves, no. 97, col. 211-12.

49. *, .. jubemus ut neque vos . . . memoratos Hebreos . . . inquietare aut calum-
niam generare praesumat nec de rebus eorum propriis . . . aliquid abstrahere aut
minuere ... pracsumatis . ... Similiter concessimus eis de rebus eorum propriis
commutationes facere et proprium suum cuicunque voluerint vendere”; Formulae
Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 30, p. 309:6-10, 12-13.

50. . .. iubemus ut neque vos,” etc. (as in note 49 above) “... nec de rebus
eorum propriis, quae ex legitima adquisitione habere visi sunt, vel in quibuslibet
locis . . . legaliter vestiti esse videntur,” etc. (as in note 49). “Similiter concessimus
eis de rebus eorum commutationes facere cum quibuslibet hominibus voluerint”;
ibid., no. 31, p. 310:10-14; 18-19.

51. ... jubemus ut neque vos etc. . . . neque de rebus suis propriis vel negotio
suo,” etc. (as in note 49); ibid., no. 52, p. 325:11-14. Apparently this is protection
promised in advance for property which Abraham planned to acquire in Frankia.
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documents of the same Viennois region references to rerrae of in-
dividual Jews: the terra Abboni in the village Ambalent January 925,
the terra Durabile and wife Columba ebreis in the village Castolatis
947-48, the terra Asterii ebrei in Vitrieu (Vitrosco) 957-58, 966-67,
970-71, and August 937-93 within the walls of Vienne namely, “in
the burg of the Hebrews”; and the terra Ysahac ebreo 958-59.
Latouche dates this “Jews’ town” (burgus Ebreorum) along the banks
of the Rhéne in Vienne back to 849.52

North of Vienne, several references to a terra Hebreorum have been
preserved in the Cartulary of St. Vincent of Mécon. A vineyard
situated in the village Bioux (Boscido) of the Méaconnais is described
as bordering on the terra Hebreorum on one of its sides in the period
888-98. The same cartulary records an exchange of property at some
time between 886-927 by the Jew Justus and the Bishop Gerald of
Maicon; that of the latter borders on the terra Hebreorum. Perhaps it
is this terra Hebreorum which is entered in the same cartulary for the
periods 954-62, ca. 972 (mentioned twice), 981-96, 987-96, 996-1018,
followed by several other such references in the eleventh century.5®

Between Macon and Vienne the terra Hebreorum may be traced

52. Cartvlaire de I'abbaye de Saint-André-le-bas de Vienne, ed. Cyr Ulysse
J. Chevalier, Appendix no. 2, p. 212; *. . . et determinet mansus qui est infra muros
civitatis Vienne ... in subteriore fronte terra Hebreorum ...,” Appendix no. 4,
p- 214; no. 100, pp. 74-75 (950-51); no. 129, pp. 92-93 (January 925); no. 99, p. 74
(947-48); no. 63, p. 52 (957-58); no. 64, pp. 52-53 (966—67); no. 49, p. 43 (970-71);
no. 91, pp. 68—69 (August 937-93): “Est autem et ipsa terra eorum adjacens mona-
sterio Sancti Andree, infra muros urbis Vienne, in burgo videlicet Ebreorum, qui
talibus cingitur terminis: a mane terra filiorum Levi, a medio die via veniens ad
Hebreos . .. ."” This exchange of properties is signed by five Hebrews, Juda, Lupus,
Granellus, Salomon, Justus. Cf. Robert Latouche, *“Le Bourg des Juifs (Hebracorum
Burgus) de Vienne (Isére) au x° siécle,” Etudes médiévales (Paris 1966), 194-96;
Cartvigire de . . . Vienne, no. 105, p. 77 (958-59 terra Ysahac).

53. Cartviaire de Saint-Vincent de Mdécon connu sous le nom de livre enchainé.
Chartularium matisconense, ed. Camille Ragut (Méicon 1864), nos. 284, p. 169 (888-
98); 122, p. 92 twice (886-927); 276, p. 165 (954-62); 46, p. 37 twice (ca. 972); 307,
p. 180 (981-96); 273, p. 164 (987-99); 148, p. 104 (996-1018); and the eleventh-
century references nos. 487, p. 282 (ca. 1004); 142, p. 101°(1018) “terra que olim
fuit Hebreorum; terra Hebreorum”; 167, p. 113 (1018), 549, p. 324 (1074-96); as
well as undated notations nos. 147, p. 103; 195, p. 125 (ca. 10th century), 278, pp.
166-67.
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further. A land grant in the village Marcilliaco is described as border-
ing on the terra Hebraeorum in the period 994-1032. Similar notations
are found in the records of the Abbey of Cluny located in the close
neighborhood of Macon: in December 983 (terra Ebracorum), 987-94
(terra Hebraeorum), and for the period October 20, 1004 to October 23,
1005 (terra Hebraeorum). A short distance west of Cluny and northwest
of Macon stood the priory of Paray-le-Monial whose cartulaire primitif
records in an undated notice “the territory which of old the Jews held
in the village named Curte Judaea, with the vineyards and all appur-
tenances thereto.” A terra Ebrei is located in the Auvergne in the
period 910-27 and in the vicinity of Lyons (terra Hebraecorum) 994
103254

Blumenkranz plots the location of lands owned by Jews in the
vicinity of Macon. He, Jeanton, and Déléage emphasize the concen-
trated nature of their holdings, specifically in the present Macon-Nord
and Maicon-Sud. In fact, five of the six records in the Cartulary of
Maicon which refer to property in Bioux treat of Jewish possessions.
Déléage notes a similar concentration of Jewish ptoperty in the
Chalonnais.

The remarkable expression “territory of the Jews” (terra Hebre-
orum) has excited the attention and theorizing of scholars. Jeanton
suggests that the frequent repetition of the ter_m_in't'h'ése documents
may be evidence of Jewish communalfpropei'ty analogous to terra
Jrancorum. Déléage sees therein the possession of a Jewish village, a
Jewish quarter, or the property of a territorial Jewish community (italics
added). Its indivisible character was preserved by the fact that the
Jews stood under immediate royal authority. In addition their group
was based on a family interrelationship which also promoted the in-
divisibility of their land. On the other hand, Blumenkranz ascribes no
special significance to the term ferra hebreorum although he counts

54. Claude-Frangois Menestrier, Histoire civile ou consulaire de la ville de Lyon,
(Lyons 1696), preuves, p. v; Recueil des chartes de I'abbaye de Cluny, eds. Auguste
Bernard Bruel and Alexandre Bruel, 6 vols. (Paris 1876-1903), I, nos. 1640, 1747;
111, no. 2603. Cartulaire du prieuré de Paray-le-Monial, ed. Cyr Ulysse J. Chevalier
(Paris 1870), p. 7, no. 6: ... terram quam antiquibus tenuerunt Judaei in villa
dicta Curte Judaea cum vineis cunctisque pertinentiis”; op. cit. eds. A. B. Bruel
and A. Bruel, I, p. 168, no. 178 (910-27 Auvergne); CL-F. Menestrier, ibid.
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twenty-six acts in the cartularies of Cluny and Macon which treat of
it (once terra Israhelis) and only six other acts omit such a reference
and transmit solely the personal names of the Jewish parties to the
action recorded. This remarkable terminology he thinks is merely a
generalized expression for property of an individual Jew and is not
that of the community; the difficulty which the notary or editor ex-
perienced in casting a Hebrew name into adjectival form led to this
practice. However, it must be noted these texts do transmit names of
Hebrews as adjectives, e.g., terra Justone for the land of the Jew Justus
(Cartulary of Mécon, no. 122 dated 886 to 927) and otherwise manage
to express possession clearly as evidenced by the several such instances
noted on p. 26 here. Furthermore, to impute such slipshod practice
as the use of a generalized term for the holding of an individual is
hardly warranted by the legal scrupulousness and concern for exactness
which pervade these documents. The lucid -reference to “the territory
which of old the Jews held in the village named Curte Judaea, with the
vineyards and all appurtenances thereto” supports our conclusion that
terra Hebreorum refers to a communal, rather than an individual,
possession. 55

It is not altogether clear that the term terra Hebraeorum designated
in these several notices was a continous stretch of land. But the pos-
sibility cannot be completely ruled out that we have here traces of a
Jewish territory along the Sadne and Rhone extending at least from
Maécon south to Vienne and Vernioz; in the north to the Chalonnais,
and westward to the environs of Cluny and Paray-le-Monail.

Several villages and allodial properties in scattered parts of France
and the March of Spain, designated villa Judaei or Judaicis or villa
Judaica, indicate probably a contemporaneous or former Jewish settle-
ment and the communal property of a Jewish group or the land of an
individual. Some examples follow. On October 24, 886, Emperor

55. B. Blumenkranz, “Cultivateurs et vignerons juifs en Bourgogne du IXe au
XIe siécle,” Bulletin philologique et historique, 1959 (1960), 130-31; 134-35;
G. Jeanton, Les Juifs en Méaconnais (Macon 1919), pp. 4, 7-12 offprint of Annuaire de
I’ Académie de Médcon, (1916-17), XX (1919); A. Déléage, La Vie rurale en Bourgogne
Jusqu'au début du onziéme siécle, I (Texte), pp. 381-83. See quotation from Cartulary
of Paray in note 54 here.
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Charles III confirmed Germund in the possession of the villa Judeis
in the district of Chartres, once granted to him by Charles II. A
notation for the Auvergne is dated in the period 910-27 (terra Ebrei).
King Lothar confirmed all the possessions of the church St. Croix of
Orléans during 954-72, which included the fourth part of a village
known as Judeis. A villa Iudaica (Villajuiga) was located in the province
of Gerona in 982, at one time part of the Spanish March. King Hugh
Capet is reported to have died in his fortress Iudaeis in 996.5¢

The elevation of Pepin the Short to the throne of Frankland in 75157
coincided with fundamental shifts of power in the structure of old
world relationships. Among others, the ‘Abbasid revolt had split the
Islamic world in 750-51 so that Umayyad Spain, the hostile neighbor
of Frankia, became also the mortal enemy of the Abbasid Caliphate.
That made a Carolingian-‘Abbasid rapprochement inevitable. At least
as directly related to Pepin’s ultimate ambitions was the decline of
imperial power and authority in the West. Jerusalem had long since
fallen into the power of Islam. Now the Emperor was unable to protect
adequately the church at Rome from the incursions of the Lombards.
The Exarchate of Ravenna was lost and with it the political influence
of Byzantium in upper and middle Italy which hinged on that imperial
territory.5®

The coronation of Pepin was especially distinguished by the “biblical”
rite of anointing. This was apparently.adéliberate attempt to suggest
that the Frank monarchy was a replica, if not actually a continuation,
of the biblical archetype. In phrases reminiscent of the Bible, Pope

56. Die Urkunden Karls IlI 876-87, ed. P. F. Kehr, MGH, Diplomata regum
Germaniae ex stirpe Karolinorum, 1I part 2, p. 228, no. 142. Cartulaire de Sainte-
Croix de Orléans (814-1300), eds. J. Thillier and E. Jarry, “Supplement” p. 521,
no. 376; Hugh Capet reconfirmed this possession, ibid. p. 82, no. 39. B. Blumen-
kranz, Juifs et Chrétiens, p. 30 (for Villa Juiga) and other references there. Richer
of Rheims, Historiarum Libri 1111, ed. and transl. R. Latouche II, p. 330.

57. L. Levillain sets the terminus ad quem for the coronation and anointing of
Pepin at the hands of Boniface in December 751, “L'avénement de la dynastie
carolingienne et les origines de I'état pontifical (749-757),” BEC, XCIV (1933), 229;
the anointing of Pepin, his sons, and wife by Pope Stephen he fixes for shortly after
April 14, 754; ibid., 295.

58. H. Biittner, “Aus den Anfingen des abendlindischen Staatsgedankens. Die
Konigserhebung Pippins,” HJb, LXXI (1951), 80-81.
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Stephen IT declared that Pepin had been chosen for royalty from his
mother’s womb, that the first of the apostles had elected him for his
own possession out of all kings and peoples, that his right to royal
sway was a gift of God; and he drew comparisons in particular between
Pepin and David.5®

Still another significant act was associated with the establishment of
the Carolingian monarchy. That was Pope Stephen’s bestowal upon
Pepin of the Patriciatus Romanorum in 754, thereby conferring this
dignity upen the Frank kings for the first time. The Patrician was the
representative of the Emperor and the bearer of the imperium in Italy.
In his behalf the Patrician administered the Exarchate-of Ravenna. In
conferring this rank of imperial dignity Stephen was acting formally,
Freeman has suggested, in the name of Emperor Constantine Kap-
ronymos but designedly to promote his own independence of Byzan-
tium. He intended that in Italy the power of.the Emperor should be as
nominal as had been the power of the Merovingian king in Frankland.
But as patrician, the Frank king became an honorary imperial official
and assumed the role of protector of the church. His power in papal
affairs was by no means inconsiderable. The pope was to inform Pepin
of events in his realm; a permanent royal delegation was established

59. L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher des frinkischen Reiches unter Konig Pippin, pp. 132,
155-60, 259. How closely Pepin’s anointing was intended to follow biblical models
is evident from a Freisinger Benedictio of the turn of the eighth-ninth centuries,
wherein Eichmann believes he can detect the formula of Pepin’s consecration:
“Unguantur manus istae de oleo sanctificato, unde uncti fuerunt reges et prophetae,
sicut unxit Samuel David in regem, ut sis benedictus rex in regno isto, quod dedit
tibi Dominus Deus tuus super populum hunc ad regendum et gubernandum.”
E. Eichmann, “Konigs- und Bischofsweihe,” Sitzungsberichte der Bayerischen
Akademie der Wissenschaften, V1, 1928, pp. 29-33. Eichmann points out that the
reference to David who took the place of the rejected Saul and the further reference
to a monarchy based on a title of possession granted by God were for Pepin.

F. Kern sees in Stephen’s anointing of Pepin and his sons in 754 a quid pro quo
for the future grant of the Exarchate and Ravenna as a papal state and for firm
opposition to the Lombard king’s demands on Rome, Gottesgnadentum und Wider-
standsrecht im fritheren Mittelalter ed. R. Buchner, p. 78.

At the Assembly of Quierzy-sur-Oise in 754 the aristocracy confirmed Pepin’s
pact with Pope Stephen; L. Levillain, “L’avénement de la dynastie carolingienne,”
BEC, XCIV (1933), 270.
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at the papal court. The pope professed to be always ready to obey
Pepin’s will and to follow the Patrician’s wishes as his own. Papal
‘recognition of the Frank king’s Patriciate implied, according to
J. Haller, acknowledgment of his right of lordship over the papal lands
and the Roman church.%

Pepin’s entry into a status transcending that of a mere king and,
though ambiguous, nevertheless reflecting imperial dignity$! would

60. L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher . . . Pippin, pp. 144-45. E. A.Freeman, “The Patriciate
of Pepin,” EHR, IV (1889), 684-713, emphasizes both the autonomous designs of
the popes and the imperial aspect of Pepin’s Patriciate which, he says, eventuated
in the imperial coronation of Charlemagne.

J. Haller, “Die Karolinger und das Papsttum,” HZ, CVIII (1912), 47-48. Pro-
tection by the Frank King involved an act of commendatio by the Pope; ibid., 65-66.
Pepin’s expansionist, if not imperialist, ambitions are hinted at by the Pope who
also states that the Franks enjoy God’s special favor: *... gens sancta, regale
sacerdotium, populum adquisitionis, cui benedixit dominus Deus Israhel . ... Sed
omnipotens Dominus . .. terminos vestros dilatet, subiciens ... omnes barbaras
nationes”; quoted ibid., p. 60, note 3.

E. Caspar places in the foreground the intent of the popes: an initial goal of
withdrawal from the Eastern Empire yielding to the immediate purpose expressed
in the forged Constitutum Constantini of setting up a papal realm parallel to the
empire but ruling in the West, “Das Papsttum unter frinkischer Herrschaft,”
ZfKG, LIV (1935), 135-36, 150. The forgery of the Constitution of Constantine
took place in this period. L. Levillain, “L’avénement de la dynastie carolingienne,”
232, has dated the Constitutum in 753; E. Casﬁar, “Das Papsttum unter frinkischer
Herrschaft,” 145, in 760, following Hartmann; W. Levison, in 757-67, “Konstan-
tinische Schenkung und Silvester-Legende,” Aus Rheinischer und Frénkischer Friih-
zeit, 390-91.

A. Hauck describes the state of papal power at the end of Hadrian’s pontificate
(d. December 25, 795) in terms of an ecclesiastical seigneury enjoying immunity
and endowed with certain aspects of sovereignty but situated politically within the
Frankish realm of Charlemagne and subject to him as the Patricius Romanorum,
Kirchengeschichte Deutschlands, 6th ed., Part I1, pp. 89-97.

61. The practical significance of Pepin’s title Halphen declares to be a mystery.
Yet he views the imperial coronation of Charlemagne on December 25, 800, as
having for its prime objective the substitution of the clear title of Emperor for the
ambiguous “Patricius Romanorum,” L. Halphen, Charlemagne et I'empire carolin-
gien, pp. 33, 130. Was one thought of as a step toward the other? In the ninth
century Walafrid Strabo compared the pope to the caesars, the patriarchs to the
patricii who were the first after the caesars; Libellus de exordiis et incrementis §32,
MGH, Capitularia II, eds. Boretius, Krause, p. 515:17-18.
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pave the way for negotiations between him and the Jewish leadership.
Pepin’s more than royal dignity opened up the possibility for a
nasi or prince of the Jews to occupy a relationship to him similar
to that of the Jewish Exilarch in relation to the Caliph-Emperor in
Baghdad.

There is considerable disagreement among scholars regarding the
actual imperial designs of the Carolingians. Ohnsorge is prepared to
recognize the ambition of the Carolingians in the assertion of the
equality of their dignity with the Emperors of Byzantium. However,
he accepts at its face value Einhard’s statement that Charles strongly
opposed assumption of the imperial title. Ohnsorge-sees the act of
coronation as completely a papal project.s?

Fichtenau on the other hand views the events of December 25, 800,
as the culmination of proceedings which Charles entered and agreed
upon, and which his political counsellors fostered. He declares, “The
idea of a papal coup d’état is out of the question.” He explains Einhard’s
report of Charles’ dissatisfaction as a criticism only of the manner in
which Pope Leo III had acted and asserts that it could not possibly
refer to the fact of the consecration itself. Thenceforth Charles con-
sidered himself a true emperor, not inferior to any Eastern sovereign
of the past.®® Easton and Wieruszowski summarize the conflicting
views from Karl Heldmann to Louis Halphen. They find it possible
to reconcile Charles’ imperial ambitions and plans with Einhard’s
statement of disapproval by seeing in the latter Charles’ resentment of
Pope Leo’s initiative and his opposition to the specific timing of the
act of coronation.%

P. Munz has identified four differing and, in part, conflicting points
of view regarding Charlemagne’s imperial role and status: that of
Charles himself, of Alcuin, the Aix-la-Chapelle group and Pope Leo
III. Central in Charles’ own thinking was the idea that he was a

62. W. Ohnsorge, Das Zweikaiserproblem im fritheren Mittelalter (Hildesheim
1947), pp. 16-23.

63. H. Fichtenau, The Carolingian Empire, pp. 73-15.

64. S. C. Easton and H. Wieruszowski, The Era of Charlemagne, pp. 42-44;
Reading no. 8, pp. 127-29. Cf. F. L. Ganshof, The Imperial Coronation of Charle-
magne.
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successor to the biblical kings of the Jewish people. He compared him-
self to them; he was prepared to assume toward his own subjects their
duties vis-3-vis their people. The Carolingians were sensitive to the
charge of the usurpation of the Crown and of having acquired authority
through conquest. Succession to the biblical kings of old would legiti-
mize their royal power. Charlemagne desired a status other than that
of a Germanic rex, a king-usurper who ruled by right of conquest.
Augustine had condemmed the notion that conquest could confer
lawful authority. Eventually, Charles was content to be considered the
brother of the Byzantine Emperor Michael I Rangabe.

It was not within Munz’ purview to indicate it, but Charlemagne’s
ideas were probably essentially those of his father Pepin’s. Munz fails
to point out, however, that substantiation of the claim to biblical
succession (in actuality, a claim of divinie sanction to rule) would
require governance over the people of the Bible, the Jews, and at least
nominal control of Jerusalem, the Holy City. The latter requirement
might be met by the aid of the Jews who enjoyed a close relationship
with the Caliph of Baghdad, the sovereign of Jerusalem. For God’s
people to become the trusted vassals (fideles) of the Carolingian
monarchs, certain conditions would first have to be met.

Ideas such as these must have conflicted sharply with Alcuin’s views
as defined by Munz. Alcuin emphasized Charles’ role as the ruler of
an imperium christianum, very nearly cosextensive with the realm of the
Franks; he pointed up his hold over the populus christianus, all Chris-
tians being subject to his leadership. In this connection one should
note the claim that the Franks had become, in fact, as God’s people
the successors of ancient Israel.

Munz identifies as the Aix-la-Chapelle group certain unnamed ad-
visers of Charles, a coterie of practical and sober statesmen. They were
planning an empire that would center around Aix-la-Chapelle, free of
Roman conceptions. In sharp contrast to Alcuin’s position that the
pope stood outside judgement by any man, this group held Charles up as
a chief judge who could sit in judgement on the pope himself. Such a
view is compatible with an old rabbinic position that the function of
the monarch, and of King David, in particular, was to judge while he
himself might not be judged except by God. At the council in Rome
on the eve of the coronation, the Aix-la-Chapelle group presumably
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held that Charles ought to assume the title of emperor since he was in
possession of all the old seats of the ancient emperors—among which
they must have included also Jerusalem.%

Some of Charles’ notions and those of the Aix-la-Chapelle group,
identified by Munz, seem related to still other Jewish views, such as
that the end had now come for the “boorish” (barbarian) nation
which had had no divine sanction for government—apparently a
reference to the Merovingian dynasty which had usurped “legitimate”
Roman rule.* Conceivably, a new dynasty might now legitimately
rise to power provided it was endowed with God’s sanction for
governance. -~

Munz does not make clear on what rational grounds Charlemagne
might claim succession to the biblical kings of Israel. Clearly, however,
intermarriage with one or more living descendants of Davidic lineage
would supply the missing link. That would provide the basis for the
assertion of divine sanction to governance on the part of the Caro-
lingian dynasty.

In summary then, the lands on both sides of the Pyrenees, long
before the middle of the eighth century, were noted for their rebellious
nature and autonomous ambitions. The indigenous surge for self-
dependence characterized both Arab wali and Christian count and
duke who governed these territories. The ruler of the Franks held only
tenuous control over Septimania and Aquitaine, while the constant
threat from Spain regularly upset a precarious local stability and com-
pelled the Carolingians to search for reliable allies. Pepin’s assumption
of royal dignity and his investiture with the patriciate further whetted
his ambition for a status beyond that of a Germanic rex. He, as well
as his son Charles, sought divine sanction for their rule by claiming
succession to the indubitably legitimate kings of Israel. This requisite,
and the need for at least nominal sway over holy Jerusalem, prompted
a rapprochement with the Jewish community in Frankia and abroad,
who alone were in position to enable the Carolingian kings to achieve
both objectives.

65. P, Munz, The Origin of the Carolingian Empire, passim. Samuel Atlas, “The
King May Neither Judge Nor Be Judged” (Hebrew), Sinai LXIII (1968), 100, 104.
66. See this study, p. 108.



The Jews of Septimania until the Patriciate of King Pepin The Short 35

This situation eventuated in the surrender of Umayyad Narbonne
to the Franks in 759 and the cession, thereafter, by Pepin and his sons
of a realm in southern Frankia to a prince of the Jews who traced his
lineage to King David.



2

The Surrender of Narbonne
to the Franks in 759

The fall of the mighty Saracen citadel of Narbonne to the Franks in
759 signaled the collapse of Umayyad power in Southern France and
prepared the way for the unification of the Carolingian Kingdom under
Pepin the Short and Charlemagne. “This victory marks . .. at least
the end of the Musulman expansion in the West of Europe. Just as
Constantinople resisted the great attack of 718, and thereby protected
the Orient, so here the intact forces of Austrasia, the vassals of the
Carolingians, preserved the Occident.”?

The role of the inhabitants of Narbonne during the siege of the
fortress, 752-59, and their status thereafter, have long been obscure.
Two sets of related sources sharply contradict each other: one succinctly
ascribes to Goths within the walls the delivery of Narbonne to the
Franks in return for a pledge of self-government, or, in a variant
version, of rule (of the Town ?). The other, a Latin romance, supported
in part by Hebrew and papal documents, describes at length how the
Jews delivered the fortress to the besieging Franks in return for a

1. H. Pirenne, Mohammed and Charlemagne, p. 157.
36
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promise of government under their own king. Later French sources
also refer to an early medieval ruler of the Jews and even delineate the
prerogatives of a contemporaneous Jewish king in Narbonne.

Scholarly opinion has eyed the theory of a medieval Jewish “mon-
archy” in southern France with considerable skepticism. The prevailing
view is that Goths, not Jews, were responsible for the fall of Narbonne
from within as the price for self-rule.?

Knowledge of the political and diplomatic setting in the eighth
century is fundamental to an understanding of the situation which led
to the surrender of Narbonne from within to the besieging Franks
outside. The salient fact, of course, was the penetration of the Arabs
into Gaul and the resulting hostility between the Carolingian rulers of
Frankland and first the ‘Abbasid, then the Umayyad, dynasty based
in Spain. The conflict naturally was con¢entrated on the border pro-
vinces where the Muslims had captured once Gallic Narbonne in 719-
20, converted it into an impregnable fortress, and operated it as a
military and supply center for almost four decades. However, the
Muslim-Christian conflict soon lost its initial religious coloration, as
internal dissension and revolt developed in both the Frankish Kingdom
and the Arab Caliphate.

The Frankish mayors of the palace speedily became aware that their
borderlands were threatened not merely by Mus]im'i'ngaders pouring
over the Pyrenees, but even more by colfaboration with the enemy on
the part of the local Christian nobility of Septimania and Aquitaine.
In fact, these had never acquiesced with good grace to the ascendancy
of the House of Arnulf. As early as 730, Eudo of Aquitaine married
off his daughter to the Berber chieftain Munuz, presumably to strength-
en his position against Charles Martel; and then called upon his new

2. The sources mentioned will be analyzed later. The prevailing view: Bruno
Gebhardt, Handbuch der deutschen Geschichte ed. Herbert Grundmann (8th ed.,
Stuttgart, Berlin 1954), I, p. 159, note 7; Ernest Lavisse, Histoire de France depuis
les origines jusqu'a la revolution, II (Paris 1903) part 1, p. 276. D’Abadal maintains
that the Goths surrendered Narbonne in return for confirmation of Gothic law for
Septimania, R. d'Abadal, “El paso de Septimania,” CHE, XIX (1953), 43, 46.
Pfister and Ganshof do not identify, except by implication, the residents of Narbonne
who “massacred” the Arab garrison after having received assurance of the power to
live by Visigothic law; Histoire du Moyen Age, 1, part 1 (new ed. Paris 1940), p. 414.
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relatives for military help. Count Maurontus of Marseilles turned over
to the Muslim wali of Narbonne the towns of Arles, Avignon, and
others in the neighborhood as compensation for assistance against the
same mayor of the palace. Under Charles’ son Pepin the Short defection
continued with or without such foreign compacts. In 751, Waifar of
Aquitaine sallied out to win Septimania for his domain and thus forced
the young Pepin, soon to bear the crown, to move southward in order
to protect the realm he had inherited together with his father’s in-
surgent counts. In fact, the years 760 to 768 demanded most of the
King’s attention mainly in the suppression of Waifar who, during this
period, was allied with the last scion of the overthrown Umayyad
dynasty, ‘Abd ar-Rahman of Spain.

The Umayyads, once rulers of the vast Caliphate, had gone down to
defeat and near extinction in their Syrian homeland at the hands of a
new claimant to the succession, Abu’l ‘Abbas, who overthrew the
Caliph of Damascus in 750. A lone survivor, ‘Abd ar-Rahman, escaped
to Spain, where his declaration of independence in 757 gave permanence
to the Umayyad-‘Abbasid split on the peninsula. Strange alignments
deepened. Anti-Umayyad walis cast in their lot with the Franks, while
anti-Carolingian Christian counts pressed their alliance with Umayyad
supporters. As early as 752, the wali of Barcelona and Gerona acknow-
ledged King Pepin the Short as his overlord; shortly afterward, Waifar
of Aquitaine allied himself with the Umayyad refugee ‘Abd ar-Rahman.
Thus the foundation was laid for a Carolingian-‘Abbasid rapproche-
ment.?

Neither the Mayor of the Palace, Charles Martel, nor the King of
the Franks, Pepin the Short, could afford to ignore the challenge of
these rebel vassals in the south. Each one led his troops to at least

3. On Saracen penetration of Frankia, E. Lévi-Provengal, Histoire de I’Espagne
musulmane, 1, pp. 38 ff. and this work, Chapter 1. F. W. Buckler characterizes
Pepin as “the guardian of the ‘Abbasid interests in Spain against the Umayyads,”
Harunu'l-Rashid and Charles the Great, p. 10; cf. pp. 3-14. The outstanding instance
of ‘Abbasid-Carolingian collaboration was, according to Buckler, the alliance
between Sulaiman, wali of Barcelona, and Charlemagne, consummated at Paderborn
in 777. Buckler says that Sulaiman was acting in behalf of the ‘Abbasids when he
helped to instigate the revolt of the Berbers in central Spain against ‘Abd ar-Rahman,
op. cit. p. 11.
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partial victory here. Each one in turn marched against Saracen-held
Narbonne, the focus of defection and the outpost of Muslim power in
‘Gaul. But Charles had to abandon the siege of the impregnable fortress,
begun in 737, even though the Saracens failed to relieve Narbonne via
Spain.

The dependence of Narbonne on support from Spain is evident
from the circumstances of Charles Martel’s siege of 737. In order to
relieve the citadel Ukba, governor of Spain, sent troops by sea who,
on disembarking, were defeated by the Franks. Yet Charles Martel
had to lift the siege in order to counter the threat of Saxon and Frisian
incursions in the north. During the investment of Narbonne by Pepin’s
forces, internal dissension in Spain prevented the dispatch of effective
relief. Yussuf the governor was diverted from the crisis across the
Pyrenees by the Umayyad refugee ‘Abd ar-Rahman who, arriving in
August 755, scored an initial victory over Yussuf in May 756. The
two fought on until Yussuf was assassinated by his own men 759-60. In
759 Pepin’s seven-year-long blockade of Narbonne ended with its fall.¢

An examination of the sources in question is clearly called for. This
discloses that the primary chronicle, whose report has always been
accepted without question, namely, the Annals of Aniane, may be the
least reliable even though the oldest of the extant sources. The Chronicle
of Uzés is a fourteenth-century compilation which, for the most part,
rewrote material from the Annals of A4miane, although it may have
drawn also from a source common to both. The Annals of Metz5 a
second source, omits to mention any allies of Pepin within the walls
and contains the startling error that Narbonne fell after a three-year
siege. The Chronicle of Moissac,® otherwise parallel with the Annals of

4. Cf. Devic and Vaissete, HGL, I, pp. 805-07, 851-52; E. Lévi-Provenqal,
Histoire de I'Espagne musulmane, 1, pp. 71, 73, 76. The Continuatio Hispana assigns
to Narbonne a prime role in maintaining Saracen supremacy in the land during
their occupation; Chronica Minora, 11, ed. T. Mommsen, MGH, Auctorum anti-
quissimorum XI (Berlin 1894), p. 358, col. b.

5. Annales Mettenses priores ed.B. v. Simson, p. 43; cf. W. Levison, “Zu den
Annales Mettenses,” Festschrift fiir Robert Holtzmann zum sechzigsten Geburtstag,
pp. 9-21. The error may perhaps be accounted for as a copyist’s misreading of the
numeral VII wherein a faint slope of the V occasioned the error and resulted in
reading I1I.

6. Chronicon Moissiacense ed. G. H. Pertz, MGH Scriptorum 1, pp. 280-81, 294.
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Aniane, is mutilated and, for the petiod 717 through 777, suffers an
inexplicable lacuna which is caused by the tearing out of several folios
from the codex of the chronicle covering precisely the time of the siege
and fall of Narbonne. The Annals of Aniane,’ extant only in an eleventh-
(or twelfth-) century transcript, remains then, relatively, the oldest and,
if the Chronicle of Uzés depends on it, in fact the primary source for
the events of 759. It was compiled by a noted ninth-century Goth
monk® of the south, Saint Benedict (originally, Witiza) of Aniane, son
of a Goth.count of Maguelonne, or by a fellow monk. The Annals of
Aniane states succinctly that the Goths of Narbonne rose up and killed
the Saracens in the fortress of the town and delivered-it to the Franks
in return for a pledge that they would be permitted to “have their own
law”: “Anno DCCLVIIIL. The Franks besiege Narbonne. They swore
to the Goths who were there, that if they should deliver the city to the
side of Pepin, King of the Franks, they would permit them to have
their own law. This was done; and the same Goths kill the Saracens who
were in its citadel, and deliver the city itself to the side of the Franks.”®

7. The complete text of the Annals of Aniane was acquired by Baluze and published
by editors Marténe-Durand, Veterum Scriptorum et Monumentorum historicorum ...
Collectio, V,cols. 884-916 from the MS Latin 5941 of the Bibliothéque Nationale in
Paris, deriving originally from the Catalan monastery of Ripoll. This is a compilation
of historical texts including the Gesta comitum Barcinonensium and the biographies
of William of Gellone and Benedict of Aniane. The editors of HGL date this copy
of the Annales in the eleventh century, HGL, II, preuves, cols. 2-3, note 2; Rudolf
Beer, in the twelfth century, “Los Manuscrits de Santa Maria de Ripoll,” BRABLB,
V (1909), 349, note 1; cf. R. d’Abadal, “El paso de Septimania,” loc. cit., 17-18,
note 19; 43. Lowe accepts tentatively d’Abadal’s view of the Annals of Aniane as
an independent work not derived from the Chronicle of Moissac, but based rather
on a common source with the latter; and also d’Abadal’s claim that the Chronicle
of Uzés was based on that of Aniane or else drawn from a now lost source which
served as the common origin of both; Wattenbach-Levision, Deutschlands Geschichts-
quellen im Mittelalter, 111, pp. 347-48, notes 176-77. The lacuna in the Chronicle
of Moissac resulted from the tearing out of several folios from the codex into which
it had been transcribed. See Piickert’s critical judgment of Annals of Aniane this
text pp. 41-42. -

8. Chronicon Moissiacense, MGH, SS, 1, p. 297.

9. “Anno DCCLVHII. Franci Narbonam obsident, datoque sacramento Gotis
qui ibi erant, ut si civitatem partibus traderent Pippini regis Franchorum, permit-
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The Chronicle of Uzés expands significantly the rights ceded by
Pepin to his allies within the citadel: dimiterent eos regere, that is, he
agreed to allow them to rule (what territory?) as reward for sur-
rendering Narbonne. Some details in this Chronicle derive from a very
old source. The concession of the right “to rule” (exercise dominion)
indicates that the Chronicle of Uzés may be in fact independent of the
Annals of Aniane, which confers only the colorless right to “have their
own law.”10

However, Piickert has sharply attacked the credibility of the Annals
of Aniane by charging that in Aniane history was written that deviated

terent eos legem suam habere: quo facto, ipsi Goti Sarracenos, qui in presidio illius
erant, occidunt ipsamque civitatem partibus Franchorum tradunt.” HGL, II,
preuves, col. 7. On the basis of an Arab source Francisco Codera questions the
actual transfer of authority over Narbonne from Saracens to Franks in 759, “Nar-
bona, Gerona y Barcelona bajo la dominacién musulmana,” Institut d’estudis
catalans annuari MCMIX-X any III (Barcelona 1911), pp. 198-99. L. Oelsner
assembles the major references on the siege and capture of Narbonne, Jahrbiicher . . .
unter Konig Pippin, p. 340.

10. HGL, preuves, col. 26, anno 759, cf. col. 24, 551. The Chronicle of Uzés
(Bibliothéque Nationale, Paris, MS Latin no. 4974) is written on the margin of a
Catalogus summorum pontificum of Bernard Gui (fourteenth century) in a different
but contemporaneous hand. The Chronicle covers 701 to 820.-The author is un-
known; nor can we say whether the notes constituted a unity before the fourteenth-
century copyist wrote them on the margin. There are occasional references in the
text to old gesta and documents in the archives of St. Theodore of Uzés from
which the copyist drew. There is a close resemblance between this Chronicle and
the Annals of Aniane. The latter may be its source, or, as d’Abadal surmises, a now
lost original chronicle served as the common source for both; R. d’Abadal, “El
Paso de Septimania,” loc. cit., p. 43, note 6. Dhuoda, wife of Bernard of Septimania,
lived in Uz2s; see this text, pp. 130, 174. The presence in Uzes, of the noted Bernard
of Septimania, son of Count William of Gellone, increases the likelihood that some
ninth-century historical chronicles were available for the original compiler of the
Chronicle of Uzés. Another alternative may be that the Chronicle of Uzés and the
Chronicle of Moissac both go back to a Carolingian source, always allowing for
““corrections” by the fourteenth-century copyist, while, as Piickert insists, the Aniane
work rewrites that of Moissac, altering and adding in order to promote the interests
of Aniane at the expense of Count Williams’ foundation and prestige; W. Piickert,
Aniane und Gellone, pp. 106-10, 113, note 10 (the Chronicle of Uzés stands in direct
relation to the historical work which is the source of the Moissac and Aniane
chronicles). See also this study, p. 219, note 101.
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from the truth. He declares that the Chronicle falsifies historical fact
with astounding audacity wherever it expands its source, the Chronicle
of Moissac, by adding interpolations from Einhard’s Life of Charle-
magne and Ardo’s Life of Benedict. All this was done with the intent
of denigrating neighboring Gellone, founded by Count William, and
enhancing Aniane, where Benedict-Witiza was active. The Arnals of
Aniane, according to Piickert, is a reworking of the Chronicle of
Moissac with later interpolations. D’Abadal, unacquainted with, or
ignoring, Piickert, claims that the Annals of Aniane is an independent
work which parallels the Chronicle of Moissac, because both were
drawn from a common source; likewise, that the Ghronicle of Uzés
was based on that of Aniane or else both had a common origin. Lowe
hesitantly accepts d’Abadal’s view while calling for a more rigorous
investigation. We must recall that the Chronicle of Moissac is deficient
precisely at the point of our concern because of the mutilation of the
manuscript, so that no comparison is possible here.!!

Apparently, Pepin found friends behind the walls of Narbonne who
admitted him to the town in return for a significant pledge. But were
his allies Goths ?

The extant information casts serious doubt on the claims of the
chronicles in their present form regarding the decisive role of the
Goths in the surrender of Narbonne. It is highly questionable whether,
in the first place, there were any Goths at all in Narbonne during the
Saracen occupation who could be expected to ally with the Franks.
The same chronicles describe how, when the Saracens successfully
stormed Gallic Narbonne, they massacred all the (Christian) male
inhabitants, carried off the women and children to Spain, and estab-
lished a considerable garrison of Saracen troops. D’Abadal also accepts
a devastation of regions of Septimania in this period although he
ascribes it to Charles Martel and Pepin. Conques, in the vicinity of
Narbonne, was founded 819, “where Muslims had devastated almost
the whole land.”?? The Goths who escaped the carnage took flight to

11. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 104-10. R. d’Abadal, “El paso de
Septimania,” CHE, XIX (1953), 17-18, note 19; 43. Wattéhbach-Levison, Deutsch-
lands Geschichtsquellen, 111, pp. 347-48, notes 176-77; II, pp. 265-66.

12. Anno DCCXYV. “Sema, rex Sarracenorum ... Narbonam obsidet, obses-
samque capit, virosque civitatis illius gladio perimi jussit, mulieres vero vel parvulos
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the east, to the cities of Agde, Nimes, and Uzés. Moreover, the character
of Saracen Narbonne as a pivot for Arab military designs against
Aquitaine and Septimania would preclude admitting to the city sig-
nificant numbers of the former enemy, except perhaps as converts to
Islam, a step which some in Septimania were apparently willing to
take. However, such apostate Christians, if Narbonne actually harbored
any, could hardly be expected to betray the town to the Catholic
Franks. Indeed, one of the first acts of Pepin, on assuming power in
Septimania, was to banish Islamized Goths from the country. More-
over, on the score of real support for Pepin’s siege, the Goths were in
fact bitterly antagonistic to the Franks or, at best, hopelessly divided.
When Waifar went over to the Umayyads (who held the Narbonne
bastion) the Goth Ansemond sided with his King Pepin in self-defense.
To him Pepin entrusted the siege of the fertress while he endeavored
to deal with Waifar himself. Thereupon, one of Ansemond’s men, an-
other Goth, murdered him in 753. During Nimes’ revolt against King
Pepin shortly afterward, the Goth rebels executed Ansemond’s widow,
apparently in retaliation for his support of the Franks.- Not until the
Goths were subdued could the Franks assert their sway in Nimes and
Uzés. Dupont avers that this folk strongly disapproved of any Goth-
Frank alliance; that, in fact, the Goths hated the Franks more than
they feared the Saracens.'®* We may conclude that the -Goths certainly
were not united in support of the Franks.- ~

It is known that the embattled Franks made no progress around

captivos in Spaniam ducunt”; Annals of Aniane, HGL, 11, preuves, no. 4, col. 1-3.
Anno DCCXXXIII ... “Quam dum obsideret, Ocupa rex Sarracenorum ex
Ispania Amoribinailet cum exercitu magno Saracenorum ad presidium Narbona
transmittit”; ibid., col. 6. R. d’Abadal i Vinyals, Els Primers Comtes Catalans,
p. 97. On Congues and widespread devastation in eight and ninth century Midi,
see A. R. Lewis, Southern French and Catalan Society, 718-1050, pp. 33, 85.

13. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 268, 274, 277-78, 282, 284-86, 304, 390-92.
R. d’Abadal also interprets the murder of Ansemond and the excecution of his wife
as evidence of Goth antagonism to the Franks, “El paso de Septimania,” loc. cit.,
44-45. A. R. Lewis also stresses the fierce opposition of the Goth inhabitants of
Septimania to rule by the Carolingians and their subsequent policy of introducing
nonlocal, alien officials and basic changes, in fact, a “deliberate, sustained, and
fundamental assault upon the pre-existing society and institutions,” Southern French
and Catalan Society, pp. 30-33.



4 The Surrender of Narbonne to the Franks in 759

Narbonne for seven long years. What new situation impelled the Goth
residents—if any—to throw in their fate with the besiegers in the end ?
If the pledge to live by their own law was indeed the decisive factor why
was this altogether normal policy not proffered sooner ? It was accepted
practice for an ethnic group to live by its own law at this time. More-
over, how inconsequential such a “reward” would be for surrendering
mighty Narbonne may be seen from the capitulary which Pepin issued
for Aquitaine in 768. Only after several strenuous campaigns against
the rebel Waifar allied with the Umayyads, was Pepin able to conquer
that land. Nevertheless, when he promulgated his Capitulary for
Aquitaine he provided opportunity even for retainers of Waifar’s
vassals to live by their own law (§ 10).2¢ Such a “privilege” appears to
be hardly adequate recompense for the surrender of Narbonne. It can
hardly be viewed as a new factor introduced only after several years of
siege in order to change the Goths’ antagonism into cooperation. Even
more significant, after the fall of the citadel nothing testifies to the
Goths’ retaining a distinct cultural and political identity in Narbonne.
On the contrary, they in fact disappeared. Frank, not Goth, counts
(often complete strangers to the region) took over royal representation
in Narbonne (when they appeared at all), and tended to become itin-
erant; while the Goth population was speedily banished by Pepin.
Hardly a proper reward, this, for their imagined aid, or a fulfillment
of the “pledge” for self-government, or (according to the Chronicle of
Uzés) the right to exercise dominion (regere). Cauvet even sees a de-
population of Septimania, en masse, reducing it to a “wasteland” at
this time. In fact so conspicuous is the absence of the anticipated Gothic
control after 759 that Dupont and others feel impelled to reinterpret

14. *“Ut omnes homines eorum legis habeant, tam Romani quam et Salici, et si
de alia provincia advenerit, secundum legem ipsius patriae vivat”; Capitularia regum
Sfrancorum ed. A. Boretius MGH Legum sectio II vol. 1, p. 43; cf. also L. Oelsner,
Jahrbiicher . .. unter Kénig Pippin, pp. 410-17. On the Capitulary for Aquitaine
however see this text, pp. 83-85. For the same view that the Goths required no
formal promise of the sovereign in order to live by Gothic law because the principle
of the personality of law operated without any such formal pledge, see G. Caro,
Sozial- und Wirtschaftsgeschichte der Juden, 1, p. 472, “It remains altogether in-
comprehensible why just the Goth inhabitants of Narbonne . . . should have had a
basically routine concession guaranteed to them in most formal manner.”
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the annalists’ reference to self-rule (““their own law™), or the exercise
of governmental power, in such a way as to make it yield a promise
to reinstate Visigothic law in the form of the Breviary of Alaric.!s In
an attestation before Magharius (Magnarius), Count of Narbonne,
dated December 5, 791, and dealing with the limits of the village of
Caunes, “the time of the Goths” is spoken of as a period now past:
“... ipsam villam eosdem habuisse limites tempore Gotorum.’1
Clearly, Goth control was absent from the Narbonnaise at the time.
As late as 797-98 there were only “remnants of the Goth folk” in
Narbonne (pointing to their paucity) according to Theodulph!? Bishop
of Orléans (himself a Goth), who visited Narbonne in that year and
was joyfully greeted by his countrymen. The absence of Goth rule
after the fall of Narbonne and, instead, their banishment and near-
disappearance has embarrassed scholars for decades.}®* Up until 817,

15. By implication, Dupont rejects Régné’s assumption, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 22,
that the first count, Milon, mentioned in Narbonne (782) after its fall was a Goth;
and in like manner he negates Régné’s contention that the numismatic evidence
permits drawing the conclusion that there existed at the time self-dependent Goth
rule in the Narbonnaise. Dupont emphasizes that the counts were usually Franks,
strangers to the region and inclined to tyranny, Les Cités, pp. 390-92. D’Abadal
also thinks that the Goths received confirmation of Gothic law for Septimania,
“El paso de Septimania,” loc. cit., pp. 43, 46. A. de la Torre. sees the inhabitants
of Septimania passing voluntarily under Frank domination, 752-59, retaining their
laws and organization and maintaining the character of Spaniards or Goths, “La
reconquista en el Pirineo,” in La Reconquista espafiola y la repoblacién del pais, p. 11.
Only A. R. Lewis gives adequate weight to the Chronicle of Uzés when he expands
Pepin’s promise to include “probably their own government” and, in another place,
adds “perhaps their own native rulers,” Southern French and Catalan Society,
pp. 25, 31.

16. HGL, 11, preuves, no. 10, cols. 57-58. For the reading Magharius in place of
Magnarius, see this text, pp. 180-81.

17. Mox sedes, Narbona, tuas urbemque decoram Tangimus, occurrit quo mihi
laeta cohors, Reliquiae Getici populi, simul Hespera turba [i.e. Spaniards) Me
consanguineo fit duce laeta sibi.” Theodulfi versus contra iudices, MGH, Poctae
Latini, I, p. 497:137-39. Theodulph, born ca. 760, visited Narbonne in 797 or 798;
cf. G. Monod, “Les mceurs judiciaires au VIIIe siécle d’aprés la Paraenesis ad
Judices de Théodulf,” RH, XXXV (1887), 2. It is not necessary to rule out the
assumption that a small number of Arabized Christians, “Mozarabs,” remained in
Narbonne after its fall to the Franks.

18. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 278-79, note 3.
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no Goth count finds mention in the Narbonnaise. Not until well into
the ninth century do Goths reappear in the environs of the town—
and then only in consequence of an immigration from Spain deliber-
ately fostered by the Carolingians. Not until 890, according to the
Chronicle of St. Paul, is the ancient church within Narbonne’s walls
rebuilt; but now it is dedicated to the Spanish saints Justus and Pastor.1®

It follows then that the annals’ reference to Goths inside Narbonne
as allies and, consequently, beneficiaries of King Pepin must be viewed
with well-founded skepticism. Yet a number of families exercised very
important comital functions in Septimania and the March of Spain,
who do not appear in this role anywhere else. In fact, certain counties
were reserved for them—Ampurias, Razés, Urgel, Carcassés, and
others in the neighborhood. Furthermore, the rules of hereditary
succession applied here more strictly than elsewhere in the Frankish
realm.?® But, if not Goths, who were Pepin’s beneficiaries and allies
in fact?

19. Chronicle of St. Paul: **Annp Domini DCCCXC fuit capta civitas Narbonae
per Carolum Magnum. Eodem anno fuit aedificata et constructa ecclesia antiqua
Narbonae,” HGL, V, (Toulouse 1875), No. 9, p. 37. E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse des
anciens pays de I' Aude, pp. 117, 136-40.

20. Cf. J. Dhondt, Etudes sur la naissance des principautés territoriales en France
(IX°-X* siécle), (Brugge 1948), pp. 206-08. Following his predecessors, Dhondt
merely assumes that these were Goth families. The Count of Maguelonne, father of
Benedict (Witiza) of Aniane, is designated a Goth and conspicuously praised for his
Joyalty to the Franks, *Pater siquidem ejus (sc. Benedicti) comitatum Magdalonen-
sem quoadusque vixit tenuit et Francorum genti fidelissimus totis viribus extitit,
fortis et ingeniosus™; Ardo, Vjta Benedicti abbatis Anianensis ed. G. Waitz, MGH,
SS XV, Part |, p, 201:16-17.
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The Prominence of Septimanian Jewry
and Its Privileged Status
after the Fall of Narbonne

The Saracen invasion of Frankish Gaul and their capture of Narbonne
719-20 was, beyond doubt, a turning point for the Jews of Septimania
and northern Spain. Celestin Port states that the Saracens entrusted
to the Jews custody of the town in accordance with their practice in
Spain as one Visigothic fortress after another fell into their hands.
Al-Makkari, in fact, describes how, after the capture of Cordova and
the citadel of Granada, the Jewish residents were placed in charge
there, and similarly in other places. Even Toledo, the capital, was
entrusted by Tarik to the Jews. Al-Makkari generalizes: “Whenever
the Muslims conquered a town, it was left in the custody of the Jews,
with only a few Muslims, the rest of the army proceeding to new
conquests; and where the Jews were deficient [in number] a pro-
portionately greater body of Muslims was left in charge.”?

1. C. Port, Histoire du commerce, pp. 168-69. Ahmed ibn Muhammad Al-
Makkari, History of Moh dan Dy jes in Spain, tr. Pascual de Gayangos,
pp. 280-82; p. 531, note 18; cf. p. 511, note 15. The same practice was followed in
Tripoli; A. S. Tritton, The Caliphs and their Non-Muslim Subjects, A Critical Study
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Perhaps in consequence of this practice of placing Jews in charge
of the civil administration, some settlements became all-Jewish towns
temporarily, as in the case of Ausona (later Vich) north of Barcelona.
In the middle of the ninth century Cordova, the capital, still had a
Jewish majority. Barcelona had an equal number of Jews and Christians
in the eleventh century, while Tarragona nearby was “a city of Jews.”
Early in the twelfth century Arabs still called Granada ‘“Jewish
Granada”; in 1150 Idrisi reported that Lucena Jews occupied the center
of the city and did not allow the Muslims to penetrate into their
quarter.? The absence of direct evidence prevents a conclusion of
certainty that the Saracens proceeded in their usual fashion when they
captured Narbonne in 719-20, although it appears very likely indeed.
There seems no reason to doubt that the Jews occupied a most pro-
minent position in Saracen-held Narbonne. The Arabs devastated
Septimania, and this state of affairs is reflected in the documents as
late as the early part of the ninth century. Their action against the

of the Covenant of ‘Umar (Oxford University Press 1930), p. 94; and also in Syria,
B. Z. Dinaburg, Tol'dot Yisra’el. Yisra'el baGola (History of Israel. The Diaspora)
1, Part i (Tel Aviv 1926), pp. 6-7. The historicity of Al-Makkari on this point is
accepted by H. Graetz, Geschichte, ed. S. Eppenstein, V, pp. 156-57; and concurred
in by E. Lévi-Provengal, Histoire, 1, pp. 57f. For additional sources of the same
import by Latin authors, Jos¢ Amador de Los Rios, Historia social, politica y
religiosa de los Judios de Espafia y Portugal, 1 (Madrid 1875), pp. 106-108 and notes.
Ashtor finds that Al-Makkari's description of the role of the Jews in the Conquest
derives from old, reliable sources, and is itself related to a valuable collection by an
unknown author, the Akhbar majmu‘a; Korot haYehudim biSefarad haMuslimit
(History of the Jews in Muslim Spain), I, pp. ii, 9-10. For a discussion of the
sources, see also S. Katz, The Jews in . .. Spain and Gaul, pp. 116-17. At Malaga
no garrison was set up because no Jews could be found; Al-Makkari, ibid. Ajbar
Machmua reports that Musa entrusted also the custody of Seville to the Jews after
the Christians fled from this major city of Spain at the time; Cl. Sdnchez-Albornoz,
La Espafia Musulmana segin los autores islamitas y cristianos medievales, p. 39,
cf. p. 38.

2. Cf. Teshubhot ge’oné mizrah u-ma‘arabh (Responsen der Lehrer des Ostens
und Westens) ed. J. Miiller (Berlin 1888), no. 26, p. 9a; Kebhutsat Hakhamim
(Responsa Collection), ed. W. Warnheim, p. 110, translated in Winter and Wilnsche,
Die jiidische Literatur, 11, pp. 23-24; A. A. Neuman, The Jews in Spain, 1, p. 164,
on “Jewish Granada.” S. W, Baron, “Yehudah Halevi,” JSS, ITI (1941), 247. On
Ausona (Al-Osona) see this text pp. 318-20.
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Church was especially severe. In fact Dupont finds that Christian life
was suspended in Narbonne during the Arab occupation® Land-
holdings outside the stronghold would normally be ceded together
with custody of the town. This appears to be the meaning of the
statement that the Saracen conqueror of Narbonne divided up the
lands between the conquerors and the former inhabitants of the
country.* Jews would be certainly included among “the former in-
habitants.”

Scant fragments shed only a dim light on Narbonne Jewry during
the four decades of Saracen occupation, until the actual surrender of
the stronghold to the Franks. Celestin Port, relying on allusions to a
Saracen as well as to a Jewish king in Narbonne, asserts that Jews
and Saracens lived there on a plane of equality and shared the govern-
ment of the city between them. Dupont denies the existence of any
kingship but agrees that the Jews enjoyed a privileged position during
the Muslim occupation and adds that they drew material benefits from
the entire region. According to him, they were also the sole bearers of
Frankia’strade with the East, which was centered in Narbonne: from
here their caravans started out for the long trek by land across Spain
and North Africa.b

After the surrender of Narbonne to the Franks, Septimanian Jewry
emerges from the shadows into the limelight. In striking contrast to
the Goths’ virtual disappearance from the Narbonnaise immediately
after 759, Septimanian Jewry stands out as a highly privileged body
richly endowed with estates in frechold by act of the Carolingian kings.
The immediate reaction was extreme agitation among the highest
authorities in Christendom.

3. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 211-13, 287, 291-94. Such expressions as these
eloquently describe the devastation: de eremo traxere; loca deserta excluere; deserti
squalor; eremi vastitas; ibid., p. 291. Between 688 and 768 Dupont finds no act or
event that is evidence for a prelate here, p. 293.

4. HGL, 1, pp. 783-84; 587. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 282-83.

5. C. Port, Histoire du commerce maritime, pp. 168-69. Port may have relied on
the document dated 1364 referred to at the end of note 59, p. 171, this text. Port’s
opinion on the two kings merits no credibility according to A. Dupont, Les Cités,
pp. 287, 292-93; for a description of Narbonne in this period by an Arab visitor,
p. 299, ibid.
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In 768, only about nine years after the fall of the town to Pepin’s
forces, Pope Stephen III bitterly condemned concessions of property
by the Frankish kings to the Jews in southern France. In an epistle
addressed “to Archbishop Aribert of Narbonne and to all the magnates
of Septimania and Spain,” the Pope stated that he was deeply dis-
tressed at the information supplied by Aribert, to the effect that
certain laws (praecepta) of the Frankish kings, purchased for a price,
had granted to the Jews allodial hereditary lands in towns and suburbs
within the borders and territories of Christians; that, furthermore,
Christians worked the vineyards and fields of these Jews; that Christian
men and women lived in their homes within cities and outside, listened
to their blasphemous talk day and night, and displayed every imagin-
able deference to them.

We have been distressed to the point of death (continues the Pope) ...
especially since the promises made to the ancestors of the Hebrews by their
elect legislator Moses and his successor Joshua,—[how much the more]
those concluded and entered into for these territories,—even though sworn
to by God Himself and transmitted to these unbelievers and their wicked
fathers, were rightly abrogated as punishment for the crucifixion of the
Saviour . . . “What communion hath light with darkness: and what concord
hath Christ with Belial ? And what agreement hath the temple of God with
idols ?"¢

6. PL, CXXIX (Paris 1879), col. 857, no. II (under “Stephen VI”); French trans-
lation in J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 28-29. For complete text see Appendix II,
p. 382. The phrase his conclusa et terminata finibus appears to be out of place in the
present context or else a few words supplied in [ ] have fallen out. Catel who edited
this text reported that he copied it from an imperfect manuscript, G. de Catel, Mé-
moires de I’ histoire de Languedoc, pp. 771, 776-77; J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 27,
note 3. However, the general sense is clear: If God Himself can, in consequence
of the Crucifixion, abrogate promises made to the Jews touching on eternal matters,
then assuredly a terrestrial king may well do so in mundane matters. This epistle is
assigned to Pope Stephen III and dated 768-72, the years of his papacy, by P. Jaffé
et W. Wattenbach (eds.), Regesta Pontificun Romanorum ab condita ecclesia ad
annum post Christum natum MCXCVIII, 1, p. 288, no. 2389 (no. 1830); cf. J. Aronius,
Regesten zur Geschichte der Juden im frinkischen und deutschen Reiche bis zum Jahre
1273, no. 67, pp. 24-25. Devic et Vaissete, HGL, 1, p. 1014; II, note 92, pp. 340-41
prove Stephen III's authorship of the epistle but erroneously start Aribert’s epis-
copate after the death of Pepin, because they assumed that his complaint to Stephen
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This letter of Stephen’s compels Régné and Lévi (who could not see
the Jews in the role of Pepin’s allies) nevertheless to admit that Pepin
must have confirmed the rights of Narbonne Jewry at the request of
their chief following the capture of the fortress. Yet, neither one can
account for Pepin’s reward of the Jews in the face of their alleged
support of his Saracen adversaries (while, on the other hand, he
banished the Goths, his presumed allies). Aronius questions the con-
clusion of Devic and Vaissete that it was Pepin who first granted allodial
rights to the Jews. He asserts that any such action must be credited
exclusively to Pepin’s sons, his immediate successors, who simply con-
firmed possessions that went back to the Saracen era. But Aronius
does not explain the reason for such action by Pepin’s sons in 768.
Solomon Katz sees in Stephen’s letter to Aribert evidence that the
Jews owned fields and vineyards in eighth<century Gaul, and he em-
phasizes that they suffered no legal disabilities in land ownership. He
assumes that Pepin found a large Jewish colony in Narbonne right
after its capture and confirmed their ancient rights, notably hereditary
allodial tenure, at the request of their chief or nasi, a survival of the
Roman period. He too does not account for Pepin’s motivation.’

followed upon a writ of confirmation by Carloman and Charles subsequent to
Pepin’s death. In their view, Pepin first granted to the Jews ‘hereditary freeholds,
which privilege his sons confirmed after his degth; thereby precipitating Aribert’s
complaint. This is altogether possible and would in no way affect our argument.
However, it is equally possible that Stephen is referring to all three kings in his
statement quaedam regum. Francorum praecepta as in his address to them directly
after his consecration as pope on August 7, 768: “Ad Pippinum, Carolum et Carlo-
mannum, Francorum reges et patricios Romanorum . ..." Jaffé and Wattenbach,
op. cit. I, p. 285, no. 2376 (no. 1822). Cf. S. W. Baron, History, IV, p. 259, note 60.

7. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 27. 1. Lévi, “Le roi juif,” REJ, XLVIII (1904),
207. J. Aronius, Regesten, ibid. S. Katz, Jews in . . . Spain and Gaul, pp. 94-96, 162.
In “Pope Gregory the Great and the Jews,” JOR, XXIV (1933-34), 113-36, S. Katz
indicated the role of tradition as motivation for Gregory’s acts toward the Jews.
Precedent would operate also here and impel Pepin to accede to the Jews’ chief only
if they had been his allies, not if they had sided with the Arabs and resisted Pepin’s
storming of Narbonne. In 839 three Jews of Septimania owned hereditary estates
in the vicinity of Carcassonne, HGL, 11, preuves, no. 97, col. 211. Their possessions
included buildings, cultivated and uncultivated lands, vineyards, fields, meadows,
streams, mills, and roads which, by imperial decree, they might sell or exchange,
as they wished.



52 Prominence of Septimanian Jewry after the Fall of Narbonne

Stephen’s epistle, however, rings like the reaction to a new and
startling situation involving a recent cession of territories in free allodial
tenure to South Frankia Jewry. How extensive this cession was is
indicated in the Pope’s address “To all the magnates of Septimania
and Spain.” The cause of his extreme anxiety (“to the point of death’)
does not appear to have been merely the confirmation of an existing
situation,® even though there can be no doubt that the Jews of Narbonne
held considerable land in the Muslim period.

On the other hand, according to Dupont and Régné, Jews held
landed property and salt flats even before the Arab period. The Saracen
invasion of Gaul, as elsewhere, assumed the aspect of an anti-Christian
crusade involving severe ravage of church property. While the Saracens
confiscated all conquered lands, they returned selected portions of lay
property to their former owners in return for a harvest tax of 20 per
cent. Church estates, on the other hand, were not restored to ecclesias-

8. Failure to understand Pope Stephen’s usage of the term Kings of the Franks
sidetracks L. Duchesne who, in consequence, wishes to date the letter in the tenth
century, Fastes épiscopaux de I'ancienne Gaule, 1, p. 304, note 6. However, no
Aribert held the See of Narbonne in the tenth century. The known archbishops of
Narbonne in the tenth century were: Arnust until 912; Aguis (Agio) 912-26;
Aimericus 927-77. Ermengaud succeeded the latter and was archbishop still on
November 29, 990. The office then reverted to the possession of Guifred Count of
Cerdagne, who placed his son Guifred in office as archbishop on October 6, 1019,
at the age of ten; E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse, pp. 242-43; A. Dupont, Les Cités,
pp. 465-66. Dupont places Aribert on the See of Narbonne in 768, as soon as
Pepin had definite control of Septimania, ibid., p. 293, cf. p. 431. Lesne finds that
the title “Archbishop of Narbonne” was not authorized before 813 at the earliest,
and first for Nimfrid who was then Abbot of Lagrasse; E. Lesne, La Hierarchie
épiscopale, p. 70.

Lesne’s attack on the appearance of the title “archbishop™ in eighth-century
Narbonne, while justified, does not invalidate the letter itself in which no title at all
is mentioned. There can be little doubt that Aribert did not reside within the walls
of Narbonne, nor did his successor Daniel, who is described as ‘““absent” from his
see in 782, In fact, Daniel’s remains were interred in the suburban church of St. Paul
and not within the walls of Narbonne. Even Nebridius (Nimfrid) in the ninth
century was abbot of Lagrasse and resident there while functioning as (arch)bishop
of Narbonne. Throughout the eighth and ninth centuries the episcopate of Narbonne
was in truth at a very low ebb; E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse, pp. 93-94 (cf. HGL II,
preuves, col. 54-57), 117, 106, Appendix II.
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tical ownership, especially if the clergy had fled. Thus the area of un-
cultivated land increased considerably. It is possible that the Jews were
among the beneficiaries of the land-redistribution policy of the Saracens
especially if the conquerors had placed Narbonne in their custody
(see this text, p. 43.) Charles Martel, Pepin’s father, despoiled church
property to an even greater extent than had the Saracens.® Evidence
that Pepin restored ecclesiastical estates to the church at Narbonne is
spurious, or at the very least, suspect, although the tradition persisted
that Boniface had extracted a promise from Pepin to restore one-half,
or one-third, and later all ecclesiastical property to certain unnamed
bishoprics.1® Most of the land abandoned by the Muslims during the
Carolingian conquests was incorporated into the Frankish fisc or re-
distributed to the king’s fideles.* This was the nature of the Frankish
kings’ cession to the Jews. The allodial character of these domains
was of great concern to pope and prelate because it deprived the local
churches of income from such lands. Even more significant, the pope
seems to fear that the rather extensive grant to the Jews “within the
borders and territories of Christians™ may have included at least some
former ecclesiastical domains; hence, his anxiety “to the point of
death.”

Such a cession of church property would be in line with the Caro-
lingians’ well-known policy of endowing their vagsals-with ecclesiastical
possessions as the result of conquest and; especially, under the stress
of military necessity. Well-known is Charles Martel’s program of re-
acquisition and conveyance to his vassals of the church’s patrimony in
Burgundy secured through conquest and recapture from the Saracens.
Clearly such secularization could not pass unnoticed. In consequence
of pressure from Saint Boniface the sons of Charles Martel, now
mayors of the palace, undertook certain obligations at the Frankish
councils of 742 (Concilium Germanicum), 744 (in Estinnes, now in

9. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 211-13, 290-95, 297, notes 1, 2; Régné, Juifs de
Narbonne, p. 172.

10. Annales Bertiniani, ed. G. Waitz, p. 1: “Pippinus, monente sancto Bonifacio,
quibusdam episcopatibus vel medietates vel tertias rerum (rediddit) promittens in
postmodum omnia restituere”; idem, Deutsche Verfassungsgeschichte, I11 (2nd ed.;
Berlin 1883), p. 68, note 1.

11. E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse, pp. 93-94.
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Belgium), and 744 or later, (in Soissons) concerning church lands. In
the first, Carloman declared that he restored the wrongfully alienated
patrimony to the churches. At the next council the same Prince claimed
military emergency for retaining a portion of church property, although
only temporarily. Each grantee (who received land from the Prince)
was to hold the domain in precarial tenure (thereby safeguarding the
churches’ proprietary rights). Furthermore, he had to pay a quit-rent
(censum) from these domains over to the church or monastery, specifi-
cally, one shilling for each hide (casata). At the grantee’s death the
estates were to revert to the church. However, if (military) need
required it, the Prince might order the agreement of precarium to be
renewed and rewritten (for a new grantee). In any case ecclesiastical
institutions were to suffer no penury or poverty, else the property was
to be restored in entirety. The Council of Soissons, held in the absence
of Boniface but under his influence and -presided over by Pepin the
Short, agreed to restore the confiscated patrimony insofar as required
for the support of the monasteries. From the balance (of the still
alienated lands) there was to be paid a quit-rent. On October 31, 745,
Pope Zachary accepted these council decisions in a letter to Boniface.
Then, around 751, Pepin carried through a new confiscation, the
divisio. Thereby the major part of church domains were granted by the
King to his vassals in the form of lifé-benefices in accordance with the
terms of the councils of 742 and 744. As compensation Pepin made
obligatory the payment of tithe by all inhabitants of his kingdom.:?

12. Capitularia, 1, ed. A. Boretius, no. 10, § 2, p. 25:7-8; no. 11, § 2, p. 28:8-17;
no. 12, § 3, p. 29:23-25. Reprinted in Concilia aevi Karolini, 1 ed. A. Werminghof,
no. 1, p. 3; no. 2, p. 7; no. 4, p. 34. For discussion of these decisions, F. L. Ganshof,
*““Notes sur les origines de 'union du bénéfice avec la vassalité,” Etudes d’histoire
dédiées & la mémoire de Henri Pirenne, 173-80; idem, Feudalism, pp. 17-18 (also for
date 744 of council in Les Estinnes). Between 756-68, perhaps 765, Pepin made the
tithe obligation into a law of the realm, a state-imposed duty. This was renewed and
developed further under Charlemagne in the Capitulary of Herstal, March 779,
which instituted a second tithe (nona) payable to the church by vassals who had
reccived former ecclesiastical lands as benefices. Tithe was the price they paid;
U. Stutz, “Der karolingische Zehntgebot,” ZSRG g. a., XXIX (1908), 197, 198, 224.
Following the Saxon conquest the general obligation of Christians was expressed in
terms of giving back to God a portion of that which He gave to each Christian;
Capitularia 1, ed. A. Boretius, p. 669.
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The institution of precarial tenure and the setting of a quit-rent or
tithe for the benefit of the church marks a significant amelioration over
the practice of Charles Martel. He had ceded to his vassals former
ecclesiastical domains without any compensation to the church, when
they were included in the lands he conquered or recaptured from the
Saracens, disposing over them altogether as the spoils of victory.
Perhaps the fact of conquest accounts for the difference. Thus only a
few years preceding the Frankish kings’ grant of 768 to the Jews,
Arab-held Narbonne fell to Pepin in 759 through the collaboration of
the residents of that town. Thereby Pepin gained possession of not
only this focal garrison city but apparently also of a considerable
territory in the vicinity of the Pyrenees. This seems to have been in-
cluded in the area which the Carolingian kings granted to the Jews as
allods of hereditary character. A military concern motivated their
cession no less than in the case of the other Carolingian grants of
former ecclesiastical property to their vassals. But the conveying of
ecclesiastical patrimony to the Jews in hereditary ownership and as
allods charged with no quit-rents or other dues contravened the de-
cisions of the Frankish councils just analyzed, certainly in the form they
have come down to us. For this kind of cession, in contrast to the
precarial and dues-owing tenure fixed by the councils, implied per-
manent and free possession. The available evidence-indicates, as will
be seen, that this was the case in fact. Little wonder that Pope Stephen
was plunged into anxiety “to the point of death.”

-~ An explanation for this brash return to the policy of Charles Martel
may lie in the rights conferred by conquest. If the ecclesiastical author-
ities fled or refused to reside in the area, abandoning their churches
and lands to the Arabs® and playing no role in the reconquest, then
the King and his warriors and allies might claim full right of possession
through capture. In such an instance conquest entailed not “con-

13. A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 268-70, 290. King Pepin extended to conquered
Agquitaine in the same year 768 the policy of “secularizing™ ecclesiastical property,
according to E. Lesne, Histoire de la propriété ecclésiastique en France, 11, fasc. 1,
p. 64. However, The Capitulary of Aquitaine in its present form, which provides
the basis for this conclusion, requires the lay holders of church domains to accept
precarias (§11) for them, while omitting to mention a payment to the church;
Capitularia, 1 ed. A. Boretius, no. 18, pp. 42-43.
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fiscation” or “secularization” but a restoration of crown property,
over which the sovereign could dispose as he wished. Therefore, even
the Pope himself did not claim these domains as the church’s patrimony
but only as “within the borders and territories of Christians.”

In the vicinity of Narbonne and perhaps as part of the rather ex-
tensive grant described in Pope Stephen’s communication, several
domains actually appear as the hereditary possessions of Jews. Thus a
confirmation dated February 22, 839, issued by Emperor Louis the
Pious for the Hebrews Gaudiocus and his two sons Jacob and Vivacius
describes immovable property in Valerianis and Bagnilis (near Car-
cassonne) which they had inherited from their fathers, comprising
buildings, cultivated and uncultivated lands, vineyards, fields, meadows,
streams, mills, and roads.1¢

Analysis of the chronological order of the events which precipitated
Pope Stephen’s sharp reaction makes it likely that the land grant under
discussion took place during the lifetime of Pepin, who died September
24, 768. The expression “Kings of the Franks,” found in Stephen’s
missive, is that which the same Pope employed in referring to Pepin
and his sons Carloman and Charles (later Charlemagne) shortly after
his consecration in August 768. Also, by April 12, 769, Aribert himself
was no longer in office, since a certain Daniel is recorded already at
a council in Rome as Bishop of Narbonne on that date. In any event
there was a lapse of time between the vacating of the see by Aribert
and the election of Daniel, who voyaged to Rome; and, on the other
hand, between the dispatch of Aribert’s complaint from Frankia and
the dictation of Stephen’s reply, which was still addressed to Aribert
as (Arch)bishop of Narbonne, and hence written no later than between
August 768 (Stephen’s consecration) and April 769. It appears then
that Aribert warned the pope (Stephen III or his predecessor) of this
distressing cession to the Jews undertaken by the Carolingian kings
very likely in Pepin’s lifetime, that is, before September 24, 768.1%

The grant of considerable areas in allodial hereditamenta was con-
trary to the policy of the Carolingians. Dhondt maintains that in

14. HGL, 11, preuves, no. 97, col. 211.
15. On the dating of Stephen’s epistle see also note 6, p. 50 above and the
references there. On Daniel in Rome, E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse, pp. 91-92.
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Septimania the cession ad proprium was unusual. He says that the
Carolingian kings’ utilization of vast areas of confiscated ecclesiastical
property was the point of departure for the strengthening of royal
power, enabling the sovereigns to recruit a force of vassals altogether
beyond that of any magnate of this period. They were careful however
not to cede property in full possession. The transfer of land to a vassal
was primarily for the purpose of military service. The grant of freeholds
to Septimanian Jewry as reflected in the papal epistle serves to under-
score the prominent status of this Jewry and its chief, precisely because
of its unusual character in this period.’

H. Dubled has identified one of the most frequent characteristics of
land called allodia as the power to be given or sold freely without
previous authorization or right of preemption. Vineyards and fields
may also be possessed in allod. Allodiumis a genre of possession, a
right, not a property. It is not benefice, or fief, or hereditary tenure, or
tenancy on long lease but free property. It was a possession over
which the owner had full and complete right limited by no one else’s
right, and with all privileges of use.’”

What disposed the House of Arnulf so favorably to Septimanian
Jewry as to confer on them this highly significant grant ? Pope Stephen’s
epistle itself contains the answer. Pepin and his sons were fulfilling a
pledge. The papal letter at this point is couched in -ebscure style, yet
its intent is sufficiently clear: Just as divine promises to the Jews were
abrogated as penalty for the Crucifixion, so may the Frankish kings’
pledges be rescinded involving these lands (in Septimania and Spain).*®
What pledges ? This question leads back directly to the claim of the
Chronicles that Pepin King of the Franks at the capture of Narbonne

16. J. Dhondt, Etudes, pp. 6-7, 14. He overlooked Pope Stephen’s epistle and
so it is absent from his table on p. 271. A. R. Lewis finds that the system of holding
land allodially in full outright possession was much more common in the pre-
Carolingian Midi but, unlike Dhondt, that it continued into Carolingian times;
Southern French and Catalan Society, pp. 69, 80.

17. H. Dubled, “Allodium dans les textes latins du moyen 4ge,” Le Moyen Age,
LVII (1951), 244-46; cf. M. Bloch, Feudal Society, pp. 171-72.

18. See Appendix II, p. 383 below beginning: ... praesertim cum hujusmodi
patribus Hebraeorum promissa ... .” The address “To ... all the magnates of
Septimania and Spain” indicates also the territorial extent of the Carolingian grant.
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pledged to his allies behind the walls self-rule or rule (of the area ?) if
they would surrender Narbonne. Is the cession of extensive territory
by the Frankish kings, to which Pope Stephen objected so vehemently
in 768, to be viewed as a fulfillment of the pledge of 759 ?

The pledge of Pepin and the grant of the Frankish kings find an echo
in other sources as well. Hebrew sources of the twelfth and thirteenth
centuries, transmitting in some instances much older records, supple-
ment Stephen’s report of allodial possessions in the hands of the Jews
and supply significant data on the prominence of Septimanian Jewry
shortly after the surrender of Narbonne to the Franks.

The noted world traveller and chronicler Benjamin-of Tudela reports
significant land holdings actually in the possession of the Davidic Nasi
(Prince) of Narbonne as late as the middle of the twelfth century.
Benjamin left Toledo on his famous journey between November 23,
1165, and February or March 1166. He came to Narbonne shortly after-
ward and, reporting very briefly about its leaders,summarized as follows:

Narbonne is an ancient city of Torah. From it Torah goes forth to all lands.
Therein are sages, magnates and princes (nesi’im) at the head of whom is
R. Kalonymos son of the great Prince R. Todros of blessed memory, a
descendant of the House of David as stated in his family tree. He holds
hereditaments and [other] landed properties from the rulers of the country
and no one may dispossess him by force. Their chieftain is R. Abraham, head
of the Academy, and R. Makhir and R. Judah and many other sages like them.
Its population today is 300 Jews [householders ?].2*

Abraham ibn Daud, author of Sefer Seder haKabbalah*® ( Book of
the Order of Tradition), completed his work in 116061, shortly before

19, 5% nama arx oom anbd AmTp vy [m anambdl o nwbe bom
017D % M kowan 13 owanbp a0 peRaaY [DXWN) DY5I1TN DWMSR A3 MSKn
wnd 530 oIk Py ven bowm e mepapy mdna 1YY ] omea ansn T v
N3 1IN DMK ATIP N VO N AWYIM URY OINIX Y DORIY -APINI 30D

81N MKn ©YT BN na ©Y -DMmAR Tnbn
M. N. Adler, “The Itinerary of Benjamin of Tudela,” JOR o.s., XVI (1904), 459,
467, reading with the variant text moshlé ha’arets. See this text, p. 150, note 4;
separate edition (London 1907), p. ‘a.

20. The title appears in ShK itself, and is so designated also by others; see G. D.
Cohen, “Abraham ibn Daud’s Sefer ha-Qabbalah,” pp. xxi, 22, 118; MJC, I, p. 2:1.
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Benjamin of Tudela visited Narbonne. A lengthy passage appendedt
to his chronicle couples the fall of Narbonne with the subsequent
settlement there of a prince of Davidic lineage, richly endowed with
extensive estates by act of a Frankish king. According to the record
which the chronicle transmits, “King Charles” requested the King of
Babylonia (the Caliph) to send him a Jewish prince. He sent Makhir
“of the seed of royalty of the House of David.” The author associates
with the aforementioned grant of land also a royal act declaring
Makhir to be ben horin “a freeman,” *“nobleman.” Such an act of
nobility, combined with the endowment of extensive territories in-
volving broad authority over Jews and Christian servitors obviously
would confer upon the “magnate and sage” the dignity and income of
a quasi-independent prince:

Then King Charles sent to the King of Bab;lon [the Caliph of Baghdad]
requesting that he despatch one of his Jews of the seed of royalty of the House

21. This “Appendix” or Addendum is found only in Adler’s MS no. 2237 now in
Jewish Theological Seminary of America; see E. N. Adler, Catalogue, p. 81; cf.
A. Neubauer, “Documents inédits,”” REJ, X (1885), 100-03. A brief summary of the
“Appendix” appears in A. Zacuto, Sepher Yuhassin (Book of Lineage), ed.
H. Fillipowski, p. 84 (see this text, note 22, p. 60).

G. D. Cohen, ibid., has described this Adler MS as having revised, abridged,
corrected, and garbled ShK on virtually every line. It offers variants which are
simplifications or “improvements” in style or e!s,;.con'ecﬁons of fact in accordance
with “‘correct” traditions. It contains two major glosses published by A. Neubauer
in MJC, 1, p. 76, note 8, and pp. 82-84, the latter being the “appendix” under
‘discussion here. Cohen brands this an effort to include the scholars of a region
unknown to Ibn Daud. He identifies the Adler MS as the copy of a revised text of
ShK, which in turn was copied and revised from a MS deriving from the sub-
archtype of MSS belonging to the superior class of MSS of ShK. The script is of
Provengal origin. See also G. D. Cohen, The Book of Tradition ( Sefer Ha-Qabbalah)
by Abraham ibn Daud, Hebrew introduction, pp. 10-11 where the water mark in the
paper of the manuscript is dated in the eighth decade of the fifteenth century.
Nevertheless, the text of this Addendum to ShK was composed before 1165, certainly
before April 1195, which is the date of an infeudation bearing the signature in
Hebrew of Kalonymos b. R. Todros who is referred to in the text as “still alive and
a young student”; see this work notes 23-24, pp. 61-62.

Even though this “Appendix” is not of Ibn Daud authorship, G. D. Cohen,
ibid., p. 142, it will become clear immediately below that it derives from a source
of Carolingian origin. It is remarkably free of Ibn Daud’s tendentiousness and
contains a wealth of objective fact, corroborated in part by other sources.
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of David. He hearkened and sent him one from there, a magnate and sage,
Rabbi Makhir by name. And [Charles] settled him in Narbonne, the capital
city, and planted him there, and gave him a great possession (ahuzah) there
at the time he captured it from the Ishmaelites. And he [Makhir] took to
wife a woman from among the magnates of the town; * ... * and the King
made him a nobleman (ben horin) and designed, out of love for [Makhir],
good statutes for the benefit of all the Jews dwelling in the city, as is written
and sealed in a Latin (/it. Christian) charter; and the seal of the King thereon
[bears] his name Carolus; and it is in their possession at the present time.
This Prince (Nasi) Makhir became chieftain there. He and his descendants
were close [or, related] to the King and all his descendants. Any one who
came to molest him because of his hereditary land-holdings (nahalot, i.e.
hereditates) and his high office (kavod, i.e. honor) was himself molested by
power of the King of France ... .%

22. MJC, 1, p. 82; cf. summary in A. Zacuto, Sepher Yuhassin, ed. H. Filipowski,
p. 84. For full text see Appendix III, pp. 384-86 below. This passage contains two
distinct traditions separated by perhaps as much as three centuries. The later
tradition is found between the asterisks * ... * placed in the text and reads as
follows: ““At the time of the capture of the city, the King divided it into three
districts. One he gave to the viscount whom he placed [or, who was there] in the
city, Don Aymeric by name; the second district to the {Arch)bishop of the city;
and the third district he gave to R. Makhir.” Evidence for the antiquity and authen-
ticity of the rest of this passage is discussed above in the text. On the other hand,
the tradition that, at the fall of Narbonne, the city (and perhaps its environs) was
divided between Viscount, Archbishop, and Jews cannot be older than about the
end of the eleventh century. For evidence, see this text, pp. 146-74.

Sambari recounts how the Fatimid ruler of Egypt sent to the Caliph of Baghdad
in 984 (985) for a scion of the House of David to come and rule over the Jews of
Egypt, MJC, I, p. 115; J. Mann, Jews in Egypt, 1, pp. 251-52; cf. D. Neustadt,
“Some problems concerning the Negidut of Egypt,” (Hebrew), Zion, 1V (1938-39),
12649, and the comment by S. W. Baron, History, V, pp. 38, 308, on Neustadt’s
unduly negative conclusions. See this text note 18, pp. 81-82. With respect to
Makhir-Natronai the availability of other, corroborative, materials warrants our
taking the claims of the ShK Addendum far more seriously than the late comment
of Sambari (seventeenth century).

Ibn Daud reports that a progenitor of his in the eleventh century, authorized as
rabbi and nasi, was appointed by the Muslim ruler to high office in the caliph's
household and palace where he served for about twenty years; G. D. Cohen, The
Book of Tradition, pp. 59-60, cf. 70-71 (transl. 80-81, cf. 97-98). This position is
not the least bit surprising in the light of the diplomatic role of Hisdai ibn Shaprut,
and the military activity of Samuel haNagid and others; see this text pp. 130-31,
256-57.
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That part of this passage which tells of the cession of “a great
possession” directly after the fall of Narbonne is strikingly similar to
the data in Pope Stephen’s epistle. In addition the claim that this
great endowment was in favor of a Jewish scion of royal lineage from
Baghdad corresponds exactly to the description in the Gesta, to be
discussed immediately herein. On these matters of vast possessions,
power, and position, the papal epistle, the Gesta, and ShK confirm
and supplement one another. The “Appendix” to Ibn Daud’s chronicle
must be dated before 1195, at which date or very soon thereafter
Prince Kalonymos b. Todros (mentioned therein and by Benjamin
of Tudela) was probably dead.? This source is then independent

I. Loeb reports a later account of a scholar-prince of Davidic descent settled in
Narbonne and related (or, close) to the ruling house:

T A2 MR ®°ws 30 aw'm a3 Dabxd abim vy anam vy ow awn many
«mabnb 3y
L. Loeb, “R. Matitya Ha-Yighari,” REJ, VII (1883), 154.

Although Karobh lemalkhut may mean ‘“close to royalty,” the expression here
and the almost identical kerobhim lamelekh in the “Appendix” to ShK mean in
these contexts “‘kinsman of,” “related to,” royalty. See the identical statement about
Exilarch Bustanai, this text, p. 118 note 11, where the meaning indubitably is
kinship.

23. Our text designates the Nasi Kalonymos, son of the Nasi Todros, as “still
alive and a young student’ =w31 °n 1My #ny, His sighature appears in Hebrew
Kalonymos b. R. Todros ovimw 33 pwnby on an infeudation of two pieces
of land to the Hospital St. John of Jerusalem in Narbonne dated in April 1195;
G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, pp. 137-38, no. VIII; pp. 65, 70-71; cf. J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 150, 181. The document records his name as Clarimoscius
filius quondam Tauroscii and designates him seigneur direct. Kaufmann fixed the
date of his death in 1194 because his associate Levi b. Moses alone is mentioned
as nasi in Narbonne at that time by Judah b. Solomon alHarizi who visited
Narbonne; Sefer Tahkemoni (Judae Harizii Macamae) ed. P. de Lagarde, Ch.
XLVI, p. 166:40; David Kaufmann, “Lettres de Scheschet b. Isaac . . . aux princes
Kalonymos et Lévi de Narbonne,” REJ, XXXIX (1899), 64. Levi b. Moses is the
sole Hebrew signatory (1w nwn =a »b) as witness to a bond of indebtedness
dated November 15, 1199, obligating Pons de Coursan and his wife to Bernard of
Saragossa in the amount of forty shillings for which sum they mortgage the plot
of land **quam habemus in termino Prati judaici super Clarimoscium et Bondiam™
(Levi b. Moses). This Clarimoscius is probably the Nasi Kalonymos mentioned
above. The absence of his signature here—or mention of permission from him—
may point to his prior death; J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 227-28, no. V. Since
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of the Gesta compiled about the middle of the thirteenth century.*

The authenticity and antiquity of this part of Ibn Daud’s chronicle
are evident from the following:

The phrase hereditates et honor (nahalot v’khavod) is found in
documents of the eighth and early ninth centuries with exactly the
connotation intended here, namely, “hereditaments and high office.”
Thus the Capitulare missorum generale of 802 fixes the punishment of
a wayward prelate to be deprivation of his “office and hereditament,”
honorem simul et hereditatem privetur.2® Honor in the Carolingian Age
did not only mean the respect and consideration to which those of
high rank and position in society were entitled; it designated a state
office, a public function, lay or ecclesiastical. Augustissimus honor is
the imperial office itself. Deprivation of honor was considered dire
punishment. But before the end of the Carolingian age, honor lost
this meaning and came to signify benefices of the more important
kind, land granted by the king or some other lord for service not
necessarily associated with public office.®® By 1065, honor had the

the ShAK “Appendix” designates Kalonymos as a young man (bahur) at the time of
its composition, and he appears to have died ca. 1195, it may be dated rather close
to the time of the composition of SAK itself in 1160/61; Appendix III, p. 385:38.

24, Kalonymos’ father Todros headed the community of Narbonne at the time
that Viscount Aymeri 1I was killed at Fraga July 17, 1134; ibid.; p. 385:25; J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, p. 64; HGL, I11, p. 690. Benjamin of Tudela found Kalonymos
at the head of Narbonne Jewry in 1165-66, “Itinerary,” 1.c., 459; separate ed., p. ‘3.
The “Appendix,” which designates him bahur, must be older than 1165. He appears
as a landed proprietor May 13, 1163; G. Saige, op. cit., pp. 132-33, no. III;
J. Régné, op. cit., pp. 180-81.

25. Capitularia Regum Francorum, 1, ed. A. Boretius, p. 96:10; cf. p. 95:26 and
Index nominum, op. cit., 11, pp. 63940.

26. F. L. Ganshof, “Benefice and Vassalage in the Age of Charlemagne,” Cam-
bridge Historical Journal, VI, no. 2 (Cambridge 1939), 148. According to Dahn
honor designates a municipal or state office in the Carolingian Age. Honor noster
means every royal or imperial office. Honor may be used for the office of bishop
and abbot as well as secular office. F. Dahn, Die Konige der Germanen, VIII. Part 3,
pp. 32-33. Cf. F. Lot who points out that in the ninth century a duke, a count, and
a marquis were invested with honores, that is, public functions; Ferdinand Lot,
“Les tributs aux Normands et I'église de France au mxe siécle,” BEC, LXXXV
(1924), 67. Cf. also C. E. Odegaard, Vassi and Fideles, p. 140, note 254; M. Bloch,
La Société féodale, XXXIV, pp. 271, 293-98. These facts points up the Latin and
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meaning simply of landed property, possibly allodial in character.
Thus on September 25 of that year, the Viscount of Narbonne gave
to the monastery of St. Michael ipsum honorem qui vocatur Urseias, ad
proprium alodem. Of similar nature was probably the honor Judaicus in
the vicinity of Carcassone mentioned in 1162.27 Aithough honor con-
tinued to mean also “office” (for example, honores regni), the com-
bination of hereditates (nahalot) and honor (kavod) in the sense of
“public office” as this phrase appears in ShK, corresponds to the
Carolingian usage. In consequence, it becomes probable that this
description of Makhir’s high rank, status, and possessions originated
in the Carolingian Age.

A. Dumége reported in 1829 the presence of a manuscript in the
archives of the Abbey Lagrasse (near Narbonne) in prerevolutionary
days, which told of a king of the Jews, a ‘descendant of the House of
the prophet Daniel, who ruled a district of the city of Narbonne during
the reign of Charlemagne. According to Dumége, the document related
that in 791 this Jewish king sent an embassy of ten Israelites led by
Isaac, one of the richest Jews of the time, to King Charlemagne.
These ambassadors offered him 70 marks silver in return for the
privilege of maintaining a king of their own in Narbonne permanently.
Charlemagne assented and ceded to them that portlon of the city where
they were settled.® -

Carolingian foundations of this portion of SAK while so much of Ibn Daud’s
chronicle is otherwise imbedded in an Arabic cultural matrix. Cf. this work p. 90.

27. HGL, V, preuves, col. 534, no. 272, September 25, 1065. Honor Judaicus,
G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, p. 78; cf. p. 63, note.

28. “Ces ambassadeurs offrirent 3 I’empereur soixante-dix marcs d’argent, et le
pri¢rent de conserver a leur nation le privilége d’avoir toujours dans Narbonne un
roi particulier.” {Alexandre] Dumeége, “Mémoire sur quelques inscriptions hébral-
ques découvertes & Narbonne,” p. 340, note.

M. Tournal reports that under Charles Martel (error for Charlemagne ?) one of
the three quarters of Narbonne, designated the Grande-Juiverie, was set apart for
the Jews and that they held the government there; Catalogue du Musée de Narbonne
(Narbonne-Paris 1864), p. 50; cf. A. Neubauer, “Rapport sur une mission dans le
Midi de la France 3 I'effet de cataloguer les manuscrits hébreux qui s’y trouvent,
et en Italie...,” p. 558.

In this document of Dumege’s, S. Katz finds partial confirmation for the tradition
that one-third of Narbonne was ceded to the Jews. He also deduces from its contents
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Older than the date of composition of both SAK and the Milhemet
Mitsvah, soon to be discussed here, is an address directed by Peter
the Venerable, abbot of Cluny, to King Louis (VII) of France before
1143. In his attack on the Jews of his day for according recognition to
a “king” of their own who “ruled” outside of Palestine, Peter derisively
demanded of them, on the basis of Genesis 49:10, to produce a king of
the House of Judah or, at the least, a duke. Continuing, he declared:
“As for me, I will not accept that king (as something worthy of ridicule)
whom some of you claim to have in Narbonne, the city in Gaul,
others in Rouen. I will not accept a Jew as King of the Jews except
(one) residing in and ruling the Kingdom of the Jews [namely, Pale-
stine].”’?® This document is older than either of the Hebrew sources
just noted and also antedates the compilation of the Gesta by more
than a century. Hence, it is independent of all of these. Nevertheless,
by the twelfth century the Nasi of Narbonne had already surrendered
most of the real power he possessed in the Carolingian Age.

Initiating the charge of ritual murder in 1144 against the Jews of
Norwich, the Cambridge monk Theobald, a convert from Judaism,
declared: “Wherefore the chief men” (lit. princes, principes) ‘“‘and
Rabbis of the Jews who dwell in Spain assemble together at Narbonne,
where the Royal seed resides, and where they are held in the highest
estimation . . .” (/iz. and their glory asserts itself most vigorously, et
eorum maxime uiget gloria).®®

A thirteenth-century Hebrew document also associates the fall of
Narbonne with a cession of land to Jews in the Narbonnaise and the

that under Charlemagne a “King of the Jews” owned a section of the city of Nar-
bonne, a possession which Charlemagne confirmed in 791; Jews ... in Spain and
Gaul, pp. 159-60.

29, Tractatus adversus Judaeorum inveteratam duritiem, PL, CLXXXIX, 4, col.
560: “Produc igitur mihi de propagine Judae regem, aut si hoc non potes, saltem
ostende ducem. Sed non ego, ut aliquid ridendum ponam, regum illum suscipiam,
quem quidam tuorum apud Narbonam, Galliae urbem, alii apud Rothomagum se
habere fatentur . . . . Non suscipiam Judaeum pro rege Judaeorum, nisi habitantem
et regnantem in regno Judaeorum.” Cf. I. Loeb, “Polémistes chrétiens et juifs en
France et en Espagne,” REJ, XVIII (1889), 45. b

30. Thomas of Monmouth, The Life and Miracles of St. William of Norwich ed.
and tr. A. Jessopp and M. R. James, p. 94; see S. W, Baron, History, IV, pp. 135,
306.
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grant of royal privileges. This is the Milhemet Mitsvah (The War for
Religion) of Meir b. Simeon composed in 1245, a difficult time for the
Jewry of Narbonne. Therein Meir b. Simeon addressed a petition to
the King of France. He enumerated the injustices in proposed legis-
lation directed against the Jews, and urged the King to respect the
Jewry privileges granted by “King Charles” at the time of the capture
of Narbonne. The Milkemet Mitsvah® asserted at the outset the
obligation of a king *“to keep covenant and faith” even with those not
of his religion:

Firstly we shall say that it is obligatory [for a king] to keep covenant and
faith with every man even if he is not of the religion of the king.?® It is also
the obligation of all his subjects to keep the covenant and faith with us
which his forefathers observed with our ancestors. For our Israelite forebears
came into his [Charles’] kingdom in consequence of a pledge to place us
under a security [havtaha, i.e. securitas,®® a charter of protection] guarding
our person, our substance and hereditary land-holdings [nahalot]. We too,
as did our ancestors, stood in that security a long time, from the days of
King Charles until the present, during which time he and his successors
conquered many lands all with the help of the Israclites who were with
them in fidelity* [be‘emuna, in the relationship of fideles, i.e. pledged to

31. A. Neubauer, “Documents inédits. XVI. Documents sur”Nirbonne,” REJ,
X (1885), 98-99, with translation. For complete. text see Appendix IV, pp. 387-88.

For the date, idem, “Rapport sur une mission dans le Midi de la France,” loc.
cit., 556.

32. Cf. this statement with the somewhat ambiguous preamble to the imperial
mandate of February 22, 839, for three Jews of Septimania, HGL, preuves, col. 211,
no. 97. See also this text, p. 177 note 4.

33. On securitas with the meaning royal charter, see Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer,
p. 77, Index, s. v. securitas, pp. 774-75; cf. Carolus du Fresne Du Cange (new
edition by L. Favre), Glossarium mediae et infimae latinitatis, VII (Paris 1937),
p. 392 where securitas is equated with emunitas and firmitas; cf. 11, p. 509 for
meaning of firmitas = privilegium; cf. Previté Orton, “Italian Cities,” Cambridge
Medieval History, V (Cambridge 1929), p. 218: securitas is a privilegium. For early
Carolingian usage, G. Melchior, Les Etablissements des Espagnols, pp. 75 ff., 87.

34, This statement may contain a paraphrase of the oath of the Carolingian
king’s fidelis: ““I shall be a faithful helper to you with counsel and with aid in
accordance with my office and my person” “et consilio et auxilio secundum meum
ministerium et secundum meam personam fidelis vobis adiutor ero.” C. E. Odegaard,
“Carolingian Oaths of Fidelity,” Speculum, XVI (1941), 293. Odegaard adds, *“Here
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royal service] with person and_property so that they themselves entered into
the thick of battle and sacrificed their lives to rescue kings and princes who
were with them.

For it is a known fact and recorded in several places [in documents] which
we possess and also in the maison d’obédience, that when King Charles
captured Narbonne Town at the time of his war with the Ishmaelites who
were there, his horse was killed at the gate and he himself fell to the ground.
Had he come into their hands he would have been put to death. Of all his
troops there with him not a single one wished to dismount from his own
horse and place him upon it, out of fear of death, until a Jew who was there
with them, a valiant warrior, dismounted from his horse and raised him up
on it while he himself remained there on foot and died at the hand of the
Ishmaelites. Afterwards, when he had captured the city [Narbonne), King
Charles cherished that great [act of] fidelity and granted®s to his [rescuer’s]

is no mere oath of loyalty though loyalty is clearly embodied in the oath; much
more is involved than in the subject’s oath.... This. .. carries in its contents
a clear indication that the swearer must render service”; ibid., p. 293. Meir b.
Simeon seems to be emphasizing the same point of royal service which sets the
Jews apart from ordinary subjects.

The earliest surviving oath of this kind dates from 858, sworn to Charles the
Bald by his magnates (fideles) but similar ocaths were sworn by the fideles both
before and after 858. After 858, the oath of the fideles who served the king called
for a promise of service with aid and counsel; ibid., pp. 292-96. The magnate
promised to be a faithful helper (fidelis adiutor) aiding with counse] and assistance
(concilio et auxilio); his service naturally depended on his office and his person or
status; ibid., p. 293.

35. Aronius denies the historicity of any grant by Charlemagne to the Jews (or
their chieftain) at Narbonne, because of a similar narrative related about Emperor
Otto 1I. A member of the Kalonymos family saved the Emperor in a battle against
the Saracens in 982 by giving him his own horse which swam the ruler to the safety
of a passing vessel; J. Aronjus, “Karl der Grosse und Kalonymos aus Lucca”
ZGJD, 11 (1888), 82-87; cf. H. Bresslau, “Diplomatische Erliuterungen zu den
Judenprivilegien Heinrichs 1V,” ZGJD, 1 (1887), 157-58. However, the historicity
of Charlemagne’s act clearly does not stand or fall with this tale related by Meir.

In Le Charroi de Nimes, William rejects King Louis’ offer of Berengar's fief.
Berengar, who had fled to Louis because of an unatoned act of manslaughter,
received that land from the king but later lost his life when Louis was unhorsed in
battle with the infidels and Berengar offered him his own charger; ed. J.-L. Perrier
vv. 335-63. The fact that the tale of the unhorsed king and the vassal-hero was
widely known need not, ipso facto, invalidate a specific report, if corroborated by
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children a great and honorable section in the city of Narbonne and its
environs (the ancient tradition saying that he gave them one-third of the city
and its environs) and he designed for all the Jews good and honorable
statutes with the consent of the bishops and abbots who were there with
him. Following him, the kings his successors kept faith with them until the
present . ...

On the status and role of the Jews at the moment of the fall of the
fortress of Narbonne to the Franks we possess a lengthy account in
the Gesta Karoli Magni ad Carcassonam et Narbonam. Compiled
around the middle of the thirteenth century,®® this historical romance
describes in detail, and with considerable sympathy, the delivery of
beleaguered Narbonne to the Franks encamped outside, by the Jews
within the town. _

According to the Gesta, the Jewry of Narbonne at this time con-
stituted a self-dependent community ruled by their own king. They
owed no allegiance to the Saracen governor, except for the obligation
to render to him an annual payment for protection. The Gesta outlines
the steps in the surrender of the stronghold as follows:

Apprised by their magic arts of an inevitable Frank victory, the Jews
urged upon the Saracen ruler of Narbonne the futility of resistance.
He, however, expecting momentarily help from Spain, refused to yield.
The Jews informed him of their contrary conviction and then sent a
delegation of eleven men to the leader of the besieging Franks (who, as
in the chansons de geste generally, is here, too, assimilated to the heroic

other sources. A widespread tale may, in fact, stimulate emulation by later genera-
tions. Thus legend may induce reality. Each incident demands independent analysis
and cannot be dismissed out of hand. See also this text, pp. 123-25; 360-61.

S. Stein includes brief summaries of portions of the as yet unpublished manuscript
of Meir's work in ““A Disputation on Moneylending between Jews and Gentiles in
Me'ir b. Simeon’s Milhemeth Miswah (Narbonne, 13th century)”, The Journal of
Jewish Studies, X (1959), 45-61.

36. Ph. A. Becker, in a review of Schneegans’ edition, corrects the date he suggests
for the Gesta, since Abbot Bernard III who, both agree, ordered its composition
must be dated 1237-55; Literaturblatt fiir germanische und romanische Philologie,
XIX (1898), col. 147. He considers Philomena’s notes a “fable.” In his review,
H. Suchier also dates the Gesta under Bernard III but places more weight on the
historical features of Philomena; op. cit., XXI (1900), col. 174-78.
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figure of Charlemagne). The Jewish spokesman, Isaac, pleaded for
mercy at the hands of the Frank warrior and proffered help in the
capture of Narbonne. He presented “Charlemagne” with the munificent
gift of 70,000 marks silver on behalf of their Jewish king, promising
additional sums if desired and pledging that “whatever we have will
be yours.” Isaac explained their action was not treasonable because
they were under no pledge of fealty or vassalage to the Saracen ruler of
Narbonne, their sole obligation consisting in an annual payment for
protection. He requested that they be permitted to have a king of their
own people as was proper and “is so at the present time.” (The last words
are missing from the Provengal translation of the Gesta). “In his name
we have come to you. He is of the stock of David and from Baghdad.”

For his part, the Gesta relates, Charlemagne took the Jews under his
jurisdiction and protection, affirming his pledge in the presence of an
assembly of lords and barons, including the pope himself. When, in
consequence of the Jews’ aid, Narbonne fell, Charlemagne acceded to
their request for a king and, in addition, gave them a third of the
town. Another third he presented to the archbishop and the remaining
third to Count Aymeri, one of his warriors.3?

The theme of the Jews as traitors who surrender Christian towns
and fortresses to the Saracen enemy of Christianity occasionally appears
in Carolingian chronicles.®® By contrast, the thirteenth-century monk-
author of the Gesta takes pains to explain away any such “traitorous”
intent on the part of the Jews, whom he presents as owing no fealty to
the Saracen ruler of Narbonne. Furthermore, he casts the Jews in the
role of allies of the Christian King Charles against the Muslim wali of
the town, contrary to the favorite position of the chroniclers. There
are obviously legendary elements in this passage. There may be also
embellishments that reflect the chivalrous age of the author-compiler.

37. Gesta Karoli Magni ad Carcassonam et Narbonam, ed. F. Ed. Schneegans,
pp. 176-80; 186-90, lines 2327-69; 2429-89. For the full text see this work AppendixI
pp- 379-81. This passage, through line 2466, is translated in J. Régné, Juifs de Nar-
bonne, pp. 17-18, separate reprint from REJ, LV (1908), pp. 17-18. Lines 2466-89,
which are added here, list the territories which Charlemagne allegedly ceded to
Aymeri in the presence of a great muititude of nobles, a vast area comprising
Septimania, the Toulousain, and the Spanish March.

38. Annales Bertiniani, anno 848, p. 36; anno 852, p. 41; pp. 313, 316 of this text.



Prominence of Septimanian Jewry after the Fall of Narbonne 69

However, the historicity of the entire account has been challenged, in
particular that section ascribing responsibility to the Jews for the
capture of Narbonne by the Franks.

Demaison has pointed to the chronicles discussed above, which
attribute the fall of the town to the action of Goth residents within the
walls, who rose up against the Saracens and delivered the citadel to
the Franks on the condition that they be permitted to retain their laws
and customs; or, (in a variant version) that they be allowed to rule.
This led Demaison to the assumption that the compiler of the Gesta
drew freely on his fantasy and substituted Jews for Goths.3® F. Ed.
Schneegans, who produced the definitive edition of the Gesta, has
shown that this work is based on old literary and historical records of
the south. The monk who was the author-compiler declared that he
reworked a very old, almost destroyed hisforia written by a chronicler
of Charlemagne named Philomena. This record of Charlemagne’s
exploits came to light in his monastery of Lagrasse. However, on
Jewry’s role in the surrender of Narbonne, Schneegans too dismisses
the Gesta although he recognizes that the account of Narbonne’s fall is
based on an independent source close to historical fact. He accepts
Demaison’s view even though he apparently no longer finds the asser-
tion of the text that the Jews had a king of their own to be “‘senseless.”®

-~

39. Aymeri de Narbonne. Chanson de geste ed. L. Demaison, Introduction pp.
exxxix, cexxxix; cf. HGL, 1, p. 827; I1, Notes, pp. 211-12, note 85; p. 551, note 118;
preuves, col. 7, 26.

40, Gesta Karoli Magni ed. F. Ed. Schneegans, Einleitung pp. 3-13, 32-37, 28.
The Einleitung is published separately as Uber die Gesta Karoli Magni ad Carcasso-
nam et Narbonam with same pagination. Cf. also the same author’s earlier study
Die Quellen des sog ten Pseudo-Phil, , PP. 33-34. It may be significant
that Schneegans drops the expression “‘senseless” from his later study and more
complete work, while still denying any role to the Jews in the surrender of Narbonne.
Schneegans’ view of the historical basis of parts of the Gesta is endorsed by K.
Voretzch, Introduction to the Study of Old French Literature, p. 82, against the
skeptical position toward the historical value of all the chansons de geste adopted
by J. Bédier, Les légendes épiques, 1, p. 423; IV, pp. 402, 420. For a discussion of
the origins of the chansons de geste and the reliability in general of the historical
information they contain, see U. T. Holmes, Jr., A4 History of Old French Literature,
pp. 66-72; and especially R. Menéndez Pidal, La Chanson de Roland y el neo-
tradicionalismo (origenes de la épica romdénica) (Madrid 1959).
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Israel Lévi at first accepted the testimony of the Gesta, but then declared
the Gesta and other relevant supporting Hebrew sources to be legendary
and valueless as historical evidence. He offers the baffling suggestion
that the Gesta may have substituted Jews for Goths because at the
time of Charlemagne (Pepin’s son) there were no more Goths in the
environs of Narbonne. Régné finds the Gesta account improbable. He
declares that the Jews could not favor the capture of Narbonne by the
Franks, bacause they had no interest in passing from benign Muslim
rule to Catholic domination. Dupont follows his opinion.#

Such views can hardly be claimed to account adequately for the
supposed deliberate act of a cleric substituting Jews-for Goths in the
sought-after role of allies of the Franks against “infidel” Muslims.
Furthermore, it is of more than passing significance that Demaison,
who first suggested that the author of the Gesra intentionally replaced
the Goths by Jews, nevertheless sharply qualified his opinion. He
raised the question whether the clerical author was not indeed in-
fluenced by a local tradition unfamiliar to the chroniclers. He then
added that it appears more admissible that the author of the Gesta
account of Narbonne Jewry’s role may have put to use an historical
source.® This revised conclusion has lapsed into oblivion, perhaps
because no one has found support for it.

Actually, the Gesta's dramatization of the submission of the Jewish
delegation to Charlemagne reflects not thirteenth-century feudal pro-
cedures, which the monk of Lagrasse might have concocted, but rather

41. 1. Lévi, “France,” Jewish Encyclopedia, V (1903) 445; “Le roi juif de Nar-
bonne et le Philoméne,” REJ, XLVII (1904), 205-07; XLIX (1904), 147-50.
J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 22. A. Dupont, Les Cités, p. 287. For a brief review
of the state of research see S. Katz, The Jews in .. . Spain and Gaul, Appendix I1I,
pp. 159-62. A somewhat less skeptical view of one or another of the traditions is
taken by the older studies: H. Gross, *“Meir b. Simon und seine Schrift Milchemeth
Mizwa,” MGWJ, XXX (1881), 449-50; C. Port, Histoire du Commerce, p. 168;
G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, pp. 42-43. However, in Gallia Judaica, pp. 404-05,
Gross emphasizes somewhat more the “legendary” aspects of the traditions.

42. “Faut-il voir ici I'influence d’une tradition locale, ou bien notre écrivain, en
qualité de clerc lettré, connaissait-il une source historique qu'il aurait mise a profit ?
Cette dernitre hypothése nous semble la plus admissible”; Aymeri de Narbonne,
ed. L. Demaison, I, Introduction, p. ccxxxix,
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seventh- and eighth-century conditions. The confrontation of Charle-
magne and the Jewish deputies outside the gates of Narbonne recalls
the negotiations entered into when invading Arabs made treaties with
non-Muslim municipal authorities who surrendered their city before
conquest. Such treaties were concluded also with reigning princes or
the chief of a territory. In this manner, the Arabs established a number
of protectorates, Where surrender took place without conquest, the
non-Muslim inhabitants recieved protection and paid a stipulated
money-tax, which could not be increased and which they collected
themselves; and the landholders could sell or bequeath the land to one
another. Their land was treaty (‘akd) not khardj (tribute) land.#

An illustration of such a procedure in Septimania is the action of
Emir ‘Anbasa ibn Suhain Kelbi who, as reward for the capitulation of
Carcassonne, obligated himself to consider its residents “protected
people” and to conclude a defensive-offensive alliance with them.# It
appears that Pepin followed in essence this same practice in his offer
to the besieged inhabitants of Narbonne. Admittedly, surrender of
towns on conditions occurred during the Recongquista and the Crusades.
This need not rule out the possibility that the thirteenth-century monk
in Lagrasse had at his disposal a source describing the practice prevail-
ing in the eighth century. B

The Gesta, it has been noted, explicitly credits the-Jews with the fall
of Narbonne to the Franks and describes-ini some detail how this was
achieved. As reward a delegation of Narbonne Jews requested a per-
-manent kingship of their own, at the same time offering a princely gift
of 70,000 marks silver to Charlemagne. He agreed to the terms and
accepted the gift. Witness of the negotiations were the pope and many
barons. At the fall of the town, Charlemagne fulfilled his pledge, “gave

43, D. C. Dennett, Jr., Conversion and the Poll Tax in Early Islam. Dennett
emphasizes that the settlements made in the conquests were not uniform, p. 12;
but see the summaries on pp. 35, 36, 91, 118, and passim.

44. In exchange for peace the inhabitants of Carcassonne ceded to ‘Anbasa ibn
Suhain Kelbi half their territory, freed the Muslim prisoners together with the booty
they had taken, paid tribute, and entered into an offensive-defensive alliance with
the Muslims. Then ‘Anbasa retired ; Ibn el-Athir, Anrnales du Maghreb et de I’ Espagne,
ed. and tr. E. Fagnan, anno 725, p. 57. D’Abadal affirms this practice was usual in
Spain, “El paso,” CHE, XIX (1953), 22.
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them a king in accordance with their desire,” and, in addition, ceded
to them a third of Narbonne. Another third of the town he had already
given to the Archbishop. Now he summoned Aymeri and gave him
the remaining third, but then added vast territories as Aymeri’s domain
throughout Septimania and the Toulousain and across the Pyrenees
to Gerona and Barcelona.%

The Epistle of Pope Stephen III dated 768 (only nine years after
Narbonne’s surrender) emphasizes two critical features found also in
the thirteenth-century Gesta. First is the gift of money.%® Secondly,
like the Gesra, Stephen also describes a cession of territory to (Nar-
bonne) Jewry by act of the Frankish sovereign(s). Actually, the terri-
tory outlined by the Pope appears to be far more extensive than a
third of a single city (Narbonne). He refers to allodial hereditaments
granted to the Jews; these were situated both within towns and outside
them and in the boundaries and territories of Christians; he speaks of
Christian servitors cultivating the vineyards and fields of Jews and tells
of others living in their homes both within and outside of cities.
Obviously, this may also include one-third of Narbonne. But by com-
parison with this contemporaneous papal document, the claim of the
Gesta for a cession of merely one-third of that town seems modest
indeed. Even if we assume that under the stress of anxiety, the Pope
exaggerated somewhat, his virulent complaint makes it clear beyond
doubt that by 768 southern French Jewry or their chieftain held, by
right of royal award, significant allodial possessions in the Narbon-
naise. And perhaps beyond. This last possibility is suggested by the
addressees to whom the papal epistle was a plea: “To Aribert Arch-
bishop of Narbonne, and to ail the magnates of Septimania and His-
pania.’¥ In fact the cession of land which the Gesta attributes to a
hitherto unknown Aymeri as recipient—territories extending through-
out Septimania and the Toulousain into Spain—seems to fit far more
aptly (than merely one-third of Narbonne) the very extensive freeholds

45. F. Ed. Schneegans (ed.), Gesta Karoli Magni, pp. 176-90; see Appendix 1,
pp. 379-81 this text. -

46. *. .. ei periculose mercati sunt”; PL, CXXIX, col. 857C.

47. “Stephanus papo Ariberto archiepiscopo Narbonae, et omnibus potentatibus
Septimaniae et Hispaniae salutem”; PL, CXXIX, col. 857B.
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ceded to the Jews, of which Pope Stephen complained so bitterly to
“all the magnates of Septimania and Spain.”

There is then evidence of Septimanian Jewry’s prominent status
shortly after the capitulation of Narbonne to the Franks, in contrast
to the virtual disappearance of the Goths. The statement of the Gesta
that the Jews in the citadel were Pepin’s allies and responsible for the
surrender of the fortress no longer appears so improbable. The testi-
mony of the “Appendix™ of ShK, almost half a century earlier than
the Gesta and drawn from still older sources, anticipates the claim of
the Latin romance that a Jewish descendant of King David settled in
Narbonne as ruler of the Jews.

Such rule required an autonomous domain to provide the reality of
dominion. Evidence that the Frank kings did cede a domain in fact
is supplied by Pope Stephen’s bitter complaint of 768.4

48. A. Grabois discusses the same documents analyzed here. However, he assumes
a priori that they are all legendary and worthless as a source of historical information
for the Carolingian Age. The significance of Pope Stephen’s epistle escapes him
entirely, although it provides incontrovertible evidence for the Frankish kings' grant
of considerable territory in free allod to Septimanian Jewry and, in consequence,
alerts attention to the fact that the Gesra and the Hebrew documents are rooted in
historical reality. Rather, the determination of the historical information that may
be still imbedded therein and the separating gﬁfact from fancy not only in the
documents just mentioned but also in the chronicles and in the other extant materials
relevant to Carolingian Jewry, some of which have been hitherto uncritically
accepted, is the concern of the present author. A. Grabols, “Le souvenir et la
légende de Charlemagne dans les textes hébralques médiévaux,” Le Moyen Age,
LXXII (1966), 5-41. This essay appears in a Hebrew version in Tarbiz, XXXVI
(1966), 32-58.
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The Establishment of a Jewish
Princedom in Southern France by
the Carolingian Rulers, 768

The Addendum to ShK associated the fall of Narbonne with joint
action of Frank king and Muslim caliph eventuating in the arrival of
a Jewish scholar-prince of Davidic. ancestry in that town. Royal act
endowed him with noble status and extensive estates; he himself
established a dynasty! of patriarchs or exilarchs (nresi’im) in the West.
Pope Stephen’s virulent attack in 768 on certain cessions in land by
the Frank kings to the Jews raises the question whether these two
documents are treating an identical series of events which transpired in
that year.

Now the spring of the year 768 witnessed the completion of a success-
ful diplomatic interchange between King Pepin and the ‘Abbasid
Caliph Al-Mansur of Baghdad. In 761 the ‘Abbasids had undertaken
an invasion of Umayyad Spain. The campaign ended in dismal failure.

1. “Furthermore, he (Makhir) and his dynasty were arhong the leaders of their
time, rulers and judges in all the lands, virtual exilarchs shepherding Israel with faith-
fulness and skill.” Several generations on two sides of Makhir's dynasty bore the
title nasi (prince); Appendix III, pp. 384-85.

74
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Intent on ruling Andalusia for Baghdad, ‘Ali ibn-Mughith only lost
his head following a disastrous defeat before Seville in 763, This
stunning blow appears to have disposed® Caliph Al-Mansur now more
than ever to let the Franks pull his chestnuts out of the Spanish fire.
However, any such move for the future invasion of the peninsula from
the north focused interest on Southern Frankia as its springboard. To
Pepin, on the other hand, constantly challenged by the Umayyad ally
Duke Waifar within his own realm, the rising Saracen star over the
Pyrenees boded evil. The Spanish threat only pointed up the role and
importance of strong frontier garrisons, and most prominent among
these was Narbonne. The critical location of Narhonne now allowed
appropriate action. However, any plan for action confronted Pepin’s
pledge of 759 to the Jews of that fortress, which clearly demanded
prior redemption, of course within the framework of general Caro-
lingian policy, In 765 Pepin summoned a general assembly of the
realm to Attigny.® The decisions of Attigny are unknown, although
they may perhaps be deduced from Pepin’s diplomatic activity at the
time. For in the same year Pepin dispatched a mission* to Baghdad
which doubtless was concerned primarily with the Spanish peril and,
unavoidably, with Narbonne, In the same year he sent off a legation
to Byzantium, In the fall of 766 the Frank mission returned from
Byzantium accompanied by a Greek delegation. Pepin now assumed
the offensive against Waifar who, when defeated, was forced to per-
form vassal’s homage and pay unusual tribute and gifts. Yet Aquitaine
was still not pacified.® _

Again in March 767 Pepin launched an invasion of Aquitaine but
now from Narbonne. Presumably local troops, including Jewish forces,
sallied out with him into Waifar’s territory. There fell to the conquering
Frank in turn Toulouse, Albi, Rodez, Gevaudan—the southern part of
Aquitaine, After Easter he followed up these conquests with a successful

2. G. Weil, Geschichte der islamitischen Volker von Mohammed bis zur Zeit des
Sultan Selim, p. 142; F, W, Buckler, Harynu'l-Rashid and Charles the Great, p. 9.

3. After Easter 765; L. Oclsner, Jahrblicher . .. unter Konig Pippin, p. 393.

4. Tt was received in friendly manner; L, Oelsner, ibid., pp. 395-96; S. Abel,
B, Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp. 289-920,

5. L. Oclsner, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Kénig Pippin, p. 399.
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incursion from the north_and penetrated to the southern Limousin,
Auvergne, and Rouergue. The King pressed his pursuit of Waifar,
imposing his rule as far as Gascony.® Such successes would obviously
place Pepin in a distinctly advantageous position in any negotiations
with Baghdad. These were now imminent.

Early in 768 Pepin’s Baghdad mission returned to Marseilles after a
three-year absence. His legation was accompanied by ambassadors of
Caliph Al-Mansur, laden with gifts. At royal command, they were
conducted to Metz (where they spent the winter) and then to Selles on
the Loire. Here Pepin received them during Easter on his return from
the campaign against Waifar in Aquitaine, April 18, 768.7 The results
of the negotiations are unknown, but their amicable outcome was
underscored by the King’s gifts which the Arabs carried back to their
own country by sea. In any case, the anti-Umayyad and anti-Waifar
intent of such deliberations appears self-evident.®

Once again Pepin resumed the war in Aquitaine. Duke Waifar took

6. L. Oelsner, ibid., pp. 407-08, 410-12.

7. L. Oelsner, ibid., p. 412; S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem
Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp. 289-90.

8. During all these East-West negotiations, the world ruler in Baghdad never
regarded the Carolingian kings—even Charlemagne—as anything other than bar-
barian vassal sheikhs serving imperial interests, according to F. W. Buckler,
Harumpl-Rashid, pp. 8-10, 32-36, Cf. HGL, 1, pp. 843-44: The Caliph was eager
for a Frankish invasion of Spain as a means of bringing ‘Abd ar-Rahman to his
knees. “It is certain that these negotiations had begun a long time before.” Gustave
Weil also thinks that the negotiations of 765-68 dealt with a joint ‘Abbasid-Carolin-
gian adventure in Spain, Geschichte der Chalifen, 1, pp. 75-76. This view is shared
by L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher, p. 396, cf. pp. 410-17, who sees in Charlemagne’s war
on Spain only the implementation of his father Pepin’s plans; cf. also S. Abel and
B. Simson, Jahrbiicher ... unter Karl dem Grossen, I, 2nd ed, pp. 289-90. The
nature of the political relationships between East and West was such in the Carolin-
gian period that Joseph Calmette sees the outlines of an Aix-Baghdad axis which
led to an alliance of Charlemagne and Harun ar-Rashid; Charlemagne. Sa vie et
son auvre, pp. 150-54, “The diplomatic mission of 765 to Baghdad served to com-
plete a circle of alliances ranging the Pope, the ‘Abbasid Khalifah, and the king of
the Franks against the Umayyads and Constantinople,” F. W. Buckler, ibid., p. 10,
See also F. L. Ganshof, “Notes sur les ports de Provence du vm® au xe sicle,”
RH, CLXXXIII (1938), 30. Cf. S. C. Easton and H. Wieruszowski, Era of Charle-
magne, p. 47.
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refuge in the forest of Périgord. The King divided his men into four
columns, each led by a count. On the night of June 2, 768, Waifar was
assassinated. The war came to an end. Pepin pressed to assure for
himself the fruits of victory. He rebuilt fortresses, installed counts and
judges. In Saintes he convened a council where, it is agreed, he issued
those regulations which, while not mentioning Aquitaine, have come
to be identified as the “Capitulary for Aquitaine.”®

Is it only accident that the Frank kings’ generous grant in 768 to
southern Jewry of allodial hereditaments in Septimania and Northern
Spain (as appears from Pope Stephen’s letter) coincided in time with
Pepin’s final conquest of Aquitaine and the return of his legation from
Baghdad ? Or is there an interrelationship in fact between these events
and the claims of the 4ddendum to ShK and the Gesta that the Frank
King invited a member of the Jewish royal house at Baghdad to settle
in Narbonne and, after his arrival, ceded to him significant territory:
“a great possession” according to ShK; “one-third of Narbonne”
according to the Gesta?

Interdependence of these events becomes probable indeed in the
light of a report that in this same period a ruling Exilarch (nasi) of
Baghdad was forced out of office; whereupon he left for the West.

Overthrow of the Umayyad dynasty and chaotic conditions that
accompanied the early efforts of the ‘Abbasids to entrench themselves
in power caused upheavals also in Jewishdeading circles in Babylon.
The conflict centered primarily on the person of the exilarch and
erupted in a challenge directed against the right of one branch of the
exilarchic family to exercise rule. The legitimacy question arose out of
the following circumstances.

In the eighth century the exilarchs were all descendants of Bustanai
(Haninai) who is dated ca. 610-60. A wife of Bustanai was the Persian
princess Izdundad (Dara-Izdadwar) daughter of King Khosroe (or of
Yazdegerd III). The conquering caliph gave her to Bustanai and took
her sister for his own wife. According to another report, the fourth
Caliph ‘Ali gave his son Husein a Persian princess, daughter of Yazde-
gerd III and possibly the sister of Dara-Izdadwar. In this manner the
exilarchic family became related to the Persian military aristocracy

9. L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Konig Pippin, pp. 412-13, 415.
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(Izdundad’s brother was the general Marzabana) and, in time, to the
ruling ‘Abbasid dynasty. However, doubt arose that Bustanai had
actually manumitted and converted his royal wife before their sons
were born. If he had not, her offspring were unfree and therefore dis-
qualified from holding Jewish royal office.1®

A general pro-Persian policy of the ‘Abbasids early led to pressure
on Jewish leaders for recognition of Izdundad’s descendants as legi-
timate exilarchs. Thus Samuel b. R. Mar, Gaon of Pumbeditha 748-52,
was already their protagonist. It is even possible that an exilarch
Solomon, of the Persian line, was in power by 752 because in that
year he appointed as Gaon of Pumbeditha his own brother-in-law
whose patronymic was Persian, Natroi Kahana b. Mar R. Ahunai.
Solomon’s successor as exilarch (about 759) was Isaac b. Rosbihan b.
Shahrijar (obviously a descendant of Izdundad), and at his passing,
between 763-66,1 the conflict became further complicated by a new
factor. ‘Anan, eldest son of David, brother of the ruling exilarch and
a disciple of the outstanding scholar Yehudai Gaon, was next in line

10. S. W. Baron, History, ITI (2nd ed.), pp. 89, 270, note 20; cf. H. Tykocinski,
“Bustanai the Exilarch” (Hebrew), Debhir, 1, (1923), 145-79; S. Assaf, “Bostanai
(ben Chaninai),” EJ, IV, 989-90; A. D. Goode, “The Exilarchate in the Eastern
Caliphate 637-1258,” JQR, XXXI (1940-41), 157. The exilarchs resided in Babylonia,
usually in or near Baghdad, even before it became the ‘Abbasid capital ca. 762.
Cf. R. Levy, A Baghdad Chronicle, p. 20.

11. A. D. Goode, loc. cit., and the same author’s “Exilarch,” UJE, IV (New
York 1941), 208; cf. also the list of Geonim and their terms of office in S. Assaf,
“Geonim,” EJ, VII, 275-77. An Arab legend also suggests a change occurred in the
exilarchic dynasty at the time of the extinction of the Umayyads. According to this
tale Merwan, the last Umayyad caliph, found extreme displeasure in an act of the
exilarch of his day. This Jewish prince is reported to have given his king a fragment
of a magic mirror which revealed such offensive information to the Caliph that
Merwan ordered the mirror discarded and the exilarch executed. But the same
mirror came into the possession of the second caliph of the ‘Abbasid dynasty,
Al-Mansur, who utilized it for the purpose of discovering the hiding-place of his
rival, Muhammad ibn ‘Abdullah of the family of ‘Ali, whom he promptly put out of
the way; I. Goldziher, “Renscignements de source musulmane sur la dignité de
Resch-galuta,” REJ, VIII (1884), 123-24, This tale may reflect the fall of the ruling
Jewish house at the time of the collapse of Umayyad power in 750 and the rise of
the Persian line with the ascendancy of their kinsmen, the ‘Abbasids. Jewish sources
report nothing of such events.
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for the succession. However, because of his independence and possibly
sectarian tendencies, ‘Anan was passed over by the academies in favor
of his younger and less assertive brother Hananiah. This selection was
vigorously opposed by ‘Anan, who in consequence was eventually im-
prisoned. He escaped execution (about 767) only by making formal
declaration that he was the leader of a separate sect.2

In these years of challenge to the succession (763—-66) two other
aspirants came forward to claim exilarchic dignity and succeeded in
gaining and holding office simultaneously if only for a short while.
One was Natronai b. Habibai (Hakhinai), also a disciple of Yehudai’s
and a scion of the “pure” Jewish line of descent from Bustanai; the
other was Zakkai b. Ahunai of the Persian branch, known also as
Baboi in addition to his Hebrew name Judah.?® However, as the result
of initiative by the Gaon Malka (who may-have been close to court
circles) Natronai was soon deposed by the two academies acting in
concert with Judah (Baboi) Zakkai. Thereupon he emigrated to the
West. The critical document describing this latest turn of events is a
somewhat cryptic paragraph in Sherira Gaon’s well-known Epistle:
“After him there functioned {as Gaon of Pumbeditha] Malka b. Mar
Rav Aha from 770. He [had] deposed Natronai b. Habibai as Exilarch
(nasi) in the conflict over Zakkai b, Ahunai. He [Natronai ?] had been
exilarch for some years previously. But the two Academies assembled
in joint session together with Exilarch Zakkai and deposed him. Malka
died and the Exilarch Natronai went to the West.”

. Variant readings give Natronai’s father’s name as Hakhinai and
Zabinai; and have Tsarfat (France) and Sefarad (Spain) in place of
lama‘arabh (to the West) of our text for Natronai’s place of settle-
ment.}* From the standpoint of Baghdad any one of these designations

12, S. W. Baron, History, V, pp. 210-11, 388-89.

13. H. Graetz, Geschichte, 4th ed., V, pp. 438-41; S. W. Baron, History, V, p. 9;
B. M. Lewin, Otsar ha-Geonim, V11, p. 39, no. 93; p. 40, no. 94; A. Marx, “The
Importance of the Geniza,” PAAJR, XVI (1947), 194, note 51.

14, Sherira Gaon, Jggeret ed. B. M. Lewin, p. 104. For full text and variants see
Appendix V of this work, and cf. L. Ginzberg, Geonica, 1, p. 19. For a probable
Responsum of Natronai, see L. Ginzberg, Geonica, 11, p. 294. Lewin finds govern-
ment intervention in this series of events involving Natronai, B. M. Lewin, Otsar
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would fit mid-eighth-century Narbonne which until 759 was politically
part of Spain and later was incorporated into the March of Spain as
part of the Frankish realm.

More difficult may be the determination of the exact date of Natro-
nai’s term of office and emigration to the West. Some scholars have
linked Natronai’s departure with Malka’s death (in 772) because
Sherira appears to join these two. This need not be so. Malka’s action
against Natronai may even have preceded his appointment as gaon
in 770. In any event, it would not be at all surprising if Sherira (who
recorded these events two centuries after their occurrence), or his
source, made an error of three or four years in their dating and chron-
ology because of the great confusion in the order of exilarchic succession
at this time.2®

The Frank mission to Baghdad arrived just in the midst of this
series of upheavals in the Jewish community. Its central concern was
for possible joint action against Umayyad Spain. However, this in-
evitably involved the Jewry of Narbonne and Pepin’s pledge for a ruler
of their own. The Frank ambassadors must have carried with them
instructions from their king in this matter. In 76667 these directives
might well appear to Muslim and Jewish leaders to run parallel with a
permanent ‘“‘solution” of the raging Jewish problem. A ready made
answer to all interests seemed to be at hand in the establishment of
the deposed Natronai as Exilarch of the Jews in the distant West;
while the Caliph would secure a permanent and trustworthy liaison
officer on the spot in the Kingdom of the Franks within the border
areas of Spain.

In the year 768 the Frank mission returned from Baghdad accom-
panied by Al-Mansur’s ambassadors laden with gifts. The delegation
entered the realm of the Franks at Marseilles. Clearly they covered the
last leg of their journey by sea although their point of embarkation is
unknown. Now a report of Natronai’s journey to the West tells of his

ha-Geonim, 1, p. 20. Baron says that the new ‘Abbasid ruler Al-Mansur appointed
Zakkai bar Akhunai of the Persian line of exilarchs after 767, History, V, p. 9.
15. In dating Anan’s schism Makrizi, drawing from an old source, differs from
Sherira’s date also to the extent of three to four years, his 758 corresponding to
Sherira’s 761-62. See H. Graetz, Geschichte, V, p. 439 who, however, follows Sherira.
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arrival bikefitsat haderekh, in miraculously short time; and adds that
he did not travel by caravan and no one caught sight of him on the
way.’® In all likelihood then Natronai also came by sea and, to judge
from subsequent events, the deposed Nasi of the Jews must have been
a member of this joint Frank-Muslim mission from Baghdad.

Natronai is renowned for his scholarly achievements in the West.
He is reputed to have written out the entire Talmud from memory for
Western Jews.1” His settlement in the Kingdom of the Franks may be
related to the claim that the Western exilarchs were of *“purer” blood
than those in the East who were descended from the captive Persian
princess.’® Natronai’s “exile” to the West may even have been at
government order.

16. °x1mp1 M > DNUMARD BT'3 AMOR DRI TIBD SwIRD DOMBM M3 AN
AR kDY A3 wa xb Dy MM AMA pam Saan amdxk k3 99 Avopa b4
<andn 1n ’bw 1En Tmdan Ak 100 2335 2D KM KON 3 RUVI ORI eI
Quoted by J. Schor (ed.), Sefer ha‘lttim | Yhudah Barzilai Al-Barceloni, Introduction
p. xi-xii, who identifies this Natronai with b. Zabibai; cf. p. 256. B. M. Lewin,
Otsar ha-Geonim,1, p. 20. Natronai “Gaon’ apparently is an error for Natronai Nasi.

17. See preceding note and cf. N. N. Coronel, Zekher Natan, pp. 134a, 152, 154;
H. Graetz, Geschichte, 4th ed., V, p. 441, note 3; S. W. Baron, History, V, pp. 46—
47; 258-59. -

18. A Geniza text tells of a Davidic family, residing in a district called Nams,
who are known as B’nai Marawatha. These are not of the family of Bustanai. They
are called such because of the purity of their descent, the freedom of their family
from “that blemish,” their name signifying that they are princes descended from
David. They are beloved in those parts while the people of Baghdad hate the family
of Bustanai because of the blemish; George Margoliouth, “Some British Museum
Geniza Texts,” JOR, o.s. XIV (1901-02), 304-06. The name Marwan (Merwan)
appears in the East in the ninth century and then in twelfth-century southern France,
M. Steinschneider, “Introduction to Arabic Literature,” JOR, o.s. XI (1899), 147;
cf. B. Z. Benedict, “R. Moses b. Joseph [b. Merwan Levi] of Narbonne,” (Hebrew),
Tarbiz, XIX (1947-48), 19-34. An exilarch son of Marawatha Natronai Exilarch
is recorded in communication with Kairouan in the ninth century:
bah mam KEIT N3 A KIAYD XY RN RMIDT 3 ’mb1 vy cKten
qRYPP3  BYTRee.mvmdn oovndn  Teshubhot  ha-Geonim, ed. A. Harkavy,
p. 389; cf. S. A. Poznarnski, “Men of Kairouan (Hebrew),” Festschrift Harkavy,
p. 218. A. D. Goode lists an Exilarch Natronai and his son Hisdai for the years
ca. 840-65, ca. 865-80, respectively, in Baghdad, UJE, IV, 208; J@R, XXXI (1940-
41), 158-59. According to Sambari’s Chronicle, a caliph’s daughter in 984 (985)
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There are also tales which may be associated with Natronai. A
Natronai is reputed to be an avenger for the Jews against Rome. The
eleventh-century Arab historian Ibn Hazm scoffs at the tradition that
one of the Jewish sages travelled from Baghdad to Cordoba in a single
day and horned an enemy of his people. Obviously, Natronai’s advent
in the West created a great stir among the Jews, as the arrival of a
distinguished scholar-prince might well do. He is reported to have
returned to the East.!?

But if Natronai was the first Nasi of the West in the Carolingian
Age, what of Makhir whom the “Appendix” to ShK identifies as the
scholar-prince who immigrated from Baghdad?

It is well known that the exilarchs of Baghdad frequently had at
least two names—a familiar Persian or Aramaic name (like Natronai)
and a formal Hebrew-biblical name. Natronai’s opponent Zakkai also
bore the name Baboi while his Hebrew biblical name was Judah. For
the Jewry of the West the Nasi’s biblical name would be far more
familiar and certainly more acceptable in a Christian environment
which deliberately created biblical and classical names for prominent
persons at court.2? Makhir would emphasize the biblical lineage of
Natronai. In time the biblical Makhir (assuming this was Natronai’s
Hebrew name) might completely supplant the less significant Natronai
in the West, at least in Hebrew literature. This does not rule out his
assumption of a local Latin (or Greek) or Frank name in addition.

Pepin apparently recognized Natronai-Makhir as Nasi of the Jews
in his lands and, together with Charles and Carloman, allotted to him
allodial* hereditaments as his princedom in the South. This grant may

advised her Egyptian husband to institute in his capital the dignity of Nagid after
the example of the Babylonian exilarch; E. N. Adler, “An Eleventh Century In-
troduction to the Hebrew Bible,” JOR, o.s. IX (1897), 670; MJC, 1, pp. 115-16;
1I, p. 129; A. Neubauer, “Egyptian Fragments,” App. I, JOR, o.s. VIII (1896),
552;J. Mann, Jews in Egypt, 1, 251-52; see D. Neustadt, “Some Problems concerning
the ‘Negidut’, Zion, IV, 12649, and the comment on Neustadt’s unduly negative
conclusions by S. W. Baron, History, V, 38, 308. See this text, note 22, p. 60.

19. Pesikta Rabbati, ed. M. Friedmann, 15; Yalkut, Shemot, 191. See this work,
p. 81, note 16.

20, See this text, p. 120.

21. Allod is free property subject to none of the usual dues or restrictions at the
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have taken place around Easter before the final pacification of Aqui-
taine. In that case its implementation was contingent on Natronai-
Makhir’s active and successful participation in the campaign. The
execution of the grant may have been carried out only at war’s end,
at the time usually assigned by scholars for promulgation of the so-
called Capitulary for Aquitaine.?? It is to be expected that in either
case the Frank kings’ cession would be properly recorded in an official
document, None such has been preserved.

Yet even a cursory examination of the Capitulary for Aquitaine
makes clear that it contains substantial privileges, hardly the kind of
concessions that a conqueror like Pepin would be inclined to grant
the stubborn Aquitaine folk after two generations of resistance to his
father and himself. A more to be expected reaction was Charlemagne’s;
he is reported to have abolished the title Duke of Aquitaine in
769.2

One provision of the Capitulary in particular excites suspicion.
Article 8 guarantees unhampered right of appeal directly to the king:
“Si aliquis homo ante nos se reclamaverit, licenciam habeat ad nos
venire, et nullus eum per fortia deteneat.” Oelsner has pointed out how
widely this section departs from Salic law which penalizes the litigant
who refuses to accept judgment of the court. The convicted person may
appeal only on the claim of error. If he fails to prove his point he must
give compensation.?* —

By way of contrast two mandates of Louis le Débonnaire, of ap-
proximately 825, grant to the Jews the right of appeal to the emperor
and, in fact, provide for unmediated imperial jurisdiction: “Moreover,

time of sale; cf. H. Dubled, “Allodium dans les textes latins du moyen-ige,” M4,
LVII (1951), 241-46. See this work, p. 57, and p. 96, note 49.

22, Capitularia regum francorum, 1, ed. A. Boretius, MGH, no. 18, pp. 42-43.

23, F. Dahn, Kdnige der Germanen, V111, Part 3, p. 117; cf. idem, Urgeschichte,
111, 957.

24. L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher . .. Konig Pippin, pp. 417, 243-44. The only permis-
sible instance of an appeal to the king in Germanic law is a case of injustice; *“Ut si
aliquis voluerit dicere, quod iuste ei non iudicetur, tunc in praesentia nostra veniant.
Aliter vero non praesumat in praesentia nostra venire pro alterius iustitia dilatan-
dum”; Lex Baiuvariorum. Capitularia ad legem Baiuvariorum addita ed. K. A.
Eckhardt, Die Gesetze des Karolingerreiches 714-911, 11 p. 186, § 7.
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if any cases at law against them concerning their property or slaves
should arise or take place which cannot be decided locally without
serious and unjust loss, let them be suspended or kept for our Presence
where they may receive final sentence according to law.”?

Article 7 lays upon the convicted thief or robber the obligation to
make threefold restitution “according to his own law.” These con-
cluding words seem to have little point here. On the other hand Emperor
Henry IV’s charter for the Jewries of Worms and Spires in 1090
(which had Carolingian origins), when granting application of their
own law, punishes forcible expropriation of their property with two-
fold restitution plus a fine of one pound gold.2¢ ~

Reminiscent of Carolingian diplomas for Jews is in fact the repetition
in the Aquitaine Capitulary of the phrase “in accordance with his own
law” (secundum suam legem) or the equivalent. Although such a pri-
vilege was by no means limited to Jews, this is a distinctive feature of
Carolingian and later Jewry privileges. Another section of the Capi-
tulary imposes the obligation upon the recipients of royal grants of
land to provide for their proper cultivation under threat of losing
possession (§ 5). It is clear that Pepin was concerned to encourage
immigration into Frankia (§ 10) just as the Milhemet Mitsvah imputes
to the Frank King.??

Of special interest finally is the provision (§ 12) that the King’s missi
together with the seigneurs of the land may make final decisions in

25. “Quod si etiam aliquae causae adversum eos (sc. Hebreos) de rebus vel
mancipia eorum surrexerint vel orte fuerint, que infra patriam absque gravi et
iniquo dispendio definite esse nequiverint, usque in praesentiam nostram sint sus-
pensae vel conservatae, qualiter ibi secundum legem finitivam accipiant sententiam”;
Formulae Imperiales, ed. K. Zeumer, MGH, Legum sectio V, no. 31, p. 310:29-32;
cf. no. 52, p. 325:26-30.

26. “Si quis vero contra hoc edictum aliquam violenciam eis intulerit, cogatur
persolvere ad palacii nostri erarium sive ad cameram episcopi libram I auri, rem
quoque, quam eis abstulerat, dupliciter restituat’’; Die Urkunden Heinrichs IV ed.
D. v. Gladiss, MGH, Die Urkunden der deutschen Konige und Kaiser, VI part 2,
no. 411, p. 546:29, 31; no. 412, p. 548:33-35. On the Carolingian sources see ibid.,
p. 544 and G. Kisch, “Jewry Law of Medieval Jewish Law Books,” PAAJR, X
(1940), 137.

27. See this text, p. 65.
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matters military and religious concerning which no one may then
challenge their judgment.?

Suspicion seems well-founded that this Capitulary which has come
down without superscription may not lie before us in its original form.
F. L. Ganshof has pointed out that in fact no Carolingian capitularies
have been preserved in the original or even in a copy of which one
could be sure that it derives directly from the original.?® In its present
form the Capitulary of 768 may preserve echoes of a royal grant to
the Jews of the South and their recently arrived Prince.?®

28, Pippini Capitulare Aquitanicum. 768, “Incipiunt capitula quas bone memorie
genitor Pipinus sinodaliter [instituit] et nos ab homnibus conservare volumus.

“1. Ut illas eclesias Dei qui deserti sunt restaurentur tam espiscopi quam abates
vel illi laici homines qui exinde benefitium habent.”

“2, Ut illi episcopi, abbates, abbatissas sub ordine sancto vivant.

“3. Ut quicquid episcopi, abbates vel abbatissas vel reliqui sacerdotes de rebus
ecclesiarum ad eorum opus habent, quieto ordine possideant, sicut in nostra sinodo
iam constitutum fuit; et si quis exinde postea aliquid abtraxit, sub integritate reddat.

“4, Ut ad illos pauperes homines magis non tollant nisi quantum legitime reddere
debent.

“5. Quicumque nostrum beneficium habet, bene ibi labored et condirgat; et qui
hoc facere non vult, dimittat ipsum beneficium et teneant suas res proprias.

*6. Quicumque in itinere pergit aut hostiliter vel ad placitum, autia super suum
pare praendat, nisi emere aut praecare potuerit, excepto herba, aqua et ligna; si
vero talis tempus fuerit, mansionem nullus vetet.”

“7. Quicumque homo super suum parem, dum ad nos fuerit, aliquid abstraxerit
aut exfortiaverit, secundum suam legem triplititer conponat.

«8. Si aliquis homo ante nos se reclamaverit, licenciam habeat ad nos venire, et
nullus eum per fortia deteneat.

“9. De illis beneficiis unde intentio est volumus, ut ipsi eos habeant quibus antea
dedimus.

“10. Ut omnes homines eorum legis habeant, tam Romani quam et Salici, et si
de alia provincia advenerit, secumdum legem ipsius patriae vivat.

“11. Ut omnes laici et seculares qui res ecclesiae tenent precarias inde accipiant.

“12. Ut quicquid missi nostri cum illis senioribus patriae ad nostrum profectum
vel sanctae ecclesiae melius consenserint, nullus contendere hoc praesumat.” Capi-
tularia regum francorum, 1, ed. A. Boretius, MGH, no. 18, pp. 42-43.

29, F. L. Ganshof, “Recherches sur les capitulaires,” RHEDFE, XXXV (1957), 71.

30. G. Caro considered it a likely assumption that a Carolingian king (“Karl”)
did in fact grant to Makhir landed property in association with a privilegium of
protection, He sees in the act the origin of a Jewish allod near Narbonne known as
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This may be the grant which provoked the virulent reaction of
Stephen’s communication “To Archbishop Aribert and to all the mag-
nates of Septimania and Spain.”® The papal missive makes clear that
the grant was far more extensive than merely one-third of Narbonne
(as the Gesta claims) although it was hardly so vast as the Gesta’s
description of the cession to “Aymeri” which stretched from Lyons on
the Rhone to Barcelona. Closer to the extent of territory apparently
in the mind of Pope Stephen might be the borderlands comprising the
Toulousain (Southern Aquitaine), Septimania, and the area to be
known later as the March of Spain (approximately Narbonne to
Barcelona). The Capitulary for Aquitaine may then perhaps reflect
portions of the lost Carolingian privilegium of 768 which, while ceding
this area as the domain of the Nasi of the Jews, defined their con-
stitutional rights and status.

Establishment by the Carolingians of a Jewish principate or prince-
dom in Southern Frankland within the borderlands of Spain and the
coastlands of the Mediterranean must be seen also in its international
diplomatic implications. For Narbonne or Spanish Jewry to resign
themselves to Umayyad suzerainty meant to dam themselves off from
the mainstream of Jewish cultural and spiritual life originating in the
“Abbasid Caliphate. Their natural orbit was about the center of gravity
in Baghdad. ‘Abd ar-Rahman’s consolidation of power in Spain in
755 was as great a threat to Narbonne Jewry as to Pepin. Clearly they
had reason to favor an East-West coalition, particularly since both
Eastern as well as Western (“Roman” or “Frank”) Jews were doubtless
living together behind its walls. They could, although perhaps with
some difficulty, maintain contact with both sides. As soon as a Caro-
lingian-‘Abbasid rapprochement might be effected, Narbonne Jewry,
as loyal subjects of the Caliph and the Exilarch who sat in his council,
were obligated to support their Muslim overlord’s Western ally—the
King of the Franks. The common enemy was clearly the Umayyad
garrison within the citadel. Their “price” for the surrender of the
fortress was a ruler of their own in the Southland. In return they

villa Judaica enclosing in its boundaries vineyards and salt pits, Sozial- und Wirt-
schaftsgeschichte, 1, 144, 473,
31. See this text, pp. 50-58 and Appendix II.
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would have to assume the responsibility for a leadership role of an
offensive-defensive nature in the borderlands of Spain. How should
the major powers—the Caliph of the East and the King of the Franks
—relate themselves to such an eventuality ?

In return for the help of his loyal Jewish subjects, both those already
in Narbonne and others who would soon immigrate there, the Caliph
might well require of Pepin pledges of Carolingian aid against ‘Abd
ar-Rahman. In addition he could insure his lordship over certain con-
quered areas of Spain through the agency of his official, the Nasi, and
the Jewish community in Frankia. Furthermore, a Carolingian-
recognized Jewish prince in the Narbonnaise could be expected to
effect diplomatic liaison as well as represent ‘Abbasid interests in the
distant West. At the same time he might succeed in drawing the
Spanish Jewries from behind the Pyrenees into the orbit of Narbonne
and the East to which they had but recently belonged.

Yet why should Pepin agree before 759 to a Jewish principate in the
Narbonnaise under possibly common suzerainty of the world ruler in
the East and himself ? Truth to tell he had little choice. In-753 he stood
helpless before Narbonne’s impregnable walls, with Septimania in the
rear out of control, Aquitaine in front seething in revolt, and ‘Abd
ar-Rahman awaited momentarily from across the Pyrenees with re-
enforcements for Narbonne which were likely to threaten the entire
Southwest. Charles Martel’s victory over the Saracens between Tours
and Poitiers in October 732 had not prevented the invaders from sack-
ing Avignon in 734 and pillaging Lyons in 743. In fact, at the death of
Charles Martel in 741, the Muslims occupied all of Septimania: the
former Visigothic March passed completely under Saracen tutelage.
The apparently successful revolt of the Goths in Nimes in 753 could
have indicated to Pepin how precarious had become his position in
Septimania. He would be relinquishing little that he actually held if he
granted home rule in the Toulousain and Narbonnaise to a foreign
Jewish prince, emissary of the caliph in the far-distant East.? An equal

32. On Islamic expansion into Septimania, A. Dupont, Les Cités, pp. 270, 275,
282; of. Harry W. Hazard, Atlas of Islamic History, Princeton Oriental Studies,
XII, p. 8.

Narbonne, the keystone of Saracen occupation in southern France, was of course
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division of Narbonne town would translate joint political power into
topographical actuality.

The international dynamics required that the Jews of Narbonne
favor a Carolingian-‘Abbasid understanding and, once the rapproche-
ment had become a reality, align themselves with the Frank ally of
their caliph. In return they would be called upon to play a delicate
diplomatic, military, and political role in the borderlands between
Islam and Christianity. The circumstances called for a highly privileged
constitutional status. This seems to be the background for the decision
of the Jews and the action of the Carolingians which eventuated in the
establishment, by Pepin and his sons in 768, of a Jewish princedom in
the Southland along the coasts of the Mediterranean and on the borders
of Spain.

The international situation helps to clarify the policy of Pepin and
his sons which impelled them to establish a Jewish principate in

within the caliphate during the four decades preceding 759. Doubtless during that
time the Exilarch of Baghdad held the distant Narbonne Jewry within the orbit of
his power. In 750, the leader of the Jewish community in Fustat was also a Baby-
lonian, Abu-‘Ali Hasan of Baghdad; Israel Abrahams, “An Eighth Century Geniza
Fragment,” JOR o.s., XVII (1905), 426-30; cf. Jacob Mann, “The Responsa of the
Babylonian Geonim,” JOR, VII (1916-17), 477; XI (1920-21), 433; L. Ginzberg,
Geonica, 1, p. 2. But cf. also J. Mann, “Responsa,” JOR, X (1919-20), 361.

Toward the end of 759, after vanquishing Yussuf who had kept a second front
alive in Spain, ‘Abd ar-Rahman did indeed send an official into Frankland via
Toulouse to rule as wali of Narbonne; Fr. Codera, “Narbona, Gerona y Barce-
lona...,"” op. cit., pp. 198-99. No doubt an army accompanied him. This attempt
to relieve and hold Narbonne must have come too late. Narbonne had just passed
into ‘Abbasid-Jewish-Frank control.

The Arab writer al-Munim al-Himyari claims that Narbonne remained under
Muslim domination until 330 AH/941-42. In the same year, other towns and strong-
holds [on the Spanish border] likewise were withdrawn from Muslim control;
E. Lévi-Provengal, La Péninsule ibérique, pp. 16-17.

In a colorful picture of the army of David riding out to battle against the Arameans
the Psalterium aureum, a ninth-century illuminated Psalter of the Abbey St. Gall
(MS no. 22) written throughout in gold ink, represents the Israelite battle standard
as a fire-spouting dragon (or serpent) narrowing into an arrowhead tail; J. R. Rahn,
Das Psalterium Aureum von Sanct Gallen, Plate X, corresponding to p. 140 of the
manuscript. Rahn thinks this picture depicts actual ninth-century scenes; p. 33.
The dragon’s head and tail are (‘Abbasid ?) green, its body interlarded with red.
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Southern Frankia that was politically aligned with the Caliphate of
Baghdad. There remains to be analyzed the attitude of Pope Stephen III
who attacked with such wrath the land grant and Jewry statutes of
the Frank kings.3?

The employment of Christians in the service of Jews was hardly the
major cause of the pontiff’s vexation. It appears from Stephen’s epistle
that this may, in fact, have been going on for some time. The mere
possession of landed property by the Jews of Narbonne doubtless
antedated Bishop Aribert’s charges. In the pre-Arab period the church
at Narbonne had owned considerable land, which however was lost
under Muslim rule: the church was destroyed, and all its realty in the
environs divided up among Saracens and former residents, or else
annexed to the realm. The Jews too, in all likelihood, were beneficiaries
of this land-division policy. Yet, with the restoration of Frank control,
Bishop Aribert and Pope Stephen must have hoped for the return of
the status quo ante and the restitution of its former property to the
church. Instead, both prelates had cause to lament that the Carolingian
kings ceded to “rebels of God” hereditary freeholds in both “towns
and suburbs,” and this on a grand scale, “within the boundaries and
territories of Christians,” that is, presumably, even lands that had
once belonged to the church.® .

This in itself may have been sufficient cause for -dismay. But it is
now clear that the Jews’ hereditary allodial tenure over considerable
areas was only the external feature of a highly privileged constitutional
status. Is it possible that this Jewish status was, as well, the root cause
for alarm ? Such a conclusion may also help to explain the epistle’s
reference to the Jews’ “blasphemous talk” in the presence of Christians.

The Addendum of ShK refers consistently to Makhir and his de-
scendants as a dynasty of princes (nesi’im) whose power and position
in Narbonne was virtually identical with that of the exilarchs of

33. See this text, pp. 50-58.

34. J. Régné has traced a villa Judaica in the Narbonnaise back to the sixth, and
possibly even fifth, century; Juifs de Narbonne, p. 172. Pepin evidently extended
also to conquered Aquitaine the policy of secularization of church property. The
Capitulary for Aquitaine of 768 is evidence for a “divisio” of ecclesiastical estates
there in §§ 3, 1, 11; See this text, p. 85, note 28. E. Lesne, Histoire de la propriété
ecclésiastique, 11, Part 1, 64.
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Babylonia: “Furthermore,.he (Makhir) and his dynasty were among
the leaders of their time, rulers [an allusion to Gen. 49:10] and judges
in all the lands, virtual exilarchs (k’mo rashé galiyot), shepherding
Israel with faithfulness and skifl.”

Several generations on two sides of Makhir’s dynasty bore the title
prince (nasi). Moreover, “There were in Narbonne great scholars,
Heads of the Academy, ordained [by] and obedient to the Principate
(lawsiut), as were the Heads of the Academies in Babylon to the
Exilarch (Prosh hagolah).”%®

This description of the power of the exilarchs of Babylonia fits the
actual situation only until the tenth century, by which time the ex-
ilarchs’ earlier very considerable power and authority over the ge’onim
had been circumscribed. Caliph Al-Mamun’s decree ca. 825 struck a
blow at the exilarch’s exclusive competence by permitting any ten
Jews (also Christians or Magians) to elect their own religious head.
The edict was considerably narrowed soon after; nevertheless the Gaon
Samuel b. ‘Ali assigns to the end of the ninth century the exilarchs’ fall
from monarchical power. In addition, the Academies of Sura and
Pumbeditha (latter located in Baghdad by the end of the tenth century)
began to challenge the far-flung authority of the exilarchs and, in time,
wrested from them the right to appoint judges in specified provinces.
In the end, the exilarchs retained control only in the Eastern Caliphate:
over Jewries in Babylonia, Persia, Khorasan, Yemen, and regions in
the Caucasus and Siberia, 3

But for the period from the middle of the seventh to the tenth
century, when the exilarchs of Baghdad functioned in fact as hereditary
monarchs of the Jewish nation throughout the Caliphate, the Jews
emphasized at every opportunity the regal dignity and monarchical
power of the exilarchic office. Michael Syrus remarks that Jews in the
Caliphate called their chiefs “kings” and these enjoyed hereditary
succession.®” The exilarchs referred to themselves as kings. One boasted
in the eighth century that he was the seventieth generation in direct
descent from King David, and that his fellow Jews recognized the pre-

35. See Appendix III, p. 385:48-49, this work; MJC, I, pp. 82-83.
36. S. W. Baron, History, V, pp. 9-13.
37. Ibid., p. 8.
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rogatives which his royal descent conferred. The elaborate pomp and
studied splendor of an exilarchic election and inauguration convey the
impression of a coronation. The chroniclers took especial delight in
elaborating on these ceremonies which, like Nathan the Babylonian in
the tenth century, they may have witnessed.?® Preceding the exilarch’s
inaugural address in the synagogue, the precentor’s introduction and
blessing emphasized the monarchial aspects of his office: “Our King,
our Prince, the great Prince, Head of the Dispersion of all Israel . . .
May his throne be established in mercy and may he sit upon it in
truth ... Let their King pass before them ... And a shoot shall
spring forth from the stock of Jesse . . . Praised be He who delightest
in thee to set thee upon Israel’s throne . . . May He establish thee as
King to do justice and the right.””%®

In consequence, it would be most natural-for the Jews of Narbonne
in the eighth century to speak of their exilarch in Baghdad as King,
and for the title resh galuta (“Head of the Exile,” “exilarch™) to be
translated rex Judeorum. Moreover, that exilarch’s son or other legiti-
mate prince of the Davidic family in Baghdad, who should be invited
to Narbonne in order to establish a principate here, would just as
readily acquire the title prince or king; especially if he had power
approximating that of the exilarch, as the “Appendix” in ShK claims
for the Nasi of Narbonne. Moreover, it was no unusual practice for
the Carolingian rulers to recognize as “kings” certain chieftains of
foreign peoples within their empire, provided these ‘“commended”
themselves into the hands of the sovereigns.

According to Odegaard, an act of commendation was the accepted
form by which foreign or semi-independent princes would place them-
selves under Carolingian suzerainty. Commendation assured loyalty to
the sovereign and involved subjection only of an honorable nature.
We may conclude that this permitted the foreign chieftain to retain his
rank and status vis 3 vis his own subjects. Thus Witzin, prince of the

38. MJC, 11, pp. 77-88; A. Epstein, “Sources for the History of the Geonim and
the Babylonian Academies,” Hebrew section, pp. 164-74; S. W. Baron, History,
VI, 214; 430-31. 1. Goldziher, “Renseignements de source musulmane,” REJ o.s.,
VIII (1884), 125 (an exilarch of the seventieth generation since David).

39. S. Assaf, “Portions of a Benediction for the Exilarch Hisdai b. David,”
(Hebrew), Ginzé Kedem, IV (1930), 63-64.
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Slavic Abodriti, while in the service of Charlemagne retained the title
king until the day of his death in 795: vassum domni regis Wizzin regem
Abotridarum. In some sources, Witzin is entitled princeps or dux. In the
course of a military expedition into Saxon territory in 789, Charlemagne
granted peace to several Slavic kings after they had placed their lands
under his domination and commended themselves to him. There is little
doubt that they retained their titles afterward as in the instance of
Witzin. Zatun, prefect of Barcelona, commended himself and his city to
Charlemagne in 797. He doubtless continued to govern Barcelona in his
former capacity, only now he was the fidelis of the Frankish King.
Harold, exiled King of the Danes, commended himself into the hands of
Louis the Pious in 814 and certainly retained his title for whatever it was
worth. For another instance of a princedom within the empire, there is
the act of Charles the Bald who permitted Respogius Duke of Brittany
to retain what was virtually a separate realm, after he had performed
the act of commendation to his sovereign. Throughout the period of
Carolingian dominance in Gascony there ruled here the Aznars, a
family of native dukes or princes (principes), who held authority over
this region by hereditary right. In 850 and 852 Sédnchez is called dux
of Gascony. According to Lewis the office of count and especially
duke (equivalent of prince) in the Midi of the Carolingians conferred
the authority of a sub-king on its possessor.#

Just such a relationship of commendation may have been entered
into by the Jews of Narbonne with the Carolingians.2 The mandates

40. C. E. Odegaard, Vassi and Fideles in the Carolingian Empire, pp. 4-5, 61; on
Witzin pp. 38-40 and notes; on the others pp. 61-63. On Gascony, A. R. Lewis,
Southern French and Catalan Society, p. 104; on comital authority, pp. 53-55.

41. In the Gesta, Charlemagne says to the Jews “ego vos recipio in mei juridictione
et custodia,” p. 178, line 2350. According to Odegaard, op. cir., pp. $; 134, note 201;
p. 137, note 224, a shortened expression like suscipere might be used in a technical
sense to express the act of the seigneur when establishing the relationship of com-
mendatio and fidelitas. Also, men who commended themselves for service to the
king were commonly called fideles, ibid., p. 56. Among these were various foreign
princes who admitted their subservience to the Carolingian king, ibid., p. 68. In a
broad sense, fideles included all who were faithful to the ¢hurch and to the king. In
a more limited sense, the term designated a much narrower group of men who
actually approached the king and served him. Many texts suggest a connection
between royal service and fideles, ibid., pp. 54-55, 292-96.
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of Emperor Louis le Débonnaire ca. 825 in fact designate as com-
mendatio the relationship between sovereign and Jews.® There is an
unanticipated consequence of the establishment of a Jewish princedom
in southern Frankia in the eighth century, to which we must now turn.
The anxiety of Bishop Aribert and Pope Stephen was probably directly
related to the rise of such a domain in Septimania.

For theological reasons the Davidic ancestry and monarchical power
of the exilarchs were of vital importance to Jews, especially in Christian
lands. For they would point to the rule of a Jewish king as corroborative
evidence that Messiah had not yet come. Thereby they could under-
mine the Christian claim for the Messiahship of Jesus. They derived
such a conclusion from the traditional exegesis of Genesis 49:10. “The
scepter (of royal power) shall not depart from Judah, nor the ruler’s
staff from between his feet until Shiloh €ometh.” Jewish tradition
referred the “‘scepter” to the monarchy of the Babylonian exilarchs,
while the “ruler’s staff” symbolized the quasi-royal sway of the
patriarchs of Roman Palestine, both of whom claimed Davidic (Juda-
hic) lineage. They were expected to yield up their rule only to King-

42. All the Jews who are the beneficiaries of the royal acts cited stand in the
relationship of commendatio and are designated fideles in some form:

a) Abraham of Saragossa: “ad nostram veniens praesentiam, in manibus nostris
se commendavit, et enam sub sermone tuitionis nostre recepimus ac retinemus . ..
liceat illi sub mundeburdo_et defensione nostra quiete vivere et partibus palatii
nostri fideliter deservire;'; Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 52, p. 3259, 10, 16,
17.

b) Rabbi Domatus and his nephew Samuel: “notum sit, quia istos Hebreos,
Domatum rabbi et Samuelem, nepotem eius, sub nostra defensione suscepimus
ac retinemus . . .. Et hoc vobis notum esse volumus, ut iam, quia suprascriptos
Hebreos sub mundeburdo et defensione nostra suscepimus, quicunque in morte
eorum, quamdiu nobis fideles extiterint ....” Ibid., no. 30, p. 309:4-5, 28;
p. 310:1-2.

¢) David, Joseph, and their peers in Lyons: “sub nostra defensione suscepimus ac
retinemus . .. liceat eis sub mundeburdo et defensione nostra quiete vivere et
partibus palatii nostri fideliter deservire .... Et hoc omnibus vobis notum esse
volumus [the rest is identical with the preceding formulal.” Ibid., no. 31, p. 310:9,
32-35.

The last two formulae are dated before 825.
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Messiah (“Shiloh”) when he should come.®* Consequently, as long as
a Jewish prince exercised monarchical power, the Jews could claim that
Messiah had not yet come. In this way, they adduced a political reality
as support for their rejection of Christianity. That political reality
could also be utilized for any influence they might exert on the thinking
of Christians.

Apparently referring to this doctrine, Jerome (340-420), who lived
in Palestine and was acquainted with Jewish interpretation of Scripture,
stated: “Fews say: The Lord swore that a leader or prince of the seed
of David will not fail among them. [Claiming] this is now their Patri-
archs, they say: Behold, unto this day has the Lotd-kept His promise
unto us.”4

Later Christian prelates were by no means so noncommittal about
this Jewish claim in the light of its theological implications for the
Messiahship of Jesus. Thus Isidore, Bishop of Seville (600-36): “With
persistent and shameless effrontery, the Jews say that this Time is not
yet fulfilled, claiming that a king (I know not whom) of the tribe of
Judah possesses a kingdom in the far distant East.” Similarly, Julian
of Toledo, attacking the Jews in 686, repeated this statement almost
verbatim.4®

43, The traditional exegesis of Genesis 49:10 in Talmud babli Sanhedrin 5a:
1735 PRI » -23V3 SR Ak PPTINR 53330 Aha o Ok <At vaD MY KO >
«av393 0 Pmdne S%n bv 1133 %3 e «»bay For a similar passage, Horayot
11b; cf. A. Posnanski, Schiloh, 1, pp. 28-34. The numerical value of the letters
“Shiloh cometh’* nb v nav equals the gematria of *Messiah™ nvon, namely 358.

44. “Tudaei dicunt, quod Dominus cum iuramento promiserit, ut de semine
David non deficiat in eis dux sive princeps, quod nunc patriarchae eorum et dicunt:
Ecce usque hodie custodit Dominus iuramentum suum nobis.” Sancti Hieronomi
presbyteri Tractatus sive Homiliae in Psalmos . . . De Psalmo LXXXVIII, Arecdota
Maredsolana, 111, 3 (ed. G. Morin), pp. 51-52.

45. Isidore of Seville in discussing Genesis 49:10 declares that the coming of
Jesus coincided with the disappearance of native Jewish kings of Judah’s tribe,
De fide catholica, 1, 8, 2, PL, LXXXIII, col. 464 (see editor’s note here on Julian
of Toledo). He then says: “Iudaei autem pervicacia impudicae frontis dicunt non-
dum esse id tempus expletum, mentientes nescio quem regem ex genere Judae in
extremis Orientis partibus regnum tenere.” Julian of ‘Toledo repeats the same
arguments at somewhat greater length, De comprobatione aetatis sexta contra
Judaeos. 1, 19-21, PL, XCVI, col. 552-54. S. Katz properly identifies this king as
the Exilarch in Babylonia, Jews in . . . Spain and Gaul, pp. 77-78; cf. B. Blumen-
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In the Carolingian Age Paschase Radbert, Abbot of Corbie until
his death in 865, interpreted Genesis 49:10 as follows: “There shall not
lack a prince of Judah nor a duke of his loins, until there comes he to
whom it has been promised instead.”

Attacking the Jews’ claim of a king in the East substantially in the
same words as did Isidore of Seville and Julian of Toledo, Paschase
continues in an endeavor to refute any notion that a king of the Jews
might have a genuine realm also closer to home and in his own time
(Frankia ca. 790 to 856-59):

There remains then no room for thinking, [Paschase charges in his Com-
mentary on Matthew], that in any part of the earth whatsoever they might
now have a king of the tribe of Judah since the prophet (Hosea 3:4) when
he promised the children of Israel shall dwell without altar and without sacrifice
concluded thus without king and without prince. Let them therefore show us
temple and sacrifice or altar, then we shall be able to believe them in certain
measure that perhaps they may have a king. Otherwise they are merely
drawing the darkness of blindness over the perverseness of their mind.
Especially since even if any king should now exist of the tribe of Judah,
as they feign, they cannot deny that at that time [of Jesus’ birth] he did
not . . . . Furthermore, if now, as they say, some one has been found of their
people who might hold a realm somewhere or other (which moreover has
not been proven) it stands manifest that at that time a duke did not exist
of Judah.+ ’ -~

kranz, Les Auteurs chrétiens, p. 92, note 28. From another angle Isidore Bishop
of Seville endeavored to demolish the Jews’ argument based on a Jewish monarchy
by claiming that Domitian had massacred every descendant of David, Chronicon,
MGH, Auctores Antiquissimi, XI, p. 457; cf. Fredegarius, (Pseudo-)Chronicon, 1I,
p. 37, MGH, Scriptores rerum Merovingicarum, II, 61; B. Blumenkranz, op. cit.,
pp. 101-02.

46. “Nullus igitur eis restat locus mentiendi, quod in quibusdam partibus terrae
de tribu Juda nunc habeant regem, quia propheta, sicut pollicitus est, Sedebunt
filii Israel sine altari et sine sacrificio, ita interminatus est, sine rege ac sine principe.
Ostendant ergo nobis templum et sacrificium, aut altare: tunc eis quodammodo
credere valebimus, quod fortassis habeant regem. Alioquin sibi obducunt pervicaci
mentis ingenio caliginem caecitatis. Cum praesertim si aliquis nunc, ut ipsi fingunt,
de tribu Juda rex existeret, negare non possunt, quod tunc defecerit ... etiamsi
punc, ut aiunt, aliquis invenitur ex eis qui regnum teneat alicubi (quod penitus non
probatur), manifeste constat tunc ducem ex Juda ideo defecisse.” S. Paschasii
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The implications of a Jewish principate as challenge for the Messiah-
ship of Jesus explain the caustic remarks of Peter the Venerable of
Cluny before 1143. In his attack Peter derisively demanded of them, on
the basis of Genesis 49:10, to produce a king of the House of Judah or,
at the least, a duke. Continuing, he declared: “As for me, I will not
accept that king (as something worthy of ridicule) whom some of you
claim to have in Narbonne, the city in Gaul, others in Rouen. I will
not accept a Jew as King of the Jews except one residing in and ruling
the Kingdom of the Jews [namely, Palestine].”4

This document is older than any of the Hebrew sources discussed
above and also antedates the compilation of the Gesta by more than a
century. Hence, it is independent of all of these. Nevertheless, by the
twelfth century the Nasi of Narbonne had surrendered most of the
real power he possessed in the Carolingian Age.

Initiating the charge of ritual murder in 1144 against the Jews of
Norwich, the Cambridge monk Theobald, a convert from Judaism,
declared: “Wherefore the chief men (/ir. princes, principes) and Rabbis
of the Jews who dwell in Spain assemble together at Narbonne, where
the Royal seed [resides), and where they are held in the highest esti-
mation (et eorum maxime uiget gloria) . . . .”%

The Frank kings’ cession of considerable allodial lands*® to Frank-

Radberti, Expositio in Matthaeum, Liber 1, caput 1, PL, CXX, col. 57A-B. On
Paschase see Wattenbach-Levison, Deutschlands Geschichtsquellen, 111, 340-43.

47. Tractatus adversus Judaeorum inveteratam duritiem, PL, CLXXXIX, col. 560:
“Produc igitur mihi de propagine Judae regem, aut si hoc non potes, saltem ostende
ducem. Sed non ego, ut aliquid ridendum ponam, regum illum suscipiam, quem
quidam tuorum apud Narbonam, Galliae urbem, alii apud Rothomagum se habere
fatentur . ... Non suscipiam Judaeum pro rege Judaeorum, nisi habitantem et
regnantem in regno Judaeorum.” Cf. L. Loeb, “Polémistes chrétiens et juifs,” REJ,
XVII (1889), 45.

48. Thomas of Monmouth, The Life and Miracles of St. William of Norwich,
ed. and tr. A. Jessopp and M. R, James, p. 94; see S. W, Baron, History, IV, p. 135,
306.

49. D. McMillan notes a significant distinction between allodial land and the
march. The former is frontier territory which stands outside the royal or imperial
domain. The march, on the other hand, is frontier territory which constitutes the
last bastion of the royal domain; La Chanson Guillaume, 11, Notes critiques, p. 134.
Cf. p. 82, note 21, this work.
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land Jewry’s nasi in 768 may be understood from a somewhat different
viewpoint now. From the standpoint of bishop and pope, at stake here
and the cause of their extreme alarm was not merely a grant of land
however extensive and free of dues. Rather, the theological implications
involved in establishing a Jewish princedom, to be ruled over by a
member of the Jewish royal house, drove both prelates to distraction.
This prince (nasi) upon whom the Jews conferred royal honors, and
who now enjoyed noble rank and princely status by consent of the
Carolingian sovereigns, was living evidence in the midst of Christian
territory that the “scepter” had not indeed departed from Judah and
hence Messiah was not yet come! It may be imagined how such
“blasphemy” (promoted by act of the Frankish kings) would agitate
any supervisory bishop and pope and cause extreme mortification as
they saw Christians serving in Jews’ homes and “polluted day and
night with their words of blasphemy.”5¢

Now this exegesis of Genesis 49:10 reappears in a Hebrew work of
the ninth century in a somewhat altered form which, however, has
significance for our study. In place of the exilarchs of Babylonia and
the patriarchs (nesi’im) of Palestine an unidentified Makhir emerges
as the wielder of royal power whose arrival, moreover, has caused
extreme anguish to the gentiles: “The scepter [symbol of royal power]
shall not depart from Judah™: this refers to Makhir. ‘Nor the ruler’s
staff from between his feet”: [Makhir] has-come, and we will continue
to prostrate ourselves before him *“until Shiloh cometh: namely, King
Messiah. “And because of him there is gnashing (yikhat) of teeth
among the peoples™: {Makhir] has come and causes gnashing of teeth
(makheh: “sets teeth on edge,” a word-play on yikhat, but perhaps
also on the name Makhir) to the gentiles.5

50. See this text, pp. 50-58.

51. 19> 1537 2305 LINAN RIT « PHIY PP PPINGY » PIB AT < ATVR VIV ND? R »
-0%UR MBI ST P APM R KND DMWY ANPY W1 s MUEHN TOR M <P RIY D
Bereschit Rabba mit kritischem Apparat und Kommentar ed. Ch. Albeck, III,
Chapter XCVIII, 8, pp. 1185, 1258-59. The editor identifies this passage as a late
comment taken from Midrash Tanhuma; cf. M. Margel, Der Segen Jakobs,
p. 38. M. Lerner, Anlage und Quellen des Bereschit Rabba, offprint from Magazin
fiir die Wissenschaft des Judenthums (Berlin 1882) discusses the role played by
copyists who freely made additions, embellishments, and changes in the text.

L. Zunz dates the composition of the Tanhuma in the ninth century and locates
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Students of the Midrash have been unable to understand this
reference to Makhir. They have searched for a biblical personality but
could make no sense of the comment, since no known biblical Makhir
is identified as a descendant of King David.5? Yet the exegesis clearly
claims for Makhir legitimacy as the heir of monarchical power. An
individual must be intended who is contemporaneous with the author
of this exegetical comment. Since the compiler of the Midrash Tanhuma,
the source of this exegesis, is located in southern Europe in the ninth
century, it is probable that we have here a reference to Makhir of Nar-
bonne. The intent of the exegesis would then be the following: Genesis
49:10 may be interpreted as referring to Makhir who is the legitimate
heir of monarchical power in Western Jewry in our day. To the end of
time, we will ever be loyal to him and his descendants as our rulers.5

its author in Greece or southern Italy. He describes the style of the author as
similar to that of Meshullam b. Kalonymos, Ha-Derashot beYisrael (Gottesdienst-
liche Vortrige der Juden) (2nd ed. [Frankfort 1892] edited and enlarged by Hanokh
Albeck, 2nd ed. Jerusalem 1954), p. 111; cf. pp. 123-24.

On gnashing of teeth in the Messianic Age see Luke 13:28.

52. Bereschit Rabba ed. Ch. Albeck, loc. cit.

53. Genesis 49:10 was so understood in Arab Spain, where as late as 1011 it was
the subject of debate between Samuel haNagid and the Arab theologian Ibn Hazm.
Samuel claimed that the exilarchs still fulfilled the conditions of the verse, since
they were of the lineage of Judah and wielded actual power. Ibn Hazm maintained
(with greater accuracy for the eleventh century), that the power of the exilarchs was
only nominal over Jews, let alone over anyone else; J. Schirmann, “Samuel Hanna-
gid, the Man, the Soldier, the Politician,” JSS, XIII (1951), 101-02; cf. A. Pos-
nanski, Schiloh, pp. 105-06 and the references there. In the same century, Nissim of
Marsecilles repeated the traditional identification of exilarchic rule with Judah’s
scepter. He proceeded to declare the obligation of his generation to select a prince
of the Davidic House as their ruler, to whose authority they must defer “so that he
may have grandeur and government and no one may rebel against his words”;
J. H. Schorr, “R. Nissim of Marseilles,” He-Haluts, VII (1865), 110, It may be
doubted, however, whether this prince was the Babylonian exilarch. More likely, he
was a regional potentate closer to home. The Jews had to make their peace with
the reality that by the fateful eleventh century the Rosh golah in Babylonia exercised
only a shadow authority, limited to the East. For the Jews of the West, the Biblical
verse underwent a remarkable transformation. The “scepter” had not yet in
fact departed from Judah, they maintained, because every Jewish head of a family
was still a king in his own household.
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His advent® has caused extreme anguish to the Christians. The last
sentence of the exegesis recalls again the acrimony and mortification
evident in Pope Stephen’s epistle. But the passage as a whole reflects
such intense loyalty and spontaneous satisfaction as to suggest that it
may have been part of an address or poem chanted at the ceremony
of inauguration of Makhir the Nasi of Western Jewry.5

A probable basis then for the distraction pervading Stephen’s com-
munication was the autonomous domain and monarchical rank con-
ferred upon the Nasi of the West by act of the Frank kings Pepin,
Charles and Carloman. The theological implications of a Jewish
monarchy, even that of a vassal princedom, alarmed and distracted
bishop and pope especially in the face of active “blasphemous’ Jewish
claims. )

In the following year, 769, a legate of Pope Stephen III, Sergius by

54. Cf. the undated Midrash to Genesis: “The scepter shall not depart from
Judah, this is kingship. Nor the ruler's staff, this is Nasi. Until when? Until Shiloh
cometh, until Nasi comes and restores kingship to David.”
cx APV K1Y 0D T POAD TP ROV AT« PP » MDD NP ATV VIV O KD »
1> madEn v ez w3 o 1 A, Jellinek, “Hagada zur Genesis,” Bet
ha-Midrasch, IV (2nd ed.; [reprinted] Jerusalem 1938), p. 113. Kasher identifies
this as a passage from the Aggadat B’reshit, M. M. Kashef, Torah Shelemah (Com-
plete Torah), Part VII, vol. 8 (Jerusalem 569871937-38), p. 1807, no. 145. A. Pos-
nanski dates Aggadatr B'reshit in the thirteenth century, Schiloh, I, p. 45; but the
comment is doubtless older. Zunz assigns no specific date but places it later than
the comment on Genesis 49:10 translated here, p. 97, note 51, Ha-Derashot be-
Yisrael ed. H. Albeck, p. 124. The Midrash B’reshit of Moses haDarshan, who
lived in eleventh-century Narbonne, lacks the comment referring to Makhir in his
exegesis of Genesis 49:10; cf. Midrash B'reshit Rabbati nosad al sifro shel R. Moshe
haDarshan ed. Hanokh Albeck (Jerusalem 5700/1940-41), p. 239:5-9. However,
all his comments have not been preserved and this one did not originate with him.
Moreover, see this text, p. 164, on the Makhiri family in the eleventh century.
See Judges 5:14.

55. May we detect here a Hebrew equivalent of the /audes, ceremonial accla-
mations called out alternately by leader and folk at an imperial coronation according
to a fixed text, wishing the ruler, his family, and army well-being and victory ?
P. E. Schramm, Der Kénig von Frankreich, 1 (2nd ed. rev.), 36; K. Heldmann, Das
Kaisertum Karls des Grossen, pp. 262-69; formulae pp. 284-89, When coronations
followed a fixed form, the laudes were voiced by one or two chanters, and the schola
or choir responded; E. H. Kantorowicz, Laudes Regiae, p. 84.
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name, came into Frankia. Although it is reported that he accomplished
his mission to perfection, the only item mentioned is permission from
kings Charles and Carloman for several Frank bishops to attend a
council in Rome.*® One would expect a discussion of Stephen’s com-
plaint about the establishment of a principate for the Jews. Was Sergius
told that his mentor’s predecessor Stephen I had been advised of these
plans ? The Gesta, it will be recalled, reports papal consent and barons’
approval of that institution.’” Can it be that the Diet of Quierzy,®
which in 754 approved of the Pepin-Stephen pact, also endorsed the
proposed Jewish princedom in the Southland and its role for the con-
quest of Spain? Pepin’s insistence on a principality for the Jewish
exilarch in the Frankish realm might then in some way be related to
his grant of a papal principality in the Exarchate of Ravenna. The
forgery of the Constitution of Constantine took place in this period.
The Constitution assigned to the successor of Peter in Rome first rank
in the entire world, more especially in the West. He was the sovereign
pontiff, the universal bishop, first of the bishops of the earth who
decided all questions of Christian discipline and faith.®® Is it pure
coincidence that the plans to establish a principate in the West for a
Jewish exilarch (who was to rule as the successor of King David over
a spiritual realm that included all Western Jews) coincided with these
ambitions in Rome ?

There exists then some evidence for the conclusion that King Pepin
and his sons set aside a domain in southern Frankia as a Jewish
princedom in the year 768. Its ruler or governor (nasi, patriarch) was
Natronai-Makhir, a former Exilarch of the Jews in Baghdad and a
scholar-prince of the royal House of David. In this capacity he would

56. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. Karl dem Grossen, 1, 63.

57. “Et Karolus concessit eis omnia, que petierant, et recepit pecuniam . . .. Et
Karolus et dominus papa erant propter adventum Judeorum congregati et omnes
alii barones de exercitu”; F. Ed. Schneegans (ed.), Gesta, p. 180:2363-64; 2367-69.

The testimony of the Gesta may, of course, be relegated to the realm of fantasy.
But then we have to explain why a thirteenth-century monk should fabricate out of
whole cloth papal assent to the establishment of a vassal Jewish principate in
Narbonne.

58. L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher . .. Pippin, Chapter IX, pp. 129 ff.

59. See this text, pp. 30-31, notes 59-60, and references there.
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legitimize the autonomous existence of Jews in Frankia living under
their own law by conferring his divinely-ordained authority on local
community leaders. Both Abbasid Caliph and Carolingian King colla-
borated in this project; and it is possible that a pope at Rome gave his
assent. A later pontiff, Stephen III, unaware of, or objecting to, any
such agreement reacted violently when apprised of the actual cession of
allodial lands to the Jewish nasi, including perhaps former church
possessions. Pope Stephen’s thunderous response provides striking
confirmation of these startling events in the year 768 in Frankia.

But now for quite another, yet related, reason the signs point to the

year 768 as an extremely significant time for Jewry in the Frankish
realm.



5

The Apocalypse Aggadat Rabbi
Ishmael Proclaims King-Messiah
for 768

The year 768 was significant from still another and surprising aspect:
in 768, King-Messiah was expected! Jews had greeted the collapse of
Byzantine power in Palestine and Syria before the onward rush of the
Arabs! as the fall of Edom (Byzantine Rome), the “Fourth Kingdom™?
of the Daniel apocalypse. The triumphs of monotheistic Islam released
Palestine from Edom’s sway; there were even rumored promises of the
restoration of the Temple Mount to Jewish control. The Holy Land’s
conqueror ‘Umar encouraged an influx of Jewish immigrants to
Palestine and renewed former privileges: The “signs” pointed to the
early redemption of Israel through the intervention of a benign, but
of course only temporary, “fifth” kingdom. So the “Calculators of
the End,” in this instance the author of the Book of Zerubbabel ® com-

1. On the Messianic signs and the hopes that were aroused with the end of
Byzantine rule and the Arab conquest of Palestine, J. Even Shemuel, Midreshé
Ge’ulah (Medieval Apocalypses), pp. 162-70, and the bibliography there. Cf. S. W.
Baron, History, V, p. 141, 354-55,

2. J. Even Shemuel, Midreshé Ge‘ulah, Introduction p. {1/, note 15.

3. The Book of Zerubbabel, ibid., pp. 56-88.

102



Aggadat Rabbi Ishmael Proclaims King-Messiah for 768 103

puted and concluded that the year 638 was the long-promised and
yearned-for date of Messiah. In this year shall be completed the “one
day” (i.e. a thousand years; cf. Psalm 90:4 “a thousand years in Thy
sight are as a day ...”) allotted for the sway of the Empires over
Israel. Simultaneously shall end the 700 years assigned for Edom’s
rule (from the time Pompey occupied Jerusalem in 63 B.C.E.).

In fact, the apocalypse identifies the date of Messiah exactly: he will
come at the end of 990 years since the rebuilding of the Second Temple
under Zerubbabel, fixed by tradition in 352 B.C.E. This set the advent
of Messiah in 638 C.E.4

The reestablishment of the Jewish monarchy under Bustanai the

4. The thousand years (“one day”) of foréign domination were distributed as
follows: Babylon held sway 70 years, Persia-Medea 52, Greece 180. This was
rounded off to a total of 300, leaving 700 years for the Fourth Kingdom of Edom
(Rome); J. E. Shemuel, ibid., p. 66, note 66; p. 146.

Another calculation also yielded 700 years as the period of Rome’s domination.
This was found in Daniel’s reference to “seventy weeks” of punishment and atone-
ment (Daniel 9:24). The Aggadat Rabbi Ishmael interprets this number as the 700
years of Edont’s hegemony of tribulation for Israel following the destruction of the
Temple.

The thousand years “one day” calculation had no applicability after the middle
of the seventh century, when its time ran out. However, the span of 700 years of
Edom-Rome’s sway was still held to be valid, The original terminus a quo of Baby-
lonian domination had to be given up. The destruction of the Second Temple became
available as a new a quo, set by tradition in 68 C.E. The date of Pompey’s occupation
of Jerusalem (63 B.C.E.) may also have been drawn upon as the start of Rome’s
domination, although the traditional date of the latter was 112 B.C.E., T. b. Sabbath
152 — Swwe 5y (nvwan) moden avep n3a 3on kY TP M op

As each “end” came and went with no palpable result, a new *“end” would be
calculated when the “signs” appeared to warrant it. In consequence, with alteration
of the “signs” and of the darkly hinted at calculations, a basic apocalyptic text
could also serve a later generation. The 700 years in Sefer Zerubbabel may, in fact,
be an interpolation of the eighth century, pointing to 768.

Another date manipulated to calculate the advent of Messiah is the period of
890 years, corresponding to the time from the Exodus to the destruction of the First
Temple; G. D. Cohen, “Story of the Four Captives,” PAAJR, XXIX (1960-61),
104, note 150, and bibliography there. As this period of time lapsed and Messiah
still delayed, an additional century was successively appended, as in our text.
Eventually, Bodo-Eleazar the proselyte awaited Messiah at the end of 1390 years,
corresponding to 867-68 or 869-70 C.E.; see this text, p. 283, note 60.
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Exilarch ca. 637,5 himself descended of King David, must have placed
a solid foundation under such Messianic hopes. To be sure, if Israel
is “meritorious,” then Messiah ben David comes at once. Otherwise,
Messiah ben Joseph, of whom the archetype is Zerubbabel, grandson
of King Yekhonya (Yehoiakhin) of Judah and the first exilarch, rules
until the destined hour, when Messiah ben David does in fact appear.®
The hopes for Messianic redemption in the seventh century were of
course doomed to frustration. In place of the Temple, a Muslim shrine
was erected on the Temple Mount.? Instead of bringing an end to the
Exile, the seventh century ushered in a period of annihilation for the
Jews of the far West, of Visigothic Spain, and Frankish Gaul. The
climax was reached under King Egica the Visigoth. He made it im-
possible for any but true Christians to carry on trade, or travel for
commercial purposes. His call for the enslavement of the Jews of his
kingdom (except for Septimania) was endorsed by the XVII Council of
Toledo (694). Egica also ordered an enforced sale of their property to the
state and an increase of taxes to make up for income lost in taxation
as the result of the forced conversion of other Jews. He instituted
the removal of Jewish children from the age of seven, who were to be
placed in Christian homes and subsequently married to Christians.®

5. A. D. Goode, “The Exilarchate in the Eastern Caliphate 637-1258,” JOR,
XXXIT (1940-41), 154, 169. The ascension of Bustanai in the very year that the
dominion of the Fourth Kingdom was calculated to end was perhaps no accident.

6. The two Messiahs, ben Joseph (Ephraim) whose symbolic name is Nehemiah
ben Hushiel; and Messiah ben David whose symbolic name is Menahem ben
‘Amiel, J. Even Shemuel, Midreshé Ge’ulah, pp. 33-x3, §7-59, 75 (the meaning of
the names), 77-78, 109, n. 1, and passim. But the names are not always strictly
distinguished from one another, ibid., p. 107 where Menahem ben ‘Amiel is Messiah
ben Joseph. A piyyut (liturgical poem) on the two Messiahs, ibid., p. 108; cf. A.
Posnanski, Schiloh, Part I, p. 124, note, and the references there, including Talmudic
citations. Messiah ben Joseph will be killed by the enemies of Israel but Messiah
ben David will resurrect him and all the dead, Sefer Zerubbabel in J. Even Shemuel,
Midreshé Ge’'ulah, pp. 83-84. The two-Messiahs theory also served the purpose of
an anti-Christianity polemic since, at best, Jesus crucified is only ben Joseph and
not the genuine ben David.

7. J. Even Shemuel, ibid., p. 169.

8. S. Katz, Jews in ... Spain and Gaul, pp. 20-21; J. Parkes, The Conflict, pp.
366-68, 385.
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But then a sudden crumbling of Visigothic power opened the flood
gates of the Muslim invasion. From 711 to 742 all of Spain and
southern France beyond the Pyrenees as far as Lyons fell under
Saracen domination.® The Visigothic Kingdom was swept away; the
Merovingians were a dynasty of “do-nothings.” Was the end of Edom
at hand, the Fourth Kingdom of Daniel?

An anonymous commentary on the Book of Daniel,)® the unfailing
wellspring of inspiration for the “Calculators of the End,” computed
the year of redemption and arrived at the familiar 700th year of the
rule of Edom. Although there may be doubt as to when to calculate
the start of such domination, every eighth-century reader would under-
stand this to mean the 700th year reckoned from the destruction of
the Second Temple, and therefore pointing to only one date—768.
Around 750, this date must have appéared most promising indeed.
The Arab House of Umayya went down to utter destruction (only
later did ‘Abd ar-Rahman’s escape become known). Nor was the
successor House of ‘Abbasid at all stable. With Edom passing and
Ishmael tottering, the “signs” were apparent on all sides. Nor did a
writer fail to arise with an apocalypse which revealed the date of
redemption as the fated year 768.1

The apocalypse entitled 4ggadat Rabbi Ishmael opens with the Tanna
Rabbi Ishmael reporting that he had set himself to determine the end!
He laid his supplication before God,-overcome by the taunts of the

9. The expansion of Saracen domination in Spain and southern France, H. W.
Hazard, Atlas of Islamic History, p. 8; see this text, p. 87, note 32.

10. L. Zunz, Gesammelte Schriften, 111, p. 226, note 1 from Munich MS Codex 5,
folio 214.

11. Among the “messiahs” who actually made their appearance at this time were
Abu Isa in Isfahan (685-705); Serini ca. 720; Judgan, pupil of Abu Isa, first half
of the eighth century. Pirké de R. Eliezer (composed ca. 700) supplies the name of
Messiah. He is Yinnon (after T. b. Sanhedrin 98b) or else Menahem b. ‘Amiel,
and his advent was set for ca. 729 (ch. 32, 19, and 29). The Targum (Aramaic
paraphrase composed ca. 800) to I Chronicles 3:24 implies that an exilarch may be
King-Messiah, when it identifies ‘Anani (the last descendant of the Exilarch Zerub-
babel listed in the Bible text here) as King-Messiah. The Tanhuma to Genesis
chapter 14 (ninth century) similarly identifies ‘Anani as Messiah. A. Posnanski,
Schiloh, p. 40; J. Even Shemuel, Midreshé Ge’ulah, p. 173; A. H. Silver, A History
of Messianic Speculation in Israel, pp. 55-56.
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nations who scoff: Why has the Lord smitten Israel and cast them off
from before Him ? Only because of their mighty sin has He come to
abhor them and reject them, nor will He restore them ever.

Then there came to Ishmael the comforting answer that the dominion
of the gentiles was limited to but “one day,” and that much only
because of Israel’s idolatry and rejection of God (not the reverse).
Israel had been rebellious for seven hundred years under their kings
and other leaders. The extent of their subjection would be equivalent
to this period of time. Their princes would be killed, their kings
destroyed as divine punishment. The prophecy of Hosea 3:4 will be
fulfilled against them. In addition, Israel will be made bereft of their
youths and stripped of their infants, while their elders bend low under
the yoke. They will be handed over into the power of a “boorish
nation,” one which has no divine sanction to rulership.

Nevertheless, Ishmael relates, he received the assurance that the
division of the nations (into conflicting religions) and their great
hatred for one another (MS Munich: namely, Edom and Ishmael) will
prevent the utter destruction of God’s people Israel. God will also
raise up against Israel a king whose edicts will be harsh as Haman’s,
yet will Israel return to Him (and thus show themselves worthy of
redemption).

Now Rabbi Ishmael endeavored to calculate the End. He could not
satisfactorily compute the years of Edom’s sway, until in a trance he
heard a Voice that the End was at the completion of seven hundred
years of Temple ruin. Ishmael protested that he could find no scriptural
basis for this calculation. But the Voice called again and he searched
in Daniel (9:24) and discovered the prophecy that after seventy weeks
(700 years) of atonement will come the redemption and restoration.
So he now reveals that at the termination of seven hundred years of
punishment for Israel and Jerusalem (i.e. of Exile and Temple ruin,
namely in the year 768) will come Messiah and restore the Holy of
Holies.!* The visionary who composed and presumably broadcast this

12. The text of Aggadat Rabbi Ishmael is reprinted by J. Even Shemuel, Midreshé
Geulah, pp. 148-52. J. Even Shemuel tends to set the place of composition of
apocalypses generally in Israel. In this instance, he has to admit that although the
End is fixed for 768, the apocalypse lacks an Islamic background such as would be
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apocalypse obviously expected the End in the year 768. But where
and under what circumstances did he live ?

The clues to this problem are the following:

(1) The taunts of the nations. These are typical of polemical Chris-
tian literature. The taunts of the Christians were fully expressed as
early as Chrysostom (late fourth century) who summarized the views
of his predecessors: God hates the Jews. Since their murder of Jesus
He allows them no time for repentance. Their misfortunes are due to
the wrath of God and His absolute rejection of them. God will never
allow the Jews to rebuild their Temple or return to Jerusalem.!® Rabbi
Ishmael’s citations therefore point to a land of Christian culture as the
background of his apocalypse. Furthermore, the passage Hosea 3:4,1¢
but especially the Daniel reference of “seventy weeks” to which our
author refers so hesitantly, are treated at length by Julian Archbishop
of Toledo in his polemical work against the Jews.}* He calculates the

expected of mid-eighth century Israel. His suggestion for an early seventh-century
date of composition (at the end of the Byzantine period) is not warranted by the
“signs” which he fails to identify, p. 147. A seventh-century datg “of composition,
furthermore, would nullify the obvious intent of a propaganda piece which is to fix
the End at a relatively short interval after the.composition of the apocalypse.

13. J. Parkes, The Conflict, p. 165, on Chrysostom; for anti-Jewish views from
Tertullian through Augustine, see B. Blumenkranz, Die Judenpredigt Augustins,
pp. 9-181. e

14. Hosea 3:4 is also used as a proof text by Isidore of Seville and many others,
including Julian of Toledo (for whom see this study immediately below). Isidor of
Seville (d. 636), De fide Catholica contra Judaeos 1, 8 in PL, LXXXIII, col. 464;
German translation in A. Posnanski, Schiloh, pp. 302-03.

15. The relevant sections from Julian of Toledo, De comprobatione (composed
686), PL, XCVI, col. 545-56; also in A. Posnanski, op. cit., pp. 310-12 in German
translation. Julian’s work intended to refute the Jewish polemic that Jesus cannot
be the true Messiah because the years of his activity do not correspond to the
Messianic Age fixed by the pattern of six days of creation followed by the Sabbath,
or the six years of agricultural activity followed by a Sabbath year for the soil, The
Seder Eliyahu Rabba, following T. b. Sanhedrin 97b ax wm noapn 1K)
(naw Dbk nvaw ankb kb wbiy, fixes the Ages of the World as follows: two
thousand years chaos, two thousand years Torah, two thousand years Messiah.
These six millennia will be followed by a thousand years of Sabbath for the world,
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End to coincide, of course, with the birth of Jesus. Composed in 686,
Julian’s work must have enjoyed wide circulation by a half century or
more later. The author of the apocalypse offers a “correction” of
such calculations while promoting his own computations based on
Daniel.

(2) The “boorish nation,” which rules without divine sanction.'
Obviously Christian, as indicated by the name Edom, this designation
appears to refer to the barbarians who usurped “legitimate” Roman
rule.

(3) The king, harsh as Haman, whose decrees are summarized here.
The description fits the Visigothic kings Receswinth (649-72), Erwig
(680-87), but above all Egica (687-702). In turn, these rulers forbade
the Jews to practice their religion and imposed forced baptism while,
as indicated above, Egica reduced the Jews to slavery, tore their in-
fants from them for placement in Christian homes and ultimate inter-
marriage, compelled them to sell their property to the fisc, and added
to his already heavy tax levies. Yet many converts returned to Judaism
while others kept the faith of their fathers in secret.l’

(4) The hatred and conflict between peoples of divergent religions,

after which comes the Judgment. The seventh millennium (the “seventh day”) is

compared to the seventh year of release (Shemittah) for the soil:

mr g odwd nvee meyd a‘apn Y 9> none o vyavbh ank oy wke oes
«0%0% sprawn oy aeeDD HHR AW

Seder Eliyahu Rabba, ed. M. Friedmann (Vienna 1903-04), ch. 2. Cf. B. Blumen-

kranz, Les Auteurs chrétiens, pp. 119-26.

16. Apparently not counted among the seventy whose kings were assigned
dominion over them at the time when the nations of the world were divided up
following the Tower of Babel incident; J. Even Shemuel, op. cit., p. 150. This may
also be pro-Carolingian propaganda against the Merovingian barbarians whom
Pepin displaced. Cf. T. b. Yebhamot 63b where the goy nabhal (boorish nation) is
identified as the inhabitants of Barbary and Mauretania, primitives who appear
naked in public. In T. b. Gittin, 80a the “‘unfit nation" is one that lacks script
and language of its own.

17, J. Parkes, The Conflict, pp. 353-70; S. Katz, ap, cit., pp. 11-22; on the return
of baptized Jews, pp. 50-51; the increased taxation under Egica, p. 104. On the king
as harsh as Haman and Israel's repentance, cf, T. b. Sanhedrin 97b: 1myn n‘apn
1% PR I 3emd YMM aNEn PEw Skwn Eas mep vmeme ton ond

bR NN PTIP YR Br Ak WO
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making possible the rescue of Israel. The Saracen conquest of Spain
saved the Jews from extermination under Visigothic rule. The prostra-
tion of Visigothic power could readily be interpreted to mean the end
of Edom’s domination, the drawing of the curtain on the Fourth
Kingdom which presaged the advent of Messiah. In addition, the
internal conflicts within the Caliphate after 750 would serve to pitch
to great intensity the hopes for full freedom at the completion of 700
years of Temple ruin, namely in 768.

This analysis points to Spain or Septimania and the middle of the
eighth century as the time and place of composition of the apocalypse
Aggadat Rabbi Ishmael. Apart from its polemical barbs directed against
the arguments of Christian ecclesiastics, the intent of the apocalypse
was to prepare the Jews of the Far West for a highly significant event
about to take place in the year 768. Its educational objective was
perhaps as deliberate as its apocalyptic form.

It is not impossible that Pepin the Short was aware of these Messianic
stirrings. In any event, he did not discourage or oppose them. It was
apparently King Pepin who requested the Caliph of Baghdad to de-
spatch a scholar-prince of the Davidic dynasty to Frankia (the ShX
Addendum ascribes this request to “King Charles”). This scion of
David seems to have arrived early in the year 768 together with the
delegation from Baghdad. Pepin assigned them to winter quarters in
Metz. During the winter and early spring delegations of Jews doubtlessly
visited Natronai-Makhir and reported excitedly on the encounter. This
is the period of composition of relevant sections of Aggadat R. Ishmael.
Pepin received the legation in Selles on the Loire during Easter. In
768 Passover fell on Thursday and Friday directly before Easter Sun-
day. If now the *“praecepta” of Pepin and his sons in behalf of the Nasi
Natronai-Makhir were promulgated on or around Passover 768, their
act would appear to be fulfilling the Talmudic dictum that on the day
corresponding to the redemption from Egypt will come also the final
deliverance.’® The cooperation of the Carolingians with Jewish aspira-

18. The Redemption at Passover, T. b. Rosh Hashana 11b:
ALY Y xp amk Bdm GSepd prear 1003 ka3 ,omr pew 039
<MTRIA B ATDR K3 Mwnn b
In Kalir's piyyut “Bayamim hahem ubha‘et hahi,” J. Even Shemuel, op. cit.,
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tions appears remarkable, although their motivation is somewhat
obscure. To the Jews of the West, at any rate, those conditions would
seem to be fulfilled which would allow them to acclaim their Nasi not
merely King but King-Messiah: “Messiah ben Joseph,” to be sure,
according to the prototype of Zerubbabel, scion of David, the first
Nasi; nonetheless, the precursor of final redemption. Consequently,
there arose the startling exegesis of Genesis 49:10 cited above,!® wherein
the verse fragment usually ascribed to Messiah is here attributed to
Makhir: “[Makhir] has come and causes gnashing of teeth to the
gentiles.”

It may be understood how such claims?® about the status of the

pp- 113-16, and in Sefer Zerubbabel, ibid., p. 86, Messiah ben David makes his
appearance on the eve of Passover.

19. See this text, p. 97.

20. The Nistarot (Mysteries) of Rabbi Simeon ben Yohai in J. Even Shemuel,
op. cit., pp. 187-98, cf. pp. 178-79, was also written about the middle of the eighth
century. Graetz dates its composition between August 5 and October 750 because
it carries Islamic history down to the annihilation of the House of Umayya and a
few weeks beyond, Geschichte, 4th ed. by S. Eppenstein, V (Leipsic 1909), pp. 464—
71, note 16. Graetz’ conclusions were challenged by M. Steinschneider, who dated
the apocalypse in the period of the First Crusade, *‘Apocalypsen mit polemischer
Tendenz,” ZDMG, XXVIII (1874), 626-59. B. Lewis concludes that the first section
of Simeon b. Yohai's Tefillah (“‘Prayer”), based on the Nistarot, is to be dated in
the middle of the eighth century, ‘“An Apocalyptic Vision of Islamic History,”
BS0OAS, XTI (1949-50), 310. Cf. S. W. Baron, History, II1 (2nd ed., 1957), 274,
note 27. J. Even Shemuel, op. cit., pp. 174-75 upholds Graetz’ interpretation. Later
authors added freely to basic, older texts in order to have an apocalyptic framework
for their own “signs”.

In the present, apparently truncated, form of this apocalypse Nistarot, it is not
clear whether the author expected the arrival of Messiah within a twelve-month,
although this is entirely possible. It may also be that the twelve months hinted at
are intended to stand for twelve years, and thus bring the foreseen End into relation-
ship with the year 768, the 700th since the destruction of the Temple. This is sug-
gested by the reference to the rule of a king of “brazen countenance” (after Daniel
8:23) for three months (three years?) followed by the “dominion of the wicked
kingdom,” which could only be Edom-Rome, for nine months (nine years ?) after
Micah 5:2 and T. b. Sanhedrin 98b:

B 135 » mKIw BWIN APPD bxwe B9 (APEaM) mMOInn LEDANT TP X3 MT 13 PR
s« 115 Athy np
These considerations would move up the date of composition of the Nistaror to
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Nasi of Narbonne, supported by official act of the Frankish kings,
would distract the highest prelates in Christendom “to the point of
death,” as Pope Stephen declared in the same year 768. Perhaps too
the Jews pressed their claims with some success on the field of pro-
paganda against Christianity and in favor of conversion to Judaism.

after 755-56, that is, around the time of ‘Abd ar-Rahman’s successes in Spain and
the split of the caliphate into two warring factions. The year 756 also corresponds
to the date of the Carolingian-‘Abbasid alliance and the plans to establish an
Exilarchate of the West. Did the author have reason to hope that the new exilarch
would reestablish Temple service in Jerusalem with the aid of the Carolingians ?
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The Jewish Principate Becomes
a Permanent Institution in 791

The major responsibility of Makhir and the Jewry of Septimania-
Toulousain was the guardianship of the Spanish frontier and of the
maritime coast against Ummayad Saracen raids. Even more important,
when the necessary preparations had been made, they were expected to
launch an invasion of the peninsula beyond the mountains. Both Frank
and ‘Abbasid forces were to be involved with them in these tasks.
The protection and expansion of the south-southwest border were
certainly of supreme significance for the Carolingian state. Yet the
“official” sources—the royal annals and the chronicles—supply only
meager and sketchy information on these events. The focus of their
interest is the personality and achievements of Charlemagne, while he
appears to have left to others major responsibility for the watch in the
south-southwest and its expansion. Even when he led an invasion like
the disastrous expedition of 778 into Spain the annalists provide in-
formation most grudgingly. Yet, rather full description of these cam-
paigns could not have been altogether lacking if one may judge from
the locale and the heroes of the chansons de geste. These are of course
“unofficial” and by no means reliable historical sources. Yet they are

112
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almost the only materials extant which treat at length Carolingian
military activity in the borderlands of Spain.

The difference in the judgment of scholars regarding the historical
reliability of the chansons de geste runs to extremes. Becker' has
declared that none of the actual works of Count William of Toulouse
lives on in the cycle of songs which grew up about the epic figure of
Count William of the Curved Nose, whom the chansons identify as the
son of Aymeri. According to him the William epic is altogether un-
related to the significance of the historical Count William or to his
acts in the Carolingian Age except for his founding the monastery at
Gellone. Becker tilts with H. Suchier who produced the first critical
edition of the first part of La Changun de Guillelme. Suchier had com-
pared in parallel columns certain of the events described in this oldest
extant William song with the very similar facts recorded by the chron-
iclers, and emphasized their mutual correspondence in the first part of
the chanson (vv. 1 to 930-38), which he designated The Vivien Song.
He judged that the poet handled the epic tradition with restraint and
an avoidance of whimsy; and that in The Vivien Song he preserved
more historical features than most other jongleurs. Its continuation,
the Chanson de Rainoart, on the other hand, Suchier deemed to be free
invention.? On a broader basis Ferdinand Lot has challenged the

1. Ph. A. Becker, Das Werden der Wilhelm- und der Aimerigeste, p. 188.

2. H. Suchier (ed.), La Changun de Guillelme, Einleitung, pp. LIII-LVIII and the
references there; and -especially “Vivien,” ZRP, XXXII (1908), 734-42. Suchier
dates the Changun ca. 1080, Einleitung, p. XXXIX, and this is accepted by E. S.
Tyler, “Notes on the Changun,” Romanic Review, IX (1918), 397, who dates the
second part (from v. 1983 to the end) about thirty to forty years later and sees in
this Song as a whole the oldest known account of the central events of the cycle of
William.

Their dating is challenged by D. McMillan (ed.), La Chanson de Guillaume, 11.
McMillan refuses to date the Chanson de Guillaume before the last third of the
twelfth century. He finds its language is more recent than that in Couronnement de
Louis, Charroi de Nimes, and even Enfances Guillaume; ibid., p. 126. To McMillan,
moreover, the Chanson de Guillaume is not a homogeneous work. One portion of
the poem makes use of a vocabulary which is not found in any other chanson de
geste, while another portion has freed itself of this stylized vocabulary; ibid., p. 130
and note 1. Most of the critics, however, seem to agree that the Chanson de Guillaume
represents the William cycle in its most primitive form.
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fundamental thesis of Joseph Bédier regarding the origin of the chansons
in general by endeavoring to demonstrate the residue of reliable
historical fact in the oldest of these epics, namely the same Song of
William, and its independence of the cloister.?

Nevertheless, the use of these literary creations for the recovery of
historical data, except where supported by other sources, must remain
a hazardous undertaking. Yet one may not overlook the oldest epics
and historical romances completely unless he is willing to accept the
dictate of silence which the “official” annalists have decreed and
effected by their process of selection and editing of the chronicles now
extant. It is difficult to assume that they lacked interest in these exploits
on the Spanish border. Were there partisan motivations ? Or was the
original material inaccessible because written in a non-Western lan-
guage ? Demaison has shown that the historical documentation of the
Carolingian period suffers from numerous lacunae. Only Einhard
mentions Roland. Demaison thought he could detect in the chansons
the memory of very real facts. In spite of their imaginary and legendary
elements, he underscored the value of the historical reminiscence in
certain epics because no other precise document is extant.# Demaison
went so far as to claim that Aymeri was a real person in the Carolingian
Age even though he could not positively locate his name among the
present records!® The more recent studies of the Chansons de Geste,

3. F. Lot, “Le Cycle de Guillaume d’Orange,” Etudes sur les légendes épiques
Jrangaises, pp. 239, 247 f., 250, 256, 259. He dates the Song of William in the last
quarter of the eleventh to the first quarter of the twelfth century. Cf. D. McMillan,
op. cit., 11, pp. 125-26, note 4.

Jonckbloet insisted on a more or less historical foundation for all branches of the
William cycle of songs long before the discovery of the Chancun de Willame. He
found that certain branches of the tradition were contemporaneous with the original
hero whom he identified, however, as post-Carolingian; W. J. A. Jonckbloet,
Guillaume d’Orange, p. 168; he designates chansons de geste as historical poems,
p. 185. For a summary of Lot’s position, J. Monfrin, “Les études de Ferdinand
Lot sur les légendes épiques frangaises,” BEC, CXIX (1961), 245fF. especially p. 255.

4. L. Demaison (ed.), Aymeri de Narbonne. Vol. 1. Introduction, pp. cxxiv f.,
cxxxiv-cxlii. H. Suchier thinks he can find additional references to Roland in contem-
poraneous records including a coin bearing his name, “Vivien,”” ZRP, XXIV (1905),
681, note 1.

5. Historically, the father of William of Gellone was Theodoric. P. Paris tried to
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especially of the William cycle, have tended to be less and less skeptical
of their historical residue while increasingly critical of Bédier’s harsh
judgments that they were the whimisical products of poetic imagination
with barely a shred of historical fact. R. Louis finds that the Chansons
de Geste retained recollections of events which stirred deep emotions
in the people and concludes that the poets derived their historical
themes from the events themselves. To him Chanson de Geste signifies
Chanson d’histoire: William actually fought the Saracens in the north
of Spain together with at least one of his sons, Herbert, and several of
his kinsmen, all of whom decended from Charles Martel. After William
passed from the scene the sons continued their father’s tradition in the
Spanish March regaining control of the Duchy of Barcelona and
military command of the March. R. Louis pursues the history of the
family for three or four generations and concludes that the descriptions
in the chansons are not, as Bédier believed, a free invention of the poets
but rather historical reality. In fact the William clan are found fighting
on two fronts: in the north of Spain between Gerona and Barcelona
against numerically vastly superior Saracens, awaiting re-enforcements
from Emperor Louis which never came; and, on the other hand, at
Court, against rebels of the same Emperor and those traitorous to him.
The poets telescoped the deeds of Williams’ descendants, especially
those of his son Bernard of Septimania, and ascribed them to William.
The chansons present Emperor Louis-ds weak, irresolute, wavering,
slave of his entourage—the historical truth which the clerical chroniclers
concealed and distorted presenting him instead as a great emperor,
rival of Augustus, Constantine and Charlemagne. R. Louis takes to
task the official court chroniclers whose silence and reticence concealed
significant events, ineffectively, thanks to the poets. R. Menéndez Pidal
reaches comparable conclusions in his minute analysis of the Song of
Roland. “The Chanson de Roland,”’ he declares, “is more truthful than
the Court annals; the Chanson de Roland derived from poems contem-
poraneous with the disaster.” In his lengthy conclusion Pidal heads a

reconcile the names Theodoric and Aimeric but Demaison follows Jonckbloet in
deciding that one could not be substituted for the other; L. Demaison, Aymeri de
Narbonne, 1, Introduction, p. cxxx. In a poem of Spain Aymeri is called Benal-
menique in imitation of Moorish names; ibid., p. cccxix.
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section with the devise, “In the beginning was History,” which he
proclaims as the new Gospel of modern traditionalism in the study of
epic literature.8

The recovery in the epics of the residue of historical matter relevant
to the military activity of Makhir and Septimanian Jewry must of
necessity proceed in eclectic fashion and seek to dislodge isolated facts
from the imaginative context created by the poet. The results can be
no more than tentative and probable at this point.

The oldest of the William cycle of songs, La Changun de Williame,
first published under this title in 1903, contains a few solitary facts
which appear to have relationship to our theme.. The epic figure
“William> absorbed into itself the acts of the historical William’s
father (*“Aymeri”), of his most prominent son, Bernard of Septimania,
and of Bernard’s son, William. This would be likely in a chanson even
if the song itself did not claim a fantastic three hundred and fifty years
for William’s life (v. 1334).7

According to the Chanson William lives in Barcelona (vv. 932-33).
His wife is a former non-Christian princess who converted to Chris-
tianity on marriage to him (vv. 94647, 1422, 2591) and assumed the
(Christian) name Guiburc. Guischart her nephew (vv. 1034, 1038) was
born in an Arabic land (Cordova, v. 1196), and when he was about
to die in battle he denied (the Christian) God (vv. 1039-41), thereby
presumably reverting to his former non-Christian faith. Guiburc’s

6. J. Bédier, Les Légendes épiques, 1; R. Louis, “L’épopée frangaise est carolin-
gienne”, Coloquios de Roncesvalles, 327-460; R. Menéndez Pidal, La Chanson de
Roland, pp. 209, 482.

7. D. McMillan discusses the various editions of the William Song which pre-
ceded his own complete version, La Chanson de Guillaume, 1, Introduction, pp.
xxiii-xxix. All references to specific verses of the Song in this study are to McMillan’s
edition. A translation into English verse has been made available by E. N. Stone,
The Song of William.

Suchier points out that scholars have identified twelve different Williams whose
exploits have come to be associated with the epic “William ; H. Suchier, “Vivien,”
ZRP, XXIX (1905), 661. Similarly, the epic cycle ascribes all events after Charle-
magne’s death to the reign of his son Louis; while all kings with the name Charles
were incorporated into the epic figure ‘“‘Charlemagne” ; similarly, all non-Christians
are likely to be called “Saracens’'; H. Suchier, loc. cit., 675. Suchier alters William’s
age to 150 in his critical edition, La Changun de Guillelme, v. 1336.
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brother Reneward (Renouart), the major hero after v. 2650, came from
“beyond the sea” de ultra mer (usually identified with Spain), was of
royal stock and never baptized (vv. 3358-79) until near the end of the
epic (vv. 3483-3502), when he received the King’s daughter, William’s
niece, as his wife.® Guiburc addresses William in her own vernacular
and he understands; in fact they converse in this tongue, “Romanz”
(vv. 1331, 1421). In this dialect William addresses his high barons
(v. 1568) and his own lower vassals (v. 1591). In the “Continuation”
of the William Song, William is represented as able to address the
Saracens too; specifically, he speaks Hebrew and Arabic (as well as
Greek, German, English, and Armenian, vv. 2170-71). When his
nephews Girart and Vivien converse (the latter is the major figure in
the epic), they speak “their own tongue.”

These scattered references seem to be an echo of the fact that William
knew Hebrew, Arabic, and perhaps also another alien tongue current
in his clan.? Now, the marriage and conversion of Guiburc recall the

8. Like Reneward (Renouart), Bernard of Septimania the son of Count William
came from (the March of) Spain, was born of royal stock de stirpe regali according
to Thegan, a contemporary, Gesta Domini Ludovici imperatoris ed. Bouquet, ch.
XXXVI. Bernard’s wife Dhuoda claimed Emperor Louis (son of Charlemagne) for
her brother when dating her Manual: “Anno obitus Ludoviéi quondam mei fratris,”
Le Manuel de Dhuoda, ed. E. Bondurand, pp.-249; 263-64. However L. Delisle has
challenged this reading and has denied that Dhuoda was Charlemagne’s daughter,
“Le Manuel de Dhuoda,” Académie des inscriptions et belles-lettres, pp. 237-38.
See this text, p. 122, arid notes 18, 19, 20; p.. 264.

9. D. McMillan, La Chanson, 11, p. 182, follows Elizabeth Tyler’s rendering of
Salamoneis v. 2170 as “Hebrew,” that is, the language of Solomon, E. S. Tyler,
“Notes,” Romanic Review, IX (1918), 414 and also in her edition of the Song.
William can speak Arabic and other foreign languages also according to Aliscans
(v. 1374) and Folque de Candie (Anlage 1V, v. 549), as quoted by M. H. Stansbury,
Foreign Languages and Interpreters in the Chansons de Geste, p. 43. In Aliscans,
William, Guiburc and the Saracen Salatré converse en un language, ibid., p. 45.
Stansbury lists a surprising number of persons who, according to the chansons,
knew Arabic. These include Charlemagne, Roland, Bueve de Hantone, Berengar,
the traitor Gaufrois, Girart, et al., M. H. Stansbury, op. cit., pp. 56, 77. On the
battlefield at Aliscans, William reverts to *‘Greek” (v. 1594), idem., p. 66, which may
mean Arabic in this context. The remarkable linguistic ability of the nobles in the
carly chansons is a noteworthy characteristic, to which the poets seem to call atten-
tion deliberately; idem, pp. 75, 84, 103.
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report of the Addendum to ShK which relates® the arrival of Makhir,
his settlement in Narbonne, marriage with a daughter of one of “the
magnates of the town,” and elevation into the Frank nobility; and
continues with King Charles’ grant to the Jews of an important
privilegium or capitulary. Intriguing is the statement that Makhir and
his descendants were *“close” or “related” to the King and all his
descendants: Kerobhim la-melekh wlekhol zar‘o. Since the Carolingians
were frequently in conflict with one another—brother against brother,
sons against father, uncle against nephew —the dynasty of the Makhiri
obviously could not be “close” to antagonistic sides unless they were
at odds among themselves. But they could remain always “related” as
kinsmen. Only by marriage of course could Makhir become a member
of the Carolingian royal family. This situation would parallel that of
Makhir’s ancestor Bustanai who married a Persian princess and became
a kinsman eventually of the ruling ‘Abassids.! To which faith did
“William’s” wife in reality convert? And was there perhaps an inter-
change of sisters or of daughters as spouses between the Makhiri and

10. MJC, 1, p. 82f. For full Hebrew text see Appendix III, p. 384 of this work.
For translation see above pp. 59-60.

11. Of Bustanai's sons it was said that they were tied to governors and royalty
inasmuch as they were kinsmen of royalty, the brother of their mother being
Marzabana (the Persian commander):

+RIANTIH DBR MR MM Mddnd 2 vaw kmddea Cde3 dmR R a1
B. M. Lewin, Otsar haGeonim (Gaonic Thesaurus) Yebhamot, VII, p. 40 no. 94.
The three sons of Bustanai by the Persian princess Izdadwar bore the same names as
the sons of Khosroe II, namely: Shahriyar, Goranshah, Mardanshah; EJ, “Bostanai
(Ben Chaninai),” IV, col. 989.

The virtually identical Hebrew expression describes the kinship of the Bustanaides
to the Persian aristocracy as is employed by ShK to denote the relationship of the
Makhiri and the Carolingians: kerobhim lemalkhut (lamelekh). A fifteenth-century
writer also reports that there settled in Narbonne a nasi of the House of David who
was “related” (karobh) to the ruling sovereign:

T A3 ym wwl 30 30w Az oabkb abita vy anats ve3 ov ween: 'man
SRR NNAR SIS MaArR OB VI Madnd 31
I. Loeb, “R. Matitya Ha-Yichari,” REJ, VII (1883), 154,

It cannot be determined that this document is independent of ShK although the
writer's progenitors, as residents of Narbonne, might have known an independent
tradition. Karobh lemalkhut may denote actual family relationship of an exilarch
to a ruling sovereign; M. Beer, “‘Exilarchs of the Talmudic Epoch,’ PAAJR, XXXV
(1967), 65-66.
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Carolingians 72 In several other chansons “Aymeri’s” daughter Blanche-
fleur marries Emperor Louis, son of Charlemagne. In the romance
Macaire Blanchefleur, daughter of a king of Constantinople, is the wife
of Charlemagne.’® This may perhaps be the meaning of the statement
transmitted by the Addendum to ShK that Makhir married into the
family of a local (Frank) magnate. Since in all likelihood Makhir

12. Marriages between cousins, although permitted by Jewish practice, were
forbidden by canon law as incest. Repeatedly the church councils of the early
Carolingian period condemned “incestous™ marriages; L. Oelsner, Jahrbiicher . . .
unter K. Pippin, pp. 241, 274 {., 461 ff., Excurs II on a ninth-century addition to the
Capitulare Vermeriense of 756; pp. 306 f.; S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter
Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., p. 555 (year 786 for Italy). For pressure on converted
Jews against their former practice of “incestuous unions,” S. W. Baron, History,
III (1957), p. 42; J. Parkes, Medieval Community, p. 55; idem, Conflict, p. 294.
Attacks on *“incestuous™ persons in the ninth century may have been intended for
Jews or Jews intermarried with Christian kinsmen.

While negotiations were proceeding for the marriage of Charlemagne and
Desiderata, daughter of King Desiderius of Lombardy, Pope Stephen III forbade
the wedding on the grounds that Charlemagne was already wed with Himeltrud.
Himeltrud bore him a son who was declared illegitimate on the grounds that she
was a concubine. Carloman, Charles’ brother, was married to Gerberge, of un-
known origin, whose second son had Pope Stephen for godfather; S. Abel, B.
Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp- §2-84.

13. In the Chanson de Guillaume Aymeri’s daughter, unnamed, is the wife of the
Emperor, v. 2629; in Le Couronnement de Louis Chanson de Geste ed. E. Langlois,
the sister of William (unnamed daughter of Aymeri) marries Emperor Louis (son
of Charlemagne), v. 2686; the same relationship in Aymeri de Narbonne ed.
L. Demaison, where in addition all Aymeri’s five daughters marry into the high
aristocracy, I, Introduction, p. cxxi; II, Text, v. 4673-74; 4677-79; 4684-86; cf.
idem., 1, pp. ccv f. for similar references in Aliscans and Covenant Vivien. For a
summary of the extant Spanish version, a literal translation of the French La Reine
Sibille where a daughter of Aymeri of Narbonne is the wife of Louis son of Charle-
magne, see G. Paris, Histoire poétique de Charlemagne, p. 393 f.; cf. also Macaire.
Chanson de geste, ed. F. Guessard, vv. 18-22. In the Chanson de Guillaume, Guiburc’s
brother Reinouart (Reneward) accepts baptism and marries Ermentrud, the off-
spring of King Louis with William’s sister, v. 3497.

Agobard reports that the Jews of Lyons flaunted robes which, they said, their
wives had received from imperial kinsmen and ladies of the palace; “Ostendunt
vestes muliebres, quasi a consanguineis vestris (sc. Emperor Louis’) vel matronis
palatinorum uxoribus eorum directas”; De Insolentia Judaeorum, Agobardi
Epistolae no. 7, MGH, Epistolae Karolini aevi, ed. E. Diimmler, V, 3, p. 184:30-31.
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arrived with a wife and family from the East (or else they followed
him soon after) his second marriage would have resulted in the establish-
ment of two parallel lines of succession, unless such intermarriage
continued. Marriage of cousins is allowed by Jewish practice but for-
bidden by canon laws of consanguineity.! In any event one could hope
that before long an offspring would appear (namely, Makhir’s son,
grandson, or nephew on the Frank side of the family) a scion not only
of the House of Arnulf but also of the biblical House of David in whom
there would flow together these two great and glorious dynastic streams.
Thereby would be realized the Carolingian ambition of establishing
their dynasty as the successor to the biblical kings of Israel, and, in
consequence, legitimate beyond cavil having inherited the divinely-
ordained right to rule.

In this context the designation of Charlemagne in the Frank court
as David may not appear as pure whimsy alone. Alcuin often spoke of
Charles as David dropping his Frank name altogether: “David in orbe
decus; David amate Deo; O dilecto Deo David dulcissime.”

Likewise Angilbert lauded Charlemagne as “David who loves poetry,
honors the wise, devotes himself to investigation of Scripture, attracts
learned masters to Court in order to renew knowledge and the arts.”®

On arrival in the West, the members of Makhir’s family as well as
any other immigrants would have Eastern names—Aramaic, Persian,
and Arabic—in addition to Hebrew. They would likely translate these
into local equivalents. But in just one or two generations Frank names,
especially those distinctive of the Carolingian family and the Frank
aristocracy, would emerge among them exclusively. Two such non-
Hebrew names reappear most frequently among the Makhiri even in
Hebrew materials—Todros and Kalonymos. Kalonymos is perhaps best
traced to South Italian, Greek origins. Todros, on the other hand, is
the distinguished Theodoricus, a name very prominent in Merovingian

14. On church councils’ condemnation of “incestuous,” that is consanguineous,
marriages in the Carolingian Age see p. 119 note 12 of this text.

15. P. Munz, The Origin of the Carolingian Empire pp. 1-3. P. Lehmann, “Das
literarische Bild Karls des Grossen,” in his Erforschung des Mittelalters, p. 157,
where see other similar references to Charlemagne as David. E. H. Kantorowicz
emphasizes the biblical outlook of the Carolingian kings in his Laudes Regiae,
Chapter 1I.



The Jewish Principate Becomes a Permanent Institution 121

Gaul. At the time Pepin admitted Makhir to the high Frank aristocracy
he may well have dubbed him with a distinguished dynastic name.
Theodoric suggests itself because of its frequent reappearance in later
generations of the Makhiri!® In the chansons de geste the most noted
son of “Aymeri” is William “of the curved nose,” central figure of the
William cycle of songs. William identifies himself as the son of Theo-
doric and Alda and names his (eldest ?) son Theodoric.l? Abel-Simson

16. Tauros the Hebrew is mentioned in a viscountal act of February 17, 1064;
J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 179. Cf. the Hebrew appeal from Spain regarding
the (once-Christian) widow of David of the family of R. Todros of Narbonne;
J. Mann dates this communication in the eleventh century, Texts and Studies, I,
pp. 31 f. no. 2. The “Appendix” to SAK reports a R. Todros Nasi as descendant of
Makhir; another prominent member of the same dynasty, R. Kalonymos, had a
son named Todros who was a noted poet (paytan)} ; Appendix III, p. 385.Kalonymos
b. Todros affixed his signature in Hebrew to a document dated 1195; G. Saige, Les
Juifs du Languedoc, p. 139. Cf. D. Kaufmann, “Lettres de Scheschet,” REJ, XXXIX
(1899), 64 and note 1. Todros b. Moses the Nasi was the son of Moses brother of
the Nasi Kalonymos the Great (ca. 1170). His signature appears in a Hebrew
responsum of the “‘sages of Narbonne” nwn %°a 01910; Aaron b. Jacob haCohen of
Lunel, Orhot Haim (Paths of Life), I (Firenze 5510-1750), p. 23c no. 5. His son
became the noted Nasi R. Moses; Appendix, ibid. his signature is appended to the
same responsum: 9T 23 nwn; see also Sefer haEshkol ed Sh-and H. Albeck,
mabho (Introduction), p. 2, notes 2 and 3.

On the south Italian origin of the Kalonymidés of Lueca see L. Ginzberg, Genizah
Studies, 11, p. 620.

Makhir b. Abba Mari, compiler of the Yalkut ha-Makhiri on Psalms includes a
R. Todros in his lineage as follows: “I, the compiler, Makhir b. R. Abba Mari b.
R. Makhir b. R. Todros b. R. Makhir b. haRabh R. Joseph b. R. Abba Mari of
sainted memory ...,” Yalkut ha-Makhiri, ed. S. Buber (Berditchev 1879), In-
troduction. Neubauer conjectures he was a descendant of Makhir of Baghdad
apparently because of the frequent reappearance of the name Makhir among his
ancestors, JE, I1X, p. 169.

The Gesta reports that Charles did in fact alter, if only slightly, Aymeri’s name:
from Aymeri de Beaulande to Aymeri de Narbonne; ed. F. Ed. Schneegans, vv.
2022-25.

17. In his “grant” to Gellone dated 804 William names his parents, HGL, I,
Notes LXXXVI no. 6 f. As the result of a detailed analysis of this document and
other diplomatic materials related thereto, Tisset has demonstrated the extent to
which such sources, including royal diplomas, have been tampered with, altered,
substituted for now lost documents, or simply forged in order to promote partisan
interests of a later age; P. Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone au Diocése de Lodéve, pp. 21-
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and Calmette have identified Alda as a daughter of Charles Martel
and sister of Pepin. Thereby Theodoric (Makhir ?) becomes a brother-
in-law of Pepin the Short while William emerges as cousin of Charle-
magne. The Makhiri would then indeed be related by blood (kerobhim
according to the ShX “Appendix’) to the Carolingians. Another son
of William bore the distinctive Carolingian name Bernard (of Septi-
mania).’®* A contemporary describes Bernard as “of royal stock™ (de
stirpe regali) and adoptive son of the emperor.}® Bernard was married
in the imperial palace and his learned wife Dhuoda may have been a
sister or sister-in-law of Emperor Louis le Débonnaire.2

93. However, there seems no reason to challenge the fact (which Tisset also accepts)
that Theodoric was in actuality the name of William’s father. Tisset identifies
William’s mother Aude (Alda) as the daughter of Charles Martel and the sister of
Pepin (ibid., p. 24, cf. note 108). Also, F. Lot accepts Calmette’s identification of
Theodoric as William’s father, Etudes, pp. 249 note 7; 252 note 2; 257. Tisset
considers it possible that Theodoric was the same warrior identified as count,
kinsman of the King (Charlemagne) comes propinquus regis, mentioned in the
Annales Regni Francorum ... et Einhardi, ed. F. Kurze, pp. 61 f. (anno 782); P.
Tisset, L'Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 25, 27. Note the same designation for Theodoric
in these Annales for the years 791 (p. 89) and 793 (p. 93). E. Hlawitschka denies
that this Theodoric married Pepin’s daughter Alda. But then he has to make of him
a person at least 85 years old at the time of his death in battle, 793, “Die Vorfahren
Karls des Grossen,’’ 77. See this text p. 181 and note 12.

The name Theodoric reappears among William’s sons. Theodoric, the apparently
childless brother of Bernard of Septimania, left his properties to his nephew William,
which were located in Burgundy; Le Manuel de Dhuoda ed. Ed. Bondurand, ch. 72,
p. 237, p. 38; and ch. 62, p. 214. He may have been the missus reported in 816, and
was dead by 843 when Dhuoda wrote; P. Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 32-33.

18. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicker . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, p. 12 note 8;
idem, Jahrbiicher ... unter Ludwig dem Frommen, 1, pp. 330-32; II, p. 305;
J. Calmette, “La famille de Saint Guilhem,” AdM, XVIII (1906), 146-48. Calmette
points out the widespread practice in the Carolingian period to name the first-born
after his grandfather. In Dhuoda’s genealogical table William’s son Theodoric, in
fact, heads the list of William’s offspring borne by his second wife Guiburc, Le
Manuel ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 152; J. Calmette, loc. cit., 153.

19. Thegani Gesta Domini Ludovici imperatoris, ed. Bouquet, RAHdF, VI, ch.
XXXVI, p. 281: “dixerunt Judith reginam violatam esse a quondam duce Bernardo,
qui erat de stirpe regali et domini imperatoris ex sacro fonte baptismatis filio;"
cf. J. Calmette, De Bernardo, p. 55, note 4.

20. The Paris MS Bibliothéque nationale latin 12293 of her Manual ends with
the subscription Incoatio huius libelli II° anno obitus Lodovici quondam mei Jratris,
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The ShK “Appendix” continues: “Makhir and his dynasty were
among the leaders of their time, rulers [mehokekim an allusion to
Genesis 49:10 and Judges 5:14] and judges in all the lands, virtual
exilarchs shepherding Israel with faithfulness and skill.”*

The form in which the Addendum to ShK transmits this information
emphasizes the service of the Makhiri to their own people. However,
a domain such as Makhir governed would require numerous officials
and ministers. The *“rulers and judges in all the lands” may refer to
such governors or counts.

Meir b. Simeon’s Milhemet Mitsvah has also preserved information
of value to which attention has already been drawn.?® Therein Meir
makes two claims: (1) that an early Carolingian ruler (presumably
Charlemagne) invited Jews to settle in Frankia and gave them guaran-
tees of protection for person, substance;”and hereditary land-tenure;
(2) these Jews participated personally with distinction and with eco-
nomic resources in the wars of conquest of the Carolingians “in many
lands™ and contributed significantly to their successes; moreover, that
early Carolingian policy fostered Jewish immigration into the Frankish
realm defining and guaranteeing their rights in a written charter. Meir
continues with a report of how a Jewish warrior saved the life of the

ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 249, note 3. Calmette rejects this statement out of hand
because as a daughter of Charlemagne Dhuofga, would have stood in a degree of
consanguineity with Bernard which would have prevented their marriage by canon
law; J. Calmette, “La famille de Saint Guilhelm,” AdM, XVIII (1906), 162. How-
ever, Jewish practice permits the marriage of cousins. On other grounds Delisle had
denied that Dhuoda was Louis’ sister. He declared quondam mei fratris, as it appears
in Mabillon’s copy (Bibliothéque nationale MS latin 12293), to be a scribal error.
However Mabillon published essentially the same statement as condam mei fratris
also in Acta Sanctorum saec. IV pars. 1 (1677), pp. 750-57. Delisle relies on Baluze
who says he saw Ludovici condam imperatoris in the manuscript of Pierre de Marca
prepared from a copy in the Abbey Lagrasse, which Delisle identifies as the source
of MS Bibliothéque nationale latin 12293; L. Delisle, “Le Manuel de Dhuoda,”
236-39; cf. Le Manuel ed. Ed. Bondurand, pp. 7, 263-64. M. Chaume understands
“brother” to mean brother-in-law, Les Origines du Duché de Bourgogne, 1, p. 152.
21. *oxY M MTWD 533 DWDITY DPPIAD MIN C1NMB WA KN PR TN
«BN°D9 MN3N3YT BRI SRpr nk 2ovy am mnbha

MJC, 1, p. 82; see Appendix III this text.
22, A. Neubauer, “Documents sur Narbonne,” REJ, X (1885), 98-99. For com-
plete text see Appendix IV this work; for translation and date, pp. 6467 this text.
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king who became unhorsed in battle with the Saracens before Nar-
bonne.®

In point of fact, one of the chansons relates the rescue in battle of
an unhorsed king (“Louis™) by one of his knights who sacrificed his
own life thereby. The Charroi de Nimes tells that King Louis gave out
fiefs but overlooked William in spite of numerous and valuable services.
In particular, William became enraged over the case of Marquis
Berengar of the Valley of Riviérs. The Marquis had fled to the Emperor
because of an unexpiated manslaughter. In return for service King
Louis gave him a fief and a noble spouse. For a long time the Marquis
served him well. Then in a fierce battle with the Saracens the King was
thrown from his horse; he would never have been able to mount again,
had Marquis Berengar not come along. Seeing his lord surrounded on
all sides and in great danger, he galloped up to him brandishing his
shining sword. He forced open a free space around the King and, dis-
mounting from his horse, offered it to his lord. He held the stirrups
while the King mounted and fled in trepidation. On that very spot
Marquis Berengar was killed and cut to pieces and none could save
him, vv. 335-64.24

The lands of Berengar, inheritance of his orphan, Louis offered to
William. He disdainfully rejected them declaring that he would never
rob minors of their possessions. The King then offered William one-
fourth of all the revenues of France, a fourth of its treasury, and a
fourth of the entire realm, vv. 384-95, William refused. He wanted
only some chateaux and marches, donjons and strongholds, v. 412.
Specifically, he asked for the March of Spain with Tortolose and
Portpaillart-sur-mer, Nimes, and Orange, vv. 480-88. Louis protested
that these lands were not his to give away; they belonged to the
Saracens, vv. 512-21. When William insisted, Louis granted him Spain

23. A. Neubauer, “Documents sur Narbonne,” REJ, X (1885), 98-99; see pp.
64-67, 36061 this text.

24, Le Charroi de Nimes ed. J.-L. Perrier.

In 819 Berengar was Count of the Toulousain but, as Dhondt emphasizes, not of
the Narbonnaise in Septimania; J. Dhondt, Etudes, p. 176. In 837 there was conflict
between Berengar and Bernard over Septimania. When Berengar died Bernard son
of William succeeded to maximum power there: apud Bernhardum potestas Septi-
maniae quam maxima remansit; ibid., p. 184.
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on condition that he not be obligated to bring William aid in time of
need, vv. 580-88. They finally agreed on William’s suggestion for aid
once in seven years, vv. 590-91. Manuscript D of the Charroi de Nimes
specifically includes Narbonne in the fief.2

We have noted that Meir b, Simeon claims documentary evidence in
support of the contention that a Jewish warrior rescued the life of his
unhorsed king, which evidence, he says, is in the public domain as well
as in Jewish possession. Of course, the Chanson does not identify the
warrior-hero as a Jew, May this indicate how material of authentic
Jewish context came to lose its original coloration in the course of
time especially when exploited in epics of ““Christian” wars against the
Saracens of Spain ?

These circumstances suggest how carefully Narbonne Jewry treasured
the records of its history. The report about a Jewish warrior-hero of
the Carolingian Age, or a song based on it, must have been available
to the poet of the Charroi de Nimes at the time he composed his verses
in the twelfth century. Meir b. Simeon, addressing his appeal to the
King of France in 1245, states that the report in its original form was
still extant in his day. It would not have been possible to fabricate out
of whole cloth a pure fiction of this kind if it lacked a shred of historical
truth, especially after the event had been written up in a popular
chanson completely devoid of Jewish content. .-~ ™

The data supplied by Ibn Daud and Meir enable us to follow the
course of events after 768. At the start of 769 rebellion broke out in
Aquitaine led by a certain Hunald, perhaps the father of Waifar.
Charles swiftly quelled the uprising with a few troops. He was now in
even firmer control of Aquitaine than Pepin had been. Following his
father’s practice he entrusted the land’s administration to local counts
who, however, are not identified.? In the same year Sergius, legate of
Pope Stephen III, came into Frankland as was indicated above p. 99.

By the year 777 preparations for an invasion of Spain (which had to
proceed quietly) began to bear fruit. In that year a magnate of Sara-
gossa, Ibn al-Arabi, came to the Diet in Paderborn and declared himself

25. E.-E. Lange-Kowal, Das altfranzésische Epos vom **Charroi de Nimes,” v. 531.
26. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp.
42-49.
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ready to accept Charles’ overlordship for himself and the towns under
his control. He was accompanied by a son and son-in-law of Yussuf,
the chief opponent of Emir ‘Abd ar-Rahman. At the same time a
governor of the Spanish eastern coast, the wali of Barcelona and
Gerona, Suleiman ben Yoktan al-Arabi, also allied with Yussuf’s clan,
was won over for the Frank cause. A plan for the invasion of the
peninsula was worked out and put into effect. Charles divided his forces
in two sending one through the eastern Pyrenees while he led the other
across the western mountains. In Christian Pamplona, which fell to
the Frank King, another Arab magnate Abu Taurus (Taher) paid
Charles homage for himself and the towns under him including Huesca.
It seemed indeed that for a while Charles might conquer by treaty.
Yussuf’s son-in-law, ‘Abd ar-Rahman ibn Habib the Slav, landed on
the coast of Tadmir (Murcia) and summoned the populace to support
him against the Umayyads. At this critical juncture Suleiman in-
explicably did not respond but instead he opposed the Slav and, when
attacked, defeated him.

The forces which had come down the east coast joined up with
Charles’ men and together they laid siege to Saragossa. But the fortress
would not yield. Meanwhile the Emir himself prepared to move against
the invading Franks. Charles was forced to lift the siege and turn home-
ward. On the way back his rear guard was attacked in the passes near
Roncesvalles, an event later immortalized in the Sonmg of Roland.
Suleiman was blamed for the failure of the enterprise. In chains he was
brought back to Frankia. His son Issun had fled to Narbonne for
asylum (“to the Franks” reports an Arab chronicler). When freed by
Charles (perhaps on condition that he turn Saragossa over to the
Franks), Suleiman returned to Spain and took Saragossa. But ‘Abd
ar-Rahman laid siege to the town for two years. The citadel did not
yield until Suleiman was assassinated. Thus ended in gruesome failure
Charles’ first attempt to extend his power beyond the Pyrenees.
R. d’Abadal maintains that Charlemagne intended to set up a protect.
orate in Spain with the collaboration of certain Muslim allies; but that
the Christians of Spain also responded with great enthusiasm to his
expedition. The debacle at Roncesvalles he ascribes to an attack by
Prince Lupo’s Gascons from the Frank side of the Pyrenees. R. Louis
properly points out, on the other hand, that Charlemagne found it
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necessary to capture the Christian town of Pamplona on his invasion
route and to destroy it on his retreat, hardly an indication of en-
thusiastic cooperation with him on the part of its inhabitants. In fact,
he concludes, these Christians of Spain objected to Charlemagne’s
designs for a Frankish March since it threatened their own independ-
ence. The Basques and Navarros, aided by Gascons, ambushed his
army. Menéndez Pidal thinks that Charlemagne’s capture of Pamplona
was non-violent, but maintains that he later destroyed the town’s walls
‘because of the hostility of its Christian residents, in order to prevent
its use as a base for attack. He sees Christian Basques and Muslims in
alliance at the catastrophe of Roncesvalles, August 15, 778.27

Makhir and his adjutants were doubtless involved in this expedition.
His effectiveness may be seen particularly in the readiness of the local
walis across the mountains to subscribe to the Frank cause. Suleiman’s
defection at a critical moment and in fact the collapse of the entire
enterprise must have been a severe personal blow to Makhir. The
flight of Suleiman’s son to Narbonne—*“to the Franks”—for refuge
where Makhir had his seat and the Jews were most prominent raises a
question as to the nationality of his father Suleiman (Solomon) b.
Yoktan (an unaltered biblical name).?

While Charles was on the Spanish campaign his wife bore twins, the
elder of whom died. When his son Lﬁuis reachéd the age of three he
entrusted the infant King of Aquitaine to a baiulus Arnold. In the
chansons the father of Aymeri is Ernaut de Beaulande. The same name
also appears in_Dhuoda’s list of the children of her father-in-law
William. Deodat was Louis’ chancellor, Abbo and Hildegaire were
notaries. Others who served as ministri are unnamed.?® By 785 however
Charles began to feel concern about the effect of strange and foreign

27. S. Abel, B. Simson, ibid., I, pp. 290-307. R. d’Abadal i de Vinyals, “La
expedicién de Carlomagno a Zaragoza, el hecho histérico,” Coloquios de Ronces-
valles, 64-69. R. Louis, “L’épopée francaise est carolingienne,” ibid., 402-03.
R. Menéndez Pidal, La Chanson de Roland, 2nd ed., pp. 195-209.

28. Genesis 10:25, 26.

29. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp.
308-10; 398; Praeponens illi baiulum Arnoldum, Vita Hludowici, § 4, MGH, SS, 11,
p. 609. Le Manuel de Dhuoda ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 152. For Deodat and Hilde-
gaire, see also L. Auzias, L’ Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 21.
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customs on his son. He ordered him brought to court, leaving behind
all the margraves of Aquitaine to guard the frontiers.3

In Aquitaine Charlemagne undertook measures to assure the obe-
dience of the populace and especially of the bishops, who appear to
have become restive. He transplanted Aquitanians to Francia and
perhaps Burgundy.® He appointed several new counts and abbots and
sent in royal vassals “of the people of the Franks whose sagacity and
courage no one’s cunning and no one’s strength could safely oppose,
and to them (Charles) entrusted the administration of the realm insofar
as he judged it useful, the guarding of the borders and the provisioning
of the royal villas on the land.”

Nine of these counts are named. Among them were Haimo in Albi,
Iterius in Arvernum (Auvergne), Abbo in Poitiers, Bull in Velay, and
Chorso in Toulouse.? Septimania or the Narbonnaise are not men-
tioned.3® Was this reserved for Makhir ?

30. Vita Hludowici, anno 185 § 4, p. 609:6-12.

31. L. Auzias, L'Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 10.

32. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Kar! dem Grossen, I, 2nd ed., p. 310.
The first three of these names are similar in the Hebrew: Haim, Itiel, Abba.

An Aymo (Haim ?) is identified as the son of Aymeri in the Life of Saint Honorat
composed ca. 1300 by Raimon Féraut. This hagiograph contains several reminis-
cences of the Carolingian epics mingled with legendary episodes of Honorat’s life.
The abridged Vita cites Aymericus princeps Narbonensis and Aymo filius principis
Narbonensis. Féraut’s MS mentions Naymes, filh d’ Aymeric, del prince de Narbona;
L. Demaison, Aymeri de Narbonne, 1, pp. ccxl, ccxli, ccxlvi note 2. Bull is the equi-
valent of the Hebrew Shor; cf. Gen. 49:6; Deut. 33:17. Joseph Bekhor Shor was the
name of a Franco-German Bible commentator in the twelfth century. Is Chorso the
Persian Khosroe ? Bustanai’s sons by the Persian princess Izdadwar had the same
names as the sons of the former Persian King Khosroe; see p. 118 note 11 of this
text.

33. Charlemagne probably continued his father Pepin’s policy of granting eccle-
siastical property in Aquitaine to his fideles. Specifically, when he set up these
counts and (lay) abbots per totam Aquitaniam necnon alios plurimos quos vassos vulgo
vocant ex gente Vrancorum (Vita Hludowici, § 3, MGH, SS, 11, p. 608), he endowed
them at least in part with church lands; E. Lesne, Histoire de la propriété ecclésias-
tique, 11, 1, p. 64 and note 4. Lesne thinks that the constitution of the comitatus is
in fact only a particular aspect of the endowment of the fideles at the expense of
ecclesiastical estates. The comitatus received a portion of church possessions because
the sovereign assigned lands in benefice to his fideles, entirely indifferent as to
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Meir b. Simeon claimed that the Jews fought for the Carolingians
“in many lands” and with notable success. Now one of the most
prominent warriors of Charlemagne was a certain Count Theodoric of
whose personal relationships nothing is known except that he was a
kinsman (propinquus) of the King, who granted him estates in the
Rhineland.

When news of the outbreak of a fierce rebellion in Saxony reached
Count Theodoric, who was in Ripuarian Francia (Rhineland) in 782,
he immediately summoned as many troops as he could without waiting
for Charles’ action and hurried with them into Saxony. Theodoric met
up with Charles’ commanders Adalgis, Gailo, and Worad. He advised
them to spy out the location of the Saxons and their military position
and then, if the topography permitted, to launch a joint attack. This
was agreed upon, and the armies movéd forward. When they neared
the enemy these commanders broke the compact. The annalist blames
their personal ambition and jealousy of Theodoric. They feared that
the glory of victory would go to him if he participated and therefore
they joined the battle alone. They met disaster; in fact, almost total
annihilation. Only a small remnant managed to flee back to Theodoric.
Adalgis and Gailo met their death together with four counts and about
twenty other prominent individuals. The news of the catastrophe caught
Charles unprepared but he moved to the attack nevertheless and over-
came the Saxons. -

This incident reappears in the Chanson de Guillaume with William

whether they had been originally fiscal domain or ecclesiastical property; ibid.,
p. 88.

This recalls Pope Stephen’s charge that the Carolingian princes had included
“Christian territories” in their grant of allodial estates to Jews in the vast complex
Septimania-Spain; see pp. 50, 53 of this text and Hincmar’s efforts to restore
alienated lands in Aquitaine to his church at Rheims, A. J. Zuckerman, “The Nasi
of Frankland,” PAAJR, XXXIII (1965), 76 ff.

34, ‘Einhardi Annales ed. G. H. Pertz, MGH, SS 1, anno 782, p. 163:32-34: “Quibus
in ipsa Saxonica obviavit Theodericus comes, propinquus regis, cum his copiis
quas audita Saxonum defectione raptim in Ribuaria congregare potuit.” Cf.
S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, I, 2nd ed., pp. 429-
33, where the sources are assembled. Cf. also Abel-Simson, ibid., II, p. 13, and
L. Halphen, Etudes critiques sur histoire de Charlemagne, pp. 163-67 for an
exposition of this debacle.
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substituted for Theodoric. The song relates that when the Saracens
invaded southern France, word of the incursion was brought to Count
Tedbalt of Bourges. He rejected Vivien’s plea to summon his uncle
William to help because, as Tedbalt’s own nephew Estourmi pointed
out, no sooner does William participate in an encounter than he gets
all the glory, even if his own achievement be slight. Tedbalt and
Estourmi decided to take on the enemy alone. But the battle was
hardly joined when these two were the first to flee in most cowardly
fashion. The Frank army was annihilated and Vivien killed.3®

G. Amardel, P. Tisset, and others have identified Theodoric as the
father of Count William of Toulouse and the husband of Pepin’s
sister Alda. Amardel says that Theodoric yielded his office as Count
of Narbonne to Milo in return for a more important post in Saxony,
but furnished counts from among his descendants for a very large
number of towns in the Midi. In 791 Duke Theodoric was still alive.
In consequence, a grandson of Theodoric was Bernard of Septimania,
whose wife Dhuoda resided in Uzés where were located *““ancient books
of Theodoric the Pious.” Therein was reported that King Pepin offered
his allies behind the walls of Narbonne the right to rule if they would
surrender the fortress to him.? It seems that outside of Aquitaine and
Septimania the name Theodoric was used almost exclusively and pre-
ferred.

It need occasion no great surprise that a scholar of such vast, almost
incredible, learning as Natronai-Makhir (he is reported to have trans-
mitted the entire Talmud orally to western Jews) should also be a

35. Tedbalt (Tebald) Tiébaut, a Saracen chief in the William Song, is the first
spouse of Guiburc; see Index s.v. Tedbalt, D. McMillan (ed.), La Chanson, p. 146.
Tedbalt in the same Song is also Tiébaut de Bourges, commander of the Christian
armies which were vanquished at Archamp, ibid. The events described above in the
text, ibid., pp. 3:12-6:79.

36. G. Amardel, “Les derniers chefs des Goths de la Septimanie,” BCAN, VI
(1900-01), 579-81. Amardel even suggests an identification of Theodoric and
Aymeri, p. 579. P. Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone, p. 24. P. Paris sees a copyist’s error
in the name Theodoricus which he wishes to read Adimericus, Les Manuscrits frangois
de la Bibliothéque du Roi, I, p. 123, For the relevant reference in the Chronicle of
Uzés see p. 174, note 63 and p. 41, note 10 this text. On the other hand, E.
Hlawitschka denies that this Theodoric was the husband of Alda; see this text
p. 122, note 17.



The Jewish Principate Becomes a Permanent Institution 131

military strategist. There are few such examples known from the early
Middle Ages, although their number is likely to increase. Heretofore,
the most distinguished representative of the Jewish scholar-army com-
mander tradition was of course Abu-Ibrahim Samuel b. Joseph Halevi
ibn Nagrela, 993-1056. He was the Nagid of the Jews centered on
eleventh-century Granada, the highest official (vizier) of the kingdom,
second only to the king himself, and commander-in-chief of the army,
which he directed in the field several months each year.

Between 1038 and 1056 there were only two years during which
Samuel haNagid did not lead the armies on a campaign. He experienced
several narrow escapes in battle. Yet Arab historians make not a single
allusion to the fact that the Jewish vizier commanded the state armies
or even fought in the field. We would know nothing of Samuel as a
military strategist except for one Hebrew source and the pains that the
Nagid himself took to inform his contemporaries, and thereby posterity,
of his exploits. At the same time Samuel was a scholar of note who
wrote a kind of concordance to the Bible of a philoJogical character,
transcribed a faithful copy of the Hebrew Bible in his own hand, com-
posed a monumental halakhic text, and headed a Talmudic academy.
He was a prolific poet and a patron of poets and scholars. His son
Joseph succeeded him in office.3”

Natronai-Makhir was the first of the noted dynasty of the Makhiri.
It is even possible that, following Arabic usage, he came to be known
familiarly as Ha-Makhiri or Al-Makhiri of Narbonne. Can we see
therein perhaps the-origin of the name of the otherwise “legendary”
(because unidentified) Aymeri of Narbonne, contemporary of Charle-
magne and central hero of several chansons de geste ? The first historical
personages known by this name in France were an abbot of Devre®®

37. J. Schirmann, “Samue] Hannagid, the Man, the Soldier, the Politician,” JSS,
XII (1951), 99-126; Y. Baer, Jews in Christian Spain, 1, 32-35; 383, note 8;
M. Margalioth, Sefer Hilkhot Hannagid, pp. 52-53; cf. G. D. Cohen, “The Four
Captives,” 126-29.

38. The date is established only with probability from a twelfth-century copy
by G. Tessier (ed.), Recueil des actes de Charles le Chauve, 1, no. 42, pp. 115, 117:12,
23, “eorum abbati nomine Aimerico.” Dévre was dependent on the church at
Bourges. Otherwise, in France the name of Aymeri is associated only with
Narbonne until the twelfth century.
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in 844 ( ?), a bishop® of Narbonne 927-77, and Aymeri I, Viscount of
Narbonne, 1080-1105. In Catalonian sources the names Eimeric,
Aimeric, and so forth, appear in the period 879-996.40 In the face of
this early documentation, long before the oldest chansons, it is difficult
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Photograph of MS latin 2718, folio 76a, Paris Bibliotheque Nationale, illustrating,
in the line indicated, the reading by Carpentier and Roziéres “et loseph atque
Ammonicum, pares eorurn,” as reported by Wilhelm Schmitz, Monumenta tachy-
graphica codicis Parisiensis Latini 2718, fase. 1 (Hanover 1882), no. 31, p. 23, note 5.
The cum and pares appear in longhand and serve to locate the text.

to see why Ferdinand Lot has declared himself persuaded that Aymeri |
and his successors owe their name to the influence of the chansons de
geste.4l Was Al-Makhiri of Narbonne, warrior for Pepin and his sons
and beneficiary of their bounty, the historical prototype of the enigmatic
“Aymeri of Narbonne” ? This becomes a growing probability if the
name of a Jewish leader in Lyons written in Tironian notes and read

39. Aymeri de Narbonne, ed. L. Demaison, |, Introduction, cxxix; E. Griffe,
Histoire religieuse, pp. 127-31. At Bishop Aymeric’s death the Viscount of Narbonne
placed his own son on the see, p. 234; see p. 243.

40. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 63. M. C. Coll i Alentom, “La introduccid
de les liegendes épiques Franceses a Catalunya,” Coloquios de Roncesvalles, 146.

41. F. Lot, Etudes sur les légendes épiques francaisest p. 254, note 3. Demaison
early took up position against this view, Aymeri de Narbonne, I, Introduction,
pp. Cxxviii-ix.
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as Ammonicum by Carpentier and Roziéres, and accepted by Bouquet,
should turn out to be, more correctly, dimericum.4*

In the summer of 782, at the time that Theodoric was off in the East
fighting his king’s battles, a count by the name of Milo makes an
appearance in the records concerning Narbonne. A court judgment
relates that Archbishop Daniel, on taking temporary leave of his see,
entrusted its administration to Arluin. The latter brought suit against
Count Milo for a considerable number of villae belonging in the juris-
diction of the churches St. Justus and St. Pastor of Narbonne and two
suburban basilicae St. Paul and St. Stephen. In all, more than fifty
pieces of real property were involved. Milo could produce no proof that
he held the land from King Charles as he claimed; while, on the other
hand, thirteen boni homines swore that the property belonged to the
churches mentioned. Judgment went against the Count who restored
the properties on June 3. Griffe (following Lesne) says that the heading
of the document (which states that the Archbishop was away from his
diocese on pilgrimage to Jerusalem) is a later addition.® Actually,
since the Cathedral of St. Justus and St. Pastor was not built until the

42. ... et Joseph atque Ammonicum pares eorum ...” in the well-known
mandate of Emperor Louis the Debonair for the Jewry of Lyons dated ca. 825;
RdHdF ed. M. Bouquet VI, no. XXXIII, 650. Zeumer, following W. Schmitz, brands
this reading incorrect. They can distinguish _jo the Tironian notes IMP or IPM,
which form no recognizable name. Furthermore, cum is not the conclusion of the
name (Ammonicum in Bouquet) but must be construed with pares eorum, asserts
Zeumer, in spite of the bad grammar. He therefore reads the passage as follows:
... notum sit, quia hos praesentes Hebreos, David, nunnum Davitis, et Joseph
atque . . . cum pares eorum, habitantes in Lugduno civitate . . .”; Formulae no. 31,
p. 310:7-8. Zeumer's difficulty with David, nunnum Davitis may be resolved if we
translate: David, offspring (that is, of the House) of David. See photograph of MS
latin 2718, fol. 76a, Bibliothéque Nationale, Paris, Fig. I here. Viscount Aymeri
held ancient family property, including the Jews' old school, in the Juiverie of
Narbonne as late as 1217; G. Saige, Juifs du Languedoc, p. 156. See this text p. 165,
note 38.

43. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp.
438-39. E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse, p. 93-94. E. Lesne, Histoire de la propriété
ecclésiastique, 11, 1, 49-58; 185-97; VI, 19, 30, 34, 44, 46.

The heading states that Daniel was on pilgrimage to Jerusalem: Danielo episcopo
Jerosolymam profecto, remansit causidicus Arluinus. A. Molinier states that this
reading is based on a faulty copy; HGL, II, preuves, no. 6 - V, col. 47-50.
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end of the ninth century, the entire document is suspect. This suspicion
is strengthened by the anachronistic use of the title archbishop through-
out and the vulgar Latin of the text, which is not older than the late
tenth or early eleventh century. The original has apparently been
tampered with and obviously for the benefit of the tenth- or eleventh-
century archbishop. Who the absent official really was and for whose
benefit the authentic court judgment was given is not now ascertain-
able. The impression is that the Saxon war lasted through the summer
and fall of 782 demanding Theodoric’s presence in the East. Not until
Christmas did Charlemagne return to Thionville on the Moselle.4

However, there is no reason to doubt the presence in Narbonne of
a Count Milo at this time. In fact two silver pennies have been found
which were minted in or near Narbonne and bear his name. One denar
has the letters MILO in the four corners of the coin and the name
NRBO on the other side. With the transfer to silver coinage under the
Carolingians all coins carried the name or monogram of the king. This
denar is the only known exception. Neither Ad. Soetbeer nor Abel
and Simson can explain by what authority Milo was permitted to mint
coins in Narbonne stamped with his own name. Amardel emphasizes
the significance for Milo’s status implicit in such independent coinage.*®
In the chansons a Milo appears frequently as the brother of Aymeri.
According to one manuscript version of Aymeri de Narbonne, Milon
de Pruelle was the brother of Aymeri; his grandfather Garin de Mont-

44. The end of the document reads after Milo’s signature: “S. Milo comis qui
hanc notitiam tradictionis, judicii et evacuationis feci et firmare rogavi bonis homini-
bus.” Why should Milo speaking in the first person request that this judgment be
confirmed if it did indeed go against him ? On the duration of the Saxon war, see
S. Abel, B. Simson, Jakrbiicher ... Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp. 430-35. On
the date of the Cathedral, HGL, V, p. 37 no. 9. See p. 46, note 19 of this text.

45. Ad. Soetbeer, “Beitrige zur Geschichte des Geld- und Miinzwesens in
Deutschland,” Forschungen zur deutschen Geschichte, IV (1864), 344; S. Abel,
B. Simson, Jahrbiicher ... unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, pp. 438-39; G. Amardel,
“La premiére monnaie de Milon,” BCAN, VI (1900-01), 381-90, and especially his
“Les derniers chefs des Goths de la Septimanie,” ibid., 577, note 1, 580-81; and
“Le comte Milon,” BCAN, VII (1902/03), 30 wherein he identifies Milon as the
supreme, independent head of the Goths of Septimania and their last chief, succeed-
ing Theodoric as Count of Narbonne.
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glane, a contemporary of Pepin, is the presumed ancestor of the
Aymeri-William clan.

In another manuscript version of Aymeri, Milo son of Duke Garnier
appears as Aymeri’s emissary to King Boniface of the Lombards to
ask for his sister Hermengarde in marriage. Remarkably, the French
tradition as represented by the chansons de geste knows of only one
pope who stood in relationship with Charlemagne, Pope Milo. In
Aspremont, Pope Milo follows Charlemagne in his wars. In the Couron-
nement de Charles, he comes to Aix-la-Chapelle to anoint the Emperor
with great pomp.4?

Makhir’s major military responsibility, however, lay in the direction
of Spain even though he might be summoned to take part in wars in
other lands. But any invasion of the peninsula required a “softening
up” of the fortresses on the other side of the mountains. Once more
Gerona is the first citadel to rise into view. In 785, for reasons that are
not made clear, “the men of Gerona” turned their town over to King
Charles. This is the same fortress that Suleiman had offered to Pepin
in 759 (if not 752); and Suleiman ben Yoktan ibn Arabi was Wali of
Gerona at the time he allied with Charles in 777. Who were ““the men
of Gerona,” that took the initiative this time is not stated. It seems to
imply communal action of a kind which is not easily explicable on the
basis of eighth-century town constitu/ti’on. Shortly thereafter Ausona
and Urgel appear under Frank domiriation.*® But according to Bishop
Idalcarius of Vich at the Council of Barcelona in 906, the Saracen
invasion had annihilated all Christians in the County of Ausona, and
they were no longer found therein until near the end of the ninth
century. In the distant past (declared the Bishop) Hispania and Gothia,

46, J. Crosland, The OIld French Epic, p. 46; see Index s.v. Milon, Garin;
L. Demaison (ed.), Aymeri de Narbonne, I, Introduction, p. cclii.

47. G. Paris, Histoire poétique de Charlemagne, pp. 421, 455.

48. Fodem anno (785) Gerundenses homines Gerundam civitatem Carlo regi
tradidémnt; Chronicon Moissac, MGH, SS, 1, p. 297:29-30. S. Abel, B. Simson,
Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 1, 2nd ed., pp. 419-20; 11, pp. 14-15.

In 798 King Louis of Aquitaine set up a line of fortifications on Aquitaine’s
borders—the town Ausona (later Vich), the Castell Cardona (northwest of Barce-
lona), Castaserra, “and the other formerly abandoned places.” He strengthened
them, gave them residents, and entrusted their defence to Coum Burellus; Vira
Hludowici, anno 798, § 8, p. 611:17-20.
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including Ausona, once had sacred institutions. But in consequence of
invasion not a single Christian remained behind in the County of
Ausona until the time of Wifred and his brothers, who restored the
church to its former possessions with the aid of the prelates Sigebod,
Theodard, Gotmar, and Arnust of Narbonne.#® On the other hand
Hebrew responsa of the ninth century speak of Ausona as an all-Jewish
town.® Moreover, the Jewish community of Gerona emerges in the
documents at the beginning of the eleventh century; by the twelfth
century it is found occupying the most ancient section of the town
within the old walls.® Is there being enacted at this time in the fortresses
of the gestating “March of Spain” a repetition of the fall of Narbonne
to the Franks in 759 and for similar reasons ? Perhaps coordinate with
these successful efforts to penetrate the peninsula by treaty and local
support in the east was an attempt to move into Gascony at the
western end of the Pyrenees. Such an attempt on the part of Duke
Chorso of Toulouse terminated in a debacle. The details are shrouded
in vagueness approaching mystery. The net result appears to be that
Chorso permitted himself to be trapped by the Basque Adalric, and
only by swearing an oath (of contents unknown) was he allowed to go
free. The *“‘soft” treatment of Adalric by the administrators of Aquitaine
enraged Charlemagne, who summoned the bold rebel to the Diet of
Worms in 790 and sentenced him to everlasting banishment. He then
replaced Chorso with William. William identified himself as the son of
Theodoric and Alda; the chansons de geste make his father the fabled
“Aymeri” (Al-Makhiri ?). If William was indeed the offspring of the

49. “Cum priscis temporibus tota Hispania atque Gotia sacris insisteret erudi-
tionibus, & vernaret clero, atque fulgeret ecclesiis Christo dicatis, inter reliquas ipsa
quoque Ausonensis ecclesia nobilis habebatur. Peccatis vero exigentibus illorum,
qui tunc habitatores erant illarum terrarum, ut omnes nostis, barbarico gladio
divino judicio traditi sunt, ita ut nec aliquis christianorum in praedicto pago Ausonae
remaneret. Post multorum autem annorum curricula misertus Dominus terrae,
suscitavit in ea nobilissimum principem Wilfredum & fratres ejus: qui, ex diversis
locis & gentibus homines pio amore colligentes, praclibatam ecclesiam cum suis
finibus in pristinum instauraverunt statum . . .,” HGL, V, preuves, col. 117.

50. See pp. 318-19 of this text.

51. L (F.) Baer, Die Juden im christlichen Spanien, 1, part 1, no. 3, p. 2, December
1002; EJ, VII, “Gerona,” col. 298.
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marriage which Makhir contracted in 768, he would not be older than
twenty or twenty-one in 790, which marks his first appearance in the
documents.5?

The death of Emir ‘Abd ar-Rahman on October 7, 788 must have
provided new opportunity to press further into the peninsula. Perhaps
this news precipitated Chorso’s action. Far more successful, in any
event, was the penetration at the eastern slope of the mountains. Alcuin
reports that during 785-90 Charles’ “dukes and tribunes” captured
Gerona, Urgel, Ausona, and as much as three hundred miles along the
coast.’s

At a general assembly in Toulouse during the same period King
Louis of Aquitaine received an embassy of the Wali Abu Taurus
(Taher) and other Arab commanders of the Aquitaine border, who
brought gifts and sued for peace. This may be the same Taher who as
Wali of Huesca paid homage to Charles at Pamplona in 778. These
signal advances and victories were all achieved without the direct
participation of Charles, who spent 790 and the early part of 791 in
and around Worms.5 '

Northern Spain now lay at the feet of Charlemagne. Victory had
been achieved at relatively low cost by quiet diplomacy rather than by
clash of arms. Clearly the hour had struck for recognition of these
achievements in Spain. Charlemagne responded—with’ his (now lost)
privilegium of 791, which is referred to-on p. 63 of this text. Thereby,
the Jewish Principate, established by the Frankish kings in 768, at
the head of which was Natronai-Makhir, became a permanent institu-
tion located in an extensive domain on both sides of the Pyrenees and
along the shores of the Mediterranean.

52. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 12-13.

53. Alcuin, Epistolae, MGH, Epistolarum Tomus IV, ed. E. Diimmler, no. 7
ineunte anno 790, p. 32:17-18. A. Kleinclausz says that no text mentions formally
the occupation of Urgel and Vich (formerly Ausona) at this time but it follows
from the events which took place during Charles' conflict with Adoptionism,
Charlemagne, p. 153, note 2; cf. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem
Grossen, 11, p. 15. Kleinclausz points out that Hisham had preached Holy War
since 791, hence Charles should not have left the southern border undefended by
dispatching powerful contingents to Italy under King Louis; op. cit., p. 154.

54, S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, I1, p. 15 and the
references there.
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Alexandre Dumége reported® that this document was once located
in Lagrasse. This is the same monastery where the compiler of the
Gesta labored at his task in the thirteenth century, a location also
which seems to have been the repository of the source used by the
author of the Milkemet Mitsvah. The contents of Charlemagne’s lost
privilegium dovetail nicely with the facts established thus far and
supplement them significantly, as follows: “In 791, a delegation of ten
men headed by Isaac petitioned Charlemagne in the name of a Jewish
king, whose seat was in Narbonne, to make permanent the institution
of a Jewish monarchy there; Charlemagne confirmed this kingship as
a permanent institution in return for [an annual] payment of 70 marks
silver and ceded a section of Narbonne to them.”

Isaac makes his first appearance in the documents here. He must
have played some role in the Frank advances in Spain and perhaps
also in other lands. He obviously came of -a prominent family. The
situation would seem to have called for William to report directly to
the King after the triumphs in Spain. But we do not know William’s
Hebrew name and we are in the dark about Isaac’s Latin or Frank
name. The information about Isaac’s name and the delegation he led
derives from the lost capitulary or privilegium (as reported by Dumége)
and not from any of the royal annals. On the other hand, the mission to
Baghdad and Jerusalem 797-801 was widely publicized. The ambassador
from North Africa reported that two of its three leading officials had
died en route; only one returned—Isaac the Jew.5® Obviously the Arab
official knew only the latter’s Hebrew or Arabic (not his Frank) name.

The contents of the manuscript reported by Dumége are so similar

55. For Dumege’s report see p. 63 of this text. The tradition reported by Dumége
should not be confused with a legendary account (found in the archives of the
Jewry of Avignon) that King David sent two knights to conclude an alliance with
the city of Narbonne; furthermore, that during the period of Rome’s glory there
were established three capitals. The first was set in Jerusalem, the second at Rome,
and the third in Narbonne. The last-named had authority over all Spain and Gaul
and was called Capduel because Narbonne was the key of Spain; Bibliotheque
Nationale, Collection Doat, vol. 3, fol. la. Cf. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 176,
note 4, for the same first part of this account, drawn from the Narbonne town
archives, Thalamus fol. 3a, 130v.

56. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrblicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 254-57;
see this text pp. 187-89.
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to the Gesta (soon to be analyzed) that Régné, whose theories were
compromised thereby, maintained that Dumeége was referring merely
to the Gesta. When confronted by the vital date 791, lacking in the
Gesta, he hinted that Dumége fabricated it!5? There are still other
variants. The Gesta makes no reference to the prophet Daniel as
ancestor of the Jewish king in Narbonne and counts eleven, instead of
ten, men in the delegation to Charlemagne.5®

It is then to the point to inquire into the reliability of the document
itself. A discussion of its formal nature may help to a conclusion.
Dumége left no doubt that he himself never saw the manuscript in
question, which apparently is now lost. He merely transmitted a resumé
of its contents, perhaps as summarized by an earlier archival official.
Was the lost manuscript a royal charter ? The resumé leaves the im-
pression that it was a narrative statemetit’based, to be sure, on a royal
edict which stabilized the Jewish “kingship” as a permanent institution

57. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 19. In transcribing this passage from Dumége,
1. Lévi did not distinguish between Dumeége’s comment beginning Ils firent construire,
etc., (which starts a new paragraph in Dumége’s essay) and the actual contents of
the manuscript he reported. His comment of course did not belong in the manuscript
where Lévi placed it. Lévi is also of the opinion that Dumege’s find was the Gesza,
“Le roi juif de Narbonne,” REJ, XLVIII (1904), 201-02. This is impossible because
the manuscript reported by Dumeége gives crucial information not found in the
Gesta, such as the critical date 791, the payment of 70 marks silver when the Gesta
has 70,000, and the reference to Daniel. Dumége knew the Gesta well and could not
have confounded it with the “lost” document; see his Additions et notes to Devic
et Vaissete, HGL, I (Toulouse 1840), livre VIII, pp. 18a-32b. Schneegans’ edition
of the Gesta also publishes a Provengal translation which is very close to the version
printed here by Dumége.

58. Surprising as is the reference to descent from the prophet Daniel instead of
King David, the intent is the same, namely, to provide a royal lineage for the Jewish
king in Narbonne.

Accordingto the Bible (Daniel 2:48; 6:3, 29), Nebuchadnezzar appointed Daniel ruler
over Babylonia, a position which he retained under Darius into the reign of Cyrus.

An Arab tradition presents Daniel as King of the Israelites after their return
from captivity. The Persian apocalypse Daniel makes Daniel the son of King
Yekhonya (Yehoiakhin) the exiled King of Judah, and designates him a Persian
satrap; J. E., IV, pp. 427-29; E. J., V, p. 772.

An Arab tale by a writer of second century Islam (that is, contemporary with
Charlemagne) has the Jewish exilarch refer to himself as the descendant of a prophet,
1. Goldziher, “Renseignements de source musulmane,” REJ, VIII (1884), 123,
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and granted a portion of Narbonne to the Jewish ruler or community;
but that it was not a charter itself. Relevant, however, is one distin-
guishing feature of Merovingian and Carolingian diplomas.

These royal charters were replete with narrative. They described the
various stages in the negotiations leading up to their final preparation:
the contents of the petition to the king, the name of the petitioner, and
whether he was present in person or represented by others, the relations
between king and petitioner which occasioned the request and deter-
mined the king’s decision, a recital of services rendered, and so forth.
One Carolingian diploma has even preserved the names of the negotiat-
ing ambassadors, thus recalling Dumége’s (and the Gesta’s) mention
of Isaac as the head of a delegation of ten men. Such a chancellery
practice became increasingly frequent in the Carolingian Age.%®

These considerations and, in addition, the explicit date, make it
probable that the manuscript at the basis of the report by Dumege
was a diploma of Charlemagne’s, dated 791, which, in the manner
characteristic of its time, prefaced the King’s edict with a narration of
how an embassy sent by the Nasi in Narbonne and led by a very pro-
minent Isaac came to Charlemagne. It may be supposed that the narra-
tive described their petition for a permanent kingship, recited the
services they had rendered to the crown, and detailed any other grounds
in support of their request.

This conjecture finds substantiation in a statement by the ShK
Addendum that there did indeed once exist a favorable collection of
laws promulgated by Charlemagne, which the Jews of Narbonne held
in their possession at the time of the composition of the “Appendix,”
and which the author himself may have examined.

This document declares that Charlemagne “designed, out of love for
[Prince Makhir], good statutes for the benefit of all the Jews dwelling
in the city [Narbonne], as is written and sealed in a Latin (/it., Christian)
charter; and the seal of the King thereon [bears] his name Carolus;
and it is in their possession at the present time.”%

59. G. Kleeberg, Untersuchungen zu den Urkunden Karls des Grossen, pp. 44-46
and footnotes.

60. MJC, 1, p. 82. For text see Appendix III in this work. This entire section is
translated (rather freely) into French by A. Neubauer, “Documents inédits. XVI.
Documents sur Narbonne,” REJ, X (Paris 1885), 103-05.
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This statement conveys the impression of an eyewitness report:
apparently, the writer or his informant actually saw the document and
its seal, and perhaps even quoted a short portion of it. For the words
“out of love for [Makhir},” which could hardly have originated with
the author four centuries later, are the equivalent of the Latin ob
amorem . . ., an expression of motivation which appears almost ex-
clusively in Carolingian privilegia. It has been located for example in
the arenga (an introductory remark stating the motivation for the
grant) of the privilegium for the monastery of Farfa endowing it with
exemption and the free choice of its own abbot.5! The likelihood that
Dumége was relating the contents of a royal diploma or capitulary
appears substantially increased.

In a mandate dated about 825 Charlemagne’s son Louis le Débon-
naire (the Pious) refers to the fact that he previously issued a capitulary
for the Jews (presumably of the Empire). He designates this as “regu-
lations (capitula) which we promulgated for their [the Jews’] obser-
vance.”®? Was this perhaps a confirmation of his father’s and grand-
father’s (Pepin’s) action ? The Capitulary of Louis the Debonair, now
lost, was issued before 825, the approximate date of the mandate
wherein it is mentioned. He promulgated it very likely soon after his
accession to the throne as successor of Charlemagne in 814. The royal
missi brought to Lyons a Capitulary of Louis le Débonnaire in favor
of the Jews. When Bishop Agobard wds apprised of its contents he
professed to be so shocked as to refuse to believe that it was authentic.%®

Now Dumgége reported that the successful petitioner of Charlemagne
was the Jewish “king” in Narbonne acting through a diplomatic
mission. The ShK Addendum related that Charlemagne’s favorable laws
were promulgated for Narbonne Jews “out of [Charles’] love” for
Makhir, Are they both talking of the same person ? Is the “Makhir”

61. G. Kleeberg, Untersuchungen, p. 23 note 5; for the text of the Farfa diploma,
Die Urkunden der Karolinger, ¢d. E. Miihibacher, MGH, Diplomatum Karolinorum,
1, no. 98, pp. 141-42: “Quicquid enim ob amorem ecclesiarum vel quietem servorum
dei exercemus (line 18) ... ob amorem domini nostri Jesu Christi (line 35).”

62. Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 31, p. 310:37-p. 311 top, “‘capitula, quae a
nobis eis observanda promulgata sunt.”

63. Agobard, Epistolae, ed. E. Diimmler, MGH, Epistolaec Karolini aevi, V, 3,
p. 183:9. A. J. Zuckerman, “The Political Uses of Theology.”
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of SkK to be equated with the “king” mentioned by Dumége ? And are
then the two documents in reality only one and the same ? Was the
manuscript described by Dumége identical with, or at least a transcript
of, the diploma attested to by the “Appendix” of ShK ?It is possible to
date somewhat more definitely the capitulary or privilegium described
in ShK and thereby to bring it into proximity with the known date of
the lost manuscript. Simultaneously, its authenticity will be established.
In describing the diploma extant in Narbonne Jewry in the twelfth
century, the “Appendix™ correctly singled out as its salient external
feature the seal of Charlemagne, but mentioned no signature. This in-
formation conforms exactly to the practice in Charlemagne’s chan-
cellery. While the signature of the king on Merovingian charters served
as the attestation par excellence of their validity and the royal seal was
only secondary, on Carolingian documents the seal served to replace
the signature. In fact, from the middle of Charlemagne’s reign on (that
is, about 791) it came to be the rule for the diploma to include an
order for its sealing; and the affixing of the seal became the final act
in the preparation of the charter and its entirely adequate warranty.
Authentic Carolingian diplomas never went unsealed, although they
frequently remained unsigned. This is true of royal toll privileges,
mandates, a land grant, a privilegium of protection including a con-
firmation of land holding, and confirmations of all kinds. Not until the
end of the ninth century did the king’s signature recapture some of its
former importance, so that few diplomata thereafter went unsigned.
By drawing attention to the royal seal in the absence of any signature
the writer emphasized that distinctive feature of Charlemagne’s diploma
which assured its authenticity. At the same time he makes it possible

64. G. Kleeberg, Untersuchungen, pp. 48-56. For one of the seals used in his
chancellery see O. Posse, Die Siegel der deutschen Kaiser und Kénige, 1. T51-1347,
p. 9, Tafel 1, no. 4; V: Das Siegelwesen der deutschen Kaiser und Konige von 751 bis
1913, p. 5. The inscription around this seal of Charlemagne’s (the bust is actually
that of Emperor Antoninus Pius) reads as follows: + XRE PROTEGE CAROLVM
REGE FRANCR. This particular seal is found on documents of Charlemagne's
issued in the period 772-813. For a metal bull with a contemporaneous portrait of
Charlemagne (now virtually illegible) of the period before 800, P. E. Schramm, Die
zeitgendssischen Bildnisse Karls des Grossen, pp. 20-25, 55, 60. On unusually splendid
golden seals affixed to Jewry privilegia of Louis le Débonnaire, H. Bresslau, “Zur
Lehre von den Siegeln der Karolinger und Ottonen,” AfUyf, I (1908), 363-64.
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to date the charter between 791 (when this practice became the rule)
and 814 (the death of Charlemagne). Dumége reported the date of the
lost manuscript as 791.

In other respects too these documents approximate one another.
The lost manuscript related the cession by Charlemagne of their area
of settlement to Narbonne Jewry or their king. The ShK “Appendix”
speaks only generally of “good statutes.”” However, a short while earlier,
while not ascribing his information to the privilegium, the writer had
nonetheless reported that King Charles granted extensive holdings to
the scholar-prince Makhir and allotted one-third of Narbonne to him,
in this manner paralleling Dumége.®® On the other hand, Dumége’s
testimony to the effect that a delegation led by Isaac secured Charle-
magne’s confirmation of the Jewish kingship in Narbonne as a per-
manent institution finds no parallel in ShK, although it corresponds
almost exactly to the Gesta.% Actually, however, analysis reveals that
the testimony of the ShK Addendum is based on this grant of a per-
manent Principate by implication. Earlier the “Appendix” had made
“King Charles™ the source of a request to the Caliph for a scholar-
prince of royal lineage whom the Frankish King then settled in Nar-
bonne, raised to the nobility, and endowed with extensive estates.
Now, directly following his description of the salient feature of Charle-
magne’s privilegium, namely the seal, the author proceeded to tell of
the maintenance of the Jewish Principafe in Narbonne as a permanent
institution, and emphasized the kinship of Makhir and his progeny with
Charlemagne and his_successors on the throne of the Franks.*” Clearly,
the writer or his source intended to convey that the Jewish Principate
in Narbonne was established with the knowledge and consent of
Charlemagne, and that its possessions and privileges were maintained
and protected as a permanent grant for generations by the kings of
France in the face of attempts to whittle them down.

In view of the striking identities of contents and date between both
records, the conclusion appears warranted that the lost document

65. MJC, 1, p. 82; see Appendix III this text, p. 384:8-11.
66. Gesta, ed. F. Ed. Schneegans, p. 178:2341-64. The Gesta counts ten men in
the delegation to Charlemagne in addition to Isaac, “. .. elegerunt Ysaac et alios.

x.!i
67. MJC, 1, p. 82. See Appendix III of this text, p. 384:11-17.
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which Dumeége reported formerly lay in the Abbey of Lagrasse was
either the very privilegium described in the ShK Addendum or else a
transcript of it.%® In either event, the “king” of the document would
correspond to the “Prince (Nasi) Makhir”” mentioned by SAK.% There-
by the Principate established by the Frankish kings in 768 became a
permanent institution (Patriarchate, princedom, “monarchy™) by act
of Charlemagne in 791.

68. Why should a royal charter for Narbonne Jewry be deposited in the Lagrasse
monastery for safekeeping ? The praeceptum of Emperor Louis dated February 22,
839, in behalf of Gaudiocus and his sons Jacob and Vivacius, Jews of Septimania,
was also preserved in the archives of the same abbey, HGL, 11, preuves, no. 97 col.
211; J. Aronius, Regesten, no. 102, pp. 42-43. (On the location of the property
mentioned, Valerianis sive Bagnilis, in Septimania [Carcassonne), see L’Abbé
Sabarthes, Dictionnaire topographique du Département de I’ Aude, p. 20.) The pre-
sence of Charlemagne’s Capitulary of 791 and Louis le Débonnaire’s mandate of
839 in Lagrasse and perhaps other documents of Jewish content (as hinted at by the
compiler of the Gesta) is very puzzling. Does this point to the possession of Lagrasse
in the Carolingian Age by a Jewish royal official while it was still merely a strong-
hold and not yet a monastery ? At the same time it must be noted that the Caro-
lingian sovereigns did not hesitate to appoint lay “abbots” over monasteries.
Apparently, “abbot™ and even *“bishop™ connoted at this time a royal official
assigned to an ecclesiastical property or office and did not necessarily imply pre-
requisite ecclesiastical training or commitment. The possession of seigneurial allods
conferred on the Jews rights over religious orders and even over bishops, according
to M. Tournal, Catalogue du Musée de Narbonne, pp. 49-50.

69. Aronius denies the historicity of any grant by Charlemagne to the Jews or
their chieftain at Narbonne. He was not acquainted with Dumége’s report. He
directs attention to a narrative related about Emperor Otto II which he considers
the source of the “fiction™ related by Meir b. Simeon regarding the loyal Jewish
hero who gave up his charger in order to save his King Charles. Emperor Otto is
reported to have been saved at a battle against the Saracens in 982 by a member of
the Kalonymos family who gave him his own horse which swam with the ruler to
the safety of a passing vessel. The Kalonymides presumably brought this story to
Narbonne; J. Aronius, “Karl der Grosse und Kalonymos aus Lucca,” ZGJD, 11
(1888), 82-87; cf. H. Bresslau, “Diplomatische Erliuterungen zu den Juden-
privilegien Heinrichs 1V,” ZGJD, 1 (1887), 157-58. However, it must be clear from
what has been said here that the historicity of Charlemagne’s act does not stand or
fall with the tale related by Meir. Moreover, it should be noted that its presence in
Le Charroi de Nimes (see p. 124, note 24 of this text) of the twelfth century, denuded
of any Jewish content, points to a much older source than Meir’s Milhemet Mitsvah
of 1245, and rules out a fictional effort devoid of any factual basis.
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Contemporary sources reveal but little more about the extent of the
power and property which the Nasi and Narbonne Jewry held in the
town and environs in the eighth century. In the eleventh century,
however, the Archbishop of Narbonne made a very determined bid to
wrest control for himself from the local viscount and the Jewry there.
The clarification of his surge to power and the unravelling of those
entangled designs add significant information about the probable pos-
sessions of the Nasi and Narbonne Jewry up until the middle of the
eleventh century. In the end we may succeed in rescuing from oblivion
precious fragments of Pepin’s vastly significant grant to the Nasi and
Jewry at Narbonne and thereby identify several important confir-
mations of his act.



7

The Nasi of Narbonne
as Seigneur in
the Town and Environs

During the eleventh century Guifred Count of Cerdagne developed
the temporal power of the episcopate of Narbonne and raised it to a
level it had not attained for centuries. Quarrelsome and ambitious, he
spent his career in constant struggle with the Viscount of Narbonne.
He stripped the cathedral church of its treasures in order to promote
his aims, and when he died in 1079 was under the anathema of Pope
Gregory VII. Nevertheless, during a rule of sixty years Guifred managed
to expand significantly the power and possessions of his previously
impoverished see,! resorting to violence and the forgery of royal
diplomas when necessary. He succeeded so well that he may be said to
have created the basis for the tradition that at the capture of Narbonne
by the Franks, the town was divided equally between viscount, arch-
bishop, and Jewry.

Guifred’s efforts were crowned with such success because he was
enabled to take advantage of the weak legal foundation of viscountal

1. On the weakness and poverty of the church in Narbonne before the eleventh
century see this text pp. 154 fI.

146
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claims to authority in Narbonne. Originally, the viscount had been
merely the representative in Narbonne of the Marquis of Gothia. The
latter office was first created in 817 by Louis the Pious in order to
administer the newly formed March of Gothia, which was established
when Septimania (including Narbonne) was attached to the Spanish
March. The revolutionary movement of the ninth century then led to
a division of the Spanish March into two administrative units, one of
which, the Marquisate of Gothia, came to supplant the older Sep-
timania. However, by the start of the eleventh century, the authority
of the marquis had waned to such an extent in Narbonne that it had
come to be displaced completely, in reality usurped, by the viscount of
the town. This family became actual sovereigns within their domains.
Moreover, alongside the viscountal authority, the episcopal office was
insignificant, poorly endowed, and altogether subservient to the vis-
counts who, in fact, controlled the position and title of archbishop,
and held the right of election to the see. For all practical purposes, the
viscounty had absorbed the episcopacy too.

The eleventh century however saw a radical change in these relation-
ships. Shortly after the turn of the century, the viscountal family sold
the Bishopric of Narbonne to the Count of Cerdagne for the sum of
100,000 shillings, which was equally divided with the Count of Rouergue
(who held the title Marquis of Gothl:‘a), The new owner placed in
office his eldest son Guifred, who was consecrated archbishop in 1019
at the age of ten. But having once grown to man’s estate the new
prince of the church, scion of a comital family which was kin to the
great lords of the South, could not content himself with vassalage to
his powerful viscountal overlord; so he sought a strong ally to
balance the power relationship between them. Such aid he found in
Raymond of Toulouse, later the noted Raymond of St. Gilles, who
inherited the title of the virtually defunct Marquisate of Gothia in
1061. Archbishop and Marquis joined forces to undermine the fragile
legal basis of viscountal power in Narbonne, replace it with episcopal
authority,? and acquire as much as they could of Jewry’s possessions
in the town and environs.

2. A. Molinier, “Un diplome interpolé de Charles le Chauve,” Mélanges Julien
Havet, 69-72; of. HGL, I1, note CC, col. 314-15; J. Régné, Narbonne, p. 60, note 2;
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The alliance between them exists in two versions. In the first,
Raymond obligated himself as follows:

1. to be Guifred’s helper in the matter of all bishops consecrated in
the Dioceses of St. Justus and St. Pastor without Guifred’s consent;

2. to restore to Guifred the walls, towers and forts in Narbonne,
from the tower Quadrata (Carrée), which is next to the Porta Regia,
until the tower which is called Maurisca (Mauresque);

3. z0 make Raymond Berengar (the Viscount) and his sons restore
and confirm these possessions to Guifred; and likewise to make
Garsindo, Bernard and Bishop Peter, his offspring, restore to him . . .
{a lacuna here] and to confirm these in Guifred’s possession;

4. to allow Guifred to open a gate in the walls wherever he wishes;

5. to restore to Guifred half of all income derived on land and
water, which belongs to said episcopate in accordance with royal
decrees (sicut sonat in praeceptis regum) ;

6. to aid Guifred to retain the See of St. Justus and St. Pastor which
is within the walls of Narbonne, and also the office of archbishop
which is within said walls, and likewise everything outside the walls
which belongs to said office;

7. to give to Guifred as fief one-third of all that he may acquire in
the County of Narbonne by means of judicial proceedings.

The second version of the alliance contains certain significant ad-
ditions at approximately the lacuna noted above as follows:

3. to make (Viscount) Raymond Berengar et al. swear over to
Guifred the entire half of the city of Narbonne, from the road which
runs directly from the Porta Aquaria (Acaire) through its own cross
to the Porta Regia at the Circus, the castle itself at the Porta Regia
and all its appurtenances, and its towers called Torveiens, and [here
follows the reference to half the income on land and water), sicut sonat
in preceptis regum.®

HGL, 111, col. 352-53. The first to add the name of the town to the title Viscount
was Viscountess Adelaide who signed an act in this manner on June 13, 977; HGL,
V, col. 178; cf. I1I, col. 189-90.

3. HGL, V, preuves no. 273-CCXXIX, col. 535-38. Strictly speaking, the
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This offensive and defensive alliance was clearly directed against the
viscountal family and anyone else wielding authority in Narbonne and
environs who might stand in the way of Guifred’s drive to power.
Count Raymond accorded to Archbishop Guifred recognition to hold
and control half of the town of Narbonne, specifying which towers,
gates, and portions of the walls and sections of the city were to come
into the prelate’s possession. The Count-Marquis likewise recognized
his right to half the income on land and sea within the diocese of his
church. Finally, Raymond obligated himself to infeudate to Guifred
one-third of all territory which he would acquire by judicial process in
the Narbonnaise. The remaining two-thirds apparently was to be
Raymond’s recompense. Couched in the form of a “‘restoration” which
supposedly derived its force from royal mandates, the alliance in sum
was designed to transfer control over half of Narbonne and over half
the income in the environs to the Archbishop; and to divide all future
acquisitions in the county between the prelate and the Marquis by a
one-third, two-thirds ratio, respectively.

The allies were strikingly successful in their attack on the Viscount’s
dubious authority. By physical violence and the more spiritual means of
excommunication they brought the Viscount to his knees. On October
6, 1066, in the presence of the greatest personages of the province,
including the Count of St. Gilles, the Viscount Bernard Berengar
acknowledged the claim of Archbishop Guifred to half the city of
Narbonne from the Circus with the towers and capitol there, half the
castles at both the Royal Gate and the Water Gate and the city’s
entrance and exit; and half the tolls paid to the city on land and water;
and other properties. His son Raymond swore an oath of fealty to the
Archbishop and pledged himself to be faithful to him as a man should
be to his seigneur. His second son (Bishop) Peter swore a similar oath
of recognition of Guifred’s power and authority. Thereafter, although
the conflict between them did not end, the viscounts remained vassals

diplomata of 844 and 890, to be discussed, are not praecepta as they are called in
the alliance. The first is a diploma of immunity. On the other hand Pepin’s act of
768 was referred to as praecepta by Pope Stephen probably because of an order
therein beginning with a word like praecipimus.
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of the Archbishops until 1507. Thus the first part of the plan turned out
eminently successful.*

A. Molinier has shown by what methods and means in addition to
physical violence and spiritual coercion Guifred promoted his pre-
tensions to half the city of Narbonne, its towers, and other rights. He
resorted to forgery of royal documents in order to create a “legal”
basis for his claims.® A diploma of Charles the Bald dated June 20,
844 is extant in several copies, the oldest of which is an eleventh-
century product sketched after a lost original. This purports to be a
grant of immunity to the Archbishop Berarius of Narbonne extending
royal protection to the towers of the city as well as to abbeys, villas,
and lands belonging to the church there.® In addition, the diploma
contains an excerpt from an earlier charter of Pepin’s conveying half
of the royal Count’s income from tolls, portage, and maritime trade
along the coast and from salt works.?

4. HGL, V, preuves no. 275, col. 54042, parts I, I, INI; cf. HGL, 111, pp. 353-55.
Molinier dates it incorrectly 1067, ibid. A document of ca. 1067 reports that Viscount
Berengar divided his domains between his two sons Raymond and Bernard, and the
latter transferred his properties to his brother Raymond and to Raymond Peter, the
latter’s son. The domains mentioned are: one-half of Narbonne and of all income
on land and sea, half of the rights in the election to the see, half the castles, towers,
ramparts with seigneurial rights, one-half the Jews and of the Capitol, one-half of
everything; HGL, II (Paris 1733), p. 215. This may represent a last-minute attempt
on the part of Viscount Bernard Berengar to keep the Archbishop from asserting
control over his domains by transferring them to his brother and nephew. Benjamin
of Tudela, who came to Narbonne in 1166, reports that in his day the ruling Nasi of
the Davidic line held ‘“hereditaments and [other] landed properties from the ruler
of the Town (mss. E,A: ruler/s/ of the land) and no one may dispossess him by
force.” M. N. Adler (ed.), “Itinerary of Benjamin of Tudela,” JOR, XVI (1904), 459;
see above p. 58, note 19. The ruler of the town is the Viscount, the ruler(s) of the
land the Count of Toulouse (bearer of the title Marquis of Gothia).

5. A. Molinier, “Un diplome interpolé,” loc. cit., 72-75. Molinier appears to
accept as authentic the grant of half the income in the county.

6. Recueil des actes de Charles II le Chauve, ed. G. Tessier, I, no. 49, pp. 13943,
Specifically, the act grants immunity to *. .. id est tam illo atrio toto curmomni
integritate infra Narbonam cum turribus atque earum extrinisecus adjacentiis quam
abbatiis, villulis vel territoriis ad eandem ecclesiam pertinentibus”; ibid., p. 142;
15-17.

7. Ibid., pp. 142:19-143:1, See note 11 to p. 152 below.



The Nasi of Narbonne as Seigneur in the Town and Environs 151

There exist two copies of this document from the seventeenth cen-
tury, one of which is a transcription of a fourteenth-century (July 1,
1318) notarial vidimus; and still another copy of the eighteenth century.
These last three contain a significant addition in the extract from
Pepin’s diploma, which is absent from the eleventh-century sketch,
namely: “(by Pepin and his successors was ceded to the Archbishop)
half of the entire City with the towers and their adjacencies, inside
and outside, complete.”®

Since the eleventh-century sketch on parchment lacks this clause,
while the alliance between Archbishop and Marquis contains a virtually
identical statement, as does also the Viscount’s pledge of homage to
the Archbishop, Molinier concluded that Guifred arranged for its inter-
polation at this point in Charles’ diploma of 844. This view appears
to be strengthened by the reference in the alliance to royal decrees
(sicut sonat in preceptis regum) which the allies adduced as the basis of
their claims. G. Tessier, the most recent editor of the documents of
Charles the Bald, agrees with Molinier that the privilegium of 844 was
interpolated at the time of Archbishop Guifred. However, he limits the
interpolation to the clause about the city towers, and concludes that
the reference to half the town was an addition of the thirteenth century
(reported by the vidimus noted above), when the ruling archbishop was
pursuing the title of Duke of Narbonne. Both Tessier and Molinier are
of one mind, however, in judging the rest of the document to be
authentic including also the reference to Pepin’s diploma. This ruler
Molinier identifies with Pepin I the Short.?

Whether or not Archbishop Guifred interpolated the reference to
half of Narbonne, there is no question that the Marquis agreed in the
alliance to recognize a cession of half the city, and the Viscount first
conveyed to his sons, but later actually acknowledged Guifred’s over-
lordship over, the same area. One may conclude, in consequence, that
the clause as stated in royal precepts appears in the alliance and also in
the Viscount’s cession, because the Marquis accepted or promoted the

8. *. .. medietatem totius civitatis cum turribus et adjacentiis earum intrinsecus
et extrinsecus”; ibid., p. 141:12-13; cf. HGL, 11, preuves col. 238, no. 115-LXII
which adds the final words ab omni integritate; s. G. Tessier, Recueil, p. 142, note o.

9. A. Molinier, loc. cit., 72-75; Recueil, ed. G. Tessier, pp. 141-42.
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interpretation that the Archbishop held royal documents which sup-
ported his claim to half of Narbonne and its towers. The historical
situation favors Molinier’s position over Tessier’s. Yet they may both
be right on this point, as will appear later. Tessier postulates the
fabrication of a pseudo-original which fraudulently interpolated the
cession of half of Narbonne.1®

Archbishop Guifred successfully asserted overlordship over half of
Narbonne and, in addition, wrested possession of half the income from
tolls, trade, and salt production in the county from the Viscount. The
latter’s capitulation compels this conclusion. Now Molinier and Tessier
both hold the excerpt from Pepin’s charter cited in Charles’ diploma
(and repeated with elaborations in Eudo’s privilegium of 890) not only
to be absolutely authentic but also an original part of Charles the
Bald’s act, although stylistically it limps in the text at this point. In
consequence, Tessier assumes that Guifred -secured a restoration of
former toll, trade, and salt rights rather than an acquisition of com-
pletely new authority in the county.

These excerpts from (more properly, confirmations of) Pepin’s grant
state that the beneficiary of the diploma may retain for himself half
the income collected by the royal Count in the environs of Narbonne:

Moreover we [Charles the Bald] likewise grant to [. . .] just as was formerly
done by our predecessors King Pepin and thereafter integrally: from what-
ever commerce any toll or portage may be collected, as well as from ships
navigating the seacoast, and from the saltworks—whatever the Count of the
Town collects, to [...] (we grant) half of it all.

10. G. Tessier, Recueil, p. 141:18-19,

11. “Similiter autem concedimus eidem ecclesie, sicut actenus a predecessoribus
nostris Pipino videlicet rege et deinceps concessum est ab omni integritate, de
quocunque commertio ex quo teloneus exigitur vel portaticus ac de navibus circa
littora maris discurrentibus necnon salinis quicquid et comes ipsius civitatis exigit
pro oportunitate ejusdem ecclesie in omnibus medietatem;” G. Tessier, Recueil,
pp. 142:19-143:1. Following the words concessum est above, Tessier assumes the
fabricated pseudo-original interpolated as follows: “illi medietatem tocius civitatis
cum turribus et adjacenciis earum intrinsecus et extrinsecus cum omni integritate
et” and then continued with “de quocumque commercio . . .;” ibid., p. 142 note o.
In the document extant the beneficiary is the church at Narbonne,
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The corresponding passage in the charter of Eudo June 26, 890:

We hereby grant half of the saltworks, toll, portage, seigneurial rights in
shipwreck and pastures to [...] whether in the County of Narbonne or of
Razeés, wherever the Count or his representative receives or is entitled to
receive any exaction . . ., 1%

Tessier admits he was undecided whether or not to brand as an inter-
polation the citation from Pepin’s charter in Charles’ diploma, because
it clearly breaks the continuity of the text. The initial words per quod
of the sentence following the quotation can refer only to preceptum in
the sentence preceding the reference to Pepin’s act, so that Pepin’s
clause is an isolated entity unrelated to that which precedes or follows.
Nevertheless, Tessier finally decided in favor of its originality in Charles’
diploma because it fits the style in us€ in his chancellery. However,
Tessier admits that the rest of the diploma, as Molinier already pointed
out, is substantially Emperor Louis the Debonair’s act of immunity
for the church at Narbonne dated December 29, 814; and no diploma
exists which cedes such rights in property and income to the Bishop of
Narbonne as is claimed by Charles’ diploma.’®* May we not then have
here actually the fusing of two documents, both authentic: the modest
immunity of Louis the Debonair in behalf of the church at Narbonne,
and the broad and generous act of Charles the Bald confirming a
privilegium of Pepin the Short and successors in behalf of an as yet
unidentified beneficiary? The very limited, indisputably authentic,
grant of the villa Censerada by Charles to the church at Narbonne only
a few days previously* would seem to support the conclusion that the

12. “Concedimus medietatem salinorum, telonei, portatici et raficae atque
paschuarii seu classis naufragiorum ad eandem prefatam ecclesiam tam in Nar-
bonensi quam in Redensi comitatu, undecumque comes vel ejus missus receperit vel
recipere debuerit aliquid exactionis”’; G. Tessier, Recueil, p. 141:36-38; HGL, V,
col. 85-87. Likewise here the stated beneficiary is the church at Narbonne.

13. Recueil ed. G. Tessier, pp. 141:29-142:3. Cf. A. Molinier, loc. cit., 68; Louis’
diploma in HGL, 1I, preuves, no. 31, col. 94.

14. Recueil ed. G. Tessier, June 12, 844 no. 48, pp. 138-39. This act exists only
in copies of the twelfth and seventeenth centuries with discordances between the
various parts of the dating. The same inexactness of dating reappears in the diploma
of June 20, 844, ibid., p. 142:4. Was the date computed on the basis of the inexact-
ness of the earlier diploma of June 12?7
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broad and generous act at the basis of the interpolated and faultily
dated diploma of June 20, 844, was not designed originally for the
benefit of the Bishop of Narbonne.

Who was the original beneficiary of Pepin’s privilegium, and Charles’
and Eudo’s confirmation of it ? Obviously not the royal Count. Like
Tessier, other scholars have assumed it was the Archbishop of Nar-
bonne. But they have been nonplussed by the fact that none but a
very modest cession is extant of Louis the Debonair in behalf of the
Bishop. Such an omission makes it suspect in any other Carolingian
diploma. To this may be added that Eudo’s act, which repeats Pepin’s
cession with elaborations, exists only in a copy contemporaneous with
Guifred. Yet its original phrasing and language are deemed to be
authentic.!* Moreover, such grants would imply that the bishops of
Narbonne had in fact been powerful lords, heavily endowed with
Carolingian gifts; and that the Viscount had -usurped not only powers
and possessions properly the prerogative of the royal count and
marquis but also of the bishop as well.

However, Molinier has challenged this older view of the archbishops’
powers. “Nothing permits drawing the conclusion (as did Besse),” he
has asserted, “that the Archbishops were co-sovereigns of the Marquis
of Gothia.” In point of fact, the archbishops received very few and
very ungenerous royal charters. Ever since the recapture of Narbonne
from the Saracens until Guifred’s day, they held relatively meager
possessions and very limited authority in Narbonne. Only in con-
sequence of Guifred’s attack upon the Viscount did the Archbishop
capture control of half of Narbonne'® and, we may add, half of the

15. HGL, V, no. 13, col. 85; cf. Recueil, ed. G. Tessier, p. 141:34-40.

16. A. Molinier, loc. cit., 68, 70-71. Eudo’s act quotes Bishop Theodard that the
church at Narbonne was poorly endowed, and, in fact, until very recently had lain
in ruins together with other ecclesiastical institutions; HGL, V, no. 13-XI1I, col. 85.
Cf. p. 156, note 18 of this text, where the identical statement is attributed to Bishop
Arnust and repeated HGL, V, no. 46-XLV, col. 14344, in a royal diploma of
June 7, 922. A similar plaint appears in a diploma of November 1, 899; HGL, V,
no. 20-XX, col. 96, again quoting Bishop Arnust. The earliest appearance of this
very statement is in a grant of King Carloman to Sigebod Archbishop of Narbonne
and Razés; HGL, V, col. 68-70, dated June 4, 881. Griffe points out that directly
following the fall of Narbonne to the Franks, Bishop Daniel had to struggle for the
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income from salt production, tolls, and navigation rights in the county.
There is no basis for the assumption that the Archbishop had had
legal title to half of Narbonne or half the income in the county by
right of royal grant, from the eighth century on. If the Archbishop had
actually held legal title to half the salt flats, tolls, and other income in
the county, he would not have been content to accept from the Marquis
only one-third of all he could acquire. This means that the clauses
cited here from Charles’ and Eudo’s diplomas originally were not
intended for the benefit of the Bishop of Narbonne. They were inter-
polated in order to create a “legal” basis for Guifred’s claims in the
county. We have already noted Tessier’s doubt regarding the originality
of the extract from Pepin’s grant in Charles’ diploma of 844. One may
suspect that it was lifted from an authentic diploma and interpolated
at this point out of an act of immunity of Louis the Debonair.

But if not the Bishop of Narbonne, who was the original beneficiary
of these concessions of half the income from salt flats, tolls, and
navigation rights ? And of what authentic royal charter were they once
an integral part ?

Was the recipient of Pepin’s grant the Viscount of Narbonne?
Obviously not. The viscounty did not come into existence until after
the establishment of the Marquisate of Gothia in the ninth century.
The prerogatives of the royal Count iana.rboﬁie went over to the
Marquis who delegated them to the Viscount, who then usurped them
for his own.'” In the end, as we have just seen, the Archbishop of
Narbonne fabricated a claim and asserted it successfully. The bene-
ficiary of Pepin’s act, who shared the income of the royal Count to the
extent of no less than 50 per cent, has yet to be identified.

Was the beneficiary of Pepin’s diploma the Nasi of Narbonne ? The

basic rights of his church against the count of the town and neighboring bishops,
a situation which hardly reflects considerable power but rather the contrary, as if
these were partitioning the power of a deceased neighbor. Similarly, Griffe declares
that in the middle of the ninth century the Bishop of Narbonne did not possess the
capitol or the fortified posts which commanded the enclosures on the north and
south, the entrance and exit of the Via Domitian; E. Griffe, Histoire religieuse,
pp. 93-96, 135. J. Régné lists the diplomas of immunity granted to the church at
Narbonne in the ninth century, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 38, note 1.
17. A. Molinier, loc. cit., 68.
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actual possession by Jews of landed property in the Narbonnaise and
southern France, and their collection of tolls and customs probably in
the same region, can be traced with some assurance from the eighth
century into the period of Guifred’s rule and surge to power in Nar-
bonne. Pope Stephen lamented that royal mandates, regum Francorum
praecepta, endowed the Jews with extensive allodial possession com-
prising former church property in and around Narbonne in 768. These
praecepta obviously were issued by Pepin and his sons. The tracts of
Agobard Bishop of Lyons leave no doubt that Jews were landowners
in the Lyonnais, especially holders of vineyards and producers of wine
around 825. Imperial mandates as well as Agobard’s epistles indicate
that Christian laborers worked their fields. They held slaves, probably
converted to Judaism, Amolo, successor of Agobard, complained about
Jews who were toll collectors and who, he charged, pressured wayfarers
into denying their faith.*®

Extensive landholdings owned by the Jews in the vicinity of Narbonne
became the object of several royal decisions. On November 1, 898,
Charles the Simple confirmed the act of immunity granted to the church
at Narbonne by his predecessors, specifically his father Louis le Bégue,
and added new donations such as the fisc Colonegas. He also con-
fiscated for the benefit of the same church the lands, vineyards, salt-
works and other property which the Jews held in the County of
Narbonne and for which they had to pay the same tithe as Christians
had been accustomed to furnish. This mandate is extant only in a
seventeenth century French translation. Still another act of the same
King Charles the Simple (dated June 6, 899) likewise confirmed the
immunity granted to the church of Narbonne by his predecessors,
notably his father Louis and his brother Carloman. In phraseology

18, See this text pp. 20, 24ff., 50ff., and also A.J. Zuckerman, “The Political Uses
of Theology. . .,"” pp.46-490on landed property. See this text p.304, note 40; Recueil
des actes de Charles 111 le Simple Roi de France eds. F. Lot, Ph. Lauer, I, no. XXIII,
p. 47:15-18; cf. HGL, V, preuves, no. 24-XXIV, col. 105; I. Lévi, “Les Juifs de
France,” REJ, LII (1906), 164; ). Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 227-32. Herein
the Bishop Arnust complains of the poverty of his see at Narbonne; Recueil, eds.
Lot, Lauer, p. 46:12-15; HGL, V, preuves, col. 103. Cf. Ph. Lauer, “Note sur divers
groupes de diplomes carolingiens,” Bulletin philologique et historique 1922-23
(Paris 1925), 13-23.
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almost identical with the act of 898 the sovereign confiscated all lands,
houses, and vineyards in the possession of the Jews of the Narbonnaise,
from which the ecclesiastical tithe used to be collected, without regard
to how the Jews. had acquired them, and ceded them to the church
at Narbonne. Presumably, this was in the nature of a “restoration” to
the church of lands once subject to the tithe.!® This mandate exists only
in a transcription contemporaneous with Archbishop Guifred. The
same edict of confiscation reappears in a diploma of immunity allegedly
granted by Charles the Simple to the church at Narbonne on June 7,
922.2° Obviously, the “confiscation” had not yet been executed.

The authenticity of these diplomata has been both attacked and
defended. Eckel points out that the counties of Besahi, Narbonne, and
Roussillon, wherein Charles the Simple allegedly ordered these con-
fiscations, were not part of this sovereign’s domains. In consequence,
both he and Lévi challenge their genuineness. On the other hand,
Régné vigorously upholds their authenticity on the grounds of their
formal style and the fact that the Midi long remained loyal to Charles,
did not recognize Raoul as king until very late, and several of its
seigneurs continued to date their documents from Charles’ reign.?

Still another diploma of Charles the Simple implies a confiscation of
Jewish property in the suburbs of Narbonne. This document, faultily
dated 918-19, (corrected by Ph. Lauer to July 7,7919) exists in two
copies; the older of those extant was Prepared in the twelfth century.
It purports to be a privilege of protection for Bishop Erifons and the
priest Wulfard in behalf of the Church of St. Quentin of Narbonne.
At the same time it professes to be also a donation to that church of
land and mills in the suburbs which were the property of Jews. The

19. J. Régné, Narbonne, p. 38, note 2; cf. note 4.

20. Recueil, eds. Lot, Lauer, 1, no. CXIX, p. 281:17-19; J. Régné, Juifs de
Narbonne, p. 41, note 1; HGL, V, preuves, col. 103-06.

21. A. Eckel, Charles le Simple, BEHE, CXXIV, pp. 42-43, cf. Appendix II,
pp. 145-48; 1. Lévi, “Les Juifs de France,” REJ, LII (1906), 164; J. Régné, Juifs de
Narbonne, pp. 39-42. Régné thinks that a confiscation of the Jews’ tithed lands
took place at the time of Charles the Simple. Yet he admits that this ruler did not
have the power to enforce his coercive measures and Jews continued to acquire
(tithed) lands from Christians, ibid., pp. 46-49.
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diploma was granted at the intervention of Roger, Archbishop of
Tréves, and of William, “our grand Marquis™:

We hereby cede the land and mills [the diploma declares] which are below
the bridge of that Town, which appear to belong to the Jews, as well as those
mills which are in the locality called Mactapedilii, likewise owned by the
same Jews, That land which we have ceded to them [namely, to the Bishop
and the Priest] and to all those serving the Church of St. Quentin has the
following -boundaries: from the Gate of Corianus to the locality called
Celata and thence to the middle of the River Aude which surrounds that
land on all sides until it reaches the bath house of the same Corianus, to-
gether with the Jews’ Mountain (mons Judaicus, Montjuzaic).2?

Whether or not this document is authentic it is clear that around 919,
or else at the time of the forgery of this diploma, the Jewry of Narbonne
possessed an extensive district in the suburb of the town as well as
several mills below the Narbonne Bridge.

However, extant materials contradict this decree of confiscation. A
bill of sale dated December 19, 955 (956) declares four Jews, all
brothers, apparently in possession of one of the mills which the royal
gift of 919 allegedly gave to the Church of St. Quentin. Not only so
but they now acquire from the Deacon William and his parents a half
portion of another mill with the right to do therewith as they please.
A summary of this act follows: André, his wife Teucia and their son
William, deacon, sell to the Jews Samuel, Moses, Isaac and Levi, sons
of Abraham, their half portion of the mill called Casal located below
the old bridge of the city, together with its fishpond, fishing grounds,
fishing boats and the head of the grindstone. The mill borders on the
Town bridge; on the north on the mill of the purchasers, on the south-
west on . . ., on the south on the fishpond of Joseph the Jew son of
Abraham Veneros—for a purchase price of ninety shillings. The pur-

22. Recueil, eds. Lot, Lauer, I, no. CII (July 7, 919), p. 242:17-23; J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 221-22, no. I; HGL, IV, p. 26; II, p. 250, preuves, no. 41—
XLI, p. 134. For a discussion of the difficulties regarding the date of this act and
other aspects which lead Régné to question, but ultimately to uphold, its authen-
ticity, see Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 49-55.
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chasers have the right to do therewith whatever they please. Any loss

in consequence of action against this sale will be restored two-fold.2
Then twenty years later, on January 26, 976 (977) the same brothers

issue a bill of sale to the Abbot of St. Paul and to William the Deacon:

The Jews Samuel, Moses, Isaac, Levi, sons of Abraham, sell to Belshom
Abbot of St. Paul and to William the Deacon, a portion of their allod: one
mill entire and two-thirds of another with their appurtenances etc. for 150
shillings in cash. The brothers cede their full right of ownership ad proprium
perhabendum and retain only one-third of the mill situated on the north.*#

J. Régné, who wishes to account for the first sale on the assumption
of a preceding purchase from St. Quentin—an admittedly unusual
situation—has to admit in the second instance that if the church
possessed an eminent right it would have intervened in this sale. He
concludes that no confiscation actually occurred.?®

Moreover, a donation of the eleventh century refers to an extant
Jewish village and allods in the Narbonnaise and to salt flats owned
and operated by Jews there. In what appears to be an earlier con-
cession, Viscount Berengar of Narbonne records in a donation of
April 23, 1048, that he and the “archipraesul” Guifred conveyed to the
canonica of Narbonne the tithes from certain salt works in the environs:
“Furthermore we hereby give to the named canonica the tithes from
the selfsame salt which is produced in ti6se brine pits from Lutobanna
to Foz, and from the Jewish village to Narbonne, excepting that salt
produced on the Jewish allod which today they hold, namely, that
part which is worked by those Jews; and except those brine pits which
those men work who live in the allod of St. Paul.”%

This conveyance acknowledges the rights of the Jewish saltworks
owners in the neighborhood of Narbonne. An eleventh-century Hebrew
source reports that the provision of salt to the Bishop of Narbonne by

23. G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, pp. 129-30, no. 1; for discussion, J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 55-56.

24. HGL, V, preuves, no. 129, pp. 283-84.

25. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 57-58.

26. HGL, V, preuves, no. 193, col. 454-55; I, p. 310; cf. no. 360, col. 831-33;
cf. November 26, 1112.



160 The Nasi of Narbonne as Seigneur in the Town and Environs

Jews was fraught with exceptional difficulty.®” Perhaps this involved
Jewish ownership and operation of brine pits in the Narbonnaise.
The Viscount’s act does not make altogether clear that these salt flats
were exempt from the tithe, although this implication might well be
drawn. In the Carolingian Age the land of the Spanish settlers, specifi-
cally that of the aprisionaires, was exempt from ecclesiastical tithe.?
There is every reason to think that the allods of the Jews were similarly
exempt at that time.

It may then be argued that the acknowledged right of the Jews to
these tithe-free allodial estates in the middle of the eleventh century
does not contradict the decrees of expropriation issued by Charles the
Simple, since the confiscation was aimed at estates which had once
been subject to ecclesiastical tithe. However, it is clear from the action
of the Second and Third Church Councils of Gerona that as late as
1068 and 1078 the Jews of southern France and northern Spain still
were in possession of lands which had once been subject to the tithe
of the church. The Second Council of Gerona, which met in 1068
under the direction of the papal legate Hugo Candidus, demanded the
tithe from lands still owned by Jews which, it claimed, had once been
the possession of Christian proprietors, “because it is not right [de-
clared canon 14] that the Church should lose the tithes which it
collected before the Jews settled in these lands.”#®

27. “With respect to the Bishop's salt, since this involved A in considerable

trouble, B cannot claim a share in the profit:” *1» byw 113 mann b nbsn a3

<13 pom bwd 1amab 25 pr pned vden v k3 A N

Teshubhot Geonim Kadmonim ed. D. Cassel, no. 140, p. 37b. This responsum is
ascribed to Meshullam b. Kalonymos.

28. HGL, 1, p. 942, note 2. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 45-46. Régné distin-
guishes between lay and ecclesiastical tithes in reference to the act of 1048, ibid.,
p. 46.

29. §14. “... quas constat, antequam judei huc advenirent, illam habuisse.
Quapropter unde amittit primicias et oblaciones, saltem exinde habere deberet
decimationes”; I. F. Baer, Die Juden im christlichen Spanien, I, 1, no. 8, p. 5.
E. Florez, Espafia Sagrada, XLIII, Appendix no. XLVIII, p. 479; cf. J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 90-91 (with incorrect date 1063). An act of the Cardinal-
Legate Hugo Candidus (November 24 or December 1, 1068) in behalf of the church
of San Miguel, executed at the Council of Gerona, enables Kehr to date this Council
in the closing days of November 1068; P. Kehr, Das Papsttum und der katalanische
Prinzipat bis zur Vereinigung mit Aragon, no. VI, p. 79; pp. 27-28.
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It should be noted that the claim to these tithes is made to antedate
the cession of Pepin and his sons in 768 when, presumably, most of
these territories first came into Jewish possession. Régné gratuitously
assumes that the Jews lost their tithe-owing lands as the result of
Charles’ confiscations but later acquired others, now the object of
canon 14, because of the frailty of royal power. On the other hand, he
is probably correct in his assertion that Archbishop Guifred was the
principal instigator of this legislation 3

Apparently, in this period of the Council of Gerona there took place
an attack on the Jews of Narbonne and in other places of that region.
At its conclusion Pope Alexander II dispatched notes of appreciation
to both Guifred,® because he did not permit the Jews to be injured,
and to Viscount Berengar for having protected the Jews living in his
domain.?? The opportunity to protect the Jews may have provided
Guifred access to the archives of Narbonne Jewry and to the royal
diplomata treasured there.

Then in 1078 the Third Council of Gerona expanded canon 14 of
the previous synod as follows: “It has been sanctioned again [declared
canon 10] that the tithe collected from all the lands which the accursed
cruelty of the infidel Jews cultivates should be paid to the church of
the parish where the same lands are situated, as if they were cultivated
by Christians.””%

This expansion of the earlier canon 13 almed to subject all the land-
holdings of the Jews in that region to the ecclesiastical tithe.

30. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 48, 91.

31, 1063. Wifred episcopo. S. Loewenfeld (ed.), Epistolae pontificum romanorum
ineditae, pp. 4344, no. 83.

32. Berengario, Narbonensi vicecomiti. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 63, note 1.
Régné associates Berengar’s protection with the crusading action of certain French-
men against the Saracens of Spain who on the way pillaged and massacred Jewish
communities ; ibid.

33. E. Florez, Espafia Sagrada, XLIII, Appendix no. L, p. 483; cf. J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 91-92. The sessions of this synod were stormy. When the
papal legate pronounced sentence of excommunication against the simonists and
denounced the system of lay church rule, the counts as well as bishops and abbots
protested. The deliberations were adjourned and the synod reconvened in a rump
session in Besali. Guifred of Narbonne was absent, because excommunicate;
P. Kehr, Das Papsttum und der katalanische Prinzipat, p. 34.
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We may then conclude that the acts of 955, 977, 1048, 1068, and
1078 indicate that in all likelihood there did not take place before the
last of these dates the expropriations ordered by the edicts of Charles
the Simple dated November 1, 898, June 6, 899, and June 7, 922,
allegedly conveying all lands, houses, saltworks, and vineyards owned
by Jews, once subject to the tithe, into the possession of the church at
Narbonne. Nor was that confiscation executed which the royal act of
919 had ordered against the land and mills of the Jews, located below
Narbonne Bridge.®* On the other hand, Hebrew sources stemming
probably from Southern France report attempts against property in
the hands of Jews which resulted in their actual confiscation after
the middle of the eleventh century. Such efforts are branded extra-
legal.

“For the purpose of removing the oppressive situation,” a community
had agreed with the owners of the villages (ba‘alé hakefarim) in the
environs to consolidate both the amount assessed against them and
the cost of reversing the coercive action. The plan called for taxing
each village according to its acreage, whereby all would be charged an
equitable share. The agreement was drawn up in writing and signed.
Now some of the landowners insist on withdrawing. The anonymous
judge rules that they cannot act unilaterally but must uphold the agree-
ment until there is a unanimous decision to nullify it.3%

34. As late as 1284 Jews in nearby Besali and in the County of Gerona across
the Pyrenees were in possession of lands held in free allod over which they exercised
seigneurial rights. The named property was held

+pIRTD YR BAY wER M Sy DAtpne Sravs ANSPA ATONA AT ATl
J. Millas i Vallicrosa, “Documents hebraics,” Institut d’estudis catalans, I, fasc. 3,
pp. 67-69.
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In what may be a later decision in the same situation the judge,
Meshullam, relates a confiscation of the property of Jews in terms
which repeat almost verbatim the language of the edicts ascribed to
King Charles the Simple: “Gentiles wrongfully confiscated from Jews
lands, fields and vineyards. Other Jews came and re-possessed them.
May the original owners re-claim them ?”

He decides against the first owners: “They cannot do so because
there are legal documents [in our hands] and there are courts of gentiles.
Since they did not complain they surrendered their rights and gave
them up.”* J. Mann has interpreted this decision of Meshullam to
mean that he decided against the original owners because they did not
press legal action but were content to allow other Jews to recover their
prope

OYTINER M MM IIAN IR ANT LI RN W BT ©w A ome onk 195 3437
bp b3p Sboa mevoom wrn cwak Y30 J19d Maa 3am pop Mam :n 343 -onmn phod
«M5 ORI 092773 FOP %0 BN ML 413 9 Suad ook Pk onn oYNe Doty
MPY TN PR INOM 3M ©p3 webP3 KLYD /131 U0 93T XD NI -0 AT
-3’0 BYMB ‘7 3D w3 /! dapn Boon bvab (Notes by J. Miiller).

Teshubhot Geoné mizrah u-ma‘arabh (Responsen der Lehrer des Ostens und
Westens) ed. J. Miiller, no. 165, p. 40b. Both Miiller, ibid., note 1, and J. Mann,
“Responsa,” JOR, X (1919-20), 318, note 237, place this situation in France.
Miiller dates it “in an early period” by R. Meshul]am or a contemporary, and

Mann “before Bonfils,” (eleventh-century Narbonne) Cf. J. Miiller, (ed.) op. cit.,
no. 205, apparently by R. Nathan the Babylonian,

36. onk Hxow® k31 BN MITY MIW SRIDR WY 023 oadRow DdEn I -ADp
braws MR TR WHNY PP IR 1BD WY Hrvwr amk 5130 o1 MR nm
SR WMR 130 IORR DONEN B UNRIAD TEB AL SAVT 3. «eeRY W MR AT
799K 11D ‘DR R YD UMK ATOD LRI IMKR TR WD 2pIpn B3 Nbn 0IKY
"3 5T MRDWY MRNAR cDURT 10 w3 Ko Hnk obwk Hrapy haw wbr wmT

Jn pReAn 123 Hnk bk bap ah
Op. cit., ed. J. Miiller, no. 188, p. 48b. It should be noted that different grammatical
forms of the same word, O-nes, An’su (coercion, coerced) appear in both decisions
to describe the action against the Jews.

37. J. Mann, “Responsa,” JOR, X (1919-20), 131.

For another interpretation, see Teshubhot Geoné mizrah, ed. J. Miiller, no. 188,
note 1. Is this writer the great Meshullam b, Kalonymos ? Meshullam lived toward
the end of the tenth century, at least for a while, in Lucca, Italy; L. Ginzberg,
Geonica, T, pp. 57, 221. J. Miiller finds only Franco-German, and not Italian,
conditions reflected in his responsa, and places him in Mayence and later in southern
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It should be noted that Meshullam based the rights of the Jews to
these properties on written documents which he clearly expected the
courts to uphold. Presumably they were royal charters. This is what
actually may have happened as is implied in the statement that other
Jews repossessed them. Perhaps these were even Jewish officials who,
it may be supposed, expended community funds in their efforts. If
this decision is indeed a continuation of the preceding case, it would
indicate “a happy ending” to that emergency.

However, not every problem found a happy ending. Moses ha-
Darshan (the Exegete) lived in Narbonne in the third quarter of the
eleventh century, a contemporary therefore of Archbishop Guifred,
and a witness of his drive to power. In commenting on the last of the
Ten Commandments Moses declared:

Although this is the last Commandment do not underestimate it. It is actually
weightier than all of them and [disobedience of] it may lead to transgression
of all Ten Commandments. As the result of covetousness one comes to deny
the first Commandment (‘I am the Lord thy God”’) and because of covetous-
ness of wealth one comes to serve other gods as do many in the very midst
of us who converted rather than lose their property (emphasis added).

France, Die Responsen des Rabbi Mesullam Sokn des R. Kalonymos, pp. 3-5; cf.
idem, Maf1e’ah liteshubhot haGeonim (Einleitung in die Responsen der babylonischen
Geonen), p. 14, A. Neubauer reaches the conclusion that we must suppose there
were two noted teachers by the same name living at the same time, one in the
south of France (Arles) and the other in Mayence and Lorraine, “Literature of
Responsa,” JOR, o.s. V (1893), 694 in a review of J. Miiller, Die Responsen des
R. Mesullam b. Kalonymos, in opposition to A. Epstein, “Le lieu de sejour de
Meschoullam ben Calonymos de Lucques,” REJ, XXIV (1892), 149-51; cf. H.
Gross, “Zur Geschichte der Juden in Arles,”” MGWJ, XXVII (1878), 249-52.
J. N. Epstein identifies Meshullam’s responsa in Cassel’s “‘Die Rechtsgutachten der
Geonim,” JJLG, IX, 227-28. However, the author of the responsum no. 165 is
anonymous. It may have been written by Joseph Bonfils (Tobk Elem), a contem-
porary of Moses haDarshan in eleventh-century Narbonne, of whom it is reported
that he left Narbonne in order to direct the government of Limoges and Anjou:
39 PNk PAR MY 47 39 12T TR 9 3 R O3 3N IR D3 ARd KON
S avveh maben ar nane BbY 3w Row ‘9
Sefer haYashar leRabbenu Tam (Vienna 1811), p. 74b; from a letter to R. Meshullam
of Mullin (midway between Paris and Narbonne) by Rabbenu Tam.
38. woam ghwzn Mm=n wn o> PeEa Spa My SR mkn NI M D Awy
MBI TIVN Y TP TV IBDIXT WD TN T 5y meaT aween 5> neapn b
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Moses does not detail the circumstances of this assault on the property
of Jews in the Narbonnaise.

Whereas the first responsum noted above may have been concerned
primarily with the effort to halt the imposition of the church tithe,
Meshullam’s decision and Moses’ comment indicate that the authorities
(Guifred ?) pressed for expropriation. The apostasy of certain indi-
viduals annulled the confiscation of their properties in return for
acknowledgment of the tithe on their estates and the obligation to pay
it- as Christians. Less drastic means enabled the community to in-
validate, at least in part, the confiscation of lands belonging to Jews
who remained loyal.

The available data, consequently, permit the conclusion that the
Jews were in actual possession of considerable landed estates in the
Narbonnaise from the time of Pepin the Short and Pope Stephen III
until at least the middle of the eleventh century. They owned villages,
vineyards, saltworks, mills, fishponds, and public ovens.?® In the era

qnnn xb PIOD ,MOITA NP SY D9TH ;OND TA D TRV D' IPPI WK
in A. Epstein, Moses haDarschan aus Narbonne (Hebrew), p. 52. A hint as to who
some of these wealthy landowners may have been that apostasized at this time
rather than give up their property can be gleaned from the name Aymeri (derived
from Al-Makhiri?) which makes its first appearance in the viscountal family only
after the middle of the eleventh century. Viscount Aymeri I'governed from 1080 to
1105; J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 63. He'is not of the sons of Berengar; see
above pp. 147-49, note 2. Ancient property of Viscount Aymeri, including the Jews'
old school, was located in the Narbonne Juiverie; G. Saige, Juifs du Lanquedoc,
p. 156 (March 8, 1217).”

Demaison, following G. Paris, identifies him as the son of Berengar’s son Bernard,
the eighth descendant of Mayeul Viscount of Narbonne, who lived at the beginning
of the tenth century. Thereafter, until the end of the fourteenth century nine Aymeris
appear as Viscount of Narbonne; L. Demaison, Aymeri de Narbonne, 1, Introduction,
Pp. cxxviii-cxxix. As evidence that the name Aymeri did not derive from the chansons
Demaison points to a Bishop Aymeri who occupied the See of Narbonne as early
as 927-77. See p. 132 above. He surmises without evidence that the Bishop may have
been a kinsman of the viscountal family; Demaison ibid., p. cxxx. The eventual
fusion of a branch of the Makhiri dynasty with the viscountal family would provide
a factual basis for the tradition that “Viscount Aymeri” received *“‘one-third” of
Narbonne at the time of its capture from the Saracens.

39, Public ovens are mentioned in a few responsa; Teshubhot ge’onim kadmonim
(Responsa of the ancient Geonim) ed. D. Cassel, no. 62, p. 13b; no. 123, p. 36a.
The Livre Vert lists the revenues and seigneurial rights of the Archiepiscopate of
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of Guifred and probably under his instigation a sharp attack was
launched against their possession of tithe-exempt estates which, before
the donation of Pepin, had been property of Christians and perhaps
even of ecclesiastical institutions. After 1068 or 1078, at the latest,
Archbishop Guifred endeavored to exploit the legislation of the Second
and Third Council of Gerona. He brought forth (more accurately,
fraudulently fabricated) the edicts of Charles the Simple cited above.
Authentic in part because based on genuine diplomata, these ordered
the expropriation (for the benefit of the see at Narbonne) of the estates
still held by Jews, from which the church had once collected tithes.
In the light of Pope Stephen’s complaint of 768 such lands must have
been very considerable in southern France and northern Spain. Guifred
was at least partially successful in this bold effort.

In consequence, we may conclude that Pepin the Short’s cession to
an unidentified beneficiary of half the tolls ‘and customs, half the in-
come from the saltworks, and half seigneurial rights in shipwrecks and
pastures, and of other revenue in the Narbonnaise may very well have
been made to the favor of the Nasi of the Jews. In other words this
grant may be a fragment of the praecepta which Stephen III lamented
so bitterly. As one of the major bearers of maritime and international
trade,* such concessions were of immense value to the Jews.

Did Pepin make a similar grant of rights inside Narbonne to the
Nasi ? The available facts point to its probability. First, one must weigh
the critical role of the Jews, who were primarily responsible for the
surrender of Narbonne to Pepin.® Then Guilbert reports that the Jews
were absolute masters in the Villeneuve of Narbonne.4? Furthermore,
when Archbishop Guifred asserted claim over half of Narbonne and
the Viscount eventually ceded this area to him, the prelate thereby
came into possession of holdings which derived ultimately from the

Narbonne in the second half of the fourteenth century. Among these in the county
and canton of Capestang is mentioned an oven de Judaico located in portali de
Narbona; P. Laurent (ed.) Livre vert de I'archéveché de Narbonne, Introduction,
p. xi; p. 28. For considerable Jewish possessions in nearby. Carcassés see mandate
of February 22, 839; HGL, 11, preuves, no. 97, col. 211.

40. See S. W. Baron, History, IV, pp. 171-96.

41. See this text, pp. 173-74.

42, Aristide Guilbert, Histoire des villes de France, VI (Paris 1848), p. 407.
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royal Count; the Bishop had never held half of Narbonne in the
Carolingian Age. But the diploma of Charles the Bald, dated 844,
contains an interpolation which may have been genuine in its original
setting: ““There is ceded to him half of the entire City together with the
towers and their adjacencies both inside and out, complete.”*

This cession, if authentic, does not refer to the half of Narbonne
reserved for the royal Count who held the town as representative of the
sovereign and did not require a special grant. Nor was the Bishop the
beneficiary of this act; both Molinier and Tessier agree that Charles’
diploma, issued in behalf of the Bishop of Narbonne, is interpolated at
this point.# Yet like the cession of half the income in the county,
which is identifiéd in this diploma as an act of Pepin and his successors,
so also the grant of half of Narbonne may derive from the same
source. But the elimination of royal Count and Bishop as beneficiaries
leaves the Nasi as the only possible recipient of this cession of half of
Narbonne, in accordance with the report of the Addendum in ShK and
the lost diploma of Charlemagne. It appears probable that the grant
just cited as an interpolation into Charles the Bald’s immunity of
June 20, 844, may once have been part of that privilegium which was
accorded to the Nasi by Pepin and sons, Carloman and Charles, in
768. As late as the eleventh century Pepin’s capitulary was probably
extant in a confirmation by Charles the Bald which fell into Guifred’s
hands. -

The extensive properties held by the Jews and their Nasi (entitled
king) at the time of their expulsion in 1306% indicates that they
occupied a very substantial portion of the city into the fourteenth
century. With their departure the reigning archbishop may have set his

43. “Concessum est illi medietatem totius civitatis cum turribus et adjacentiis
earum intrinsecus et extrinsecus cum omni integritate,” HGL, II, preuves, no. 115,
col. 297; Recueil, ed. G. Tessier, 1, p. 141:12-13.

44. A. Molinier, “Un diplome interpolé,” 73-75; Recueil, ed. G. Tessier, I,
p. 141:10-16.

45. G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, pp. 272-93. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne,
pp. 127-32. During the second and third quarters of the thirteenth century the
Narbonne “Kings of the Jews” disposed of all their lands. The royal confiscation
of 1306 applied exclusively to their houses in Narbonne. On the eve of the expulsion
the Jewish “King” held some thirty houses or portions thereof, among which a
dozen were allodial; ibid., p. 185.
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cap to acquire that area and the title of Duke of Narbonne. This may
account for the vidimus of July 1, 1318,% which transcribed the pseudo-
original prepared by Guifred centuries earlier. Guifred exploited Pepin’s
cession of half of Narbonne in order to wrest 50 per cent of the town
(originally in the jurisdiction of the royal Count) from the hands of the
Viscount. A successor on the See of Narbonne hoped to exploit the
same grant for the purpose of asserting claim to the remaining half of
Narbonne, an area held by the Jews until 1306.

At the same time then that Archbishop Guifred pressed claims
against the viscountal family and successfully asserted lordship over
their holdings on the basis of forged royal privilegia and coercion, both
physical and spiritual, he also fabricated royal diplomata against Jewish
possessions inside and outside Narbonne. He lifted out of a diploma
of Charles the Bald (confirming privilegia as far back as Pepin the
Short) authentic clauses designed originally for the Nasi of Narbonne
and interpolated them into modest royal mandates and immunities
issued in favor of his church, thus substantially enriching its endow-
ments. Specifically, he claimed in this manner half of Narbonne and
half the income in the county. He may have also altered a confirmation
by King Eudo of Pepin’s cession to the Nasi. In addition Guifred
revised authentic diplomata of Charles the Simple in such a way as to
convert them into decrees expropriating Jewish property once subject
to the tithe.

In consequence, we may say that Charlemagne’s privilegium of 791,
now lost, in all likelihood confirmed the cession of half of Narbonne
and half the income in the county and beyond, as well as other rights,
granted by Pepin and his sons in 768 to the Nasi there. His successors,
Louis le Débonnaire,*” Charles the Bald, Eudo, and Charles the Simple,
at the least, acted in like manner.®® Insofar as the Nasi functioned as

46. Recueil, ed. G. Tessier, I, p. 141:16-23.

47. Emperor Louis refers to a capitulary, no longer extant, which he issued in
behalf of the Jews: “capitula, quae a nobis eis observanda promulgata sunt,”
Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer, p. 310:37-311:1; cf. Agobard, De Insolentia Judaeorum:
“‘capitularia sanctionum,” MGH, Epistolae, V, p. 183:9,

48. An eleventh-century cleric of Narbonne, who claimed access to older docu-
ments, mentions a royal charter which granted the Jews hereditary rights within the
walls of Toulouse; A. J. Zuckerman, “Nasi of Frankland,” PAAJR, 69-70. Possibly
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royal Count or, later, as Marquis of Gothia and of the March of
Spain, he became overlord also of the other half of Narbonne.® Such
broad authority would help to explain Tournal’s singular claim that
Narbonne Jewry wielded power over ecclesiastical institutions and
offices in the Narbonnaise.5?

There can remain no doubt that nasi was translated rex and under-
stood to mean “king” in the Carolingian Age, and even beyond this
period, although his actual power dwindled with the passage of time.

.Latin documents as late as the fourteenth century make occasional
allusion to a “King of the Jews” in Narbonne. Peter the Venerable of
Cluny about the middle of the twelfth century must have referred to
the Nasi when he reported derisively the claim of the Jews that there
was a Jewish King in Narbonne in his day. In an attack transmitted to
King Louis (VII) he derisively demanded of contemporary Jews on the
basis of Genesis 49:10 to produce a king of the House of Judah, or,
at least, a duke. Then, continuing, Peter declared: “But as for me, I
will not accept that king (as something worthy of ridicule) whom some
of you claim to have in Narbonne, the city in Gaul, others in
Rouen.”

On October 5, 1216, a resident of Narbonne, Bernard de Cortone,
left a bequest of cash and property “to Bonomancipio_ the son of the
Jews’ King” (filio regis Judeorum). By 1252, the sime Bonomancipius
(Todros b. Kalonymos) bore the titlé “Jewish King” in a lease of

referring to southern France, R. Meshullam claimed that Jews had documents
which would be upheld in gentile courts and which actually enabled them to recover
lands confiscated illegally. The Addendum to ShK also refers to unsuccessful efforts
to deprive them (their Nasi) of lands around Narbonne; see this text pp. 60, 164.

49. At the fall of Narbonne, Aymeri received the Tower as a gift as well as the
entire city and its dependencies, according to a fragment, Epopées frangaises, ed.
L. Gautier, 2nd ed., IV, pp. 24144 from MS frangais 1497, Biblioth¢que Nationale,
Paris; L. Demaison, Aymeri de Narbonne, 1, Introduction, p. cclvii.

50. The Archbishop complained frequently to the papal court about this state of
affairs; M. Tournal, Catalogue du Musée de Narbonne, pp. 49-50.

51. See p. 64 of this text. PL, CLXXXIX, col. 560. Cf. J. Régné, Juifs de Nar-
bonne, p. 180, note 21; Is. Loeb, “Polémistes chrétiens et juifs en France et en
Espagne,” REJ, XXII (1889), 45. On the “Jews’ Royal Seed” in Narbonne 1144,
see p. 64 this text.
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property rights.®? A viscountal decree dated March 8, 1217, excluded
“the property of the Jewish King which he has and holds by inheritance
of his patrimony,” and recognized it as exempt from the tax-paying
status of other property held by Jews in the “Juiverie” of Narbonne.5
At this late date then, the property of the “King of the Jews” was still
free allod. Until the expulsion of the Jews in 1306, the head of the
Narbonne Jewry bore this title, for in the bills of sale of former Jewish
land-holdings we read of the twelve houses which had belonged to
Momet Tauros “King of the Jews” (regi Judeorum) in free allod. Saige
is inclined to see in such a “King of the Jews” a sovereign lord ; Régné
insists that his civil and political status was limited to that of an
allodial freeholder, subject to the jurisdiction of the crown until royal
authority faded out. Régné maintains that although he was probably
exempt from such public duties as military service and taxation, he
himself was not invested with the privileges of justice and taxation:
the title was bestowed by Christians as an equivalent of nasi, prince of
the community.5* However apt this description may be for the four-
teenth-century Nasi of Narbonne, Régné does not evaluate adequately
and cannot be said to have described correctly the rank and power of
the Nasi of Narbonne as it existed in fact in the Carolingian Age.

A lease of property rights (termed an infeudation by Saige) granted
in April 1195 and signed in Hebrew by Kalonymos b. R. Todros has
the earmarks of the action of a great landholder.?® The style of this
document and the Hebrew signature suggest that the original was
drawn in Hebrew. Similarly, the transcript of a cession of land by
Todros (Bonmacip) b. Kalonymos in 1246 ends with the words: Hoc

52. Bequest of 1216 in J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 183, note 4; lease of 1252,
ibid. p. 184.

53. G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, no. xx, p. 155; cf. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne,
pp. 65-67; 177-78.

54. G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, p. 284; J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 80.
The confirmation of the crown identifies the former owner as alie nomine vocatus
Rex Judeus Narbone, G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, p. 271.

55. G. Saige, ibid., p. 137, no. VIIL; cf. pp. 65; 70-71; J. Régné, Juifs de Nar-
bonne, pp. 150, 181. Kaufmann overlooked the date of this infeudation when he
stated that Kalonymos was dead by 1194, “Lettres de Scheshet b. Isaac b. Joseph
Benveniste de Saragosse,” REJ (1899), 64. See p. 61, note 23 of this text.
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est translatum.®® Saige reproduces a seal emblazoned on a heraldic
shield which shows a lion rampant and bears an inscription in Hebrew
prefixed with a small six-pointed star: Kalonymos b. Todros Isaiah
Cohen on the one side, and the same heraldic emblem with S [Senior]
MOVMET IVDEV D’NERPO on the other side.?” This seal can be no
younger than the end of the thirteenth and beginning of the fourteenth
century, when, as noted above, the property of Momet Tauros “King
of the Jews” fell to the crown (1307-08). Both Saige and Ad. de
Longpérier emphasize that only kings and barons used a heraldic
symbol on seals of the thirteenth century, the greatest sovereigns of
the thirteenth century contenting themselves with a heraldic symbol,
lacking the crown, on their seals.5®

At the organization of the royal provostship in Languedoc in 1364,
the Narbonne town councillors presented as argument in behalf of the
choice of their city as capital, that in the days of Charlemagne it had
been a royal city where ruled two kings, one Jewish, the other Saracen.5®
The Nasi of Narbonne occupied a many structured dwelling known as
the Cortada Regis Judeorum. After the expulsion, the town consulate
took up its quarters in this Cour du Roi and, later still, it became the
seat of the royal vicarate of Narbonne.%®

In summary, it may be said that the lost document of 791, a royal
privilegium or capitulary, confirmed, at least in part; Pepin’s praecepta
of 768. Further, it declared the Jewish-Principate (established by the
Frankish kings in 768) to be now a permanent institution and con-
firmed the Jewish Nasi and the Jewry of Narbonne (separately or
jointly) in possession of, at the least, half that city and half the income
from tolls, trade, and salt production in the county. In all likelihood,
this document was seen by the writer of the “Appendix” of ShK or

56. J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, p. 230, no. VII,

57. G. Saige, Les Juifs du Languedoc, p. 60.

58. G. Saige, ibid. Ad. de Longpérier, “Notice sur quelques sceaux juifs bilingues,”
Académie des inscriptions et belles-lettres, Année 1872, 235-40. D. A. Geiger
incorrectly reads the abbreviation S¢ as Seel, that is, seal; “Umbschau 8. Mit-
telalterliche Siegel,” Jiidische Zeitschrift fiir Wissenschaft und Leben, 1X (1871), 281.

59. “et quod etiam tempore memorie recolende Karoli magni erat urbs regia,
erantque ibi duo reges, unus Judeus et unus Sarracenus”; G. Saige, Les Juifs du
Languedoc, p. 44, note 2.

60. G. Saige, ibid., p. 4.
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his informant and is the source of much of the information which he
transmits. Its reference to a delegation led by Isaac was also exploited
by the compiler of the Gesta, who says that he extracted from, and
summarized documents in, the archives of Lagrasse. Naturally, he
adapted it to the dramatic purposes of his romance. Specifically, it was
the source of the Gesta’s claim that Charlemagne established a Jewish
kingship in Narbonne and ceded a district of that town to the Jewry
resident there. This, and other related statements of the Gesza will not
now appear to be so fantastic as they seemed at the turn of the century.
Pope Stephen’s epistle dated 768 cannot know of the events of 791.
Hence, his reference in extreme anguish to a grant in Septimania and
northern Spain of considerable allodial hereditaments to Jews “in
towns and suburbs . . . in the territories and boundaries of Christians™
must be a reaction to an act of the Frankish kings in his own day.
Charlemagne’s Capitulary of 791 confirming this act was issued prob-
ably in Worms or Ratisbon® and was primarily of constitutional
character, Its major intent was to confirm the Jewish exilarchate-
patriarchate as a permanent institution. It probably fixed the rank and
succession of the nasi, guaranteed his possession of 50 per cent of land
and income inside and outside Narbonne and throughout Septimania-
Toulousain, and defined the rights and privileges of Frankian Jewry.
Presumably on this occasion William (Isaac?) was designated his
father’s successor. Also those plans may now have been finalized
which in 797 sent Isaac (Makhir’s death had intervened) to Bagh-
dad and Jerusalem as an emissary of Charlemagne in association
with his eventual coronation as emperor at the end of the year 800.

61. Whether the meeting of Charles and Isaac took place in Worms (where
Charles spent the Easter of 791) or in Ratisbon before the middle of August, when
the Frank armies began their expedition against the Avars, cannot be determined
with assurance. Worms is the more likely meeting place; Chronicon Moissiacense,
MGH, SS 1, p. 299:5 (Anno 791), cf. Einhardi Annales, ibid., p. 177:11-12, “Trans-
acta verni temperie, circa aestatis initium rex de Wormacia movens, Baicariam
profectus est.” The relevant sources are assembled in S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahr-
biicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 16 f. The Capitulary of 768 was also issued
at Easter (Passover) time. Furthermore, the decision to attack the Avars may have
been related to these negotiations which placed on the Jews the responsibility for
the protection of the south-southwestern frontier, thereby releasing Frankish troops
for the eastern border.
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This study thus far has contrasted the Goths’ disappearance from
the Narbonnaise directly after the fall of Narbonne in 759 with the
highly privileged status of southern Frankia’s Jewry. Simultaneously,
its scholar-prince was invested with a rank and realm by act of the
Carolingian kings in 768, which was confirmed by Charlemagne in 791
and repeatedly by his successors. The prevailing view that the Goths
effected the surrender of the Narbonne fortress while (by implication)
the Jews supported the Saracen garrison to the bitter end leads to a
paradox: Pepin must have punished his “friends” the Goths with
banishment (in spite of a solemn pledge to grant them self-rule) and
rewarded his ‘“‘enemies,” the Jews, with the very privileges he had
promised to his “allies.” The results of this inquiry have made it
appear very likely that the Jews, not the Goths, were Pepin’s sup-
porters within the citadel. The statement of the Gesta that the Jews of
Narbonne were responsible for the fall of the fortress seems to be
adequately substantiated. But in opening the gates of Narbonne to the
besieging Franks, the Jews were acting also as the agents of the Caliph
of Baghdad, their overlord, who also was the ally of Pepin King of the
Franks. Pepin’s commitments to the Caliph were part of a broad plan
to assert Franco-‘Abbasid domination over Spain. Establishment of a
Jewish principate or patriarchate and the designation of a considerable
domain or principality were an organic part of such plans. This implied
a significant diplomatic, political, military, and fiscal role and function
for the Jews. After the fall of Narbonne and the amicable outcome of
the negotiations with Baghdad in 765-68, Pepin and his sons Carloman
and Charles redeemed their pledge to the Jews, settled a scholar-prince
in Narbonne by the name of Makhir (Al-Makhiri; later, Aymeri in the
vernacular), dubbed him Theodoric, gave him a Carolingian princess
as wife, and endowed him with noble status in addition to vast allodial
estates. The reaction of Pope Stephen to these events was immediate
and violent but to no avail, apparently, because his predecessor had
assented to such an arrangement.®?

62. See this text, pp. 38, 100-01. Bishop Agobard reported that the [Jewish]
honorati of Septimania claimed papal, as well as imperial, confirmation for their
possession of former ecclesiastical estates; Agobard, Epistolae, ed. E. Diimmler,
p. 174:31-36, and see discussion in A. J. Zuckerman, “Political Uses of Theology
..., p.47; cf. also L. Lévi, “Le roi juif de Narbonne,” REJ, XLVHI (1904), 206.
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This analysis makes it probable that the “original” document, on
the basis of which the Goth monk Witiza-Benedict compiled the
Annals of Aniane, read Jews for the present Goths in narrating the
surrender of the Narbonne bastion. Furthermore, the “original” text
probably stated . . . permitterent eos regem suum habere” in place of
the present linguistically inept and politically insignificant phrase “legem
suam habere.” The emended text would read as follows: “Anno
DCCLVIIIL. The Franks besiege Narbonne. They swore to the (Goths)
Jews who were there, that if they should deliver the city to the side of
Pepin, King of the Franks, they would permit them to have their own
(law) king. This was done and the same (Goths) Jews killed the Saracens
who were in its citadel and delivered the city itself to the side of the
Franks.”

Such an emendation would accord with the statement in the Chronicle
of Uzés, namely dimiterent eos regere, “. .- (that the Franks) would
permit them to rule.”®

The probable approval of the pope (as suggested by the Gesra, see this text, p. 68)
before 768 for the Nasi of Frankia and his domain may have been the subject
under discussion at the Septimania conference of prelates in 791. See this text,
pp. 175-78.

63. For the text of the Annals of Aniane see this work p. 40, note 9. The text of
the Chronicle of Uzés (where Dhuoda the wife of Bernard of Septimania resided),
in HGL, 11, preuves, col. 26, anno 759: “‘Anno Domini DCCLYV, Franchi Narbonam
obsident dato sacramento Gothis, qui ibi erant in civitate, quod si illam traderent
partibus Pipini, Franchorum regis, dimiterent eos regere. Tunc Gothi occiderunt
Sarracenos qui in presidio illius erant, et se cum ipsa civitate Narbonensi tradiderunt
Franchis, ut in libris antiquis Sancti Theodoriti reperi.”

See ibid., col. 23, note 1, for discussion of incorrect dates in this chronicle written'
in the margin of a work by Bernard Gui dating from fourteenth century. E. Mabille,
ibid., col. 26, reports that in the date DCCXLYV the X is erased. My examination
of the manuscript, however, indicates that both the X and L are erased leaving
DCCYV; Bibliothéque Nationale, MS latin 2096 (formerly 4974) fol. 76r.

See this text, p. 261, where it is indicated that Jews might properly be designated
Gothi, a geographical rather than an ethnic term, as residents of “Gothia.” The
meaning of the text would remain the same as proposed above with the sole alteration
of regem for legem. Cf. G. Caro who, without detailed analysis of the sources,
reaches the conclusion that Jews must have been included among Goths, unless
indeed “Hebrews” is to be read in place of “Goths” in this passage of the Moissac-
Aniane chronicles, whereby the difficulties would be resolved most easily, Sozial-
und Wirtschaftsgeschichte der Juden, 1, pp. 142-43, 472.
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The First Generations of the
Jewish Principate:
Makhir (Natronai)-Theodoric
and His Son William, 791-

Charlemagne’s privilegium of 791 confirming the Jewish Exilarchate
as a permanent institution and defining the status and-powers of the
Nasi as lord of a domain or principality in Septimania and the March
of Spain appears to have produced prompt repercussions in the South-
land. To allay opposition and assure acquiescence may perhaps be the
motivation for a grand legislative conference of churchmen which con-
vened soon afterward at the command of Charlemagne and “with the
authority of the Holy See.” In all, forty-eight prelates or their deputies
came together, a number which underscores the importance of the
gathering. These included the Archbishop of Arles, Bishop of Toulouse,
seven bishops of Septimania (namely, of Nimes, Uzés, Maguelonne,
Agde, Béziers, Carcassonne, and Elne), three bishops of the region
just conquered from the Arabs (Urgel, Gerona, and Barcelona), and
churchmen of the ecclesiastical provinces of Arles, Vienne, and Eauze.
The missus Desiderius represented the King.!

1. The full texts in HGL, 11, preuves, pp. 54-57; Concilia aevi karolini, I1 part 2,
ed. A. Werminghoff, MGH, Legum sectio ITI, pp. 828-31. A. R. Lewis emphasizes

175
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The extant documents are badly mutilated. In addition they contra-
dict themselves and each other on the important fact of the date of
the conference, placing it in June of 788, 789, 791, or 801—. Never-
theless, the names of the signatories, led by Daniel Bishop of Narbonne,
include those of contemporary prelates known from other sources, and
hence they are authentic. It is generally agreed that an assembly of
churchmen did actually convene in the environs of Narbonne in the
period 788-801.

The question at issue appears to have been the extent of power vested
in the authorities at Narbonne and the territorial limits of their juris-
diction. Since Bishop Daniel heads the list of signatories it might be
supposed that it was his authority that was being defined. However, he
does not appear as a litigant over against the other prelates but rather
simply as one of them except for the question of the subjection of the
church at Ausona in the March of Spain. But Griffe has demonstrated
that this section is an interpolation of the tenth century.? The only
other power in Narbonne that might be the cause of dispute at this
time was the Nasi of Frankia.

As the documents are presently drawn a reason given for convening
the council was the heresy of Felix Urgel. However, this is an invention
and a notorious error. The trial and condemnation of Felix took place

that the early Carolingians did not place much trust in local allies in order to control
Septimania. Rather, they deliberately introduced officials who were alien to the
region, In fact, according to Lewis, the Carolingian rulers carried out “a deliberate,
sustained, and fundamental assault upon the pre-existing society and institutions,”
Southern French and Catalan Society, pp. 31-33.

2. E. Griffe attempts a reconstruction of the text of the Narbonne Council. He
thinks he can restore the original text by eliminating the references to Pope Hadrian,
the heresy of Felix, and the subjection of the church at Ausona to the Narbonne
See. He concludes that the Council fixed the limits of the authority of the Narbonne
diocese; Histoire religieuse, Appendix II, pp. 246-50; cf. pp. 96-97. For the same
view, Ch. J. Hefele, Histoire des Conciles, 111, pt. 2, p. 1026; cf. also L. Duchesne,
Fastes épiscopaux, 1, pp. 305, 373, no. 21, Appendix p. 353, who also finds the
reasons for convening the council invented but the names of the bishops authentic.
The stylistic reasons which Griffe gives for eliminating the references to the pope
are not convincing. The presence of a royal missus and possibly of a papal legate
(at the least the action undertaken was per suae auctoritatis litteras domno apostolico
Adriano) suggests that far more was involved than a local dispute.
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at Ratisbon in 792 and again at Frankfort in 794.8 What original con-
tent, now unacceptable, did this false pretext replace? Presumably,
something of a related nature which shocked the forger. Now a man-
date of Charlemagne’s son Louis, dated 839, issued in behalf of three
Jews of Septimania, opens with a circumlocution about acting with
benevolent devotion even to those not brought up in the Christian
faith. Approximately such an affirmation about the obligation to keep
one’s word with unbelievers is attributed to “King Charles” by Meir
b. Simeon.* An individual at a later date who felt impelled to tamper
with a similar startling assertion about unbelieving Jews which he

3. Felix Urgel, a signatory of this document, was condemned, and abjured his
Adoptionist views at the Council of Ratisbon in-792. He then reasserted his position
and fled to Arab Spain, probably to Toledo. The celebrated Council at Frankfort
which convened apostolica auctoritate at the start of Spring 794 under the honorary
chairmanship of Charlemagne, solemnly condemned Adoptionism once more.
Felix persisted in his stand. Charlemagne summoned him to a disputation with
Alcuin at the Council of Aix-la-Chapelle in 798. Felix came and for six days publicly
presented his views, but ultimately declared himself in error and recanted. He is
suspected of having persisted secretly in his position until his death in 818; Diction-
naire de Théologie catholique, V (Paris 1913), col. 2132-33, Hefele thinks that Felix
signature to the decretum of the Council of Narbonne may have been responsible
for the alteration of the original act and the insertion of the charge of Adoptionism
here; op. cit., p. 1026-27. However such tamperifig with the original seems uncalled
for unless it contained views that would make the forger see heresy therein.

4. February 22, 839, HGL, 1l preuves, col. 211, no. 97. The preamble reads:
“Licet apostolica lectio thaxime domesticis fidei nos bonum operare commoneat,
ceteris quoque omnibus idem facere benivola devotione non prohibet, sed potius ut
respectu divinae misericordiae propensus exaquamur hortatur . ..."” Cf. J. Régné,
Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 35-36; J. Aronius, Regesten, p. 42, no. 102. Note Pope
Innocent IV's somewhat similar remark on behalf of the books of the Jews in his
address to King Louis IX of France, August 12, 1247: *. .. summus pontifex ...
nulli debet injuste nocere, sed juste quod justum exequendo tenetur reddere cuilibet
jura sua. . . nos qui juxta mandatum divinum in eadem lege ipsos tolerare tenemur™;
S. Grayzel, Church and the Jews, no. 119, pp. 274, 276, 278; translation p. 275,
Meir b. Simeon’s similar claim, A. Neubauer, “Documents sur Narbonne,” REJ,
X (1885), 98; see Appendix IV of this text; for translation, pp. 65-67. How such
mandates were twisted out of their original intent may be seen in the Registre de
I’ Abbaye de la Grasse, compiled in 1494, which has the following entry for the year
839; “Lettres de 'Empereur Louys commandant a certains Hébreux de relascher &
I'abbé quelques droits usurpés”; Archives départementales, Aude, H7 folio 59v.



178 The First Generations of the Jewish Principate

found in the council’s original decisions might be led to think of
“another” heresy during the reign of Charlemagne, namely the move-
ment associated with Felix Urgel; and consequently to substitute here
an imaginary clerical deliberation about the recalcitrant prelate.
Original material, now lost, was deliberately deleted since it was
patently unacceptable. If then the Council of Narbonne focused on
Jews, did it deliberate about Nasi Makhir and, under pressure from
the royal missus and the papal legate,® finally acknowledge and confirm
his authority in the immense territory represented by the assembled
princes of the church?® They came from the Toulousain, Septimania
to the Rhone, and the March of Spain (as later constituted), lands that
correspond to the vast domain which Charlemagne ceded to Aymeri
according to the Gesta.”

This reasoning would lead to a dating of the conference some time
after the Worms (Ratisbon) capitulary and probably still in the year
791. Auzias in fact dates the council in 791. He assumes that it dealt
with the problems attendant upon the reorganization of Septimania
and southern Aquitaine which followed on the integration into Frankia
of the recently acquired territories beyond the Pyrenees.®

5. For probable papal approval of the Nasi of Frankia and the Gesta's reference
to such assent see this text, p. 68. Meir b, Simeon reports that King Charles pro-
mulgated important statutes for the Jews *“with the consent of the bishops and
abbots who were there with him;” see this text, p. 67.

6. The territories covered by the decision of the Narbonne Council appear in
the following statement of its decretum: “Rogamus igitur cunctos subsequentes nos
et hoc nostrae auctoritatis decreto confirmamus, sancimus, stabilimus tam de Redensi
pago quam etiam de Ausonensi sive confinio Narbonensi et Biterrensi, quod est
Orbus, ut, sicut coram nobis discussum et comprobatum est, ita inconvulsum et
incontaminatum, nullius contradictione valente, in perpetuum permaneat.” Concilia
aevi karolini, 11, part 2, MGH, Legum sectio III, pp. 828-30.

7. Gesta, ed., F. Ed. Schneegans, p. 190:2475-85; see Appendix 1, this text.

8. L. Auzias, L’ Aquitaine carolingienne, pp. 39-40. An echo of this council of 791
may perhaps be heard in the complaint of Agobard Bishop of Lyons who reported
that the honorati of Septimania claimed papal, as well as imperial, confirmation for
their possession of former ecclesiastical estates; Agobard, Epistolae V, ed. E.
Diimmler, p. 174:31-36, and see discussion in A. J. Zuckerman, “Politicai Uses of
Theology . ..,” p. 47. Cf. also I. Lévi, “Le roi juif de Narbonne,” REJ, XLVIII
(1904), 206.
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The statistical studies of David Herlihy on the extent of ownership
of ecclesiastical property in France in the period 701-1200 likewise
emphasize the relative paucity of church property (and, by implication,
the high level of lay power) in the March of Spain and southern France
before 950. In general church possession of land grew enormously
throughout the Carolingian period. A startling exception was the
Spanish March. For the eighth century not a single private contract
of land conveyance mentions an ecclesiastical institution of southern
France as owner of landed property contiguous to the estate described
in the document; for northern Spain not a single such church possession
is mentioned until the period 851-75. By contrast in eighth-century
northern France the percentage of ecclesiastical institutions appearing
as contiguous owners in the documents was 19 per cent. For the ninth
century as a whole the figures are: '

%
Spain less than 5
Southern France 31
Northern France 4

On the other hand in the century 951-1050 the greatest upsurge in
church holdings is evident in Spain, where ecclesiastical ownership
spurts about fourfold from less than ,5 per.cent to 18 per cent (in
southern France from 28 per cent to”35 per cent) while at the same
period in northern France it is decreasing from 51 per cent to 39 per
cent and in all of Europe (including Spain) from 25 per cent to 20 per
cent. Herlihy’s conclusions are based on 10,000 references for the entire
period 701-1200.*

Although his conclusions can tell nothing about the contents of the
original “decree” at the Narbonne Church Council of ca. 791, they
parallel our findings regarding the relative balance of power between
the church and lay magnates, specifically the Nasi of the Jews, in
Septimania-March of Spain during the last quarter of the eighth
century.

The only non-Hebrew source which explicitly names Makhir of

9. D. Herlihy, “Church Property on the European Continent, 701-1200,”
Speculum, XXXV1 (1961), 86, table 1, 87-89, 96, 103-05, table 3.
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Narbonne is dated December 5, 791. A fragment of this document was
first published in facsimile, apparently because its script was so un-
usual, by Mabillon who, however, misread Maghario Confis de Nar-
bone as Magnario. In this incorrect form it was published by the
editors of the Histoire générale du Languedoc. The peculiar ligature of
the h with the preceding g accounts for the error. The ordinarily
vertical left leg of the h is here curved in such a way as to form the
right side and round head of the g and at the same time is attached to
the preceding a. Comparison with the word régnante two lines lower
confirms our reading. Here too the left leg of the first n also forms the

I. PLACITI'M CAFNENSE SFB CsiROLO M

A wit' JiX <m [\n WD cu 1A c'chur | v
ST
IT VA X>7aLli *
..myy?w m0M
Fig. 2

Facsimile to illustrate reading Maghario, from Johannis Mabillon, De re diplo-
matica, V (Naples 1789), p. 413, Table XXVII (facsimile).

right side of the g and is joined to the preceding e. However, there is a
clearly discernible difference between this n in régnante and the h in
what must be read Maghario. It is clear, furthermore, that the writer’s
pen did not leave the page in tracing the n, while he lifted his pen, as
expected, in starting the right hand side of the h. There can be no
doubt that Maghario or Magharius is a Romanized form of Makhir.10

The document under discussion is a declaration of the judges Ara-
solario, Deoavio, and others of a court authorized by Maghario Count
of Narbonne. In the presence of a representative delegated by Count
Maghario there appeared witnesses offered by the Abbot of Aniane,
who pointed out the boundaries of the village of Caunes and swore

10.  See facsimile (Fig. 2) from Johannis Mabillon, De re diplomatica, V, (Naples
1789), p. 413, table XXVII (facsimile); cf. p. 524 B, C.
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that it had the same limits at the time of the Goths; furthermore, that
Count Milo had fixed them in the same way, and that King Charles
had confirmed them as they now were.!

With the southwestern border safe and secure, even if greatly ex-
panded, Charlemagne now weighed the advisability of war against the
Avars. He summoned a national diet to Ratisbon that summer of 791,
where the final decision was to be made. In the meantime a tremendous
army was assembled. King Louis of Aquitaine came to Ratisbon pre-
sumably with forces from the South, perhaps those contingents which
had but recently rolled back the Spanish frontier and pacified the
borderlands. As was to be expected Theodoric was assigned a role in
the new campaign. In fact to “Count Theodoric, kinsman of the King,”
was entrusted no less than one-third of the army; a second third pro-
ceeded under the command of the Chamberlain Meginfried, while
Charles led the remaining portion himself. In addition, Charles’ son
Pepin sent an army from Italy. A mighty host marched against the
Avars, The enemy fled without offering resistance of note.

As the war continued in the East, Theodoric distinguished himself
in victorious encounters. Then came a turn in the tide. In the spring of
793 a detachment of his forces which he had sent to Charlemagne from
Frisia was massacred by a band of Saxons on the Weser. On July 6,
793, Theodoric lost his life in Pannonia.}? His mantle apparently fell
to his son William. -

William had made his first appearance in the Spanish borderlands as
the commander of Toulouse succeeding Duke Chorso who was ousted

11. “Conditiones sacramentorum as quas ex ordinationem (Magnario) Maghario
comis de Narbone vel de judices Arasolario, Deoavio . . . In quam testes ostenderunt
coram vicedomino a (Magnario) Maghario comite de Narbona misso terminos
villae Caunensis et adjacentiarum ejus; juraveruntque ... ipsam villam eosdem
habuisse limites tempore Gotorum, Milonemque comitem eos eodem modo dirimisse
et Karolum regem firmasse, quos habent, jurant.” HGL, II, preuves, no. 10.-VII,
col. 57-58, with incorrect reference to Mabillon; cf. J. Mabillon, op. cit., p. 412,
no. 1; p. 524 B, C. Mabillon’s facsimile reproduces only a small portion of the
text.

12. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 23, 25, 54,
and the sources there. L. Halphen and others think that this Theodoric may be
identical with the warrior against the Saxons, 782, Etudes critiques, p. 185, note 4.
See this text p. 122, note 17.
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by Charlemagne in 790. He seems to have become Duke of Toulouse
at no more than twenty or twenty-one years of age. William acted
swiftly and effectively against the Basques. He was strikingly successful.
In quick order, as much by astuteness as by force, he brought the
rebels to account and imposed peace in 791.1

These successes in the West, when combined with the expansion of
Frank authority to the neighborhood of Barcelona on the eastern sea-
board, constituted notable achievements of the Makhiri. In the same
year, as already noted, the delegation of ten men led by Isaac had
reported to Charlemagne in Worms (Ratisborn). The King acted
favorably on Makhir’s request to make the Jewish patriarchate a per-
manent institution, 791. With peace apparently assured on the Spanish
frontier, Theodoric-Makhir joined the expedition against the Avars
accompanied perhaps by William also. But King Louis was gone too
and had withdrawn troops as well. As early as the spring of 791 King
Louis of Aquitaine had left for Germany. He did not return until the
autumn of 792, when he raised an army at the order of his father and
sent it to Italy for his brother Pepin’s expedition against the Lombards
of Beneventum.* With Theodoric-Makhir and possibly William too
away fighting their king’s battles, Louis’ action all but stripped the
Spanish borders of their protecting garrisons. This apparently reckless
step underscores the attitude of the Frank kings that the prime respon-
sibility for the watch of the Spanish marches lay in others’ hands.

The denuding of the frontier fortresses of their garrisons and the
death of Theodoric-Makhir on July 6, 793, coincided with the ascension
of a new Emir Hisham I, son of ‘Abd ar-Rahman, whose major ambi-
tion was to expand the boundaries of Islam. Hearing that the Franks
were involved in wars far distant from the neighboring frontiers,'® he
took swift advantage of his opportunity. He proclaimed Holy War
against Frankia. His army violated the border with impunity in 793.
Gerona remained loyal to the Frank-‘Abbasid-Jewish cause and re-
sisted successfully. The Emir’s commander ‘Abd al-Melek had to con-

13. Vita Hludowici, § 5, p. 609:31-35; *, .. tam astu quam viribus brevi pacem
imposuit nationi”; ibid., p. 609:34-35. ’

14. L. Auzias, L'Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 41; S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher
... unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 23, 25-26.

15. Annals of Aniane, anno 793, HGL, 11, preuves, col. 9-10.
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tent himself with ravaging the countryside. Narbonne also stoutly
resisted but its suburbs were burnt down; numerous were the victims
and staggering the booty which the invaders carried off.1¢

During these advances of the Umayyads the Narbonne authorities
must have been alerted. Word was carried to William, who apparently
was so far distant from his southern domains that he could not arrive
in time to stem the Saracen invasion. In fact he did not overtake them
until they had left Narbonne and were making for Carcassonne. On the
banks of the stream Orbieu not far from Villedaigne, a bit above the
confluence of the Orbieu and the Aude (or else, of the River Orbiel
and the Aude, closer to Carcassonne), William engaged the invaders.'?
But his troops were no match for Hisham’s forces. His army was
routed, his comrades slipped away, and he himself had to abandon the
field of battle. The Frank chronicles report this encounter as a great
disaster, portraying how the Saracens made their way back home with
immense booty and innumerable prisoners. Arab sources confirm this
description. The booty was so vast that the Emir’s share of one-fifth
amounted to 45,000 pounds pure gold, with which he was able to build
a mosque in Cordova.!®* The Saracens must have had access to com-
mercial warehouses on their invasion route in order to amass such
spoil. Nevertheless, the annals relate that a Saracen king was killed in
battle. T

The news of the catastrophe saddened Charles but the eastern front
was obviously his first concern. He undertook nothing in behalf of the
Spanish frontier. The best of the border troops Louis had with him in
Italy. He too made no effort to fly to the defense of his kingdom in
Aquitaine. Instead, he and his brother Pepin joined their father and

16. Gerona and Narbonne were not taken, J.-M. Millds i Vallicrosa, “Els textos
d’historiadors musulmans,” Quaderns d’Estudi, XIV (1922), no. 22.

17. Griffe has argued cogently for the confluence of the Orbiel and the Aude as
the site of the battle, quite close to Carcassonne; E. Griffe, “‘La razzia sarrasine de
793 en Septimanie. Bataille de 'Orbieu ou bataille de I'Orbiel ?”* 4dM, LI (1941),
225-36. For the same view, W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 108, note 7.

Hisham exacted such excessive tribute from Jews and Christians in Spain as
to force them to sell their sons and daughters, according to HGL, 11, preuves, col.
9-10, anno 793.

18. The sources are assembled in S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl
dem Grossen, 11, pp. 58-59.
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stayed with him in the East until the spring of 794.1* Apparently, it was
William, rather than Louis, who held it his responsibility to guard the
marches of Spain.

A reminiscence of this crisis has been preserved in the Chanson de
Guillaume. On learning of the invasion William pleaded with Louis for
aid against the Saracens. Louis refused. In fury William hurled his
gauntlet at the feet of his king and withdrew homage. Other knights,
primarily of William’s family, offered aid. Louis acceded. But the
Queen, herself William’s sister, objected that William’s wife Guiburc
was a “pagan” by birth, a master of the herb-mixing art who would
not hesitate to poison Louis; whereupon William and his wife would
become king and queen. Louis reduced by one-third the forces he had
agreed to send?® (vv. 2496-2635). As offspring of Makhir and Alda,
daughter of Charles Martel, William represented the confluence of the
Davidic and Carolingian dynastic streams, an obvious qualification
for rule.

The Saracens returned to Spain in triumph, apparently having set at
nought a decade of painful planning and progress for Frank arms.
William found himself at the point of having to start the Spanish
conquests all over again but lacking now the guidance and leadership
of his father. It must have been evident that William would have to
import far larger numbers of troops from the East in order to protect
his domains or else depend to a much greater extent on Frank forces
and on a much keener sense of involvement by the Frank monarchs.
This was bound to raise the delicate question of the relationship
between the Nasi of the Jews and the King of the Franks. As subject
of the Caliph of Baghdad, a king of kings, the Nasi could still retain
royal stature. But as subject of a mere king he lost it. Gregory the

19. L. Auzias, L' Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 42.

20. La Chanson de Guillaume, ed. D. McMillan, I, pp. 100-105. In 834 Emperor
Lothar condemned William’s daughter Gerberga, a sister of Bernard of Septimania,
to death by drowning on the charge of sorcery. At the same time he executed
Gothselm (Bernard’s brother?) and Sanila, counts and the vassal Madalelmus,
*““Adclamatione porro militari;” Vita Hludowici § 52 end p. 639. He did not execute
all the defenders of Chalon on the Sadne but only these three counts alone, “‘et
comites qui ibi aderant comprehendit, ex quibus tres interfecit™; Annales Bertiniani,
p. 9, anno 834. For collation of the sources, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Ludwig
dem Frommen, 11, p. 107.
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Great defined the difference between the office of kings and that of
emperors, as follows: “This now is the distinction [Gregory declared]
between kings of nations and emperors of a res publica. The kings of
nations are the lords of servi; emperors of a res publica, on the other
hand, are the lords of free men,”2

The Jews had to insist, for theological as well as for practical reasons,
on the royal character of their nasi: his regal sway was evidence that
Messiah—whether Christian or Muslim—had not yet come.?? In this
manner the requirements of the Jews in the Frankish realm and the
imperial ambitions of Charlemagne came to parallel and support one
another. William could not be entirely independent of Frank troops or
of the Frank monarch for the defense of his realm. He needed both.
But as nasi he had to make certain that his vassalage was that of a
king to an emperor, that the status of the Jews was not the servile
relationship of subjects to a king but rather that of free men to a king
of kings (emperor). The allegiance of the Jews was to be to the imperial
office rather than to the person of the sovereign. On the other hand, was
the subjection of Jewry and Jerusalem held to be a prerequisite for the

21. “Hoc namque inter reges gentium et rei publicac imperatores distat, quod
reges gentium domini servorum sint, imperatores vero rei publicae domini libero-
rum,” MGH, Epistolae, 1I, pp. 397:21; 263:10. T. Mayer, “‘Staatsauffassung,”
p. 476, interprets this to mean that persons standing in a position of dependence to
the person of a ruler were servi, those persons ruled by the imperator rei publicae,
the chief of state as the bearer of an institution, were free men, liberi. However, it
may be noted that an imperator is usually a ruler of kings.

Johannes Teutonicus the German canon lawyer and professor at Bologna in the
first quarter of the thirteenth century affirmed the translatio imperii and then asserted
that the German emperor was above all kings and nations for he was the prince and
lord of the world. Even the Jews were subject to him: *“Sic enim regimen mundi . ..
translatum est ad teuthonicos ... Est autem imperator super omnes reges ... et
omunes naciones sub eo sunt . . . Ipse enim et princeps mundi et dominus . . . Etiam
judei sub eo sunt”; G. Post, * ‘Blessed Lady Spain’—Vincentius Hispanus and
Spanish National Imperalism in the Thirteenth Century,” Speculum, XXIX
(1954), 198; cf. idem, “‘Some unpublished glosses on the Translatio Imperii and the
Two Swords,” Archiv fiir katholisches Kirchenrecht, CXVII (1937), 407 f.

22. See this text, pp. 93-96. In the middle of the twelfth century Peter the
Venerable emphasized “servitude™ and “subjection” of the Jews as evidence of the
Messiahship of Jesus, Tractatus, PL, CLXXXIX, col. 560 C.
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ascension of a Christian moparch to imperial office ? The dispatch of
Isaac as an ambassador, with others, to Baghdad and Jerusalem in
79728 was perhaps related to such conceptions and theories.

In 796 Hisham I died and was succeeded by his son Alhaqam I. He
undertook an attack against the Franks but soon found himself caught
in a web of intrigue in which two uncles played a leading role. The one,
Suleiman, went to Africa to recruit troops for an invasion of Spain.
The other, ‘Abdullah, went to Aix-la-Chapelle to propose to Charle-
magne anattack south of the Pyrenees and to offer his aid. Likewise,
Zado the wali of Barcelona came to assure Charles of his submission
and aid; and so did the King of the Asturians, 797. Soon Bahlul of
Saragossa was to seek peace with Charlemagne.?¢ Obviously, effective
diplomacy was being carried out to promote the Frank cause in Spain
as had taken place in the period before 791. That William himself may
have been involved is suggested by his claims on the floor of the Diet
of 803 that he was thoroughly familiar with the fortresses, garrisons,
and other strong places of the Saracens and the safest routes to conduct
the Frank armies to them. He also claimed that he was acquainted with
the Saracens and they in turn knew him well. King Louis, on the other
hand, admitted from the chair of the same Diet his relative lack of in-
volvement in Spanish affairs.2¢

23. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 254-57.
In the thirteenth century Emperor Frederick II claimed dominion over all the Jews;
cf. S. W. Baron, “Plenitude of Apostolic Powers” (Hebrew), Sefer Yobkel leYitzhak
Baer, 124. Frederick’s claim was, of course, related to his possession of the imperial
office.

24. Cf. L. Auzias, L’'Aquitaine carolingienne, pp. 43-44, who assembles the
sources. Note that on Isaac’s return from Baghdad and Jerusalem he also went to
North Africa presumably to recruit troops for an attack on Spain; see this text,
p. 188. In retaliation for the Saracen invasion of 793 William carried out pillaging
expeditions in Spain during 796, according to J. Calmette, La Question des Pyrénées,
p- 15. The records are strangely silent about William®s activity after 796 until 803—
a critical period of preparation for the attack on Spain.

25. “Quae mihi nota nimis, et sibi notus ego ....

Moenia, castra, locos, seu caetera saepe notavi:

Ducere vos possum tramite pacifico ... [vv. 183-85)
Illuc tende gradum, rex, infer munera Martis,

Et Vilhelmus erit praevius, alme, tuus .. .. [vv. 190-91]"
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Then came the revolt against Alhagam. The rebels took Toledo. In
798 the Franks returned and reoccupied the citadels of Ausona,
Cardona, and Casseres and fortified them. Borel was named Count of
Ausona and placed at the head of the defense of the country. Measures
were taken to repopulate these places.?® Some time later Ausona appears
as an all-Jewish community.?? This conquest proceeded without striking
a warlike blow. A military effort against Huesca contributed to the
later submission of Hasan.

During 799 King Louis left Spain and accompanied his father on an
expedition into Saxony, returning to his realm at the beginning of 800.
Military activity in the peninsula had become dormant. Whatever
action is reported in Spain appéars to have been of the nature of re-
prisals. Lerida was forced into submission, its walls dismantled, and
its neighboring villages burned. At Hu€sca the Franks ravaged the
environs while the town escaped capture. At the approach of winter
Louis left Spain for home.?®

In June of the following year, 801, a “Persian from the Orient”
legate of the Caliph Harun ar-Rashid and an ambassador from the
court of Ibrahim ibn Alaghlab, governor of the area of North Africa
in the neighborhood of Kairouan, arrived in Frankland. They reported
that Charles’ embassy to Harun ar-Rashid had reaclled Alaghlab’s

Ermold le Noir, Poéme sur Louis le Pieux ¢d-and tr. E. Faral. Louis admitted:
“Vobis nota satis res haec, incognita nobis.” (v. 162).

On Louis’ lack of up-to-date information, cf. also L. Auzias, “Les si¢ges de
Barcelone,” AdM, XLVII (1936), 7, note 1, who also comments favorably, ibid.,
on Ermold’s reliability concerning the facts of the siege of Barcelona.

26. In 798 King Louis of Aquitaine set up a line of fortifications on Aquitaine’s
borders—the town Ausona (later Vich), the castell Cardona (northwest of Barce-
lona), Castaserra, “and the other formerly abandoned places.” He strengthened
them, gave them residents, and entrusted their defence to Count Burellus; Vita
Hludowici, anno 798, § 8, p. 611:18-20. The Saracens acceded to these steps; J.
Calmette, La Question des Pyrénées, p. 16. Charlemagne had hit on an audacious
plan of defence. Since the Pyrenees can be crossed by an army only at the two
extremities, he set up an extended glacis in Navarre and Catalonia while barring
the passes through the mountains. This called for limited territorial annexation
south of the Pyrenees, hence the March of Navarre and March of Spain or Cata-
lonia; ibid., p. 15.

27. See this text, p. 318 and note 6.

28, Cf. L. Auzias, L’ Aquitaine carolingienne, pp. 44-45.
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domain bearing gifts from Baghdad including the famous elephant;
and that Isaac the Jew was the sole survivor among the leaders of the
embassy. Charles ordered a fleet to the North African coast. One may
guess that Isaac’s efforts at the Alaghlab court were related to designs
on Barcelona; that the arrival of Ibrahim’s legation reflected the
success of these efforts in North Africa; and furthermore, that a fleet
of Frank ships was dispatched not merely for an elephant-and the
Caliph’s treasured gifts but primarily to transport a military cargo of
men and matériel. Septimanian ports were accessible to Kairouan and
this part of the North African coast; the troops were doubtless landed
in southern France for redeployment in Spain. But because of the
elephant and the season of the year, Isaac continued by ship to Italy
where he debarked in October 801 at Portovenere. On hearing of
Isaac’s arrival, Charlemagne sent the notary Erchimbald to arrange for
the elephant’s transportation and acceptance of the other gifts. Isaac
passed the winter at Vercelli in Lombardy since the Alps were covered
with snow. Not until the summer of 802 did he reach Aix-la-Chapelle
where the Emperor received him in audience.?® The Frank chroniclers
quote the Arab ambassadors here so it is not surprising that Isaac is
called by his Hebrew or (similarly sounding) Arabic name and not by
the Frankish equivalent. The Song of William represents William as
able to speak Arabic and Hebrew (see this text, p. 117). The chronicles
associate with the activity of this legation the cession to Charles, at
least temporarily, of authority over a part of Jerusalem. The sources
relate that the Patriarch of Jerusalem transferred to Charles the keys
of the Holy Sepulcher and of Calvary together with the Banner (vexil-
lum) and/or the keys of the Holy City and of the Mount (Zion).%®

29. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 255-57,
282-83. Cf. A. Dupont, Les Cités, p. 357, on the proximity of the Languedoc
ports to this mission; cf. also, S. Katz, Jews in the Visigothic Kingdoms, p. 133.
A Frankish military cargo from North Africa could be landed close to Spain. Its
arrival in the summer/autumn 801 may be related to Bera's reconnaissance across
the Pyrenees at this time. Sec immediately below. A settlement of Kairouan Jews,
not necessarily recent immigrants to the March of Spain, is reported in a Responsum
of Rabbi Natronai Gaon (853-58/63) «--yamry 1253R 1) 'k W3V ©MOR DYY;
B. M. Lewin, Otsar ha-Geonim (Thesaurus), III, Pesahim, p. 90, no. 221.

30. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 232-33;
B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter Ludwig dem Frommen, p. 12, note 5. On keys and
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The priest Zechariah brought the banner and keys to Rome only two
days before Charles’ coronation as emperor. Simson thinks that Harun-
ar-Rashid ceded to Charlemagne, at least nominally, the Holy Se-
pulcher. Now a later tradition reports that, for services rendered,
Charlemagne gave as a gift to William of Toulouse the vexillum that
had been brought from Jerusalem. However, the transmitted text has
been altered into vexillum crucis thus distorting the original meaning
into splinter of the Cross. This splinter became one of the treasured
relics at Gellone, which William founded, and to which he reportedly
brought and donated the vexillum.® But a still extant tradition has
William speak of the wood of the Cross “which in my presence was
sent to you (Charlemagne) from Jerusalem some time ago.”’2 Con-
sequently, this tradition claims that Count William was a member of
an embassy to the East which secured for Charlemagne the Banner of
Jerusalem. )

The Frank chronicles are totally silent about Duke William in the
period 797-803. Was he absent from the realm, and if so was he on the
embassy to Baghdad, Jerusalem, and North Africa ? The Vita Willelmi
has preserved a reminiscence of William’s ambassadorial activity at
the court of Charlemagne: “Elevated with the dignity of Count and
Duke, William . . . assumed the role of ambassador and withdrew from
no task; he was sent against the barbarians.”® .- -~ -

William’s absence on this secret mission may even have led to rise
of the tale that he had withdrawn from the world only to return to
help his king in time of crisis.*

The original intent of Charlemagne’s embassy of 797 to the East has
been obscured by the scholarly debate over whether or not Charlemagne
and the Patriarch of Jerusalem maneuvered to establish a Frankish

banners as symbols of subjection, G. Waitz, Verfassungsgeschichte, II1, p. 167,
note 1; p, 169. Cf. this text p. 216.

31. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 106, note 4; p. 119.

32.- “(Ego Willelmus) . . . dico enim de glorioso ligno Domini, quod me presente
olim vobis missum est ab Hierosolymis™; Acta Sanctorum, Maii Tomus VI, p. 805,
§ 16.

33. “Ergo Willelmus comitis et ducis gloria sublimatus, fit inter principes primus,
ipse secundus a rege, suscepit legationem, nec laborem recusat; mittitur contra
barbaros.” Vita Willelmi Gellonensis, MGH, SS XV, part 1, p. 212:40-41.

34, See this text, p. 215.
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protectorate over Jerusalem.% Rather, the arrival of the priest Zacharias
at Rome with the keys and Banner of Jerusalem a mere two days
before Charles’ coronation as emperor suggests his immediate purpose
was related to his imperial ambitions. The Carolingians knew they were
usurpers of the throne of the Franks. They went to great lengths to
legitimize their rule by securing a permissive statement from the pope
and then introducing the act of unction for Pepin and his sons. Marriage
into the family of the scion of the House of David and suzerainty over
the Jewish people of the West were intended to add weight to such
legitimacy. But in order to firm up the claim of succession to the
biblical kings of Israel it was also essential to achieve authority in
some form, even if only symbolic, over Jerusalem. Joranson and
Stevenson have properly emphasized,® as did their predecessors, that
if the transfer of keys and banner to Charles possessed any political
significance, it must have required the previous assent of the Caliph
of Baghdad, master of the Holy City at the time. Why should Harun
ar-Rashid give such assent? What quid pro quo could Charles offer ?
To secure such assent and make the necessary offer was the task of
Isaac (Count William of Toulouse) son of al-Makhiri (Aymeri) of
Narbonne, the latter, Prince of the Jews in the West and a former
Exilarch of the Jews in Baghdad. The father’s contacts in Baghdad
must have been of assistance to Isaac-William. One thing is clear.

35. E. Joranson summarizes the scholars’ positions and argues against the
evidence offered by Bréhier, in particular, in favor of a protectorate, “The Alleged
Frankish Protectorate in Palestine,” AHR, XXXII (1927), 241-61. S. Runciman
takes up the cudgels again, with essentially the same results, except that he is
prepared to accept the evidence that Charles’ embassy of 797 did, in fact, pass
through Jerusalem; and that Charles’ legation in 802 did receive assent to his
wishes from the Caliph who “assigned that sacred and salutary place to Charles’
power”; “Charlemagne and Palestine,” EHR, L (1935), 606-19. Bernard the Wise,
a Breton monk of the monastery of Mount St. Michel, reports in 867 C.E. that
he and his companions *“went to the holy city of Jerusalem, where we were received
in the hostel founded there by the glorious emperor Charles [Charlemagne] in
which are received all the pilgrims who speak the Roman tongue”; Early Travels
in Palestine, ed. Thomas Wright, p. 26.

For the attainment of his imperial ambitions Charlemagne was satisfied with the
semblance of power over Jerusalem (represented by the keys and banner) not the
reality of rule over its Christian residents.

36. E. Joranson, loc. cit., 260; S. Runciman, loc. cit., 610.



The First Generations of the Jewish Principate 191

Harun gave his assent as requested because of his interest in Spain.
His ambassador, whom he sent to Ibn Alaghlab in Kairouan, then
went on to France with Ibrahim of that North African court. As the
result of their report to Charlemagne, he sent a fleet to the North
African coast. Preparations for an invasion of Spain followed. On
Sunday, November 19, 803, the day of the new moon of the month of
Kislev, Count William of Toulouse, at the head of an army of his
own, captured Barcelona.®” Therewith, northern Spain fell into the
hands of the Franks.

The keys and banner of Jerusalem played no role in the ceremony of
Charles’ coronation. The initiative of Pope Leo led to the substitution
of Rome for Jerusalem, at least, to the shunting aside of the Holy City.
Einhard reports that Charles *“disliked this act [of coronation] so much
that he declared that had he anticipated the intention of the pontiff he
would not have entered the church on that day when it happened.”3®

A summer and autumn (801) reconnaissance into the Spanish penin-
sula was launched under the leadership of Count Bera, perhaps a son
of William.3® Louis left for Saxony at his father’s orders and returned

37. See this text, pp. 196-97. Arthur Kleinclausz recognizes that Charles and
Harun had enemies in common—the Emir of Cordoya and the Emperor in Byzan-
tium—a fact that brought them together, although he thinks the protectorate itself
is a legend, “La légende du protectorat de Charlemagne sur la terre sainte,” Syria,
VII (1926), 223, 227.

38. S. C. Easton and H. Wieruszowski, The Era of Charlemagne, no. H, p. 129.

39. Auzias thinks there were two Beras, one a “Goth™ and the other a son of
William; L'Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 91. Niger, Poéme, v. 356 identifies Bera
as “that prince of the Goths,” princeps ille Gothorum, corresponding to *... Bera
comite ibidem ob custodiam relicto cum Gothorum auxiliis,” mentioned in the Vita
Hludowici, § 13, p. 613:19-20. Tisset identifies Bera as a son of William on the
basis of a grant by Bera and his wife Romella of the Abbey Alet, which he founded,
to Pope Leo ITI and the church at Rome: “Proprium nostrum quod mihi Berano
comiti advenit a domno et genitore meo Guilelmo comite qui nuper fuit et domno
imperatore meo seniore Carole,” HGL, I1, preuves, no. 23, col. 79-80. The document
is undated, the editors date it 813. Cf. P. Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 23, 33.
He explains Dhuoda’s failure to list Bera among the offspring of William on the
grounds of his treason and exile. Accused by Sanila he was vanquished in judicial
combat and exiled to Rouen; ibid., pp. 33, 34, and note 153, However, it is im-
portant to observe that Ermold Niger employs the designation Goth (Poéme, ed.
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only at the end of autumn.*® In the year 802 the action against Spain
followed along the lines that had proven fruitful in the past, the method
of stratagem. Zado, Wali of Barcelona, was lured to Narbonne by one
he considered a friend. There he was arrested and sent to Louis who
had him brought to Charlemagne.&

By 803 the preliminaries for military expedition into the peninsula
had been arranged including a promise of aid from Charlemagne .4
King Louis summoned a Diet for the spring of the year. After a long
absence Duke William reappears for the first time in the documents.
According to Ermold Niger he played a leading role at the Diet of 803.
The poet presents only three speakers: King Louis who presided,
Lupus Santio who argued for restraint, and William who, in a lengthy
address, called for vigorous action south of the border.® His view
prevailed. Louis summoned his son-in-law Bigo and ordered a mobili-
zation of Frank forces directing them to be ready to start the siege of
Barcelona on the new moon of September, which coincided with the
start of autumn in the year 803.4

and tr. E. Faral, v. 313: Getha) where the Chronicle of Moissac refers to troops
from Provence and the Narbonnaise at the siege of Barcelona (anno 803).

When Niger and the Vita Hludowici designate Bera as a leader of the Goths
they (or their final redactors) may have intended a geographical, rather than an
ethnic, identification, designating thereby a commander of the inhabitants of
“Gothia” (actually Septimania in this period). Cf. HGL, II, note XCI, p. 339 a, b.
At the same time one cannot overlook the possibility that, as in the case of the
Annals of Aniane, Gothorum may be here a substitute for Judeorum; see this text,
pp. 174-75. We have called attention to the almost complete absence of Goths in
Septimania immediately after the fall of Narbonne in 759; see this text, pp. 42—46.
A “Prince of the Goths™ would be an anomaly indeed.

40. L. Auzias, “Les siéges de Barcelone,” 4dM, XLVIII (1936), 20-21.

41, L. Auzias, L' Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 46.

42. Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 613:19-23 reports that Charlemagne sent his son
Charles with an army which however turned back at Lyons when word reached
him of the fall of Barcelona. The Chronicle of Moissac, anno 803, p. 307:14-15,
represents this siege as proceeding under orders of Charlemagne. The chansons
have Louis obligate himself to provide aid to William only once in seven years, e.g.
Le Charroi de Nimes, ed. J.-L. Perrier, v. 590-91. .

43. Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr. E. Faral, vv. 172-91.

44, “Virginis ut primum Titan conscenderit astrum, Et soror in propria sede
sequetur iter, Agmine densato praefatae exercitus urbis Moenia noster ovans occupet
arma tenens.” Ermoid le Noir, ed. and tr. E. Faral, vv. 218-21. King Louis ad-
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Prince or Duke William, “Chief Standard-bearer” (primus signifer),
led the expedition beyond the Pyrenees.* His son Heribert accompanied
him as did also Bera, perhaps another son. The army was divided into
three divisions. One stayed behind with King Louis in Roussillon, a
second was assigned to attack and besiege Barcelona under the leader-
ship of Count Rostagnus of Gerona. The third, under the command of
William associated with Hadhemar, drove ahead south and westward
ready to clash with any approaching enemy force. In all there were
united troops from Burgundy, Aquitaine, Gascony, Provence, and
Septimania. The two last-named Ermold designated cohorts of “Getha,”
v. 313. The Barcelonians sent urgent appeals to the Emir of Cordova
for aid. But when the Emir’s army reached the Ebro, it found William’s
forces blocking their advance. They contented themselves with an
attack on the Asturians, pillaging and devastating as they advanced.
In the end they were driven off. The Saracens now apparently disabled
at little cost to himself, William returned to the siege of Barcelona.

With the progress of autumn the blockaded population was hoping
that the Franks would withdraw rather than risk the onslaught of
winter. To their dismay William’s men began building shelters.4’

dressed these instructions to Bigo. On him see E. Faral, ibid., p. 21, note 2. The
decision for the siege: ‘... visum est regi et conslharusejus ut ad Barcinnonam
oppugnandam ire deberent”; Vita Hludowici,§ 13, p. 612:26-27.

45. Ermold says: “Parte sua princeps Vilhelm tentoria figit,” ed. and tr. E. Faral,
v. 308. “Erat enim ibi Willelmus primus signifer, Hadhemarus et cum eis validum
auxilivm™; Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 612:28-29.

46. L. Auzias has assembled the major sources in L'Aguitaine carolingienne,
pp. 48-49; cf. Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr. E. Faral, p. 29, notes 2-4; P.
Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 18 ff, 23, 33, identifies Bera as William’s son. The
Chronicle of Moissac, anno 803, p. 307:16-17, designates the troops as coming from
Aquitaine, Gascony, Burgundy, Provence and Gothia. The chansons tell in detail
the exploits of Adhemar at the siege of Barcelona, which points to the existence of
some chronicle or other text as a source, now no longer extant.

47, L. Auzias, L’ Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 49-50.

The Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 612:40-p. 613:19, reports as follows: “... aliqui
vero spe animabantur inani, cogitantes quod Franci hiemis asperitate a civitatis
cohiberentur obsidione. Sed hanc illorum spem abscidit prudentium virorum
consilium. Advecta enim undecumque materia, coeperunt extruere casas, veluti
ibidem in hibernis mansuri. Quod cernentes civitatis habitatores a spe deciderunt
... et se ac civitatem . . . dediderunt.”
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Twenty days of inconclusive siege passed. At the end of this period
King Louis called upon his men to bring the Barcelonians to their
knees, averring he would not return home until victory had been won.
William was clearly the leader of the besieging Franks. By chance
Zado, the Saracen chief, was caught.®® But not until there had elapsed
two “moons,” including six weeks of incessant battering of the fortress,
did Barcelona open its gates and surrender to the Franks. That was
“a holy Sabbath.” The victors postponed their triumphal entry until
morrow, a festal day. Led by King Louis (who had been summoned
when victory appeared imminent, that he might enter as conqueror)
they ascended into the town, cleansed the holy places where demons
had been worshipped, and Louis made his votive offerings. Then
leaving a garrison under the command of Bera, the ruler returned home
for the winter.4?

Some of the sources have the siege run into a second year while
others refer to seven months. Faral assumes that “the Holy Sabbath”
mentioned by Ermold Niger was the day before Easter Sunday; he
draws up a forced chronology in order to account for a seven-month
siege over a two-year period.® It is clear however that Barcelona must

48. Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr. E. Faral, vv. 414-17; Louis’ address
ibid., vv. 420-29; William’s commanding leadership, vv. 436-45; 510-11; 524-29;
Zado’s capture, vv. 494-95.

49. E.Faral, Ibid.,v.532: “Altera luna suos conplebat in ordine soles.” The surren-
der and occupation, vv. 564-71: “Sabbatum erat sacrum, cumres ista peracta, Quando
prius Francis urbs patefacta fuit. Namque sequente die festo conscendit in urbem
Rex Hludowicus ovans solvere vota Deo: Mundavitque locos, ubi daemonis alma
colebant, Et Christo grates reddidit ipse pias. Missis, dante Deo, remeat custodibus
aedes Ad proprias victor rex populusque suus.” The Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 613:
18-19, makes explicit that approaching winter was the season of the year when
Barcelona was captured: ‘‘Porro post haec, Bera comite ibidem ob custodiam relicto
cum Gothorum auxiliis, kiemandi gratia [Ludovicus rex} ad propria remeavit.”

The same source dates the capture six weeks after King Louis® arrival: “Venit
[rex] ergo ad exercitum suum urbem vallantem, atque indesinenti oppugnationi sex
ebdomadibus perduravit; et tandem superata victori manus dedit”; ibid., p. 613:
10-12. Can we understand this to mean ““on the sixth Sabbath™ as in Leviticus
23:16; cf. v. 15 where Sabbath has the meaning week ? See this text, p. 197.

50. Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr. E. Faral, p. 45, note.

The Moissac chronicle, anno 803, p. 307:18-19, reports: *“. . . circumdedit exercitus
civitatem; et obsederunt mensibus septem.”
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have surrendered in the fall, “two moons” after the start of the block-
ade.® Therefore, Auzias insists that the Franks took Barcelona in
October 803. Apparently he assumes that the ““‘new moon of September”
came at the beginning of the month and overlooks its dating at the
autumnal equinox, September 21. He explains the reference to “Holy
Saturday” by asserting that any day marking the capture of Barcelona
from the infidel Muslims would be designated a “blessed,” a “holy”
day.52 However, in Hebrew parlance every Saturday is a “holy Sabbath”
(Shabbat kodesh).

It will be recalled that when Louis ordered the mobilization of Frank
troops he directed them to be ready to blockade Barcelona on the new
moon of September, the start of autumn in 803. The new moon of
September always coincides with Rosh haShanah, the Hebrew New
Year. It fell on Thursday, September 21'in 803, which corresponded to
the start of the Hebrew year 4564.5 Two weeks later there begins the
festival of Succot on the fifteenth day of the seventh (Hebrew) month
Tishri; it ends on the twenty-third day of the same month. Its most
distinctive feature is residence for seven days in temporary shelters,
“tabernacles” (in Hebrew, succot), which are constructed just before
the start of the festival. Then follow two additional holy days (shemini
atseret and simhat Torah). These eighth and ninth days and the first
two days of the festival are sacred while the intermediate five days are
semi-sacred in character. -

In 803 Succot began on Thursday, October 5 and the festival con-
cluded on Friday, October 13, the twenty-third day since the an-

51. The siege started at the fall equinox, Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr. E.
Faral, vv. 218-21, cf. note 44, p. 192 above; and Barcelona surrendered two months
later, ibid., v. 532, cf. this text, p. 194, note 49; whereupon King Louis returned
home for the winter, Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 613:19, “hiemandi gratia ad propria
remeavit.,”

52. L. Auzias, “Les siéges de Barcelone,” 4dM, XLVIII (1936), 8 ff., 13, 19.
He says the mobilization took place after the Diet in the spring, the final siege
action after September 21. Apparently Auzias fixed these dates on the faulty as-
sumption that Thursday, September 21 was 20 days after the New Moon of Sep-
tember. The year 802 is ruled out because in that year the new moon of September,
which fell on Thursday, September 1, did not follow the equinox. Twenty days
later, September 21, was of course a Wednesday, not Thursday.

53. E. Mahler, Handbuch der jiidischen Chronologie, p. 548.
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nounced date for the start of siege on Thursday, September 21. But
this day was Rosh haShanah, a two-day holiday, on which such
activity as a military undertaking is forbidden by Jewish law. The ban
would also hold for the Sabbath Saturday, September 23. If the start
of the siege operations actually was postponed until Sunday, September
24, then the twentieth day of the blockade would coincide with the
end of Succot, Friday, October 13, the conclusion of the Holy Day
season. Two full months (“moons™) after the new moon of Tishri,
which closeéd the year 4563, were in fact completed on Saturday,
November 18, of the succeeding (‘“‘second”) year 4564. Sunday,
November 19, marked the date of the new moon of the ninth (Hebrew)
month Kislev.5¢ Every new moon inaugurates a festal day.

In summary, it may be said, that the source at the basis of Ermold
Niger’s poem and other contemporary accounts dates the mobilization
of Frank forces at Barcelona on the autumbnal equinox at the close of
the Hebrew year 4563. The actual first attack on the town was launched,
after the conclusion of Rosh haShanah and the succeeding Sabbath,
on Sunday, September 24, 803—in the seventh Hebrew month Tishri
4564. For the first twenty days, until the conclusion on Friday, October
13, of the festival of Succot (marked by the construction of, and resi-
dence in, tabernacles) the siege made relatively little ‘progress. King
Louis’ address of exhortation to his men may be dated Saturday,

54, E. Mahler, Ibid.

Auzias complains of the vagueness of the date of the Franks' triumphal entry
into Barcelona, L. Auzias, “Les siéges de Barcelone,” AdM, XLVII (1936), 13.
Actually, to a Hebrew reader *“the morrow of the Holy Sabbath on the New Moon
of Kislev” is an exact date. The chronicler had already fixed the year by declaring
that the New Moon of September (Rosh haShanah) had coincided with the autumnal
equinox. This settles the scholarly debate in favor of the year 803. The Annales
Einhardi dates the Frank victory in 801, the Chronicle of Moissac, in 803; cf. P.
Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone, p. 15.

A tenth- or eleventh-century manuscript of Ripoll also gives the date of Baster
801; R. Beer, “Los Manuscrits ... de Ripoll,” BRABLB, V (1909), 349, note.
The Annales Einhardi is patently incorrect. In the year 801 the New Moon of
September fell on Monday, September 13; the New Moon of Kislev on Thursday,
November 11; Ed. Mahler, Handbuch der jiidischen Chronologie, p. 548. The date
of the triumphal occupation of Barcelona was, as stated, on a Sunday; the exact
date was November 19, 803.
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October 14. On the sixth Sabbath thereafter, the culmination of the
waxing and waning of two moons since the autumnal equinox, Bar-
celona fell. Jewish law forbids bearing arms on the Sabbath except in
self-defense. On the next day (the Vita Hludowici states the delay was
deliberate),®s the new moon—a festal day—of Kislev, Sunday, No-
vember 19, the Franks entered Barcelona in triumph and cleansed its
holy places just as Judas Maccabee had cleansed and rededicated the
Temple in Jerusalem centuries earlier on the twenty-fifth day of the
same month Kislev.

Obviously, the chronicler who wrote the original report of the siege
and fall of Barcelona recorded events according to the Jewish calendar.
The vocabulary and style suggest a Hebrew text. Commander of the
expedition Duke William of Narbonne and Toulouse conducted the
action with strict observance of Jewish sabbaths and holy days. In all
of this he enjoyed the full understanding and cooperation of King Louis.

The surrender of Barcelona in November 803 was primarily Duke
William’s achievement. This victory may be expected to have cata-
pulted William at the age of thirty-four to the apex of his power and
influence. Bera® took charge of the newly captured fortress leaving
William free to return “home” to Narbonne or Toulouse. It is not

55. “Tradita ergo et patefacta civitate, primo quidem.die custodes ibidem rex
destinavit, ipse autem ab eius ingressu abstinuit,-donec ordinaret, qualiter cum digna
Deo gratiarum actione cupitam atque susceptam victoriam eius nomini consecraret.
Antecedentibus ergo eum in crastinum et exercitum eius sacerdotibus et clero . ..."”
(Emphasis added.) Vita-Hludowici, § 13, p. 613:12-15. The announced reason for
the delay—in order to decide with what proper religious acts the victory was to be
consecrated to Louis’ name—may originate with the compiler of the Vira not with
his source. On the cleansing of the holy places, cf. the Gesta, ed. F. Ed. Schneegans,
p. 188, v. 2457, note. The contradictory sources and scholarly views are assembled
by Ph. Wolff, “Les événements de Catalogne de 798-812 et la chronologie de I' Astro-
nome,” Anuario de Estudios Medievales, 11 (1965), 451-58, who, while noting the
difficulties involved, yet opts for the traditional date 801, ibid., 456.

56. “*Post haec Bera comite ibidem ob custodiam relicto cam Gothorum auxiliis,
hiemandi gratia ad propria remeavit [Hludowicus]”; Vita Hludowici, § 13, p. 613;
34-35. Auzias points out that the Chronicle of Moissac makes no mention of Goths
in this connection; L’Aquitaine carolingienne, p. 52. It is possible, however, that
Bera was a son of William’s; see this text, p. 191. Bera is identified as a Goth also
at the time that Sanila accused him of treason. Bera was vanquished in judicial
combat and had to leave for Rouen; Vita Hludowici, § 33, p. 625:22-27.
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surprisingto find him active at Charlemagne’s court in the course of time.

The character of the sources makes it difficult to determine with
assurance the role and status of Duke William as an imperial officer
in the court of Charlemagne. Almost all the extant materials touching
on his life and career have been exploited for extraneous purposes by
the competing monasteries Aniane and Gellone. Both sides in the
conflict—Aniane zealous to prove its authority over Gellone, the latter
just as eager to demonstrate its independence—have tampered with the
original documents, altered and rewritten them, and even produced
bold forgeries to promote their purposes. It is a highly delicate and
perilous undertaking to detect the authentic act in the surrounding
dross. Indeed, unless new, original materials can be found, it may be
impossible to restore the image of the true William, son of Makhir-
Theodoric and Nasi of the West. Although his Jewish piety appears to
have been very much in evidence at the siege of Barcelona, the extant
sources have converted him into a Christian monk who withdrew from
the world to build monasteries, and eventually found beatification in
the Catholic church.

Since there is no question about Duke William’s military achieve-
ments in the March of Spain, it would not be surprising if he were
“written up” by a contemporary. Certainly, Ermold Niger®* stringing
his verses in Strasbourg ca. 827 and his contemporary, the anonymous
compiler of the Vita Hludowici (completed after 840) known only as
the “Astronomer,”® had materials regarding William at hand for their
compositions. However, the Vita Hludowici Part 1 suddenly breaks off

57. Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. and tr, E. Faral, Introduction, pp. v-ix, xv—xvii;
Wattenbach-Levision, Deutschlands Geschichtsquellen im Mittelalter, 111, Die Karo-
linger, ed. H. Léwe, pp. 329-32.

58. The ‘‘astronomer™ drew his entire report until 814 from a chronicle of
Aquitaine or a biography of King Louis written by Adhemar, “‘a monk” who grew
up with Emperor Louis; Vita Hludowici, p. 607:27-29. Wattenbach-Levison,
Deutschlands Geschichtsquellen, 111, pp. 335-38, note 150. Adhemar may have
participated in the capture of Barcelona in 803, and fought the Saracens in 810;
cf. W. Nickel, Untersuchungen liber die Quellen, den Wert und den Verfasser der
Vita Hludowici des ‘“‘Astronomus,” pp. 2-6; A. Cabaniss, Son of Charlemagne
(Syracuse University Press 1961), pp. 15-16. Note that an associate of William’s in
the siege of Barcelona was Hadhemar, a popular hero in the chansons de geste; see
p. 193, this text, and cf. Ph. Wolff, “Les événements,” 451-58.
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immediately after the report of the capture of Barcelona and is silent
for the period until 809 except for a reference to the Saxon War (804).
This is precisely the time of William’s prominence at Court. Ermold
may have been Aquitanian. During his exile in Strasbourg (ca. 824~
ca. 830) he composed the eulogy of Emperor Louis which details
William’s role at the siege and fall of Barcelona. Edmond Faral, his
editor, has concluded there can be no doubt that Ermold made use of
a book of annals. He probably did not draw from Adhemar’s Relatio,
the source for part of the Vita Hludowici, because in places Ermold
and the Astronomer contradict one another, although some of their
details coincide and others supplement each other. But Ermold wrote
much more fully on Barcelona’s siege and appears to have had more
direct access to the original source. It is clear, in any event, that the
figure of Duke William must have loomed large in Adhemar’s assumed
History and in Ermold’s source, at least in the recital of Barcelona’s fall.?®

There is additional evidence that a connected narrative of Duke
William and his exploits was current in the ninth century. His daughter-
in-law Dhuoda, at work on her Manual in Uzés in the years 84143,
referred in all likelihood to William when she wrote to her son also
named William: “I think of those [whose deeds] I have heard read,
and whom I have also seen, some ancestors of mine and yours, my son
William, who were rather powerful in the world ~:"~ ®

(Is she thinking of the non-Christiar-faith of these forebears when
she adds at this point; *. .. and still perhaps they are not with the
Lord because of proper merits.”)

59. Piickert has insisted on a Languedoc chronicle as the source for the infor-
mation on William now to be found in the Chronicles of Aniane, Moissac and
especially of Uzés; Aniane und Gellone, pp. 113-14.

60. “Considero quos audivi legere, etiam et vidi, aliquos ex parentibus meis
tuisque, fili V(uillelme), qui fuerunt in seculo quasi potentes, et non sunt fortasse
apud Dominum pro meritis dignis”; Le Manuel de Dhuoda ed. Ed. Bondurand,
p. 67. Surprisingly, Dhuoda takes no special notice of Count William of Gellone,
the grandfather of her son who bore his name, when she mentions him among the
departed of the immediate family; ibid., pp. 212, 237. R. Louis concludes that she
did not consider William a saint or a model of Christian virtue, else she would have
held him up as such for her own son to emulate, “L’épopée francaise est carolin-
gienne,” 372. Her manual, in its extant form, certainly reflects the thought of a
pious Christian.
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Dhuoda’s statement implies the existence of a family chronicle read
aloud to relatives and friends before the year 840. The Chronicle of
Uzés gives as the source of its information about the fall of Narbonne
in 759 “ancient books of Theodoric the Pious.”®

Ph. A. Becker has posited a lost Urlied as the source of the William
chanson. He finds it impossible to determine exactly the structure of
the original song, that is, whether it was composed of stanzas of ten
assonant lines or was it merely a cleric’s historical poem in hymn-
strophes. He denies that there is an echo of an older William epic in
the eleventh-century Hague Fragment, a narrative in Latin prose behind
which Becker can detect the hexameters of the lost original. The Frag-
ment, which describes a furious attack on an unnamed fortress,
mentions the names of several persons who appear in the William
cycle and the Carolingian chronicles: Bernard, Bertrand, Ernald,
Wibelin, Borel and his sons.®? J. Frappier,®® on the other hand, is
prepared to date the Fragment 980-1030 and identify the fortress as
Narbonne, positing an epic legend of William and his lignage ca. 1000.
Suchier maintains that the historical kernel of the chanson, to be found
in vv. 1-927, was sung around 900 in a version no longer extant. This
original text contained everything which derived from history but cast,
of course, in epic style with poetical motifs. This lost chanson was
reworked at some stage in its development into the Song of William
discovered in 1903. D. Alonso declares that a manuscript notation
which he discovered is so full of complex details of the Song of Roland
that it must be based on a written work, a poem composed in the
Romance language. Menéndez Pidal summarizes the discussion aroused
by this discovery and analyzes the Nota in detail. He dates it between
1054 and 1076 and concludes that by 1100 the Song of Roland was
famous beyond the confines of France. R. Louis states that the poetic
tradition about William was formed between 824 and 844, in the time
of William’s son Bernard of Septimania, and then became set during

61, “Ut in libris antiquis Sancti Theodoriti reperi,” HGL, II, preuves, col. 26,
anno 759. Is sanctus here the equivalent of the Hebrew hasid (pious) so that St.
Theodoritus is to be identified with Makhir-Theodoricus?

62. Ph. A. Becker, Das Werden der Wilhelm- und der Aimerigeste, pp. 189, 185 f.

63. Les Chansons de geste, 1, pp. 70-73, 77-18, 81, note 2 (on the Nota Emilia-
nense).
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the age of Bernard’s children and grandchildren. Whether or not the
poems were intended to serve the propaganda aims of Bernard of
Septimania, as Louis suggests, they were certainly composed and re-
cited in the circle of the William family and its entourage, as Dhuoda
relates; and the extant William cycle of songs reflects the values and
ideals of the family (lignage) of Aymeri, their venerable ancestor. It is
his family of heroes and heroines whom the chansons glorify. How
Bernard promoted such literary and histrionic efforts at Court is
described, says R. Louis, by Paschase Radbert, one of his fiercest
opponents. He accused Bernard of introducing sorcerers at Court,
interpreters of dreams, mimes and “magicians,” and those trained “in
the evil arts.” The Addendum of ShK reports that a skillful poet
(Hebrew, paytan) of the Makhiri dynasty was active before the middle
of the twelfth century in Narbonne, a certain Theodoric (Hebrew,
Todros) son of the famous Nasi R. Kalonymos the Great, and that he
is known to have composed liturgical poetry.®

There is still extant a family chronicle composed in rhyming stanzas
of Hebrew prose which relates the exploits of Amittai, a scholar-leader
of the ninth century and his progeny in southern Italy. This Chronicle
of Ahkima‘ats, compiled in May-June 1054, was based on records
which carried Ahima‘ats’ family history back to the Carolingian Age.
Ahima‘ats entitled his rhymed chronicle Megillat—YuZ&zssin, “Roll of
Lineage.”®® This is the near equivalent-of the later chanson de geste,
where geste has the meaning “lineage” or “family.”%® The most crush-

64. H. Suchier, “Vivien,” ZRP, XXIX (1905), 675-77. D. Alonso, La primitiva
épica francesca . .. Nota Emilianense. R. Menéndez Pidal, La Chanson de Roland,
pp. 406-47. R. Louis, “L’épopée francaise est carolingienne,” 430, 434-35. Paschase
Radbert, Epitaphium, MGH SS, 11, p. 554:26-31, 40-42. Appendix III, p. 385.

65. Marcus Salzman, The Chronicles of Ahimaaz. Translated with an Introduction
and Notes. Columbia University Oriental Studies, Vol. XVIII (New York 1924);
Benjamin Klar (ed.), Megillat Ahima‘ats v’hi Megillat Yuhassin . .. (The Roll of
Ahima‘ats which is the Roll of Lineage of R. Ahima‘ats son of R. Paltiel) (Jerusalem
5704/1943-44). Cf. S. W. Baron, History, V1, pp. 216-17. The Roll mentions mari-
time communications between southern Italy (Amalfi) and Ispamia, Narbonne,
Constantinople, Ancona, and back to Amalfi; Megillat Ahima‘ats, ed. B. Klar,
p. 43; M. Salzman, The Chronicles of Ahimaaz, p. 93.

66. D. McMillan has declared there is no doubt that geste in the following
passages has the meaning “race” or *“family”:
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ing taunt that Aymeri can hurl at one of his sons is, “You do not
belong to my family” (N’estes mie de ma geste).” To maintain the
high traditions of the lignage is the motivating ideal which gives the
William cycle of songs its distinctive dynamic, equal only to loyalty to
the idea of imperial dominion. For perhaps the first time in a literary
document there appears in the William Song the phrase de la geste . . .
les changuns naming thereafter rulers and leaders of the Franks.%® The
composition of Ahima‘ats’ “Livre de geste” in rhyme (the unique
manuscript was found in Toledo, Spain) reveals the poet’s intention to
chant it. Its existence suggests that other Hebrew family narratives in
rhyme or rhymed prose may have been similarly composed for public
chanting or declamation, each in fact stimulating the creation of the
other. The famed Makhiri dynasty, still active and prominent in
eleventh-century Narbonne, certainly merited such a family chronicle.*®

“Les Sarazins de Saraguse terre,

Cent mile furent de la pute geste™ (v. 219-20; cf. v. 3158),

“Ne parez mie d’icele fere geste” (v. 2101),

“Quele est la geste Naimeri de Nerbune” (v. 3167);
La Chanson, ed. D. McMillan, II, Notes critiques, p. 142 to v. 1261; cf. J. Cros-
land, Old French Epie, pp. 3, 20.

67. J. Crosland, ibid., p. 30. On le lignage de la geste cf. Adenet le Rois (Adenes
&i Rois), Bueves de Commarchis, chanson de geste ed. Auguste Scheler, (Brussels
1874), pp. 1:16; 5:119 (de 1a geste Aymeri); Aliscans,; chanson de geste eds. Anatole
de Montaiglon and Frangois Guessard. Les anciens podtes de la France, X. Paris
1870. The Talmud holds certain character failings to be evidence that one is not a
lineal descendant of the Israelites who stood with Moses at Mt. Sinai, for example,
lack of modesty; Nedarim 20a; uncharitableness is evidence of descent from the
“mixed multitude” and not of the pure Israelites who left Egypt; Betsa 32b. Like-
wise the trait of mercy is proof that one is a lineal descendant of Abraham while
its absence connotes the opposite; ibid.

68. “E de la geste li set dire les changuns

De Clodoveu, le premer empereur .. .."” (vv. 1261-62)
Cf. J. Crosland, Old French Epic, pp. 20, 100,

69. J. Anglade has brought evidence of lively troubadour activity in Narbonne
in the twelfth and thirteenth centuries, and thinks it may be possible to trace this
tradition into the first quarter of the twelfth century, “Les Troubadours & Nar-
bonne,” Meélanges Chabaneau, 737 f. For the verses of a Jewish troubadour at
Narbonne in the thirteenth century by the name of Bofilh who crossed verbal
swords in rhyme with the poet Riquier, see J. Régné, Juifs de Narbonne, pp. 217-20.
On the poet Todros of the Makhiri dynasty see p. 201 here. A Ma‘aseh haMakhiri
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A Latin version of the Makhiri exploits—or a poetical, vernacular
rendition—would have put the work in the public domain. Any further
poetic reweaving of this exciting material would tend eventually to
Christianize heroes and setting as the poets dropped “sectarian”
content of limited interest, with the change of audience, while con-
centrating on the far more appealing material of a general nature
which portrayed devotion to king and country in the wars against the
Saracen infidels of Spain. Thereafter, it could be expected that only
singular and infrequent echoes of the original context might still make
themselves heard, as noted above. The Jewish setting reappears faintly
in an early sixteenth-century Yiddish version of Beuve de Hanstone
composed in Italy in otzava rima, the well-known Bovo-Bukh.”®

Other possible allusions to historical fact in the chansons will be
indicated hereafter where relevant. For the present there can be offered
the tentative hypothesis that the Song of William as well as other
chansons have preserved reminiscences of the military exploits of the
Nasi Makhir of Baghdad and the dynasty™ he founded.

The official court chronicles make no single explicit reference to
Jews in government or military office. Likewise the Arab chroniclers

(“Exploits—Geste 7—of the Makhiri”) was composed 11th-12th century by a
member of that family, but it seems to have Leen of 1egal, rather than of epic,
content; L. Zunz, Literaturgeschichte, pp. 158-59. See this text, p. 244, note 161.

70. Elijah Levita composed his Bovobukh in 1507-08 and printed it thirty-four
years later, Judah A. Joffe, Elia Bachur’s Poetical Works, Vol. 1. Reproduction of
Bovobuch First Edition 1541 (s.. 1949) (Yiddish), Introduction, p. 9 (English);
cf. N. B. Minkoff, Elye Bokher and His Bové-Bukh (Yiddish) (New York 1950).
Minkoff summarizes in part and renders major portions of the original into modern
Yiddish; he supplies an introduction in English.

71. The William Song describes William as a voracious eater, who was careful to
wash his hands first; ed. D, McMillan, I, pp. 60:1401-61:1418; p. 96:2378-2392.
Also in accord with Talmudic prescription (Berakhot 40a and Gittin 62a), which
forbids a man to eat before he has fed his beast, Guiburc herself leads away her
worn-out husband’s horse, feeds and covers him well, and only then does she place
food before famished William (liasse CXCVIII). In the Couronnement de Louis,
one of the earliest chansons of the William cycle, the pope grants William lifelong
permission to eat flesh every day of the weck and to take as many wives as he
wishes (v. 391). Polygamy was outlawed only for the Jews of France and Germany
but not before the eleventh century, in the days of Rabbenu Gershom of Mayence.
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record nothing of the military exploits of Samuel ibn Nagrela, Hebrew
poet, scholar, patron of letters, and commander-in-chief of the armies
of Granada over a period of several years.”? Lintzel has pointed out
the arbitrariness of Einhard’s Vita Karoli involving no less a personage
than Emperor Louis himself. Einhard composed the Vita after he had
moved into the territory of Louis the German. He mentions the
founding of the Spanish March but overlooks Emperor Louis com-
pletely, although the entry into Barcelona was held up until Louis
could enter as victor. Einhard refers to the Emperor’s brothers, but has
nary a word for Louis himself. Similarly, Einhard never entitles Charle-
magne imperator but only rex because he insists that Charles did not
want the title.” Also unkown is the Hebrew whom Hraban Maur
claimed to have consulted in the preparation of his Bible commentary
on Kings.™ Yet the canons passed by church councils in the ninth
century abound in restrictions on Jews in governmental and military
roles. Only a fourteenth-century record of the bishopric of Miinster,
compiled by Florence of Wevelinkhofen,knows that a learned chancellor
of the palace in the ninth century was a Jew named William. Apparently
the late medieval writer could not imagine that a Jew by birth might
possibly attain to the chancellorship. So he made William a convert to
Judaism,” apparently drawing a parallel to the sensational Bodo

72. J. Schirmann, “Samuel Hannagid,” JSS, XIII (1951), 99-126.

73. Martin Lintzel, “Die Zeit der Entstehung von Einhards Vita Karoli,” Fest-
schrift fiir Robert Holtzmann, pp. 22-42.

74. “‘Hebrei cuinsdam, modernis temporibus in legis scientia florentis, opiniones
plerisque in locis interposui; Hrabanus Fuldensis abbas Ludowico regi iuniori . . . ,”
ca. 834-38, Epistolae Karoli aevi IIl, MGH, Epistolae V, ed. E. Diimmler, no. 18,
p. 423:34, 25; cf. ibid., no. 14 (829), pp. 401, 403:6-8. Maur’s “Hebrew™ may be
fictitious, P. Rieger, ‘‘Wer war der Hebriier, dessen Werke Hrabanus Maur zitiert 2
MGWJ, LXVIII (1924), 66-68. B. Blumenkranz assembles the sources in his Les
Auteurs chrétiens, p. 174, note 1.

75. Die miinsterischen Chroniken des Mittelalters, ed. J. Ficker, Chronik des
Florenz von Wevelinkhofen. The Chronicle dates this event in the lifetime of
Bishop Alfridus (839—49), pp. 7-8. However, Ficker stresses the unreliability of the
compiler’s chronology until the end of the thirteenth century, ibid., Vorrede, p. XIV,
and reports that a cronica Martiniana in manuscript dates the same incident in the
year 820, in the reign of Charlemagne’s son Louis, ibid., p. 8. See this text, pp. 239-42.

B. Blumenkranz thinks that the fourteenth-century writer confused William with
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Deacon of Emperor Louis who converted to Judaism in 839. Must we
assume then that the court chronicles were carefully edited with a view
to keeping out evidence of the constructive role of the Makhiri and
suppressing in fact identification of them ? This would not be beyond
the intent of the annalists. The royal chroniclers call attention to Jews
only under circumstances which compromise their loyalty or depict
them as enemies of Christianity. The detailed and vivid description of
Deacon Bodo’s apostasy was presented as an instance of baneful
Jewish influence at court. On being circumcized Bodo (now Eleazar)
let the hair of his head and his beard grow long, donned military dress
(as sign of his Jewishness ?), married a Jewess, and carried on anti-
Christian agitation in Muslim Spain, where he had fled.” As for the
Jews’ behavior, the chronicles kept by Prudence Bishop of Troyes and
his successor Hincmar relate only traitoroGs acts by Jews either against
the realm or the person of the sovereign.” .

Some of the chansons have developed the theme of a clan of traitors
pursuing their foul aims generation after generation. They have pointed
the finger of scorn at the “clan of Mayence” and its presumed primal
ancestor Do(d)on as the prototype of all traitors to the crown. Mayence,
from the eleventh century on, was the major center of Central Euro-
pean Jewry. A leading traitor of “‘the clan of Mayence,” after whom
in fact an entire chanson has been named, is none other than Macaire.”

Bodo and that this was merely a variant of ‘the Deacon’s conversion, “Auteurs
latins,” 1V, REJ, CXIV (1955), 45; Juifs et Chrétiens, p. 210, note 206. However,
he cannot explain the fact of the name William. Noteworthy is Wevelinkhofen’s
report that Chancellor William influenced many (courtiers ?) to convert to Judaism,
Die miinsterischen Chroniken, ed. J. Ficker, I, p. 7; or does this only imply the
prominence of Jews at the Carolingian court ?

76. On Bodo, Annales Bertiniani, ed. G. Waitz, pp. 17-18 for the year 839; see
this text, pp. 274-84.

71. See this text, pp. 313, 316. E. Biichting, Glaubwiirdigkeit Hinkmars,
pp. 13-14 (forgery), passim, 57 (summary); H. Schrors, Hinkmar, pp. 507-11.

78. The “treason” of the “‘clan of Mayence” frequently involves adultery with,
or attempted seduction of, the empress or other ruling figure in the chansons, as in
Beuve de Hanstone, Macaire, La Reine Sibille. Adultery was the charge levelled at
Bernard of Septimania in collusion with Judith wife of Emperor Louis le Débonnaire.
It is supposed to have provided the motivation, at least in part, for the execution of
Bernard by Louis’ son Charles the Bald; J. Calmette, De Bernardo, p. 109; Thegan,
Gesta Domini Ludowici imperatoris, p. 281 and this text, p. 270; Macaire (Machario)
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We shall now turn to an analysis of the considerable materials
touching upon the life and career of William of Toulouse, son of
Makhir-Theodoric. The first of these is a Vita Willelmi which has
come down through the ages in no fewer than three versions, none of
them complete, each a fragment of a larger work now lost. But like
so much of the extant material about William these Lives reflect per-
vasive redacting. They have been added to and rewritten as late as the
twelfth century, and there seems to be no sure method of separating
out the genuine from the merely ingenious.

Vita A: This fragment appears as Section 30 of the Vita Benedicti
Abbatis Anianensis et Indensis composed in 822-23 by Ardo, a disciple
of Benedict in the Monastery Aniane. A very fragmentary life of
William, it relates nothing of his military career and starts at the point
where the Vita Hludowici halts its account of William, when he has
attained preeminence in Charlemagne’s court. The chief purpose for
inserting the fragment into the Vita Benedicti at this juncture is to offer
evidence for Benedict’s pervasive influence at court and to make the
monk responsible for William’s conversion to the monastic life. The
passage then proceeds to delineate William’s pious conduct in the
monastery of Gellone which he had founded.” However, the author’s
description of William as monk is strongly suspect.

Fragment A relates at the start that “Count William who was more
distinguished than all others in the Imperial Court™® was so attracted
to Benedict that he gave up the life of the world for the way of Christian
salvation. Receiving permission to “convert” (to the monastic life) he
brought with him great offerings of gold, silver, and precious vestments.
He withdrew to the valley of Gellone, four miles distant from Benedict’s
monastery, where he had earlier erected a “cell.” “Sprung of noble
birth he zealously strove to become still more noble by embracing

ed. F. Guessard. William’s wife Guiburc and daughter Gerberga were accused of
poison plots and sorcery, respectively; see this text, pp. 184, 272.

79. Ed. G. Waitz, MGH, SS XYV, pt. 1, § 30, pp. 211:38-213:40. Piickert includes
also the last sentence of § 29, magnatibus venerandum ostenderunt, as the introduction
to the story of Count William, one of these magnates; W. Piickert, Aniane und
Gellone, p. 107.

80. “Guilelmus quoque comes, qui in aula imperatoris pre cunctis erat clarior”;
Vita Benedicti, loc. cit., p. 211:38.
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Christian poverty and rejected for Christ the pinnacle of honor which
he had received by natural right.”® William was taught by monks
whom Benedict had placed in Gellone and quickly excelled in virtue.
Aided by his sons, whom he appointed counts to succeed himself in
his domains and in neighboring counties,?® he completed—in a secret
place ringed round by cloud-tipped mountains—a monastery to which
no one had access except for prayer. He ordered vineyards, fields,
and orchards planted. He amassed possessions. At his request King
Louis added to his holdings from the royal fisc.8® William made gifts

81. Ibid., p. 213:6-8.

82. “‘Adiuvantibus quoque eum filiis, quos suis comitatibus prefecerat, comiti-
busque vicinis, ad perfectum fabricam monasterii, quam coeperat, cito deduxit . ...”;
ibid., p. 213:11-12. How could William be in possession of his properties while in
the monastic state ? The scholars have noted this contradiction and in consequence
have branded this statement a later interpolation; cf. W. Piickert, Aniane und
Gellone, p. 109; P. Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone, p. 9. Moreover, in principle, counties
were not inheritable in the Carolingian Age. However, it will be recalled that the
Carolingian sovereigns granted land in (heritable) free allod to the Nasi of France
and the Hebrew documents emphasized that the Nasi’s holdings were hereditary
possessions, nahalot (hereditates), (see this text, pp. 58, 60). If William held counties
and could appoint his sons as successor was he a monk ? The present impasse arises
from the fact that scholars have never doubted for a moment the tale of William’s
conversion to the monastic habit, although they pointed out.in"considerable detail
how the description of William as monk was’borrowed from the characterization
of Benedict (see this text, pp. 208-09) and consequently strongly suspect. Dhuoda
reports that her husband Bernard, William’s son, did in fact inherit his parents’
properties legitimately; Le Manuel de Dhuoda ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 212, Ch. LXL:
“Ora pro parentibus genitoris tui, qui illi res suas in legitima dimiserunt hereditate.”

83. A diploma of Emperor Louis dated December 28, 807, purports to be a
confirmation of the donation of William to Gellone and a grant of other properties
to the same monastery; HGL, I, preuves, p. 34b. However, both Piickert and
Tisset have shown that in its extant form this charter has been tampered with,
interpolated and rewritten, perhaps in the third quarter of the cleventh century;
W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 150; P. Tisset, L’Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 59-61.
The statement in the Vita nevertheless may point to the contents of the original
diploma, namely, Emperor Louis made land available to William from the fisc in
the Valley of Gellone, where he erected a structure (for as yet unknown purposes)
and fully equipped it: *“Petente siquidem eo, serenissimus rex Ludoycus spatioso
hoc dilatavit termino, de fiscis suis ad laborandum concedens loca”™; Vita Benedicti
ed. G. Waitz, op. cit., p. 213:18-19. The language of this Vita A conforms to that
in the imperial diploma: “petente domno Guillermo monacho qui in aula genitoris
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of numerous sacred vestments, chalices of silver and gold and similarly
ornamented offertories and altars, and brought vast numbers of books
with him. The writer concludes with an elaborate description of
William as humble ascetic.

Piickert has analyzed this Vita in Ardo’s composition and pointed
out that the representation of William therein repeats in large measure
the description of Benedict in other parts of Ardo’s work. He has
assembled a number of statements and even phrases about William
which are doublets of earlier characterizations of Benedict. This is
particularly, though not exclusively, true of William’s pious deeds,
self-humiliation, and asceticisms:

Both were always at vigil in the night hours [pp. 213:20, 202:6]; they humbled
themselves by entering kitchen service and wearing miserable clothing [pp.
213:28 f., 203:49, 202:12}; common to both were devout punctiliousness and
the ready flow of tears [pp. 213:29 f., 202:21-f., 219:32); the demand for
uncomfortable sleeping accommodations and the urging by their superior to
moderate their self-mortifications [pp. 213:31 f., 202:4, 27]; and both sub-
jected themselves to icy rigors in secret meditations [pp. 213:34, 202:6).%4

Virtually nothing remains of William’s monastic acts that can be
termed original. It will be seen that versions B and C of the Vita do

nostri Karoli Augusti exstitit clarissimus, set pro Dei amore meliorem exercens
vitam, studuit esse pauper recusando sublimia”; HGL, I, preuves, p. 34b. Tisset,
0p. cit., p. 60, does not decide whether the Vita’'s statement derives from the diploma
or vice versa. Since the imperial act has a narrative style he tends to make it de-
pendent on the Vita. However, we have emphasized the narrative form of certain
Carolingian diplomas, see this text, pp. 140-41. It is not likely that Ardo who wrote
the Vita Benedicti in 822-23 was able to get his hands on Louis’ grant. Rather,
fragment A of his Vita should be dated after the rewriting of the imperial charter
in the eleventh century, the original of which might well have included introductory
narrative about William’s building program in the Valley of Gellone. During the
eleventh century the library and archives of Gellone came into the possession of
Aniane, where these documents were altered as suited the expansionist ambitions
of Aniane. See this text, pp. 231-33.

84, W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 109, note 8. In addition we may note
that almost identical phrases describe the acceptance of monastic habit (Vita A,
p. 213:6, and p. 201:46), their noble origin and preparation for the still higher
Christian nobility (pp. 213:6 and 201:15) and the construction of a monastery
(pp. 213:11 and 204:4).
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not add credibility to the image of William as monk or recluse. More-
over, the Song of William, the oldest of the William cycle, gives not
the slightest hint of a renunciation of the world by him. Nor does his
daughter-in-law Dhuoda. The first chanson to do so is the Moniage
Guillaume. Here William enters a monastery. However, he is com-
pletely out of character with the pious and humble ascetic of Ardo’s
work. Rather, he is always scrapping for a fight and is especially expert
in administering a mighty blow on the ear or neck with deadly effec-
tiveness. In the end he becomes a hermit.%

Piickert finds that at least portions of this Life of William (Vita
Fragment A) bear all the earmarks of later redaction in Aniane. First,
this section interrupts the flow of the narrative in Ardo’s Life of
Benedict. Then we have noted the repetitions in the description of the
two heroes as monks. Furthermore, theré is no mention of Benedict’s
beatification throughout Ardo’s larger work, true to its composition
shortly after his death. Only this Section 30 designates Benedict as
beatus, twice. The Vita Benedicti invariably presents cloisters, even
when depéndent on Aniane, as monasteria. Section 30 characterizes
Gellone as merely cella, although richly endowed with property of the
fisc. Similarly, the Vita Benedicti assigns a local leader to dependent
institutions. Only Fragment A leaves Gellone bereft of local authority,
with not even a vicar of Benedict, who then presumably assumed its
direction himself. These are signs of the redaction of Section 30 at a
later date in Aniane.®

In fact, Piickert holds it for certain that Aniane wrote history which
deviated from the truth. The Chronicle of Aniane falsifies historical
fact with astounding audacity wherever it expands its source, the
Chronicle of Moissac, by adding interpolations from Einhard’s Life of
Charlemagne and Ardo’s Life of Benedict—all altered with the intent of
denigrating Gellone and enhancing Aniane. The William Fragment A
in Ardo’s Vita Benedicti represents Count William as having generously
endowed Gellone, so the Chronicle must make him do the same for
Aniane and enter monastic orders there—likewise with the possession

85. Les deux redactions en vers du Moniage Guillaume, ed. W. Cloetta, 2 vols.
86. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 107-10.
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of a fragment of the Cross.®” Moreover, according to Piickert, even
the text of Ardo’s larger work has not escaped tampering with and
rewriting on the part of a later editor. He holds suspect the authencity
of Benedict’s refusal of gifts of land unless the slaves were freed first
(§ 5). Piickert points out that this sharply contradicts Benedict’s action
—which Ardo must have known—calling upon Emperor Louis to
issue a directive requiring the prompt return of fugitive slaves. He un-
covers a similar contradiction in Benedict’s supposed unconcern about
landed property (§ 10).%¢

There are then very good grounds for accepting Piickert’s judgment
that Vira Fragment A, Section 30, of Ardo’s Life of Benedict, is a later
redaction perhaps of the eleventh century. Moreover, if Ardo’s ninth-
century composition has been reedited with the intention of assuring
that Gellone’s founder does not outshine Aniane’s by making William
an imitator of Benedict the monk and saint,.may not the redactor have
transferred to Benedict, on the other hand, noteworthy deeds of
William, in pursuit of this same purpose ? William’s military exploits
of course defied such transference because they were so well known.
The redactor got around that by omitting them. He referred incidentally
to Benedict’s military accomplishments, which were mediocre, and em-
phasized instead his aristocratic origins and influence at court. However,
which acts might the redactor ascribe to Benedict that could, more
properly, be identified as William’s ? Obviously in the first place those
activities branded by Piickert®® as glaring contradictions of Benedict’s
known views and actions: for example, his supposed insistence on free-
ing slaves attached to gifts of land, and his unconcern for property.
Now Vita B, we shall see, makes a point of having William free his
slaves at entry into the monastic state; both Vita B and Le Charroi de
Nimes indicate his reluctance, if not actual refusal, to accept extensive
landed gifts in Frankia for himself.%

87. Chronicon Anianense, anno 806; see W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 105
06.

88. W. Piickert, ibid., p. 107.

89, Piickert, ibid.

90. Vita Sancti Willelmi Monachis Gellonensis, A4S Maii, VI, p. 805a, §16;
p. 806a, § 20; see this text, p. 215, This § 20 need not contradict p. 803a, § 10,
which has William provide servitors for the friars at Gellone, since § 10 preceded
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In addition to contradictions that Piickert has pointed out, there are
other statements in the Life of Benedict that arrest the eye. We are told
that Benedict drank no wine, Sunday excepted. Such a relaxation on
the Sabbath is remarkable. But when a second day is associated with
it, namely, Saturday (§ 21) then questions multiply, since wine is a
requisite for the proper observance of the Jewish Sabbath. Did the
redactor find the Saturday exemption in his source and add Sunday
when he transferred the abstinence to Benedict ? Furthermore, we are
told that Benedict refrained from tasting fat (certain types are for-
bidden to Jews) or the flesh of four-footed animals. Only during attacks
of weakness did he permit himself a broth of beef (§ 21). Is the absti-
nence from wine and the flesh of four-footed animals (thus permitting
pigeon) to be traced to ‘Ananite (Karaite) influence in the West ? Eleazar
Alluf of Ausona (near Barcelona) provided information about Anan’s
Book of Laws to Natronai Gaon (ca. 853-56) in Iraq. Bishop Agobard’s
report onJewish practicesof this period also suggests such a possibility.”
Moreover, the short Vita Fragment A represents William as having
brought valuable vestments, chalices of gold and silver and similarly
ornamented offertories and altars as gifts to Gellone, as well as large
numbers of books. To which Vita B adds: “William summoned teachers
whom he had also taken out with him and sages whom he had in his
own domain (§ 9).”% -~

the supposed assumption of monastic vows. In Charroi de Nimes King Louis offers
William in turn Berengar’s fief, one-fourth of the entire realm. William refuses
each offer and is about to go off empty-handed when he decides to ask for the
March of Spain. Louis protests that this realm is not his to give away; but on
William’s insistence that he wants nothing else, the Emperor makes the grant. He
obligates himself further to provide aid to William only once in seven years; Charroi
de Nimes, ed. J.-L. Perrier, vv. 335-591, see this text, pp. 124-25.

91. Anan (mid-eighth century) outlawed most meats and all intoxicating bever-
ages, while Karaites defined in comprehensive manner the forbidden fats; cf. S. W.
Baron, History, V, p. 249. B. M. Lewin, Otsar (Thesaurus), III, Pesahim, 89-90;
Judah b. Barzilai al-Barceloni related in the name of Samuel ibn Nagrela (eleventh
century) sectarian (Karaite) practices among Jews living in villages near the Land
of Edom (northern Spain or France), Sefer ha‘lttim (Book of Times) ed. Jakob
Schor (Cracow 1903), p. 267. Cf. J. Rosenthal, “Karaites and Karaism in Western
Europe (Hebrew),” in Sefer haYobhel leRabbi Hanokh Albeck, 425-29.

92, Vita A: MGH, SS XV, pt. 1, p. 213:19-21, Vita B: Vita S. Willelmi, A4S,
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Now Benedict did not enter Aniane directly from life in the world
but in flight from another monastery (§ 3), obviously without pos-
sessions comparable to these. In fact the early monastic community in
Aniane is reported to have been overwhelmed by dire poverty (§ 4, 5).
Yet before long we find that Benedict has introduced the most expensive
vestments and chalices of precious metal for daily use—clearly paral-
leling the report of William’s action. Apparently, in this instance at
least, the redactor has reversed the direction of the remarkable Benedict-
William couplets. Furthermore, the Vita Benedicti also emphasizes the
intellectual contribution of its hero: “Benedict instituted cantors,
trained lectors, had grammarians and those expert in written com-
positions . . . . He assembled a multitude of books.” (§ 18)*

To which of these two men, William or Benedict, are these acts
properly attributed; or were they original to both ? Narberhaus thinks
such literary and scholarly interests were in conformity with the require-
ments of the Benedictine Rule. However, Hauck challenges their
authenticity in the case of Benedict of Aniane.* Did the redactor of
Ardo’s Vita dip here into an original Vita Willelmi, or Chronicle of
the Makhiri, or extant legal documents for these materials which he
then transferred to his hero Benedict ?

Vita B: This version is current in two major published collections,
the Acta Sanctorum and the Monumenta Germaniae Historica.®® Since
the edition in the Acta Sanctorum is the more complete, it provides the
basis for the following summary. All references are to this text with a

Maii VI, p. 803a, §9. Did he bring these scholars back with him on his journey to
Baghdad and Jerusalem ? William’s absence on this secret mission may have led to
the rise of the tale that he had withdrawn from the world only to return temporarily
at a time of crisis (see this text, p. 215).

93. “Instituit cantores, docuit lectores, habuit grammaticos et scientia scrip-
turarum peritos . ... Adgregavit librorum multitudinem”; MGH, SS XV, pt. 1,
p. 207, § 18.

94. J. Narberhaus, Benedikt von Aniane Werk und Personlichkeit, pp. 31-32.
A. Hauck, Kirchengeschichte Deutschlands, 11, 6th ed., p. 590.

95. AS Maii VI editio novissima, pp. 801a-809b in thirty-three sections or
paragraphs; ed. G. Waitz, MGH, SS XV, part 1, pp. 211:44-213:50 as an adjunct
to his edition of Ardo’s Vita Benedicti.
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cross reference to the Monumenta where applicable. Portions of this
Vita are in thyme. The presence of rhyme will be indicated by Roman
type, its absence by italics.

Prologue: § 3. The author excuses himself for omitting mention of
William’s military exploits since the primary interest here is his spiritual
accomplishments, his conversion, and conduct. Moreover the military
hero and especially his victories over the “barbarians” are widely sung
at all kinds of gatherings. (MGH, p. 211, § 2)

Chapter I: William was born in the days of King Pepin (d. Sep-
tember 24, 768), of very illustrious Frank ancestry, his father the great
and noble Consul Theodoric, his mother the very noble Countess
Aldana, both of the highest princes of Francia, descended of consuls,
in life and manners pleasing to God and man. They educated him in
theology and philosophy and military exercizes. (MGH, p. 212, § 3).
§ 4. Committed by his parents to King Charles, William distinguished
himself at court in courage, physical beauty,* and greatness of spirit.
He could come into the presence of the King; he received the title and
office of consul, and in battle he went forth at the head of the troops.
He participated in royal councils, was involved actively with the King
in matters of the realm, the army, and arms. Wherever required he was
with the King spreading the glory of Christianity. William stood at the
King’s right hand and left, in prosperity as in adversity. (MGH,
p- 212, § 4).

96. William’s physical appearance strongly impressed his contemporaries (“nobi-
lissimi viri et magnificentissimi,” according to Paschase Radbert, Epitaphium Arsenii,
MGH, Scriptorum II, p. 552, § 8) as did also his lineage and military skill. His
powerful physique supported a pugilistic prowess which was doubly menacing
because of an apparently impetuous nature; see A. J. Zuckerman, “The Nasi of
Frankland,” 80-81.

Alcuin is reported to have said: *. .. item Flaccus dicit: Vidimus ex Hebraeis
virum elegantem et admirati eum sumus atque amplexi,” Ars grammatica Bernensis
(Floriacensis) [Commentary on Donat], pp. 134, 10. Manitius comments that this
expression of admiration and esteem could have been written only during the life-
time of Alcuin or shortly thereafter, when his surname Flaccus was still known;
hence it must be dated early in the ninth century, Geschichte der lateinischen Literatur,
1, p. 469. It is not certain who is the Hebrew he referred to so enthusiastically.
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§ 5. The Saracens crossed the Pyrenees, invaded Aquitaine, the
Provence, and Septimania massacring Christians, carrying off great
booty and captives and occupying the country in its length and breadth
as if for all time. The King summoned his councillors and all were of
one mind that William should do battle with the barbarians. It was
decided furthermore, by acclamation of the host, that he should be
invested with the Duchy of all Aquitaine and that he should be elevated
from consul to duke, Charles agreed and immediately took him by the
hand and promoted him. “Thus William, elevated with the dignity of
count and duke, becomes first among princes, himself second to the King.
He takes on the role of ambassador, refuses no task, is sent against the
barbarians.”*" (MGH, p. 212:40-42).

§ 6. William led an army into Septimania, crossed the River Rhone,
took Orange formerly occupied by the Saracen Theobald and his troops,
and made it his principal seat. ’

§ 7. With peace restored to God’s people and the Holy Empire, William
devoted himself to pious studies and good works. He involved himself day
and night in the state of the realm and the common welfare. Secondly, he
saw to it that the sacred laws, established for well-being, should be inter-
preted and enforced. He made very just judicial decisions in all litigations
and diverse mattérs of business. He was the gracious judge especially of
the poor, the widow, and the orphan. Thirdly, he kept within check the
princes and lords of the land lest they force subjects from the law with
violence. He bound every one to him with bonds of peace and love. He
took special care of monastic and holy places. He was generous to
monasteries, new and rebuilt, held priests and apostolic men in rever-
ence, and made daily offerings for their departed spirits. His right hand
stole from his left gifts for the poor.

§ 8. He decided to build a monastery to the Omnipotent King where
there had never been an oratory before, a perpetual service and never-

97. “Ergo Willelmus comitis et ducis gloria sublimatus, fit-inter principes primus,
ipse secundus a rege, suscepit legationem, nec laborem recusat; mittitur contra
barbaros™; Vita B, ed. G. Waitz, MGH, SS XV, pt. 1, p. 212:40-42; A4S, Maii, VI,
p. 802a,§ 5.
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ending sacrifice. He came to Lodgve, a territory of very high mountains.
There an angel led him to a deserted spot of lofty crags.

§ 9. The wild and lonely place is described. William learns that its
name was once the Gellone Valley. In the midst of towering peaks and
terrifying heights, he found a small, wild but flat area. Taking the
discovery to be an answer to his prayer, he decided to build a cloister
there with his own hands.

He summoned the teachers whom he had also taken out with him
and the sages whom he had in his domain. Forthwith a handsome
oratory was measured out, and also the area of the entire enclosure: a
dining hall and dormitory, a hospital for the infirm and a cella for
novitiates, a hall for guests, a hostel for the poor, alongside the bakery
a workshop, on the side a windmill. Then the buildings were con-
structed. -

§ 10. The Temple completed, he peopled it with the pious of neigh-
boring cloisters. A service of dedication was held. William bestowed
liberally vast grants of land in writing, provided a large group of
servants to care for the place and the friars, very much gold and silver,
marvelous ornaments, many herds of cattle and flocks of sheep and
oxen. And so that his endowment might have permanent validity he
drew up a formal document in his own wntlng which he then had
confirmed by royal decree.

-~

§ 11. William’s two sisters Albana and Bertana beg him to offer
them to God. He does so and they remain in the monastery.

§ 12. Father (Pater) William returned to his possessions for he held
his own property up to this time. Giving them up completely, himself
included, he possessed nothing in this world but God. He gave thought
to the monastic way of life.

Chapter II: William was summoned back to Francia at a time of great
need and honored with vast gifts. For some time William sojourned in
Francia in close association with the King, powerful in the palace, a
Prince in the Empire, and held in such favor by him as a son by his father.
All Franks rejoiced in him, both noble kinsmen and his own family
danced for joy. He rejoiced to see them again but love of God waxed
mightily in his heart. (cf. MGH, § 13).
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§ 14. He meditated on giving up the transitory glories of this world
for the eternal treasures of heaven. After some hesitation he decided
to approach the King and seek his permission. In a moving plea he
presents his decision to withdraw from the world to the monastery he
has built.

§ 15. In an emotional reply Charles grants permission and sets only
one condition, namely, that William accept gifts from the royal treasury.
The King bursts into tears and falls on William’s neck.

§ 16. William responds tearfully. He can accept no gifts but asks
only for the fragment of the cross which was sent to Charles from
Jerusalem. In the first year of Charles’ imperial rule, while he was in
Rome, the Patriarch of Jerusalem, in William’s presence, sent Charles a
phylactery of the Cross set with resplendent gems and purest gold,
brought by the priest Zacharias and two monks of Jerusalem.

§ 17. Charles gives the cross to William.

§ 18. There was great excitement in the palace and city when
William’s decision became known. Family and nobles tried to dissuade
him but to no avail.

§ 19. William leaves the city bearing obscurely the cross which Jesus
had borne truly, Charles accompanying him in tears, the army escorting
him.

§ 20. The Friend of God broke the chains of this world. Having
honored churches, given much charity to the poor, freed many slaves,
he left Francia and came to Auvergne. He entered the temple of
St. Julien martyr in Brioude, offered up his arms on the altar there,
addressed the martyr tearfully commending arms and soul to him.

§ 21. He entered Aquitaine but, spurning his duchy, continued to
the monastery recently erected at Gellone. He was received with great
joy by the friars he had once placed there. He turned over the fragment
of the cross, together with many excellent gifts, chalices of gold and
silver with their offertories, numerous good and necessary books,
precious relics of the saints, silken vestments, robes woven of gold and
mantles from beyond the sea. He prayed with flowing tears and was
answered.
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§ 22. He entered the auditorium, kissed the friars, read the lesson,
and in a brief statement indicated why he had come. He asked to be
accepted into their community in accordance with the Rule of St.
Benedict.

§23. In 806 the fifth year of Charles’ reign as Emperor, Count
William laid down his vestments woven of gold, removed the hair of
his head and his beard, and was clothed in apostolic apparel of the
Ccross.

§ 24. He became a new person.

§ 25. With the aid of his sons Bernard and Gaucelin whom he set up
in his counties®® and in neighboring ones, he completed the monastery
which he had begun. Because of the craggy mountains it was difficult
to gain access to the monastery so he built a road joining the valley of
the River Hérault to the mountain. At his request, Emperor Charles’
son Louis made a gift to the monastery out of his fisc. William had
vineyards and oliveyards planted around the monastery and many
fields. In the valley he replaced barren trees with fruit-bearing orchards.
In all these matters he worked along with others.

§ 26. William as monk: his self-humiliation and mortifications, he
rode an ass bringing the monks flasks of wiqe for their refreshment.

§ 27. He performed kitchen duty. “Behold Lord William, a consul
now become a cook.” He observed long fasts, kept the hearths.

§ 28. His physical labor in workshop and mill.

§ 29. He performed a miracle, entered a flaming oven unharmed.

98. Piickert has pointed out the contradictions and difficulties in this passage
and in Vita A, MGH, SS XV, p. 213:11. William is still in charge of his counties
and hereditary possessions while in the monastic state and can assign them to his
sons. Furthermore, in 806 (see § 23 of the text above) his son Bernard was 13 or 14
at the most. This computation by Piickert derives from the report that Emperor
Louis, born 778, had been Bernard’s godfather, and could hardly have been less
than 13 or 14 in that capacity, setting 792 as the approximate date of Bernard’s
birth; cf. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 109. Actually, since Bernard married
Dhuoda in 824 (Le Manuel ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 51), he was born probably closer
to 806.
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§ 30. Now relieved of servile duties, he gave himself over to medita-
tion and fasting, penitentials and other monastic acts.

§ 31. He abstained from all delights of body and flesh and withheld
himself from food.?® He kept himself alive only with the viands of the
sacred table. He partook of the vivifying sacraments after long pre-
paration by immersion in frigid water, weeping and contemplation of
Christ’s passion, and by self-flagellation. Then he approached the
sacred altar. He would attend the sacred mysteries tearfully and keep
himself alive by partaking of the viands of the saving Host with bitter
herbs. By this celestial bread he was nourished in well-being, with this
spiritual potion he received life and virtue.

§ 32. In this state he received the gift of prophecy. He knew long in
advance the day of his death which he foretold to abbot and friars and
to King Charles as well.

§ 33. At the hour of his death there suddenly began a tolling of bells
in all churches throughout surrounding provinces, yet no human hands
pulled the ropes or moved the clappers.

The composition of Vita B Piickert ascribes to Gellone. He finds it
free of later interpolations, unlike the stories from Aniane. As a whole
it is a much younger work by centuries and, like its predecessor, a
deliberate distortion of the tradition. Therein Piickert follows Revillout
and parts company with Molinier and Mabille who detected a ninth-
century product in its major portion.!'® Piickert demonstrated that

99. This seems to be another instance of how William became a changed person
in the monastic state. The William Song describes him as a voracious eater; ed.
D. McMillan, I, pp. 60:1401-61:1418; p. 96:2378-92,

100. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 110, quoting Ch. Revillout, “Etude
historique et littéraire sur I'ouvrage latin intitulé Vie de saint Guillem,” Publications
de la Société archéologique de Montpellier, V1 (1876), 505 f. (not available to Zucker-
man). A. Molinier recognizes two authors at work in the Vita B, one of the ninth
the other of the tenth or start of the eleventh century. The ninth-century writer
relates authentic material of William’s family, donations t6 Gellone, and relations
with Charlemagne (except for the relic of the Cross and the siege of Orange); HGL,
I, p. 884, note 2. He accepts the portrayal of William's monastic life, HGL, 1V,
p. 538. E. Mabille gives a balanced portrayal of William's life, accepting however
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Vita B echoes the twelfth-century chansons which sing of William as
conqueror of Orange and its Saracen King Theobald (§ 6). This helps
to date the biography, as does also its reference to songs of William
that have spread far and wide: his exploits are recounted wherever the
folk or the nobility gather, where youths hold their dances, and pious
persons observe the vigils of the saints. (§ 3). At the same time the
author knows only vaguely of William’s resistance to the Saracens at
Orbiel or of his victory at Barcelona (§ 5), and appears unaware of his
capture of Nimes, all events of the distant ninth century.1® As for this
Vita’s description of William as monk, Piickert denies its historical
validity. He shows its dependence, as a whole, on Section 30 in Ardo’s
work (Vita Fragment A), of which it is a highly elaborated version.
But we have already demonstrated the counterfeit character of this
fragment’s description of William as monk. In addition Piickert makes
clear the dependence of Vita B on Moniage Guillaume or, more properly,
on a Song of William which was its precursor. The Moniage pictures
Monk William as a rowdy, a bully always scrapping for a fight who is
especially expert in placing a .deadly punch behind the ear or on the
nape of the neck. The Vira is resolved to present a radical and complete
contrast to this image of William in the chanson. It therefore emphasizes
the total change of the warrior into a new person on conversion to
monastic orders (§§ 24, 26), and his willingness to_substitute service of
his fellows for his former lordship aed <control over them. Piickert

his entry into the monastic state in 806 and death in 812; HGL, II, p. 272b, Note
rectificatif. ’

101. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 111-13. He insists on the authenticity
of the Chronicle of Uzés which reports William’s capture of Nimes: “Guillelmus
comes Nemausum ingreditur in die ramis palmarum.” Piickert sets William’s
capture of Nimes from the Saracens in 793, the date of their invasion of Septimania,
see this text, pp. 182-83. He thinks that this Chronicle, despite its incorrect dating,
derives directly from a book of annals of high antiquity, the same which is at the
basis of the Chronicle of Moissac, codex 1, and the Chronicle of Aniane. The text of
the Chronicle of Uzés at Piickert’s disposal gives the date 725 for the recapture of
Nimes from the Saracens, corresponding to the correct date 793. The difference of
sixty-eight years in these equivalent dates may point to a Jewish system of reckoning
time which computes dates from the Destruction of the Temple in the year 68 C.E.
(according to the rabbinic tradition). However the text of this Chronicle reprinted
in HGL, II, preuves, col. 27, gives 755 as the date of William’s capture of Nimes.
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finds such a life more credible, on the whole, than the bully in the
Moniage. Nevertheless, he points out that the Vita’s insistence on the
suddenness of the change fits in poorly with its description of William’s
pious and spiritual tendencies even while still in the world (§ 12).
Furthermore, it goes beyond credibility in presenting Monk William
as meekly accepting insult and injury or even threat of force from the
friars in the very monastery which he founded. Piickert concludes this
has been fabricated only to counteract the image of William in the
chanson. Moreover, the heaping up of simultaneous duties on William,
who takes on the appearance of a beast of burden, contradicts the
Rule of St. Benedict. This emphasizes mutual aid among the friars,
weekly shift of kitchen duty, the separation of such work from service
at table; it makes impossible simultaneous exertion in mill and bakery.
These and other exaggerations of the Vita (it would seem almost to the
point of desperation) make strongly suspect its description of William
as monk (§§ 26-28, and 29 to the end is patently legendary). Piickert
concludes that Vita B cannot be made to harmonize with the Benedictine
Rule or the known situation in monasteries of the Carolingian Age.1%2

However, the author of Vita B is concerned not only to elaborate
an image of William in radical contrast to that in the poetic precursor
of Moniage Guillaume; he is equally determined to stamp out any sign
of an original connection between Gellone and Aniane. He does not
even mention the name Aniane or Benedict of that monastery nor even
hint at a relationship between the two men or the two cloisters. Insofar
as Vita Fragment A was a major source for Vita B, Piickert points out
deliberate alterations of the text.2e3

The resolve to eradicate every shred of what might be interpreted as
dependence of Gellone on Aniane and, on the contrary, to exalt its
prestige reaches a climax in William’s devoting to the altar in Gellone
an alleged gift from Charlemagne of a portion of the Cross claimed to
have been originally sent by the Patriarch of Jerusalem (§§ 16, 17, 19,
21).

Piickert demonstrates that the gift to Charlemagne of the Cross
from Jerusalem derives from a falsified statement in the Chronicle of

102. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 115-18.
103. W. Piickert, ibid., pp. 117-18.
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Aniane. The original (in the Annales Einhardi and Annales Lauresha-
menses Majores) reports that the Patriarch of Jerusalem sent the
Banner (vexillum) of that city and its Key to Charles, obviously as a
sign of recognition of his authority. The returning priest Zachariah
brought the Banner and Key to Rome only two days before Charles’
coronation as emperor on December 25, 800. The Chronicle of Aniane
altered the simple cum vexillo into cum vexillo crucis, thus distorting its
meaning to a fragment of the Cross. Vita B elaborates on this further
so that it becomes ‘“‘a phylactery of the Cross ornamented with resplen-
dent jewels and purest gold.”

Piickert rejects the hagiographer’s claim that Charlemagne ever gave
such a precious relic to William for Gellone—he valued these things too
highly himself.10¢

This need not rule out the possibility-that Charlemagne really gave
William the vexillum, the Banner of Jerusalem, especially if William
had had something to do with the Patriarch’s act of obeisance to
Charles in association with his coronation as emperor. Such a gift
would provide a foundation in fact for the later distorted tradition.
Actually, Vita B claims that William was present at the time the frag-
ment was dispatched from Jerusalem.1%

Another situation may help us to understand the characterization of
William in the chanson. Piickert finds incredible the representation, in
the Moniage and its precursor, of William as a swashbuckling monk
(he does not question his monastic vows). Yet we note that the pugilist
image of William was very popular and reappears in several chansons. 1%
Most significant however, the picture of an impetuous and powerful

104, In the tenth century Gellone was already known by its cross; W. Piickert,
ibid., p. 106, note 4; pp. 105; 119-24. Cf. S. Abel, B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . . . unter
Karl dem Grossen, 11, pp. 232-33. Simson thinks that Harun ar-Rashid ceded to
Charlemagne, at least nominally, the Holy Sepulchre in Jerusalem, Jahrbiicher . . .
unter Ludwig dem Frommen, 11, p. 12, notes 1 and 5. On keys and banner as symbols
of subjection see G. Waitz, Verfassungsgeschichte, 111, p. 167, note 1, p. 169.

105. “(Ego Willelmus) . . . dico enim de glorioso ligno Domini, quod me presente
olim vobis missum est ab Hierosolymis”; A4S, Maii VI, p. 805b, § 16.

106. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 114-15. This image of William appears
in Le Couronnement de Louis, Moniage Guillaume, Charroi de Nimes and probably
in other literary sources; see A. J. Zuckerman, “The Nasi of Frankland,” 80-81.
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young man who knows how to use his fists effectively has very old and
genuine historical roots. At the siege of Barcelona the captured Saracen
leader Zado pretended to order the opening of Barcelona’s gates to the
Franks while, in fact, he signaled to his compatriots his duress. Catching
on to the ruse, William, inflamed with anger, struck the Saracen with
his fist, muttering meanwhile through clenched teeth, “Only love and
respect for my King keeps this from being your last day!” In an-
other place we have discussed the relationship between William’s
impetuosity (made doubly dangerous by his brute strength) and the
well-known colaphus Judaeorum, the blow on the ear or throat later
delivered publicly on stated annual occasions to a Jewish community
leader in Toulouse, a major seat of Duke William’s government.1%

Returning now to Vita B one may well ask, what is then authentic
in this Vita? The description of William as monk, where it is not a
doublet of Benedict of Aniane lifted from Vita Fragment A, contradicts
the Benedictine Rule and the known Carolingian situation. In any case
it is slanted so as to combat the image of William in the popular songs
of the twelfth century. Yet the picture of a pugilistic William has roots
in historical reality. If William ever was a monk in fact neither Vita
Fragment A nor Vita B has authentic information of his life and activity
in that condition. Yet it is impossible to deny his association with
Gellone, an isolated valley surrounded by towering cliffs and crags
near the River Hérault, which flows into the Mediterranean at a point
about midway between Narbonne and Montpellier. Nor can it be
denied that Duke William erected an as yet unidentified structure in
that valley and established a settlement there with which Vita B pro-
minently associated teachers and sages, and both Vitae, numerous
books.

Is there anything at all authentic which might be salvaged from
Vita B? It has not been noticed heretofore that considerable portions
of this hagiograph are written in rhyme. The rhyme patently highlights
the author’s hope to have his song challenge successfully the popular

107. “Credito, ni quoque regis amorque timorque vetaret, Haec tibi, Zado, dies
ultima sorte foret.” Ermold le Noir, Poéme, ed. E. Faral, vv. 524-29.

108. A. J. Zuckerman, “The Nasi of Frankland in the Ninth Century and the
Colaphus Judaeorum in Toulouse,” PAAJR, XXXIII (1965), 51-82.
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songs of William as, for example, the Moniage Guillaume, and even-
tually to displace it, especially the image of the hero broadcast therein.
At the same time other sections of this Vita are unrthymed.’®® Almost
exclusively these unrhymed portions have nothing to do with William’s
“monastic experience.” Clearly this indicates the hagiologist’s judg-
ment that they were not worthy of poetic treatment and expansion.
But why include them at all? Presumably he could not exclude this
material entirely and still claim that his hero was the authentic Count
William of Toulouse, conqueror of the Saracens and councillor of
Charlemagne. In any event, for whatever reasons, these unrhymed
passages, grudgingly included, were deemed essential. This does not
mean that everything unrhymed is historical fact nor, on the other
hand, that the entire rhymed portion of the hagiograph must be dis-
carded out of hand as a monkish poet’s fantasy, although the vast
majority of it is just that. Where the hagiologist borrowed from the
chansons his composition can be no more (nor less) historical than its
source. But where he had access to genuine materials (reflected in
greater proportion in the less elaborated, unrhymed section), their
traces must be searched after like veins of precious metal in a mine.
The fact that the hagiologist composed his work in Gellone enhances
the possibility that he had authentic sources available for his use.!1
A final clue is the striking Hebraisms which appeat”in unexpected
places in the Vita WilleImi. One would not bé surprised to find Hebra-
isms in a religious or sacred context where the hagiologist would be
more likely to fall into a biblical idiom. Yet in just such passages where
one would expect it most he employs least the idiom which is found
rather in a secular context. Thus the parents of William were “in life
and manners pleasing to God and man.” William stood “in the sight
(presence) of the King.” (§ 4). “He stood at the King’s right hand and
left, in prosperity as in adversity.” (§ 4).*! Several parts of § 7, all

109. The rhymed portions are printed in Roman type in the summary above;
the unrhymed sections are italicized.

110. The devastating fire in the eleventh century must have left very few older
materials, but Gellone’s interest in William would have spurred efforts to collect as
much as possible about him.

111. ... ambo quidem ... vita quoque et moribus placentes Deo et homini-
bus .... Willelmus . .. stat ante Regis conspectum . ... Willelmus Regi aderat a
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lacking rhyme, are noteworthy for abounding in such expressions as
“with peace restored to God’s people”; he concerned himself with
“the sacred laws”; he was judge in particular “of the poor, the widow
and the orphan”; he kept in check “the princes and lords of the land
lest they force subjects from the law with violence”; and so forth.12
Do such Hebraisms imply that an original Hebrew text, presumably in
translation, was available to the hagiologist; and that this text may be
reflected especially in the unrhymed part of the Vita ?

Vita Willelmi employs certain other expressions that demand ex-
planation, such as the use of the archaic consul for comes (“count”) in
§ 3 and § 5.1 It is noteworthy that the ShK’s report on the Nasi of
Narbonne, as late as the twelfth century, still used moshel (“ruler,”
“governor”) as interchangeable with the more frequently employed
and more usual peha (“count’). The archaic consul may point to the
presence of the older moshel in the hagiologist’s original source at this
point. Moreover, Chapter I of the Vita, which describes William’s life
in the world, especially in association with Charlemagne, refers fre-
quently to the sovereign. The text designates him regularly as King,
never as Emperor and with only one doubtful exception (§ 7 “Holy
Empire”’) describes his realm as Kingdom, never as Empire'®* This

dextris et a sinistris, ipse quidem in prosperis pariter et in adversis”; AS, Maii VI,
pp. 801b-02a,

112. A4S, Maii VI, p. 802b.

113, ... natus est B. Willelmus de praeclara Francorum progenie, ex patre
videlicet nobili magnoque Consule Theoderico nomine, cujus mater aeque generosa
et nobilissima Comitissa dicta est Aldana: ambo quidem . .. Consules ex Consuli-
bus ... Comes Willelmus . .. et de Consule sublimetur in Ducem™; AS, Maii VI,
pp. 801b-02a.

114, MJC, 1, pp. 82-83. Otherwise, this passage distinguishes sharply between
the Hebrew equivalents of the various official titles then in use, as follows: Peha
appears four times in the meaning of count; moshel twice as synonym of peha and,
in the combination mosk’lé ha'arets, with the meaning marquis. Shilton, sholetet,
shelishit appear once each in the sense of viscount(ess); Appendix 11, this text.

115. Vita Willelmi, AS, Maii VI, pp. 801b-02a. Kaisar is used frequently in the
Talmud as a proper name and title (“Roman emperor™); but Edom is consistently
the term for Roman Empire, or else some form of malkhut (“kingdom”). The title
consul enjoyed a revival in the eleventh century; P. E. Schramm, Kaiser, Rom,
Renovatio, I (2nd ed.), pp. 201-02.
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corresponds to Hebrew usage which in this period had no specific
term for Empire and Emperor and employed as their equivalents the
terms melekh and malkhut (“king,” ‘“kingdom™) or, at best, melekh
melakhim (“*king of kings”).

Vita C: Orderic Vital (1075—ca. 1141) relates in his Ecclesiastical
History"® that one winter a monk, Anthony of Winchester, came to the
abbey of St. Evroult in Normandy with a Life of William. Although
at the time a Song of William was popular with jongleurs, Orderic
thought that it would be preferable to possess an authentic version
composed by learned monks and recited before assembled friars. But
Anthony’s haste to leave and the severe winter frost forced Orderic to
prepare quickly only a brief summary on his (wax) tablets, which he
later transferred to parchment. The extant text was composed about
1131 and revised shortly before his death ca. 114117 Orderic relates
further that a clerk named Gerold, who was attached to the chapel of
Hugh d’Avranches, Earl of Chester, would sing of William, along with
other heroes, before the courtiers of his lord.2® It is not clear how
Orderic’s version is related to Gerold’s, if at all. However, a compari-
son with Vita B makes it obvious that Vita C is merely a resumé of the
hagiograph, to the point of repeating identical phrases and sentences.
The account of William’s military exploits and his life-in the world is
abbreviated still more. Vita C of Orderic Vital adds nothing of value.

According to the traditional view William founded two monasteries
in Septimania and endowed them with properties. One was in the
valley of Gellone inLodéve which later was called by his name St.
Guillaume or, more fully, Sancti Guillelmi de Desertis®® but which

116. Orderici Vitalis Angligencie Coenobii Uticensi Monachi Historiae Ecclesias-
ticae Libri Tredecim, ed. A. Le Prevost, III, Liber VI, iii, pp. 5-12; translated by
Th. Forester as Ordericus Vitalis, The Ecclesiastical History of England and Nor-
mandy, 11, Book VI, chapter iii, pp. 243—49.

117. Ibid., Book VI, chapter iv, p. xlii.

118. Ibid., II, Book VI, chapter ii, p. 243; ch. iv, p. 249.

119. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 111, note 9b; pp. 113, 117, note 12.
William was recognized as saint by Pope Alexander II in 1066, by Pope Calixtus IT
in 1123; cf. Regesta pontificum romanorum, ed. Ph. Jaffé, 2nd ed. W. Wattenbach
and others, I, no. 4592, 7044; cf. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 117, note 12b,
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William himself seems to have named Casa Dei, in Hebrew Bet-El
(“House of God”). The other endowment he named Casa Nova
located in the diocese of Uzés. It was also known as cella Gordanica
and later came to be called the Abbey of Goudargues.’?® There are
extant many more documents about Casa Dei than about Casa Nova.

The earliest of these sources are two documents which occasionally
have been identified as the foundation charters of Gellone. One is
dated Saturday, December 14, the other Sunday, December 15, 804.

Charter of December 14, 804 (GG)*¥

This is no foundation charter but the donation of a series of pro-
perties by Count William to the monastery at Gellone which is already
in existence and has an abbot, monks, and consecrated altars. The
intent of the gift is to reduce thereby the donor’s sins and those of his
deceased parents Theodoric and Alda as well of his brothers, sons,
daughters, two wives (Cunegund and Guitberge), and nephew Bertram.
Piickert, who designates the act by the initials GG, has drawn up an
impressive list of items which brand the document as the work of a
later editor: vineyards, fields, meadows, and mills are already in exis-
tence—even two churches, which are known only from a later period;
the expansion of the title of count by the addition “by the grace of
God”; the peculiar dating; possible anachronisms of a juridical
character involving use of royal land as the site of the monastery; the
status of some of William’s personal property mentioned; and the
reference to his nephew Bertram, who was a figment of the jongleur’s
imagination. On the basis of such difficulties in text, its style, dating,
and obvious anachronisms, Piickert (and Tisset) challenge the authen-

120. William’s charters of donation to Gellone GG and AG name the monastery
“Casa Dei”: GG—*"ad ipsam casam Dei dono ad habendum,” HGL, II, preuves,
no. 16-X1I, col. 66; AG, ibid., col. 68. On Casa nova (later Goudargues), “Casa
nova . .. quam dudum Willeimus quondam comes . . . construxerat et rebus quam-
plurimis ditaverat,” HGL, I, p. 940; II, preuves, no. 36, col. 103-104, May 21, 815;
for other references see W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 240 f.

121, HGL, 11, preuves, no, 16-XII, cols. 65-67.
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ticity of this charter. In addition, Tisset points out that this copy of
William’s donation occupies a prominent position in the Cartulary of
Gellone at the beginning of the second collection, which was composed
in 1122, The act does not mention Aniane at all but presents Gellone
as a free abbey, completely autonomous, whose abbot and monks
(brought in by William) were trained in the doctrine of Benedict of
Nursia; in this way it completely ignores the nearby Benedict of
Aniane and his establishment. Clearly this record too is a victim of
the conflict between Gellone and Aniane. Piickert concludes (and there-
in he is seconded by Tisset) that the writer took another document as
his model, revised and predated it for greater authority. His model was
the charter of Sunday, December 15, 804, a copy of which is known to
have been in the possession of the monks of Gellone.!22

—

Charter of December 15, 804 (AG)

No more than the preceding is this document (named AG by Piickert)
a founding charter. It also witnesses to a gift made by Count William
of essentially the same properties named above to the *“basilica of
St. Salvator” (Saint-Sauveur) for the reduction of his sins and those of
his deceased parents Theodoric and Al /ga, his brothers, sisters, sons,
daughters, and two wives, whose names are repeated here. The basilica
is already built in “that cella of Gellone which . . . I William . . . have
erected.” The donation is made conditional upon the formal subjection
of Gellone to Aniane “as is a cella to-an abbey.” If in the future the
cella should become separated from Aniane then the named properties
are to become the possession of Aniane.!®

Piickert subjects the diplomatic characteristics of AG to detailed
analysis and concludes that a genuine text underlies the extant charter.
However he finds evidence of reworking. The suspect features of the
dating in GG reoccur here in AG to witness against its originality.

122. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 124-29; P. Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone,
pp. 44-47.
123. HGL, 11, preuves, col. 67-68.
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He focuses on the words Christo propitio and points out that their
presence preceding the imperial date would lead one to expect a different
order in the phrasing in order to correspond to the practice in the
royal chancellery.}?* The emphasis upon Gellone’s subjection to Aniane,
repeated six times, points to AG’s place of origin. If Gellone had been
subject to Aniane William could simply offer his gift to the latter;
such a forgery exists in fact. Tisset thinks that an authentic founding
charter might be sought in that part of the extant document which
precedes mention of Gellone’s subjection to Aniane. The latter was
interested in having a foundation charter for Gellone disappear. The
fire at Gellone in 1066, which destroyed all materials except for the
testament of the Abbot Juliofred, gave Aniane its opportunity. It
fabricated the document of December 15, 804 (AG), in the period
ca. 1066-80. Whereupon Gellone retaliated. It reworked Aniane’s
forgery, predated it by one day in order to forestall AG and created
its own product GG. This task was completed shortly before 1090 or
soon after 1110,1%

Piickert discusses at some length the reason for what he considers
the elimination of the names of William’s three best-known children
from AG, namely, Gerberga, Heribert (both also missing in GG), and
Margrave Bernard (named in GG). In their place he finds it surprising
that three other children are named: Witgar, Hildehelm, and Helin-
bruch. These are two sons and a daughter concerning whom the
sources of the ninth century are completely silent; even Dhuoda’s
Manual does not mention them. Piickert points out the effort on the
part of ninth-century authors to blot out memory of the father-son
relationship between William and Bernard while emphasizing the con-
sanguineity of Bernard to his son, also named William, who was
executed, to his brother Heribert who was blinded, to another brother
Gothselm who was decapitated, and to his sister Gerberga who was

124. Is Christo propitio simply a later interpolation ? The chancellery of the Nasi
could be expected to maintain a strict account of who held the hegemony over
Septimania among the Carolingians, thereby preserving a record of Carloman’s
reign. Likewise the title patricius had special significance for the Jewish Prince who
wanted to emphasize that he was not the vassal merely of a king.

125. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 129-33; 142-45; P. Tisset, L' Abbaye
de Gellone, pp. 41-56.
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drowned for witchcraft, while Bernard himself was put to death by
order of Charles the Bald. Piickert thinks that an early editor, perhaps
even as far back as the time of Charles the Bald, piously removed these
names from William’s charter so as not to cast an ugly light on the
renowned and revered father William. Gellone relisted Bernard because
by the eleventh or twelfth century this relationship had lost its contro-
versial character.12¢

The Inventory of Juliofred, 813

This appears to be an inventory of the very extensive properties of
Gellone prepared by order of Juliofred,-abbot of the monastery. The
date derives from the frequent mention of Emperor Charles as still
alive (d. 814), and the simultaneous appearance also of Louis (who
received the imperial crown in 813) as emperor. The number of pro-
perties mentioned exceeds by far those found in AG and GG, although
a few listed in the latter documents are absent from Juliofred’s in-
ventory. William is said to have acquired these properties from the two
emperors; he appears at the head of the document as “Saint William

126. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp:'132—41. He assumes that William’s
donation to Gellone was his last official act in the world before entering the monastic
state; and that no children were born after 804. Heribert is known to have accom-
panied his father on the campaign against Barcelona (see this text, p. 193) and so
was at least a young man in 804. But the dates of birth of Bernard and his sister
Gerberga are unknown. Bernard married Dhuoda in the imperial palace at Aix
in 824 (Le Manuel, ed. Ed. Bondurand, p. 51). There is every reason to assume that
he married at an early age. If he was 19 he was born in 805, after the endowment
of Gellone, which may better explain the absence of his name from the document.
King Louis of Aquitaine is reported to have served as Bernard’s godfather (Thegan,
Vita Ludovici imperatoris, ed. G. H. Pertz, MGH, Scriptores II, § 36, p. 597:42)
but at a very early age according to Piickert, p. 109, in order for Bernard to be
born before 804; see this text, p. 217. It is possible that Gerberga may have been
even younger than Bernard. However, the presence of the word filiabus in the plural
indicates that the name of a daughter has dropped out of the text, very likely
Gerberga. With respect to Heribert and Gerberga, it is possible to accept Piickert’s
conclusion that these names were deliberately removed from the charter.
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Prince [within] the boundaries of all Gaul,” S. Willelmus princeps
totius Galliae finibus}*"

Piickert and Tisset see several peculiarities in this inventory. As in
GG the word honos (property associated with official position) is used
synonymously with alodes (free possession), which both scholars find
anachronistic; similarly the use of the word fisc. The beginning of the
inventory designates the totality of the listed properties as a gift of the
two emperors; while the end derives the properties in part from
William’s ewn holdings, in part from the emperors and the gifts of
others. Piickert thinks that this reference to William’s ancestral holdings
in Septimania or nearby Rouergue (the actual location of his family
seat is unknown) was a later interpolation, and it is to be viewed as an
effort to locate his family origins in the Southland. Piickert finds clear
evidence of the forger’s hand in Juliofred’s designation of himself as
“kinsman of Emperor Charles.” The name -itself is suspect because so
very rare (he suggests the substitute reading Sunifred); no other relative
presumes to identify himself in this manner although the kings and
emperors occasionally name a beneficiary as kinsman. On the other
hand the eleventh and twelfth centuries emphasized such consan-
guineity of their heroes.

Tisset points out this is the only document which, according to report,
escaped the fire of 1066 in Gellone. The fire destroyed the cartulary roll
and other deeds of the monastery. The name Juliofred is very unusual;
the only other abbot known by this name was administrator of the
abbey in 925. The Testamentum Juliofredi, as Tisset names the docu-
ment, gives him the impression of being older than GG. Yet he too
finds that the list was rewritten in its major portion in order to harmo-
nize with the state of affairs existing at the end of the eleventh century 12

127. Vita B expresses a similar idea; “Ergo Willelmus Comitis et Ducis gloria
sublimatus, fit inter Principes primus, ipse secundus a Rege ..."”; A4S, Maii VI,
p. 802a, § 5. The peculiar grammar of princeps totius Galliae finibus raises a question
as to its original formulation. It could hardly have meant ““Prince for the boundaries
of all Gaul” since William’s responsibilities wete limited to the boundaries facing
Spain, and the maritime coast of the south and west. Clearly, something has been
deleted here. See this text immediately below.

128. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 145-48; P. Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone,
pp. 56-59.
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The extant document is by no means a donation; hence Piickert
terms it an inventory of Gellone’s holdings, and Tisset a testament of
Gellone’s abbot. Actually the relationship to Gellone according to the
document itself is unclear except for a vague statement and the claim of
the Abbot Juliofred that he ordered the inventory prepared. More
explicitly, the writ claims to be an inventory of William’s possessions.12®
Furthermore, Juliofred is probably not to be dated before 925, the date
of the only abbot known by this name so that the phrase “kinsman of
Emperor Charles” refers properly to William whose name, in fact,
appears in the preceding sentence.

Another statement about William already referred to demands ex-
planation: he was “Prince [within] the boundaries of all Gaul.” This
phrase is by no means clear, almost deliberately so. If the intent was
to designate him Prince of all Gaul then-the word boundaries would be
superfluous. But this would be patently untrue since Louis’ sons pro-
perly were the Princes of all Gaul. Rather, the word boundaries in the
ablative case suggests that the original text termed William prince of
some group located “within the boundaries of all Gaul.” This would
hardly be an ethnic group like the Burgundians or Aquitanians, who
were not scattered throughout Gaul but concentrated in a geographical
subdivision of Frankia. On the other hand such a condition would fit
the Jews who, though found perhaps in larger numbefs in the south,
were in fact settled throughout Frankia. The original may then have
referred to William as “Prince [of the Jews within] the boundaries of
all Gaul; Princeps [Judaeorum in] totius Galliae finibus. In addition,
a number of royal’and imperial diplomata have preserved references to
Gellone and, in some instances, to William’s role as donor of properties
there.

(1) December 28, 807: This is presumably a confirmation on the part
of Louis, in his twenty-seventh year as Aquitanian king, of a donation
by William and others to Gellone. In addition the King makes a grant
in his own name to the monastery. It appears from the document that
the cloister has its own abbot, Juliofred; and its monks are given full

129, “Hanc omnem honorem adquisivit S. Willelmus . . . . Hunc alodem superius
resonatum adquisivit domnus Willelmus . . . .”"; HGL, II, no. 17-XIII, cols. 69-70.
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power over these possessions. The initiative for the King’s action came
however from “monk” William and not from the abbot. Gellone ap-
pears as a monasterium, never as a cella, and the name Aniane is not
mentioned in the text. The monastery is said to have been erected by
Count William on land of the royal fisc belonging to Louis’ father
Charlemagne. The property donated by Louis was owned jointly by
himself and his father.

Piickert and Tisset have analyzed this diploma and have arrived at
essentially identical conclusions regarding its inauthenticity. Its diplo-
matic features are suspect, and parts are clearly dependent on Section 30
of the Life of Benedict (Vita A). An important difference, however,
springs to the eye because in Section 30 William is still a count when
requesting action by Louis, while the diploma makes him out to be a
monk. The castle Verdun mentioned in the document as overhanging
the monastery (supposedly located in an .isolated and completely
deserted area) appears in authentic documents at the earliest in 1124.
Tisset points out that the act’s stylistic details turn up in a diploma of
July 12, 1075, which may have served as a model for AG. The confir-
mation proper appears word for word in an immunity diploma of
Emperor Louis for Aniane dated April 24, 814.

Piickert also examines in detail the powers of Louis in Septimania
as King of Aquitaine. He concludes that the prevailing view is incorrect
that Louis received Septimania along with Aquitaine in 781 or that
his powers in both regions were identical. In Aquitaine Louis and his
guardians certainly had the right to grant immunity and confirmations,
although Charles retained supreme authority and exercised it. But in
Septimania Louis had no such power. In fact a gift made by Louis in
this region after Charles’ death states that his grants while king re-
quired validation from higher authority, potiori autoritate, which he
now confers as emperor. Significantly, these words referred to a villa
in Lodéve where were also located several of the properties listed in
the diploma of 807 under discussion here. From a document issued
during Louis’ first year as emperor, it is clear that until then he was not
empowered to take independent action in Septimania or Burgundy.
In Septimania direct action was reserved to Charlemagne alone. In
summary, Louis’ powers were in actuality other than are claimed by
the diploma in regard to Gellone. The -Septimania coinage system
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corroborates this conclusion. Moreover, private documents in Sep-
timania are dated exclusively by the years of Charles’ reign; Aquitanian
documents refer to either Charles or Louis. In Aquitaine Louis granted
privileges to monasteries; in Septimania the name of Charles alone
appears in such diplomas without participation of Louis. When he
became emperor, Louis followed the practice of his father. His son
Pepin received Aquitaine including apparently the County of Carcas-
sonne. However, Pepin’s power in Septimania was restricted, and there
is no evidence that he had any at all in Lodéve and Maguelonne
counties where were situated Aniane and Gellone. In the division of
his realm in 831 Louis promised his youngest son Charles all of Sep-
timania, including Carcassonne, after his death. The Jews supported
Judith, mother of Charles, in her claims on behalf of her son. Even-
tually, Charles (“the Bald’) became emperor.

Piickert concludes that the limited extent of power actually exercised
by Louis and his son Pepin corroborates his conclusion that the diploma
of 807 is inauthentic. Louis could have given gifts to Gellone as King
of Aquitaine but a confirmation by him of gifts from William and
others must be false.!30

(2) The imperial diplomata of Louis le Débonnaire, April 23, 814;
March 20, 822; October 21, 837; and the renewal by Charles the Bald,
June 21, 853: These three diplomata of Emperor Louis are preserved
in the Cartulary of Aniane and present a total contradiction to the
document of December 28, 807. They are unaquainted with it. They
profess to be donations addressed to Benedict of Aniane, wherein
Aniane appears as a monastery while Gellone is only a dependent
cella. All these documents confer immunity while those of 837 and
853 also grant free election of the abbot. Along with the diploma of
807, their authenticity too is called into question by both Piickert and
Tisset.}

130. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 149-60; P. Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone,
pp. 59-61. If this diploma were dated ten years later, most of the difficulties would
disappear since Louis became emperor 813.

131, W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 161 ff.; P. Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone,
pp. 62 ff.
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The three grants of Louis le Débonnaire bestow upon Aniane the
cella Gellone with its accessories. These texts also know nothing of the
charter AG of December 15, 804. On the other hand the documents of
822 and 837, although in effect confirmations of the preceding acts of
donation, do not refer to those earlier gifts by a single word. In ad-
dition the acts of 814 and 822 are demonstrably not contemporaneous
with Emperor Louis and, moreover, offer unintelligible and corrupt
texts. Tisset brands the writ of 814 a forgery modelled after that of 822.
The diploma of 837 purports to present a complete list of Aniane’s
permanent possessions. Yet included therein is a fisc bestowed by the
Emperor only two days earlier on October 19, 837, for a limited period,
specifically for his lifetime.

The act of Charles the Bald dated June 21, 853, confirms the gift of
Louis le Débonnaire to the monastery of Aniane and repeats almost
verbatim the three preceding diplomata. However, it knows nothing of
two fiscs mentioned earlier and refers to possessions of Aniane situated
in Arles, Avignon, Orange (where it never owned property), and in the
district of Uzés, which it acquired for the first time only seventeen or
eighteen years later. The three towns just mentioned actually belonged
to Lothar in 853 and were not in Charles’ territory or subject to his
authority. Tisset concludes that this document has been tampered with.
These documents, in particular the bestowal of Gellone on Aniane,
reveal the same intent that motivated the fabrication of AG, even
though they are not contemporaneous with the conflict between Gellone
and Aniane.}®?

(3) Letter of Emperor Louis le Débonnaire addressed to The Venerable
Brothers established in the monastery of Aniane and Gellone. This is
the heading of the undated document as preserved in the Cartulary of
Aniane: Therein Louis confirms their election of Abbot Tructesinde
and offers sage counsel spiced with warnings and threats. The letter
opens with the report that “Archbishop” Agobard had but recently
arrived and advised the Emperor that both he and Bishop Nibridius
of Narbonne had been present at the election of Tructesinde as abbot

132. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 161-79; P, Tisset, L’ Abbaye de Gellone,
pp. 62-67.
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of Aniane. The Emperor’s message relates a donation of the cloister
by Benedict to Charlemagne whereby it became his allod and his sons’.
There is no mention of William at all. Gellone is referred to only in
the address wherein its members appear as colleagues of the friars of
Aniane. The writer expands on the proper relationship between abbot
and monks, and the conduct of the friars to one another.

A remarkable sentence in this letter attracts special attention: “Zeal-
ously endeavour to be always such that from you as of yore there can
be taken masters and teachers not alone for the holy life of the rule but
of every spiritual standard and at the highest level, wherever there may
be need or desire therefor.”2% The closing words, in particular, would
suggest that the cloister in question was a training center and school
for the education of bishops (““at the highest level”). Piickert, assuming
that Aniane was the original recipient .of this document and that in
consequence its educational potentialities are described here, challenges
the authenticity of this statement on the basis of the known situation
in the ninth century. According to him the reference to the education
of bishops is to be dated in the eleventh century when actually Cluny
was fulfilling this function. In this conclusion Tisset concurs.134

Piickert brings evidence for the view that the superscription’® has
been tampered with and that the letter was not addressed to both
monasteries. Since the document confirms the election of Aniane’s
abbot, he concludes that a later editor jpserted"the reference to Gellone
with the intent of demonstrating its dependence on Aniane. Piickert

133, *, .. tales semper . .. esse studeatis, ut de vobis possint sicut prius magistri
et doctores sanctae non solum regularis vitae, verum omnis spiritalis normae et
praecipui apicis adsumi, ubicumque necessitas vel voluntas fuerit”; HGL, II,
preuves, no. 59-XXXVIII, col. 137; W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 186.

134. Piickert, ibid., assumes that praecipui apicis adsumi was intended to mean
the training of bishops and therefore could be a product only of the eleventh
century. In the ninth century praecipuum apex did not necessarily refer to the
episcopacy; pp. 188-90; 195. Tisset also dates the extant letter in the eleventh
century; L'Abbaye de Gellone, pp. 68-71.

135. “Ludovicus . .. venerabilibus fratribus in Aniano sive Gellone monasterio
constitutis”; HGL, II, preuves, no. 59, col. 136. The epistle continues immediately
with the report of Agobard's arrival: “Proxime accidit Agobardum archiepiscopum
ad nostram devenisse praesentiam.” He reported to the Emperor concerning
Tructesinde’s election as abbot.



236 The First Generations of the Jewish Principate

also dates to a later period the insertion of a passage from letters
written by Alcuin and the description of Benedict of Aniane. Otherwise,
he thinks that in its style and content the communiqué is above sus-
picion and authentic. Sickel observes that the letter probably bore an
imperial seal as did several rescripts of Emperor Louis.!*

However, it may be that we have here a document addressed origi-
nally to Gellone; the inclusion of Aniane and the confirmation of its
abbot would then be a later addition as well as the parts branded in-
authentic by Piickert. For, as Piickert!¥” himself recognizes, the address
in its present form actually equates both monasteries and in no way
implies the subjection of Gellone to Aniane. This would hardly be
preferable (for Aniane partisans) to a presumed “original” where
Aniane appeared alone and Gellone was passed over in silence. The
presence of Gellone’s name here can only mean that it was always in
the document. Yet the preservation of the altered epistle in Aniane’s
cartulary points to that cloister’s interest in the missive in its present
form. For a letter by the Emperor addressed only to Gellone, without
reference to Aniane, could well be exploited by Gellone partisans to
further their monastery’s claim for independence. In consequence,
Aniane’s ambitions called for alteration to the point at least of adding
Aniane’s name to the superscription.

But if the Emperor’s letter was not addressed to Aniane then the
“confirmation” of its abbot’s election is also as inauthentic as the
description of Benedict therein and the statements of Alcuin’s. Such a
conclusion would eliminate a problem in the dating of this document
which is otherwise undated except for the remark that “Archbishop™”
Agobard had recently appeared before the Emperor. On March 19,
822, Emperor Louis issued an edict in behalf of the monastery of
Aniane in response to the complaint of its Abbot Tructesinde against
the imperial officials in Provence, Septimania, and Aquitaine.3 The
election of Tructesinde obviously predated this act, as must have

136. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 181, 191-93, 195, 197. Th. Sicket,
Acta Regum et Imperatorum Karolinorum Digesta et Enarrata. Part I: Lehre von den
Urkunden der ersten Karolinger (751-840), p. 407, note 6.

137. W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, p. 186.

138. HGL, 11, preuves, no. 60-XXXIX, cols. 139-40.
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Emperor Louis’ communiqué to the Brethren of Aniane and Gellone
if it actually confirmed Tructesinde’s election. In fact both Sickel and
Miihlbacher date the election in 821, since Benedict died on February
11 of that year. But there is no information of an audience of Agobard
in Aix-la-Chapelle until late 822. Sickel then considers it possible that
Agobard appeared before the Emperor at the Reichstag in Dieden-
hofen, October 821. But there is no evidence that Agobard was present
in Diedenhofen. Simson favors an audience in Aix before March 19,
822. Piickert is challenged by Tisset for dating Emperor Louis’ letter
January-March 822, yet this date is accepted by Cabaniss as the period
of Agobard’s first audience with the Emperor.1®® However, it is hardly
likely that the Bishop of Lyons undertook the long journey to the
imperial palace merely for the purpose of securing the confirmation of
an election for which no imperial license-had been granted in the first
place, and in behalf of a monastery not in his own diocese. This dating
is a confusion over the actual appearance of Agobard at court in late
822 or early 823, a muddle which the letter’s forger initiated.

It is highly dubious that the prelate made a visit to court or appeared
elsewhere before Louis in connection with Tructesinde’s election in
Aniane. Then the reference to his arrival at court, which stands directly
at the beginning of the communication,**® would have no relationship
at all to the election of Abbot Tructesinde, and -the letter may be
dated late 822 or early 823. How does-Agobard’s visit have an asso-
ciation with the many threats and warnings found therein ? It is known
that this prelate came to Aix-la-Chapelle in late 822 or early 823 to

139. T. Sickel, Acta Regum, Part I1: Regesten der Urkunden der ersten Karolinger
(751-840), p. 136, no. 175; p. 323; E. Miihlbacher, J. F. Bshmer, Regesta Imperii.
Die Regesten des Kaiserreichs unter den Karolingern 751-918, 1, 2nd ed., p. 298,
no. 743 (718); B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Ludwig dem Frommen, 1: 814-830,
pp. 166-67, note 10, cf. p. 177, note 1; W. Piickert, Aniane und Gellone, pp. 179-97.
P. Tisset, L' Abbaye de Gellone, p. 71 dates the communiqué in the eleventh century;
A. Cabaniss, Agobard of Lyons, p. 43.

140. Immediately following the address; “Proxime accidit Agobardum archiepis-
copum ad nostram devenisse praesentiam™; HGL, II, preuves, col. 136. The anach-
ronistic title “archbishop” reveals the hand of the later editor who is active from
the very start of the extant communiqué. For discussion of the date of Agobard’s
court visit see A. J. Zuckerman, “Political Uses of Theology . ..,” 28-29, 48-49.
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secure enforcement of the decisions reached in August at Attigny
regarding the restitution of church lands. He was pressuring the lay
lords throughout Septimania and Provence to submit to these decisions.
In retaliation they took him to task as a troublemaker. They main-
tained that synods of a local character were not competent to compel
restitution but that it was essential for legates of Rome and the Emperor
to be present.!4!

This claim recalls to mind that a papal and a royal representative
actually were present at the Narbonne synod of 791 which was also
attended by numerous prelates of the South. At that time, we con-
cluded, this assembly probably recognized the rights of the Nasi to
extensive properties in Septimania.!*? The context of the landholders’
claim as reported by Agobard raises the question whether the lay lords
against whom he was directing his activity did not in fact include also
Jewish seigneurs and, specifically, the Nasi of the Jews.

In this period arose the conflict between him and the Jewish com-
munity of Lyons over the question of a female slave apparently con-
verted to Judaism whom, however, the prelate baptised. His visit to
the imperial palace was for the purpose of securing a favorable settle-
ment of this issue. Instead, his efforts ended in disgrace and bitter
frustration for himself. There followed his sharp written attacks on the
Jews 148

Did the court informant, or the Emperor himself, begin his letter of
warning and exhortation to Gellone with a reference to Agobard’s
appearance at the palace because of the special interest of that com-
munity, founded by Duke William, in the activities of this Bishop ?
And was it so involved because it was a Jewish community, an academy
created by the Nasi William for the training of teachers and judges?
The apparent dissension that was wracking Gellone in 822-23 would
indicate that William, who certainly lived here for a while, was no
longer alive. His death may have propelled Agobard to his aggressive

141. MGH, Epistolae Karolini aevi, tomus V, 3, ed. E. Diimmler, p. 174:31-36.
For details, A. J. Zuckerman “Political Uses of Theology ...”, pp. 28-29,
48-49. Note the suggestion, ibid., that Agobard made only one trip to court.

142. See this text, pp. 175-78.

143. A. J. Zuckerman, “Political Uses of Theology . ..,” pp. 28-29, 48-49.
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action in Attigny and at court that year.}# When Aniane got possession
of this communication addressed originally to Gellone, the monastery
substantially altered it to make it appear to be a document intended
for both Aniane and Gellone combined.

(4) The final document that may be related to Duke William of
Toulouse is in the chronicle of the Miinster episcopate which was
compiled by Florenz von Wevelinkhofen in the fourteenth century.
This chronicle is extant only in a poor seventeenth-century copy of the
oldest manuscript in the Miinster Chapter library, now lost, however.
The old Chapter manuscript itself was not complete and Florenz states
that he compiled his work from-quotations out of various books. He
made no use of legal material. The entire older portion of his history
is replete with errors. His chronology is-confused until as late as the
end of the thirteenth century when Bishop Gerhard’s death, for in-
stance, is set five years too late. The reports become more reliable only
with the onset of the fourteenth century.1*® Obviously, his chronology
for the ninth century must be accepted only with great-caution.

Florenz relates the following event which he dates in the period of
Bishop Alfred III whose episcopacy lasted, according to Florenz, from
839-49:

At this time William, a most leamned chancellor of the [(mperial] Palace,
lapsed into Judaism and numerous other§ at his suggestion likewise lapsed
into Judaism. Also at this time there was a very sharp controversy between

144. The year of William’s death is unknown, the day is May 28 (V Kal. junii)
according to an eleventh-century necrology, P. Tisset, L' 4bbaye de Gellone, p. 23.
A forged diploma of Louis le Débonnaire dated April 23, 814, speaks of William
as dead: “quondam cellulam nuncupante Gellonis . .. vel quidquid ibi Willelmus
quondam Comes, qui ipsam cellulam in causa domini et genitoris nostri construxit”;
HGL, 11, preuves, no. 26, cols. 85-86. Most scholars follow HGL in dating his death
in 813-14, HGL, 11, preuves, col. 28, note 12; no. 23, cols. 79-80. The date given by
the Chronicle of Uzés is 779, manifestly incorrect in this form, HGL, II, preuves,
no. 1, col. 6. Tisset says that this forgery of 814 is modelled after Louis’ diploma
of 822; see this text, p. 234. This supports our suggestion that William’s death
probably occurred closer to 822 than to 814; see this text, p. 244.

145. Die miinsterischen Chroniken des Mittelalters, ed. J. Ficker, Vorrede, pp. x-
xiv. See p. 204 above.
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Christians and Jews concerning the Eucharist and the Holy Trinity, William
himself being involved. William remained in his perfidy for three years and
then returned to the Catholic faith,1¢¢

William’s return is attributed to a miracle. His twelve-year-old daughter
was nourished for a period of three years solely by a bit of wafer from
the Host, with the addition of no other food.}” It will be recalled that
Vita B reports that after entering the monastic state William of Toulouse
was nourished on the wafer of the Mass with but very little besides.14®

Blumenkranz thinks that this tale is a version of the Bodo-Eleazar
sensation of the year 839-40.14° Bodo Deacon of Emperor Louis, con-
verted to Judaism, assumed the name Eleazar, let his beard grow, put
on military dress, married a Jewess, and fled to Spain where he carried
on anti-Christian agitation among the Arabs. This scandal created a

146. “Huius temporibus Wilhelmus litteratissimus palacii cancellarius lapsus est
in iudaismum, et quamplurimi ad eius suggestionem in iudaismum etiam sunt lapsi.
Et illis temporibus fuit maxima altercatio inter christianos et iudeos de eucharistia
et de sancta trinitate, ipso Wilhelmo hoc operante . . . Sed Wilhelmus per triennium
in perfidia permansit. Sed tunc ad fidem catholicam est reversus . ...”; ibid., ed.
J. Ficker, pp. 7-8. Vita A also calls William “the most illustrious of all in the
Court of the Emperor” “qui in aula imperatoris prae cunctis erat clarior,” and
immediately thereafter reports his “‘conversion”—but to the monastic life! MGH,
SS XV, part 1, pp. 211:38; 212:2; see p. 206 above. Blumenkranz points out that
the Trinity was very seldom a subject for Jewish-Christian disputation; the eucharist
was never treated. He thinks that the reference must be to some inner-Christian
dispute of the middle of the ninth century on the eucharist when the conflict was at
its height, “Juden und Jidisches in christlichen Wundererzidhlungen,” Theologische
Zeitschrift, X (1954), 442 f. However, there was the sharp altercation between
Bishop Agobard and the Jews involving their rabbi and Magister and the imperial
palace from ca. 822-27; A. J. Zuckerman, “Political Uses of Theology ...,”
p. 50. Noteworthy is Florenz von Wevelinkhofen’s report that Chancellor William
influenced many (courtiers ?) to convert to Judaism, ed. J. Ficker, p. 7. Agobard
levelled the same charge against the Jews in the period just named; A. J. Zuckerman,
op. cit., p. 50.

147. Die miinsterischen Chroniken, 1, ed. J. Ficker, pp. 7-8.

148. See this text, p. 218 §31. The Annales Einhardi reports for the year 823
the tale of a young girl who partook of the wafer at her confirmation Mass and
then fasted and was nourished on nothing but this wafer until 825; PL, CIV, col.
496C, 500 C, D.

149. B. Blumenkranz, *Juden und Jiidisches in christlichen Wundererzihlungen,”
Theologische Zeitschrift, X (1954), 442-43; idem, Juifs et Chrétiens, p. 210, note 206.
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tremendous stir and was written up in sensational style by several
chroniclers. However, Blumenkranz does not explain why the proselyte
is named Chancellor William if he were actually Deacon Bodo, or
account for his “reconversion” to Christianity. It is altogether possible
that Florenz or the original reporter dated this event in the period
839-49 because they thought of Bodo-Eleazar as among “the numerous
others” who followed William’s lead. However, the editor of Florenz’
chronicle reports another manuscript which relates the same miracle
for the year 820, during the reign of Emperor Louis, son of Charle-
mange.!% This date is supported by the numerous complaints of Bishop
Agobard of Lyons levelled against the effective and successful religious
propaganda of the Jews, to the point where, he charges, they
actually “captured” individuals for Judaism. Agobard’s vitriolic attacks
preceded the Bodo-Eleazar scandal by as-much as fifteen years.?®* This
earlier date makes it possible to relate the report to William of Toulouse.
Certainly if Florenz or his original source had Deacon Bodo-Eleazar
in mind they would not have called him chancellor and named him
William. Clearly they intended to keep the two personalities separate.
The “return” to Christianity does not refer to Bodo but to William’s
supposed conversion to the monastic life. Yet it hardly would have
been possible for a Jewish convert from Christianity to remain at
court for three years or within reach of the authorities.” Bodo-Eleazar
probably had to flee to Spain. We have here then information regarding
“a most learned chancellor” at the imperial court in the first quarter
of the ninth century, a famed Jew by the name of William. In this
connection we note again the strange silence of the chroniclers about

150. Chronica Martiniana, Die miinsterischen Chroniken, ed. J. Ficker, p. 8.

151. *. .. pars aliqua ex nostris, dum libenter carnalibus eorum victibus com-
municat, spiritalibus discipulis capiatur”; Agobard, Epistolae, ed. E. Diimmler,
no. 9, p. 200:23, 24, Some Christians prefer Jewish sermons to those of their own
priests; ibid., no. 7, p. 184:33, 34, Other similar complaints by Agobard, ibid.,
p. 183:18, 19, 29-32; p. 184:20-41; p. 199:31-top p. 200; p. 200:8-28. The alter-
cation between Agobard and the Jews, which became a conflict of national signifi-
cance, may be the basis for Florenz’ reference to a serious controversy between
Jews and Christians in the day of Chancellor William. Amolo, writing in 346,
reports discussions between Jews and Christians about the nature of God the
Father and Jesus the Son; Liber Contra Judaeos, PL, CXVI, § XLII, col. 171.



242 The First Generations of the Jewish Principate

William’s activity following the fall of Barcclona when he was at the
height of his career. The conclusion appears inescapable that no
authentic contemporary document reports William’s assumption of the
monastic habit. This is altogether a fabrication dating no earlier than
the eleventh century.

Certain Christian works, thought to have been authored in Gellone
or for Duke William, turn out to have been of other origin. The
manuscript known as the Sacramentary of Gellone (MS Bibliothéque
Nationale, Latin 12,048) was compiled in the second half of the
eighth century and located in Gellone from the Carolingian period
to modern times. But.it was not composed for the monastery at
Gellone. The dedication to the Church of St. Salvator in Gellone ap-
pears only in the margin of the Martyrology which concludes the
volume and is a later addition (folio 276: Dedicatio basilicae Sancti
Salvatoris in Gellone). In fact, Dom Cagin concludes, the Sacramentary
was not written even in the Gellone region.!®® There seems no basis
for Wilmart’s suggestion that a Liber de Qualitate by a certain Emmo
or Haimo (PL, CXVIII, cols. 875-958) was intended for William of
Gellone.2%®

Wilmart wishes to identify a manuscript containing rules of St.
Benedict, masses, and a martyrologium as a product of Gellone,
which he dates between 807-12 and dubs the code of William’s com-
munity and a kind of monastic bible.!®® However, a short world
chronicle in the manuscript gives its own date of composition as the
year 4709 since the origin of the world.!s® The following systems of
chronology reckoned time according to the aera mundi: Hillel (the
Jewish system) starting 3761 B.C.E., Scaliger 3949, Petav 3983, Jo-
sephus 4163, Frank 4181, and several others, all of which lengthened

152. Dom Cagin, ‘“Note sur le sacramentaire de Gellone,” Mélanges . . . Mgr de
Cabrieres, 1, 231-32.

153. A. Wilmart, “Lettres de I'époque carolingienne,” Revue Bénédictine, XXXIV
(1922), 237.

154. A. Wilmart, “Un livret bénédictin composé a Gellohe au commencement du
IXe siécle,” Revue Mabillon, XII (1922), 132,

155. “Sunt autem totius et[atis] ab origine mundi anni usque in praesentem
annum IIDCCVIIY"; ibid.
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the aera mundi still further.®® Only one of these can come into con-
sideration for the dating of this manuscript, since the world chronicle
just mentioned continues until the thirty-eighth year of Charlemagne’s
reign, the seventh of the empire, and so it must have been composed
after 807. Scalinger’s system arrives at the date 760 which is manifestly
impossible. All the others, except the Jewish, produce still earlier dates.
The only admissible date then is 948. Marténe, in fact, recognized that
this work might date from the tenth century.’” Consequently, the
manuscript is not contemporaneous with Count William of Gellone
and the community which he founded.

Likewise Morin fails to establish his claim that a Carolingian author
Hemmon dedicated his collection of extracts from the writings of the
church fathers to Count William of Gellone. Marténe had dated
Haimon’s death in 1107 and recognized the reuerendissimus in Christo
pater Wilhelmus, to whom the work is dedicated, as the celebrated
Abbot of Hirsau who died in 1091. Mabillon identified the abbot as
the great reformer William of Dijon and Fécamp who died 1031.
Morin, however, sees in the statement of the dedication “you were
freed of worldly and palace chains™ and especially his embracing of
“the poverty of Christ” parallels to the description of Count William
given by the biographer of Bernard of Aniane. On this basis he con-
cludes that the father William mentioned must be Count William, the
founder of Gellone. These generalized statements seem hardly adequate
evidence for his conclusion.15®

We may conclude there is little reason to doubt that Duke William
of Toulouse erected an establishment in the relatively inaccessible,
mountainous region of Gellone. Yet it was close to the River Hérault
which empties into the Mediterranean nearby at a point about equi-
distant from Narbonne and Montpellier. Here he may have established
an academy and library, settled teachers (perhaps imported from the

156. Bernard M. Lersch, Einleitung in die Chronologie, 1, 2nd rev. and enlarged
ed., p. 97.

157. A. Wilmart, loc. cit., 128. A marginal notation in this manuscript also gives
the day of William’s death as May 28, ibid., but this is no evidence that the manu-
script must have been composed before William died.

158. D. G. Morin, *“L’écrivain carolingien Hemmon et sa collection d’extraits
des Péres pour Saint Guillaume de Gellone,” Revue Charleniagne, I (1912), 116-26.
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East), scholars, and younger pupils therein. The establishment, which
he may have named Bet-El (Casa Dei, House of God), was clearly
intended to serve academic and religious purposes; but doubtlessly it
was also intended for military and commercial functions. He himself
lived there for part of the time, perhaps spending some of his last days
at Casa Dei. He died before 823, at the age of fifty-three or less, around
the reputed date of death of the monk Bernard of Aniane. His untimely
death?®® caused confusion and dissension in Casa Dei.l*® The Emperor
directed his warnings here. Eventually, the monastery at Aniane gained
control of Casa Dei and the new faith displaced the old. But the
tradition of original independence persisted for a long time. Along
with the academy its founder William, once the leader of the Jews of
Frankia, was also “converted”” to the monastic life and eventually
sainted by the church. The many writings about William seem to point
to one or more narrative sources, including perhaps a family chronicle
of the Makhiri dynasty. A Ma‘aseh haMakhiri (“Deed [or, Geste] of
the Makhiri*) was probably composed late in the eleventh or early in
the twelfth century. It incorporated works of Nathan and Menahem,
sons of Makhir. Eliezer B. Nathan refers to it when he says,
“Thus did I see in the Ma‘aseh haMakhiri.”1®! It appears that Count

159. On May 28 (V Kal. junii) according to an eleventh century necrology,
P. Tisset, L'Abbaye de Gellone, p. 23. The year of his death is unknown. Most
scholars follow HGL in dating it in 813-14, HGL, 11, preuves, col. 28, note 12;
no. 23, col. 79-80, a forgery modelled after Louis’ diploma of 822. See this text,
pp. 234, 239.

160. Agobard speaks of the Master of the Jews Everard in a way which clearly
implies that he but recently took office: “‘qui Iudeorum nunc magister est; Epistolae,
V, ed. E. Diimmler, p. 200:29-30. The documents may provide a terminus ad quem
for William’s death ca. 822. Perhaps Agobard’s aggressive action at Attigny and at
Court 822-23 may be related to the passing of an individual of stupendous achieve-
ment. By 825 Domatus was rabbi-magister, to be succeeded by Evrard ca. 828.
See this study p. 254. The later sources have fabricated an intimate association
between William and the Goth monk Bernard of Aniane, assigning to each charac-
teristics of the other. They set Bernard’s death in 821. This seems to be close to the
date of William’s passing as we reconstruct it. See this study pp. 208 ff.

161. L. Zunz, Literaturgeschichte, pp. 158-59; S. Poznasiski suggests their
youngest brother Yakar as the author, “Ein Wort iiber das Ma‘aseh haMakhiri,”
MGWIJ, XLI (1897), 459. Sefer Raban, Ebhen haEzer (Prague 1610), p. 84c; Eliezer
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William’s banner bore one or more lions (of Judah?) in its field.16®

Finally, William may have been Charlemagne’s ambassador to
Harun ar-Rashid in 797, named Isaac, as Isaac had been his father’s
emissary to Charlemagne in 791.%® The Arab legates from Baghdad
and the North African court of Ibn Alaghlab, whom the chroniclers
quote in their account of the return of the sensational mission from
Baghdad, naturally referred to the Jewish participant in the legation
by his Hebrew (or Arabic) name Isaac. It will be recalled that the
chansons in fact report that William spoke Arabic as well as Hebrew,
thereby qualifying him linguistically for an embassy to Baghdad. An
important aim in the mission of Isaac (William) was to secure a
semblance of recognition for Charlemagne as overlord of Jerusalem
preparatory to his contemplated coronation as emperor. The banner
and key which Charles’ emissary Zachariah brought back symbolized
some such subjection, although William’s mission need not have been
perfectly accomplished. Nevertheless, thereby the status of the Nasi of
the West would become stabilized as the subject not of a mere king
but of a king of kings, one who also extended his sway over Jerusalem
the Holy City, symbolic of the ancient Hebrew monarchy. The common
element in all the coronation ordines of the eighth and ninth centuries
is to liken the king, about to be anointed, to the biblical prototypes
David and Solomon. Munz emphasizes that at the. cerifer of Charle-
magne’s own thinking was the idea that he was the successor of the
kings of the Jews of biblical times.}¢4

The trenchant writings of Bishop Agobard of Lyons provide in-
formation regarding the status of the Jews in the kingdom and empire
of the Franks in the ninth century and their influence at the court of
Emperor Louis le Débonnaire, and describe briefly but in sharp

may be referring to Nathan haMakhiri’s statements in Sefer haPardes, according to
L. Zunz, Literaturgeschichte, p. 159. It is the prime source of the Ma‘aseh ha-
Geonim, ed. A. Epstein, which, however is a compendium of legal materials.

162. L. Roche, “Une chronologie inédite des abbés de Saint-Guilhem-du-Désert,”
Mélanges . . . de Mgr de Cabriéres, 1, 208.

163. See above, pp. 187-89.

164. M. David, “Le serment du sacre du IX® au XVe si¢cle,” Revue du Moyen
Age Latin, VI (1950), 21, note 7. P. Munz, The Origin of the Carolingian Empire,

p. 1.
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outline the power and function of the Nasi of the Jews in the 820s.1%

A serious conflict of the ﬁishop with the Jewry of Lyons drove the
prelate to compose the incisive epistles still extant addressed to the
Emperor and leading officials at court, which attack so vigorously and
yet in disciplined manner the Jews of Lyons and their prominent and
effective leaders. Even allowing for occasional exaggeration by the
aroused and fear-driven churchman, nevertheless Agobard’s essays
provide substantially reliable and vivid data about ninth-century
Frankish Jewry and their magister which dovetail neatly with the
evidence established heretofore in this study and still to follow.

The conflict with the Jews of Lyons erupted over. a female slave
whom the Jews had converted. In consequence of this act their law
forbade them to sell her to gentiles, or to accept any redemption price
for her release, because of the obvious injury to her practice of
Judaism. Agobard was adamant on the right of redemption because,
he claimed, she had accepted baptism. The Jews insisted on the imple-
mentation of the imperial privilege that conferred the right to live by
their own law. They may even have induced her to return to Judaism.
It appears then that Bishop Agobard brought charges against the Jewry
of Lyons. Imperial charters of the period provided that serious charges
against Jews were justiciable only in the imperial court.

As protagonist of the Jewish defendants there arrived in Lyons a
high imperial officer whom Agobard variously entitles “Master of the
Jews,” “Master of the infidel Jews.” The Bishop later designated one
such magister Judaeorum by the name of Evrardus. The magister took
energetic action on behalf of the Jewry of Lyons; his very first en-
counter with the Bishop proved disastrous for the personal relations
between the two. Agobard complained the magister had failed to show
proper regard for the episcopal office and, furthermore, had acted un-
reasonably in the issue at hand. The case was taken to the imperial
court. Agobard appeared in person before the Emperor late in 822 orin
823 only to suffer a curt dismissal. He returned home heavy with chagrin,
vexed and disturbed. At the same time the Jews were active at court
and eminently successful. They secured a privilegium corroborated with

165. A. J. Zuckerman, “Political Uses of Theology ...” in Studies in Medieval
Culture. The findings of this essay are summarized in the pages immediately below.
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imperial seals of gold, which they brandished triumphantly in Lyons.
It declared among other provisions, “No one may baptize a Jewish
slave without the willingness of his own master.” The prelate professed
incredulity and challenged the authenticity of the imperial mandate.
He launched a vigorous preaching campaign in his diocese in which he
promised the slaves of the Jews manumission as the reward of baptism.

He also endeavored to halt the sale of their wine to Christians and
forbade his flock to purchase those animal portions from Jewish
slaughterers, which were banned to Jews by their law. In general the
prelate seems to have aimed at a withdrawal of Christians from all
services to Jews and a boycott of their products of the land. He appears
to have obtained possession of the Judaized and later baptized Jewish
slave. Rabbi Domatus now brought charges against Bishop Agobard
at the imperial palace. In defense he penned a lengthy reply passionately
proclaiming his incredulity at the genuineness of the decree which
affirmed the Jews’ right to prevent baptism of their slaves. He described
his predicament: if he observes (the dubious) imperial command, he
offends God. If he observes the rules of the church he has to fear the
wrath of the Emperor, especially since the Master of the “infidel” Jews
was threatening to summon the imperial legates to judge and punish him.

The palace now took sharp action against the prelate. It issued still
another privilegium in behalf of the Jews as well as two mandates, one
addressed to Agobard, the other to the-viscount of the Lyons district.
The imperial commissioners were ordered to -proceed to Lyons. The
Emperor forbade anyone to persuade the slaves of the Hebrews to
accept baptism in order to be. free of service to their masters; and
threatened the anathema for all violators. There then arrived the new
Jews® master or his representative, Everard by name, and two imperial
commissioners bearing their orders and “capitularies of sanctions”
presumably outlining the Jews’ legal status in the empire. The Emperor’s
orders were read out in public in Lyons. Agobard fled in time. At this
turn of events the Christians were deeply saddened, reports Agobard,
the Jews exultant, and they proceeded to preach to the Christians on
matters of faith “blaspheming to their face the Lord God and our
Saviour Jesus Christ.” In this dispatch to the Emperor the Bishop
blamed all his tribulations “on the patrons of the Jews.”

He then proceeds to attack the Jews for their baleful effect in court
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and in his diocese: They boast that they are dear to the Emperor
because of their patriarchs (is this a reference to the Nasi and his
dynasty 7). They enter and leave the imperial presence laden with
honors. The most excellent persons covet their supplications and re-
commendations and confess frankly they wished they had a guardian
such as the Jews’. They have considerable income from great sales of
wine. The Jews display gowns which they say are gifts to their wives
from imperial kinsfolk [related to the Jews?] and ladies of palace
officials. -Qut of respect for the Jewish Sabbath the imperial missi
ordered that the market in Lyons might be transferred from that day
to any one which the Jews select, indicating that Sunday is especially
apt, because Christians are then unoccupied. Jewish ritual practice
exercises a corrupting influence. (In a later epistle to Abbot Nimfrid of
Lagrasse Agobard charged that some were actually *‘captured” for
Judaism.) He concluded his plaint to the Emperor with the shocking
information that local Jews were kidnapping and selling Christians into
slavery in Spain and perpetrating indescribable acts, By charging Jews
with illegal sale of slaves, and even kidnapping, Agobard was revealing
to the Emperor the incompetence, if not worse, of the Jews’ magister
whose duty it must have been to supervise such transactions and to
enforce the law.

Agobard pressed his drive against the Jews with intensity over a
period of years in defiance of repeated imperial orders and the un-
responsiveness, if not opposition, of the churchmen at court. Bressolles
has pointed out that religious motives cannot account for his boycott
of their products. The extant sources show that he launched an aggres-
sive campaign for the conversion of Jewish slaves. On the fioor of the
Imperial Diet in Attigny, August 822, Agobard presented a ringing
demand for the restoration of ecclesiastical properties still in the hands
of lay landowners. His startling action there issued out of the condition
of his church in Lyons. Charles Martel had ceded the town of Lyons
to his fideles, including the domains of the church, the abbeys, and
ecclesiastical offices. The lay owners of these former ecclesiastical lands
defended their refusal to restore them on the grounds that (as stated
by Agobard) the original reason for their transfer still was valid and
the action of emperor and pope was needed to effect their return.
Included among the lay magnates and honorati endowed with former
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ecclesiastical estates must have been the Jews of Septimania and the
Provence, including Lyons. The transfer to Jews of ecclesiastical lands
brought slaves and serfs of the church into the hands of Jewish honorati.
Since it seems likely that Bishop Agobard undertook only one visit to
court in the period from the conclusion of the Council of Attigny
(August 822) to the end of 823, there was then a very close relationship
between Agobard’s cry for the restoration of church property and his
baptizing of Jewish slaves. He was able to single out Jews alone for
attack because the canonical ban against holding Christian slaves or
associating with the church’s faithful fell on the Jews alone. By ex-
ploiting these canonical prohibitions Agobard could hope to deprive
Jewish estate owners of their irreplaceable labor force, both free and
unfree, and thus turn their properties back to wasteland. Then the
church might come into her own again sinee cultivation of the land was
a condition for retaining possession of royal grants. His restrictions on
economic relations between the two sects aimed at the same objective.
This was his purpose then behind the effort to prevent their employing
a large and effective labor force and to boycott the product of their
land. The efforts of the Jewish leaders at court must be seen against
this background of Agobard’s determination to deprive the Jews of the
service of their bondmen and hired servants. Insofar as the Jews were
an economic and military mainstay of imperial power; his actions had
broad political consequences which the Crown had to oppose.
Agobard’s final effort against the Jews was directed to Abbot Nimfrid
(Nebridius) of Lagrasse and Narbonne, 4n Exhortatory Epistle on
Avoiding Eating and Association with Jews. Agobard relates therein
how he has forbidden Christians to have contact with Jews. He urges
Nimfrid to impel other prelates toward the same objective in his
territory, and concludes with the remarkable exhortation: “This work
will stand by your effort or fall by your neglect.” The broader intent
of the tract is clear. It is to deprive the Jews in Septimania and the
Narbonnaise of their Christian labor force. From Agobard’s tract dis-
patched to Nimfrid it would seem that Narbonne was the center of
Jewish activity in Southern Frankia.1® Significantly, Nimfrid, who bore

166. Fleury La Serve terms Narbonne in the ninth and tenth centuries “The
New Jerusalem,” “Les Juifs 3 Lyon,” p. 283.
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the title “Bishop of Narbonne,” was actually Abbot of Lagrasse and
doubtless resided at the monastery. The predominant population in
Narbonne still in the first quarter of the ninth century was the Jewry
there, which brings us back to Narbonne and the Nasi of the Jews.

We may now proceed to identify the “Master of the Jews” (as
Agobard entitles him). We cannot know whether the designation
magister Judaeorum employed by the angered prelate was an official
title. However, one thing is certain. The office must have been one
of dignity and honor, as even the nettled churchman was forced to
admit:

This would certainly not be necessary [writes Agobard to the officials at
Court] if he who is the Jews’ Master had given attention to what you in-
structed him to do. For if, following your order, he had conscientiously
shown consideration for our office as we wish to show him honor in his office,
there would be no need to cause injury by interrogation, except for enhance-
ment of doctrine (emphasis added).’*’

Scholars have disagreed widely over the nature of the office and
authority wielded by the magister Judaeorum. Stobbe sees in him only
a local official with limited authority. On the other hand, Wiegand
agrees with Waitz and Simson that he was a court official entrusted
with Jewish concerns throughout the empire. Aronius thinks that the
master’s powers were certainly more than local in scope, but that he
stood under the control of higher officials. His own authority was not
great since he could do nothing to Agobard, except threaten to sum-
mon the imperial commissioners. The executive order of the Emperor,
Aronius points out, did not go to the Jews’ magister but to the missi
and to the viscount of the Lyons district. Aronius, moreover, identifies
the Jews’ magister with the merchants’ master (magister mercatorum)
mentioned in contemporary imperial documents, an imperial officer
who protected the interests of all merchants, including (says Aronius)
also those of Jewish merchants. Baron sees him as a high official
specifically responsible for the effective implementation of Carolingian
charters and decrees in behalf of the Jews. He controlled their fiscal

167. Epistolae, p. 165:34-39.
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contributions and protected them when required. Baron doubts that
he supervised all merchants.18

Was now the magister Judaeorum a Jew? Both Waitz and Simson
take him for one. Agobard’s epithet magister infidelium Judaeorum is
especially suggestive to Simson, who thinks however that the office may
not have been permanent. Manitius identifies him as a rabbi. On the
other hand, Graetz and Dubnow seem to agree that he was not a Jew.
Aronius maintains an independent position and finds no need to con-
clude that the Jews’ master was himself a Jew. He suggests that magister
Judaeorum may not have been his official title and identifies him with
the magister mercatorum, the merchants’ master.16?

A single sentence of Agobard’s forces upon us the conclusion that
the master himself was a Jew learned and competent to render decisions
in Jewish law. This inference arises out of the Bishop’s charge that the
Jews’ magister did not wish to act reasonably in the very first encounter
with the prelate: “Furthermore, in the suits of [vs.] the Jews, there
would not be any contention or discord if he had wished to act reason-
ably (rationabiliter).”*" This implies that the Master could have ren-
dered a decision in the situation under dispute which (in Agobard’s
view) would have settled the entire matter—presumably by ruling that
the Jews might accept the prelate’s offer of compensation for the
baptized slave. But he decided otherwise, as is clear from all that

168. O. Stobbe, Die Juden in Deutschland, p’.’l§8, note 3; F. Wiegand, “Agobard
von Lyon,” p. 246, note 93. G. Waitz, Deutsche Verfassungsgeschichte, 111, 2nd ed.,
p. 549, note 3. B. Simson, Jahrbiicher . .. unter Ludwig dem Frommen, 1, p. 396,
note 4. J. Aronius, Regesten, no. 96, p. 40; no. 98, p. 41. Obviously, the Jews’
magister had no authority over bishops, but he was able to act against Agobard
via the missi.

On magister mercatorum, Formulae, ed. K. Zeumer, no. 37, p. 314. S. W. Baron
favors the original reading missus over Zeumer's emendation to magister here;
History, IV, p. 261, note 64; cf. p. 49; V, p. 63. For a summary of scholarly opinion,
see also J. E. Scherer, Die Rechtsverhiiltnisse der Juden, pp. 252-54.

169. G. Waitz, Deutsche Verfassungsgeschichte, IV, 2nd ed., p. 344. B. Simson,
ibid.; M. Manitius, Geschichte der lateinischen Literatur, 1, pp. 382-83. H. Graetz,
Geschichte, V, p. 241. S. Dubnow, Weltgeschichte, IV, p. 116. J. Aronius, Regesten,
no. 96, p. 40; no. 98, p. 41.

170. Agobard complained, “Ceterum de causis Judeorum non esset ulla contentio
aut discordia, si ille [magister Judeorum] rationabiliter agere voluisset”; Epistolae,
p. 165:38-39.
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followed. The magister must have taken the position that since the
bondwoman was a Jewess, the Jewish law which forbids the sale of a
proselyte slave to a gentile!” was binding in the given instance. No
non-Jewish magistrate could have originated such a decision. From
Agobard’s complaint directed specifically against him, it appears that
the Master did not simply accept the view of Jewish legal advisers but
actually initiated judgment himself. He must ha